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No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence o claim otherwise. This prospectus constitules a
public affering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sule und therein only by persons authorized to sell such
secuerities. These securities have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "U.S. Securities Act”),
or the securities laws of any staie of the United States and may not be offered or sold within the United States except in complianee with the registration
requirements of the U.5. Securities A¢t and applicable siate securities laws or pussuant 10 an exemption therefrom. Accordingly, the securilies will only be
affered or sold within the United States purstant to Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act or unother availuble exeinption frant registration under the
US. Securities Act and thereajter mav only be reoffered or resold in the United States or to o ULS, person pursuant to the registration requirements of the
ULS. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws or an exemption therefrom. See “Plan of Distribution”.
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UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUP LTD.
$125,000,007 7500 ©
11,363,637 Common Shares

This prospectus qualifies the distribution (the “Offering™) of 11,363,637 common shares {*Common Shares™) of Universal Energy Group Lid., a
corporation incorparated under the tederal laws of Canada to panticipate in the retail electricity and natural gas industries and the ethanol industry.
In connection with the closing (the **Closing™) of the Offering, Universal Energy Group Ltd. will acquire (the “Acquisitions’) all of the issued and
outstanding shares of Universal Energy Corporation (*Universal™) and Terra Grain Fuels Holdings Inc. (“TGF”) from the existing shareholders of
Universal and TGF (the " Existing Sharcholders™). Universal is o corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario that currently
sells electricity and natural gas in Ontario to resideatial, small 1o mid-size commercial and small industrial customers and sells natural gas in
Michigan to small to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers. TGF is constructing an ethanol facility near Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan
that is designed 1o produce approximately 130 million litres of cthanol annually. The facility is scheduled 1o commence operations by the end of
2007. Following the completion of the Acquisitions and this Offering, the Existing Sharcholders will collectively benelicially own, directly or
indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, approximately 69% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares (649 if the Over-Allotmem
Option is exercised in full), which includes the approximately 43% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares that will be beneficially owned,
directly or indirectly. or over which control or direction will be exercised, by the executive olficers of the Company (409 iI the Over-Allotment

Option is exercised in full). See “Retained Interest”, “Funding, Acquisitions and Relaled Transactions™ and “Use of Proceeds™.
Unless the context otherwise requires, uny references in this prospectus to the “Company™, “we”. “us’” and “ouwr” refer to Universal Encrgy
Group Ltd, when referring to events or transactions that oceurred or will occur prior to the completion of the Acquisitions, and refer to Universal

Energy Group Ltd. and its consalidated subsidiaries (including Universal and TGF Amaleo (as defined herein)) when referring 1o events or
transactions that will occur after completion of the Acquisitions,

The price to the public of the Common Shares has been determined by negottution among the Company, the promoters of the Offering and
National Bank Financial Inc., CIBC World Markews Inc, GMP Securities L.P. and HSBC Securitics {Canada) Inc. {collectively, the
“Underwriters™). See “Plan of Distribution™. There are certain risk factors associated with an investment in the Commen Shares, which should be
carefully reviewed and considered by prospective purchasers before purchasing the Common Shares. See “Risk Factors™.

Price: $11.00 per Common Share

Net Proceeds to

Price to the Public  Underwriters' Fee the Company™
Per Common Share . . . . .. .. ... ... $11.00 $0.66 $10.34
Total') L $125,000,007 $7.500,000,42 $117,500,006,58
Notes:

(1) Before deducting expenses of this Offcring estimated w be approximately $2,500,0000 The expenses of this Offcring and the Underwriters” tee will be paid by the
Company from the proceeds of the Offering,

{2y The Company has granted the Underwriters an option {the = Over-Allotment Option™) excrcisable for a period of 30 duys from the dute of the Closing te purchase
up to an additional 1,704,546 Common Shares (heing equal to (5% of the Common Shares sold at the Closing) at the offering price solely 10 cover any
over-allotments and for markel stabilization purposes. If the OQver-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the toral price 10 the public will be $143.750.013. the
Underwriters’ fec will be $8,625.000.78 and the ner proceeds to the Company will be $135,125,012.22. “This pruspectus also qualifies the distribution of the
Over-Allotment Option and the Common Shares thal are issued pursuant to the exercise of the Over-Allptment Option. See “Plan of Distribution™.

The Underwriters, as principals, conditionally offer the Common Shares. subject ta prior sale, if. as and when issued by the Company and acceptled

by the Underwrilers in accordance with the conditions contained in the Underwriting Agreement referred to under *Plan of Distribution”™ and

subject to the approval of certain legal matters on behalf of the Company by Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP and on behall of the Underwriters
by Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLE There is currently no market through which the Common Shares may be sold and purchasers may not be able to
rescll Common Shares purchased under this prospectus. The Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX"™) has conditionally approved the listing of the

Common Shares. Listing is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the requirements of the TSX on or before April 24, 2007, In connection with the

Offering, the Underwriters may effect transactions that stabilize or maintain the market price of the Common Shares in accordance with applicable

market stabilization rules, See "“Plan of Distribution™,

Subscriptions for Common Shares will be received subject to rejection or allotment, in whole or in part, and the right is reserved to close the

subscription books at any time without notice. The closing date of this Offering is expected to occur on or about February 2, 2007 o7 such other date

as the Company, Universal, TGF und the Underwriters may agree, but in any event no later than February 28, 2007, Definitive certificates
representing the Common Shares will be available for delivery at Closing.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains “forward-looking statements”. Statecments other than statements of historical fact
contained in this prospectus may be forward-looking statcments, including, without limitation, management’s
expectations, intentions and beliefs concerning the retail electricity industry, the retail natural gas industry and
the ethanol industry, the competitive landscape in these industries and the general economy. statements
regarding the future financial position or results of the Company, business strategies, proposed acquisitions,
growth opportunities, budgets, litigation, projected costs and plans and objectives of or involving the Company.
Wherever possible, words such as “may”, “would”, “could”, “will”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “plan”. “expect”,
“intend”, “estimate”, “aim”, “endeavour”, “project”, “continue’ and similar expressions have been used to
identify these forward-looking statements. These statements reflect management’s current beliefs with respect to
future events and arc based on information currently available to management. Forward-looking statements
involve significant known and unknown nsks, uncertainties and assumptions. Many factors could cause our
actual results. performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or
achievements that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements, including, without
limitation, those listed in the “Risk Factors” scction of this prospectus. Should one or more of these risks or
uncertaintics materialize, or should assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements prove incorrecl,
actual results, performance or achievements could vary materially from those expressed or implied by the
forward-locking statements contained in this prospectus. These factors should be considered carefully and
prospective investors should not place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements. Although the forward-
looking statements contained in this prospectus are based upon what management currently believes to be
reasonable assumptions, we cannot assure prospective investors that actual results, performance or
achievements will be consistent with these forward-locking statements. The forward-looking statements
contained in this prospectus are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. These forward-
looking statements are made as of the date of this prospectus and neither the Company, Universal, TGE the
Underwriters nor any other party involved in the Offering intends to, or assumes any obligation to, update or
revise these forward-looking statements to retlect new events or circumstances.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

This prospectus makes reference to certain non-GAAP measures, namely Operational Revenue and
Operaticnal Margin, to assist in asscessing Universal’s financial performance. Non-GAAP measures do not have
standard meanings prescribed by GAAP and arce therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures
presented by other issuers.

Universal recognizes revenue based on customer consumption, but delivers natural gas, and is paid by the
LDCs on an equal monthly basis. In addition, Universal uses financial swaps to fix its operating margins in its
electricity business. These swap payments are not considered a cost of sales for accounting purposes although
Universal treats them as such for business planning purposcs. Accordingly, Universal uses the concepts of
“Operational Revenue” and “Operational Margin” to adjust for the differences between revenue recognition
and delivery/payment that cxist in its natural gas business and for the cffect of the financial swaps used in its
clectricity business.

Operational Revenue and Operational Margin are not earnings measures recognized by GAAP and do not
have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP. Universal’s method of calculating Operational Revenue and
Operational Margin may differ from the methods used by other issuers and, accordingly, Universal’s
Operational Revenue and Operational Margin may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other
issuers. Investors are cautioned that Operational Revenue and Operational Margin should not be construed as
alternatives to revenue or gross margin determined in accordance with GAAP as indicators of Universal’s
performance or to cash flows from operating activities as measures of Universal’s liquidity and cash flows. The
Company believes that these are useful measurcs as they allow Universal to assess its ongoing business and are
indicators of Universal’s ability 1o invest in its businesses and continue operations. Universal calculates
Operational Revenue and Operational Margin as follows:

Operational Revenne. For natural gas, Operational Revenue is revenue adjusted upward by the dollar
amount of “gas delivered in excess of consumption” (natural gas that has been delivered by Universal to LDCs



in excess of customer consumption) and adjusted downward by the dollar amount of “gas under delivered™
(natural gas that has been consumed by Universal’s customers in excess of that delivered by Universal to the
LDCs). For electricity, Operational Revenue is revenue without adjustment.

Operationgl Margin.  For natural gas, Operational Margin is gross margin adjusted upward for the excess of
“deferred revenue” over “gas delivered in excess of consumption” or adjusted downward for the excess of
“unbilled revenues” over “gas under delivered”. For clectricity, Operational Margin is gross margin adjusted
upward for “swap receipts” and downward for “swap payments”, which are not included in cost of sales for
accounting purposcs.

For a reconciliation of Operational Revenue to revenue and Operational Margin o gross margin, see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Management’s
Discussion and Analysis — Universal — Reconciliation of Operational Revenue and Operational Margin”™. For
a discussion of Universal’s revenue recognition policies see *‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Management’'s Discussion and Analysis — Universal — Critical
Accounting Estimates”.

GENERAL DISCLOSURE MATTERS
Reliance

Prospective investors should rely only on information contained in this prospectus. Neither the Company
nor the Underwriters have authorized any other person to provide prospective investors with different
information. If a prospective investor is provided with different or inconsistent information, the investor should
not rely on such information. Qur corporate website is www.universalenergy.ca. The information contained on
our website is not intended 1o be included in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus and prospective
purchasers should not rely on such information when deciding whether or not to invest in our Common Shares.
Neither the Company nor the Underwriters are making an offer to sell in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale
is not permitted.

Funding, Acquisitions and Related Transactions

Unless otherwise indicated, the disclosure in this prospectus assumes that the steps outlined under the
heading “Funding, Acquisitions and Related Transactions” have been completed and the Company has acquired
all of the issued and outstanding shares of Universal and TGF Unless the context otherwise requires, any
references in this prospectus to the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to Universal Energy Group Ltd.
when referring to events or transactions that occurred or will occur prior to the completion of the Acquisitions,
and refer to Universal Energy Group Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries (including Universal and TGF
Amalco) when referring to events or transactions that will occur after completion of the Acquisitions. Unless
otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, the number of Common Shares 1o be held by the Existing
Sharcholders following the completion of the Offering and the Acquisitions {including the number of Commaon
Shares 10 be held by the exccutive officers of the Company and certain other groups comprising the Existing
Sharcholders) are disclosed in this prospectus: based on the number of Common Shares to be received by the
Existing Shareholders pursuant o the Acquisitions; and based on the assumption that the defcired purchase
price relating to the Acquisitions will be satisfied by the issuance of Common Shares. Sec “Funding, Acquisitions
and Related Transactions — Acquisition Agreements” and “Use of Proceeds”.

Definitions

Certain terms used in this prospectus are defined under “Glossary of Terms”. Unless otherwise indicated or
the context otherwise requires, all references to years in this prospectus are to calendar vears. Unless otherwise
indicated or the context otherwise requires, all dollar amounts in this prospectus are in Canadian dollars. Unless
otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, all information in this prospectus assumes no exercise of
the Over-Allotment Option.




Certain Information

Graphs and tables demonstrating the historical performance of the Company, Universal or TGF contained
in this prospectus are intended only to illustrate the effects of past performance. Historical statistical data andfor
historical returns are not necessarily indicative of future performance.

Unless otherwise indicated, the market and industry data contained in this prespectus is based upon
information from industry and other publications and management’s knowledge of and experience in the
markets in which Universal and TGF operate. While management believes this data to be reliable, market and
industry data is subject to variations and cannot be verified with complete certainty due to limits on the
availability and reliability of raw data, the voluntary nature of the data gathering process and other limitations
and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey. Neither the Company, Universal, TGF nor the Underwriters
has independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this prospectus or ascertained
the underlying assumptions relied upon by such sources.

In this prospectus, insicad of quantifying customers in terms of the number of customers that have entered
into energy contracts with Energy Retailers, customers are often quantified in terms of RCEs. An RCE is a
residential customer equivalent, which is a unit of measurement equivalent to 10,000 kWh of electricity on an
annual basis or 2,815 m” of natural gas on an annual basis, which quantitics management believes represent the
approximate amounts of eclectricity and natural gas used annually by a typical residential customer. This
prospectus quantifies customers using this unit of measurement because it is common to do so in the electricity
and natural gas marketing industry. However, for various reasons, in certain markets there is not sufficient data
available to quantify customers in terms of RCEs. Therefore. in this prospectus. unless otherwise stated
(i) Ontario electricity customers have been quantified in terms of the number of residential, small to mid-size
commercial and small industrial customers instead of in terms of RCEs, and (if) British Columbia natural gas
customers have been quantified in terms of the number of residential and commercial customers instead of in
terms of RCEs.

Trademarks

“Universal Energy” is a registered trademark of Universal in Canada. Universal has applications pending in
Canada to register the trademarks “Blend and Extend™, “Fight Back Against High Energy Prices”, “Giving You
the Power to Save”, “Price Protection Plus” and “Universal Power”, Universal is in the process of acquiring the
rights to a trademark application for “National Energy” from a third party in Canada. Universal has appiications
pending in the United States to register the trademarks “Blend and Extend”, “Fight Back Against High Energy
Prices”, “Giving You the Power to Save”, “Price Protection Plus”, “Universal Energy”, “Universal Gas &
Electric” and “Universal Power”. TGF Opco has applications pending in Canada to register the trademarks
“Powered by Wheat” and “Grow with Us”. This prospectus also contains company names, product names, trade
names, trademarks and service marks of other organizations, each of which is the property of its respective
owner,

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT

In the opinion of Burnct, Duckworth & Palmer LLP counsel to the Company, and Osler, Hoskin &
Harcourt LLE counsel to the Underwriters, the Common Shares, if and when hsted on a prescribed stock
exchange (which currently includes the Toronto Stock Exchange), will be qualified investments under the Income
Tax Act (Canada) for a trust governed by a registered retirement savings plan, a registered retirement income
fund, a registered education savings plan or a deferred profit sharing plan.




PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following informuation is a summary of the principal features of this Offering and is quealified in its entirety
by, and should be read together with, the more detatled informarion and the financial data and statements contained
efsewhere in this prospecius. Unless otherwise indicated, the disclosure in this prospecrus assumes that the steps
outlined under the heading “Funding, Acquisitions and Related Transactions” have been complered and the
Company has acquired all of the issued and owsstanding shares of Universal and TGF Unless the context otherwise
requires, any references in this prospectus to the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “onr” refer to Universal Energy
Group Lid. when referring to events or transactions that occurred or will occur prior to the completion of the
Acquisitions, and refer to Universal Energy Group Litd. and its consolidated subsidiaries (including Universal

and TGF Amalco) when referring to events or transactions that will oceur after compietion of the Acquisitions.

Universal Energy Group Ltd.

The Company was incorporated under the CBCA on November 1, 2006 to participate in the retail
clectricity and natural gas industrics and the ethanol industry. On the Closing Date, the Company will acquire all
of the issucd and outstanding shares of Universal and TGF Amalco from the Existing Shareholders. Following
the completion of the Acquisitions and this Offering, the Existing Sharcholders will collectively beneficially own,
directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, approximately 69% of the issued and outstanding
Common Shares (64% if the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full), which includes the approximately 43%
of the issued and outstanding Common Shares that will be beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over
which control or direction will be exercised, by the executive officers of the Company (40% if the
Over-Allatment Option is exercised in full). See “Retained Interest”, “Funding, Acquisitions and Related
Transactions” and “Usc of Procecds”.

Rationale for the Business Combination of Universal and TGF

Management believes that the combination of Universal and TGF provides an attractive means of
cnhancing the value of the combined companies:
* Greater Geographical and Operational Diversification. On a combined basis, management believes that
Universal and TGF represent a more diverse and stable source of long term cash flow than either
company on its own. In addition, certain operational clements can be leveraged by both companies:

* Addition of Fived Assets. TGF will contribute a significant base of fixed assets that are leveragable
and that over time may provide the ability to sccure further credit for continued growth of
Universal’s customer base (either organically or through acquisitions) and its related encrgy
matching requirements.

¢ Leverage Risk Management Synergies. Munagement intends to use its collective risk management
experience and expertise to implement a hedging strategy at each of Universal and TGF with the
objective of generating long term, sustainable, stable and growing cash fiow from each of Universal
and TGF.

* Capitalize on Two Platforms for Growth. Management believes that significant growth opportunities exist
in both the energy retailing and ethanel production industries in North America. These opportunities
exist through both organic or “greenfield” growth and through acquisition.

* Enhanced Market Capitalization and Broader Sharcholder Base. The Company will have a significantly
larger market capitalization than would cither Universal or TGF alone, which is expected to attract a
more diverse sharcholder base.

Universal Energy Corporation
Business of Universal
Universal was incorporated under the OBCA on November 25, 2004 and commenced operations on
February 25, 2005. Universal’s business currently involves (i} the sale of electricity and natural gas in Qntario to

residential, small to mid-sizc commercial and small industrial customers, and (ii) the sale of natural gas in
Michigan to small to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers. Universal intends to enter the British

1§




Columbia residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial natural gas market in the first quarter of
2007. In addition, Universal is currcutly evaluating the expansion opportunities in the small to mid-size
commercial and small industrial electricity and natural gas markets in New York.

Universal’s customers purchase electricity and naturai gas under long term, non-terminable {(except in
limited circumstances) Encrgy Contracts, typically for a term of five years. By fixing the price of natural gas
under Universal’s Gas Contracts and by obtaining price protection under its Electricity Contracts for a period of
five vears, Universal’s customers eliminate or reduce their exposure to changes in natural gas prices (which have
been volatile over the past several years} and electricity prices (which have increased in Ontario since
April 2005).

Universal is able 1o secure its Operational Margins per RCE with reasonable certainty by purchasing encrgy
in large quantities at a fixed price in the case of natural gas, or through Electricity Swaps in the case of
electricity, and selling energy at a higher fixed price to customers, under fixed price or price protected Energy
Contracts.

Customer Base and Growth

From January 1, 2006 to November 30, 2006, Universal's customer base (measured in RCEs) grew at an
average monthly growth rate of approximately 20%. The graph below has been prepared by management of
Universal to indicate the approximate growth of Universal in all markets {expressed in terms of RCEs) from its
inception to November 30, 20{6.

Universal’s RCE Growth
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Notes:
(1Y As at November 30, 20046,

(2) This figure represents 80% of the RCEs represented by electricity customers who have entered into Energy Contracts and who have had
their Energy Contracts reaffirmed by Universal. but who are not yet receiving their electricity supply from Universal because certain
administrative procedures have not yet been completed with the customers’ LLIDC. Universal's experience is that approximately 95%
(rather than 8()%) of the Energy Contracts submitted to LDCs by Universal are accepted.

Universal’s Value Proposition to Customers

Universal believes that its products appeal to customers becaunse they reduce or eliminate the customers’
exposure to the volatility of energy prices. In addition, il energy prices rise above Universal’s fixed energy rates,
customers experience savings on their energy bills. Based on Universal’s experience to date, managemeni
believes that consumers’ primary concern is to avoid the volatility of encrgy prices and the possibility of rising




energy prices over the long term. Management therefore belicves that Universal’s ability to acquire RCEs is not
significantly affected by short term declines in encrgy prices.
Relationship with Sempra

Sempra has been Universal’s cxclusive supplicr of Electricity Swaps and natural gas since inception.
Universal and Sempra have a strong relationship that will continue following the Closing. Sempra is currently a
significant sharcholder of Universal and, immediately following the Closing, will be a significant sharcholder of
the Company. Sce “Principal Holders of Common Shares”. For information regarding Universal’s agreements
with Sempra, scc “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of Universal”.

Sempra is one of North America’s largest full-service energy trading companies. Sempra markets and trades
physical and financial energy products: crude oil and refined products, natural gas and natural gas liquids,
power, coal, emissions and ethanol. Sempra has more than 1,200 customers worldwide. Sempra’s customer base
includes most of the major oil, gas and power companies in North America, Europe, Asia and South America.
Business Strengths

Several key attributes contribute to the strength of Universal’s business:

* Long term Encrgy Contracts with Secure Operational Margins;

» Opportunities for Growth;

¢ Sophisticaled Management Information System 10 Support Independent Contractors, Customer
Acquisitions and Commodity Purchasing;

» Experienced Management Team: and

Scaleable Platform.

Business and Growth Strategies

With its existing operational infrastructure, opportunities are available to grow Universal’s customer base,
revenues and aggrepate Operational Margin. They include (i) conducting focused marketing campaigns to sign
up additional customers in the residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial markets of Ontarto,
(i1) the continued development of Universal’s presence in the Michigan small to mid-size commercial and small
industrial markets, (iii} the opportunity to enter the British Columbia residential, small to mid-size commercial
and small industrial markets in 2007, and {iv) the potential for future expansion into the dercgulated small to
mid-size commercial and small industrial markets in New York. Universal may also consider expanding its
operations into other jurisdictions or into other segments of the market in jurisdictions where it is already
operaling.

Overview of the Electricity and Natural Gas Industry
The Direct Purchase Market for Electricity and Natural Gas

Direct purchase customers can be divided into the following segments: (i) the medium and {arge industrial
and commercial customers (which Universul does not attempt to supply); and (ii) the residential, small to
mid-size commercial and small industrial customers (the segment in which Universal is currently active). In
contrast to larger volume industrial end users for whom annual costs of clectricity and natural gus can be
millions of dollars, management believes (based on its recent experience in the Ontario market) that the annual
electricity and natural gas commodity cost to an average residential customer (who management considers to
consume approximately 10,000 kWh of clectricity and 2,815 m* of natural gas annually) is gencrally less than
$600 annually and $1,000 annually, respectively.

Energy Retailers operating in the direct purchase electricity and natural gas markets offer a variety of fixed,
floating or blended prices for different periods of time generally to residential, commercial and industrial
customers. By providing price protection under clectricity and natural gas contracts for a fixed period of time




(generally up to five years), customers reduce their exposure to changes in clectricity and natural gas commodity
prices. A key to the success of this product is the attractiveness to eustomers of price protection for their
clectricity and natural gas supply costs. The percentage of the supply for which a price s fixed may vary
depending on the Encrgy Retailer’s products. In contrast, the clectricity and natural gas LDCs typically offer
energy supply at prices that fluctuate from time to time (in some cases, moenthly).

Specific Markets

The natural gas direct purchase market has gencrally been deregulated in a number of North American
jurisdictions for a longer period of time when compared to the deregulated electricity market. The extent of
deregulation and the rules under which Energy Retailers must operate, including the consumer protection
clements of the regulatory regime (such as the ability 10 prematurely terminate long term contracts) varies from
jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Some jurisdictions, although dercgulated, are not as attractive us others to Energy
Retailers.

Ontario

Ontario permitted Energy Retailers to commence delivery of electricity to small volume customers,
including residential customers, in May of 2000. However, tn 2002, clectricity rates were frozen by the Ontario
government. In April 2005, the RPP was introduced in Ontario and consumers were again cxposed Lo clectricity
price increases, creating significant penctration opportunities in the Ontario electricity market. The Ontario
natural gas market has been deregulated since the late 1980s. The following charts illustrate the penetration
levels achieved by Energy Rectailers in the residential, small 10 mid-siz¢ commercial and small industrial
scgments of the Ontario electricity and natural gas markets (being the market scgments in which Universal
competes) as at December 31, 2005.

Ontario Electricity Penetration™ Ontario Natural Gas Penetration'"
14.6%
44.0%
%o of % of
Customers®  Eligible RCEs Eligible
Einergy Retailer Enrolled . .. .. . .. 635,000 14.6% Energy Retailer Enrolled . .. ... .. 2,343,668 44.0%
LDCEnrolled . ... ... ... ..., 3,710,000 85.4% LIC Enrolled ... .. ... L. 2,982,851 56.0%

4,345,000 100.09% 5326519 100.0%

Nuotes:
{1} Source: The SPi Group Inc.

(2) Penetration rates in the Ontario electricity market have been expressed in terms of numbers of customers rather than in terms of RCEs
because the RCE data that is available tor the Ontario electricity market is not segrepated by customer segment.




Michigan

Michigan has permitted Energy Retailers o operate in the large industrial segment of the natural gas
market since the carly 1980s, and in the small to mid-size commercial and small industrial segments of the
market since 2001 (where significant opportunities for penetration exist). The following chart illustrales the
penetration levels achieved by Energy Retailers in the small to mid-size commercial and small industrial
scgments of the Michigan natural gas market (being the market segments in which Universal U.S. competes) as
at December 31, 2005, expressed in terms of RCEs. Energy Retailers arc not permitted to participate in the
Michigan electricity market because it is not currently dercgulated.

Michigan Natural Gas Penctration™"

% of
RCEs Eligible
Energy Retailer Enrolled . . .. 135,346 7.8%

[DC Enrolled. .. .. ... ... 1,610.351 92.2%
1.745.697  100.0%

Note:
(1) Source: The SPi Group Inc.

British Columbia

British Columbia produces the second largest amount of natural gas in Canada and its residents are
collectively the third largest consumers of natural gas in Canada. British Columbia has two natural gas utilities,
Terasen Gas Inc. and Pacific Northern Gas Ltd. Although the commercial natural gas market in British
Columbia has been deregulated since 2004, the BCUC has only recently approved a natural gas unbundling
program for residential customers of Terasen Gas Inc. The following chart iillustrates the penetration levels
achieved by Energy Retailers in the residential and commercial segments of the British Columbia natural gas
market (being the market segments in which Universal competes or intends to compete) as at
December 31, 2005,
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British Columbia Natural Gas Penetration'!

97.6%

o of
Customers  Eligible
Energy Retuiler Enrolled . . . 19,000 2.4%
LDC Enrolled . .. . ... ... 761,325 Y7.6%

780,325 100.0%

Notes:
(1) Source: The $Pi Group Inc.

(2) Penetration rates in the British Columbia natural gas market have been expressed in terms of customer numbers rather than in terms of
RCEs because the RCE data that is available for the British Columbia natural gas market is not segmented by customer segment.

New York

The price of electricity and natural gas in New York has not been subject to price controls since 2000 and
the early 1980s respectively. Since then, the New York market has seen an increasing percentage of the small to
mid-size commercial and small industrial customers utilizing Energy Retailers as the source of their electricity
and natural gas supply. The following charts illustrate the penctration levels achieved by Encrgy Retailers in the
small to mid-size commercial and small industrial segments of the New York electricity and natural gas markets
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(being the market segments that Universal is considering for expansion) as at September 34, 2006 and July 31,
2006, respectively, expressed in terms of RCEs.

New York Electricity Penetration? New York Nuatural Gas Penctration'?
34.8%
51.3% 48.7%
%o of % of
RCEs\® Eligible RCEs Eligible
Energy Retailer Enrolled 2,230,826 48.7% Energy Retailer Enrolled .. ... ... .. 272,185 34.8%
LDCEnrolted . ... ............. 2,345,891 51.3% LLDC Enrolled 509,397 65.2%%¢

4576717 100.0% 781,582 1805

Notes:
{1} Source: The SPi Group Inc.

(2} Electricity RCE numbers also include electricity consumed by street lights.

Terra Grain Fuels Holdings Inc.
Business of TGF

TGF was incorporated under the CBCA on April 25, 2006 and commenced carrving on business on May 12,
2006. TGF, through its subsidiary TGF Opco, is constructing the Belle Plaine Facility ncar Belle Plaine,
Saskatchewan, which is approximately 45 kilometres west of Regina. The Belle Plaine Facility is designed to
produce approximately 150 million litres of ethanol and approximately 163,150 tonnes of dried distiliers grains
annually. However, management anticipates that TGF should be able to optimize its operations within 12 to
18 months of commissioning the Belle Plaine Facility, with the result that approximately 165 million litres of
ethanol production and approximately 180,000 tonnes of dried distillers grains production annually should be
achievable. When the Belle Plaine Facility is operational, management believes TGF will be the largest ethanol
producer in western Canada.

TGF anticipates that the construction of the Belle Plaine Facility will be completed and that ethanol
production will commence by the end of 2007. TGF intends to sell ethanol to gasoline producers and marketers
throughout Canada and the United States, primarily as a gasoline additive. TGF also intends 1o sell distillers
grains {a co-product of the dry-mill ethanol production process) to the livestock industry throughout western
Canada and the U.S. Pacific Northwest. TGF intends to distribute its products by both rail and truck.

TGF retained the Contractor to perform and complete all design, engineering, procurement, construction
and commissioning work in connection with the development of TGF’s Belle Plaine Facility for a fixed price of
$129.8 million (plus applicable taxes), subject to limited exceptions. The total budgeted costs to develop the
Belle Plaine Facility arc $141.9 million, which includes certain costs, that are the responsibility of TGFE
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Business Strengths
Management believes the following key attributes will contribute 1o the strength of TGF’s business:
» Strategically located facility;
* Proven production technology; and
+ Opportunity to pursue low-cost operations strategy, including:
* Proximity to competitively priced inputs;
« Use of risk mitigation strategies; and

* Flexibility of feedstock choice,

Business Strategies

TGE's objective is to obtain a competitive position in the North American renewable fuels industry and to
realize efficiencies in ¢thanol production. Key elements of TGF’s strategy to achieve this objective include:

« Complete Construction of Belle Plaine Faciliry. TGF is currently constructing the Belle Plaine Facility,
which will produce cthanol and distillers grains. TGF’s primary near term objective is to complete the
construction of the Belle Plaine Facility and commence operations by the end of 2007.

* Add Low-Cost Production Capacity. TGF will seek to capitalize on growing North American demand for
cthanol by potentially expanding its production capacity in the next several years. In pursuing an
expansion strategy, TGF will continue to (i) evaluate the construction of large-scale facilities utilizing
fixed pricc cngineer, procure, construction contracts to fix its costs, (ii} incorporate technology
improvements, and (iii) locate facilities in close proximity to abundant and competitively priced supplies
of wheat and natural gas and in close proximity to major trucking and/or rail transportation routes,

+ Continute 1o Focus on Cost Efficiency and Evolving Technologies. TGF will seek to take advantage of its
large production capacity and economies of scale to become more energy efficient and increase yield. In
addition, TGF has identified and is monitoring the development of ethanol production systems and
technology improvements that have the potential to increase plant productivity and decrease plant energy
consumption. TGF has elected not to incorporate these systems and technology improvements into the
Belle Plaine Faciiity at this time as these systems and technology improvements are still unproven in the
commercial context. However, if management is satislied that these systems and technology
improvements arc commercially proven in the future and management believes that it would be cost
clfeciive to do so, TGF will consider incorporating these improvements at the Belle Plaine Facility,

e Flexibility to Capitalize on Market Opportunities. TGFE in combination with Universal, will have the ability
to maintain an appropriate capital structure that will enable it to respond to changing market conditions
and capitalize on industry opportunities. Furthermore, management will focus on maintaining the
flexibility to either build production facilities, make disciplined and opportunistic acquisitions or enter
into strategic alliances or joint ventures, in each case based on market opportunities and industry
conditions.

Overview of the Ethanol Industry
Ethanol Overview

Ethanol is a clean-burning, renewable fuel made from agricultural products such as wheat and corn.
Ethanol was used in early combustion engines, including Henry Ford's Model T. However, during the 1920s,
gasoline became the motor fuel of choice, and ethanol became primarily a gasoline additive. In 1979, the
U.S. Congress established an ethanol program to stimulate the rural economy and reduce the U.Ss dependence
on imported oil. The production and use of ethanol as a motor fuel in the United States and in Canada has
increased continuously since that time.




North America represents a single integrated market for cthanol much the same as it docs for oil and
natural gas. However, there is some regionalization within this single market duc to factors such as the size of
the market in some regions, the effect of transportation costs on the market in some regions, and the existence
of incentive programs and regulatory mandates that are specific to certain states and provinces.

Primary Use of Ethanol

Ethanol is primarily used as a gasoline fuel additive to lower the lifecycle emissions of greenhouse gascs,
The lifecycle emissions from the production and combustion of ethanol are significantly lower than the lifecycle
emissions from the production and combustion of gasoline. “Lifecycle emissions” refers to the greenhouse gas
emisstons related to all processes in the production and consumption of a fuel. In the case of ethanol, it refers to
the greenhousc gas emissions resulting from the production of feedstock (typically wheat or corn), the
conversion of the feedstock to cthanol, and the combustion of ¢thanol. Ethanol has also gained wide acceptance
as a replacement for the fuel additive methyl tertiary butyl ether (MTBE), which has becn banned in certain
jurisdictions due to concerns regarding its impact on the environment. As a gasoline blendstock, ethanol
functions as an octane enhancer, a clean air additive and a fuel extender.

North American Ethanol Plants

The location of U.S. ethanol plants has historically been concentrated in the mid-western region of the
U.S. where abundant agricultural supplies exist. As a result, early U.S. ethanol sales were dominant in this
region. Today, ethanol demand is driven by gasoline demand. As a consequence, cthanol demand is nation-wide.
Corn fed ethanol plants arc expected to supply most of the demand for ethanol in eastern Canada, whereas
wheat fed ethanol plants are expected to supply the demand for cthanol in western Canada. In addition, there
are no regulatory impediments to the sale of cthanol produced in Canada to the U.S. market,

The following map identifics the location of each ethanol plant in North America (including the Belle
Plaine Facility) and the status of each ethanol plant as of July 2006,




North American Ethanol Plants

O Operational
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Note:

(1) Source: "Canadian Rencwable Fuels Strategy”™ prepared by (S&T)? Consultants Inc. and Meyers Norris Penny LLP for the CRFA,
July 2006.

North American Ethanol Supply and Demand
U.S. Demand

In the United States, the RFS established minimum nationwide levels of renewable fuels (ethunol, biodiesel
or any other liquid fuel produced from biomass or biogas) to be included in gasoline as part of the Energy Policy
Act of 2005, The RFS requires an increase from approximately 13 billion litres of renewable fuels usage in 2006
to approximately 28 billion litres by 2012. The RFA expects ¢thanol to account for the largest share of renewable
fuels produced and consumed under the RFS.

Canadian Demand

The provinces of Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario have introduced regulations that will require
gasoline sold in their respective provinces to be comprised of between 5% and 10% cthanol. These mandated
programs have commenced in Saskatchewan and Ontario and are in the process of being implemented in
Manitoba. The incremental demand generated by these provincial mandates is expected to create a total market
in Canada for almost one billion litres of ethanol annually when fully implemented in 2008,




In addition, the Government of Canada has announced its intention to introduce a 3% biofuels strategy for
Canada. which it expects to be fully implemented by 2010. If implemented as proposed. the program will require
gasoline sold in Canada to be comprised of at least 5% biofuel. Because ethanol production is based on proven
technology and has proven to be commercially viable (as opposed to other biofuels that rely on less proven
technology and/or that are not yet proven to be economically viable), management expects that the incremental
demand generated by the proposed Canadian 5% biofuel strategy would result in a total annual market in
Canada for at least 2 billion litres of ethanol.

US. Supply

According to the RFA, as of December 6, 206, there were 109 cthanol plants operating in the
United States (which are predominantly corn based and primarily concentrated in the mid-western region of the
United States) capable of producing approximately 20 billion litres of ethanol per year. In addition, according to
the RFA, as of December 6, 2006, an additional 53 plants were under construction and an additional seven
plants were under cxpansion (primarily concentrated in the mid-western region of the United States) which, if
constructed and expanded as proposed, could produce approximately 16 billion additional litres of cthanol per
year. Howcver, management believes that it is unlikely that all of these new plants and expansions will
necessarily be completed as proposed or at all because, among other things, the RFA data does not assess
whether financing and/or requisite approvals have been obtained for these plants or expansions.

Canadian Supply

Canadian ethanol accounted for only 0.5% of world ethanol production in 2005. The ethanol industry in
Canada consists of only eight production facilities, all of which are cither corn or wheat based. Management
cstimates that as of November 2006: (i) three producers had the combined capacity to produce approximately
480 million litres of ethanol per year. and four smaller producets had the combined capacity to produce
approximately 75 million litres of ethanol per year; and (ii} two of the existing producers had facilities under
construction that will be able to produce an additional 250 million litres of ethanol per year, in aggregate. In
addition, an existing producer recently announced the construction of an additional 400 million litres of capacity.
The total projected Cunadian ethanol production volumes for carly 2008, from plants either in operation or
expected to be in operation by carly 2008 (including the Belle Plainc Facility}), is estimated by management to be
approximately 955 million litres annually. This is less than one half of the Canadian annual demand volume that
management anticipates will exist by 2010 with the implementation of the proposed Canadian 5% biofuels
strategy.

The following graph illustrates the actual historical and lorecasted supply and demand volumes {or ethanol
in Canada for the periods indicated.
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Canadian Ethanol Historic and Forecasted Supply and Demand
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Notes:
(1) Historical supply and demand volumes for ethanol are based on data obtained from the CRFA.
(2) Forecast supply volumes for ethanal are provided hy (S&T)* Consultants [ne. and are based on the production capacities of the ethanol

plants currently in operation in Canada and the production capacitics of all ethanol plants known by (S&T)? Consultants Inc. to be
either currently under construction in Canada or the proposed construction of which has been publicly announced.

(3) Forecast demand volumes for ethanol are provided by (S&T) Consultants Inc. and are bused primarily on the following assumptions:
(1) all existing provincially and federally mandated biofuel blending requirements remain in foree; (if) all proposed provincially and
federally mandated biofuel blending requirements are implemented as proposed; (iii) ethanol is the biofucl used to satisfy the

atorementioned mandated requirements; and (iv) gasoline siales in Canada remain constant a1 the 2003 levels reported by Statisties
Canada.

Selected Pro Forma and Historical Financial Information

The following selected pro forma and historical {inancial information has been derived from the pro forma
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of Universal and
TGF set out elsewhere in this prospectus. This infermation should be read in conjunction with the pro forma
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended September 30, 2006, with the consolidated
financial statements of Universal for the year ended September 30, 2006 and the period from incorporation on
November 25, 2004 to September 30, 2005, and with the consolidated financial statements of TGF for the period
from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to Scptember 3(h, 2006, together with the notes thereto. included clsewhere
in this prospectus.

Company — Selected Pro Forma Financial Infermation

Pro Forma Year Ended
September 30, 2006

Statement of Operations Highlights

REVENUE . . o $ 58292123
Cost 0f Sales . . . . $ 35,844,559
Gross Margin . ... . e e $ 22,447,564
Net Income (Loss) . . L. e $(59,637,642)
Balance Sheet Highlights

CUTEIt ASSELS . . v o o e e e et e e e e e $101,595,379
Total ASSElS . . o . $210,186.657
Current Liabilities . . . . . .. e § 32,459,027
Shareholders’ Equity . .. ... .. e $115,513,115
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Universal — Selected Consolidated Financial Information

Income Statement Daita:

Gas Revenue . ... ... ... ...
Electricity Revenue . .. ... ... oo

Total Revenue . .. ... ... .. e

Gas Costof Sales . . . ... .. . ... . . . . . .
Electricity Cost of Sales .. ... ... ... ... ... ... .......

Total Cost of Sales . .. ... .. ... . . .. . . . . . . e

Gas Gross margin. ... ... ... i e
Electricity Gross margin . . ... .. ... .. e

Total Gross Margin ... ...... ... ...... ... ... ... ... . ...

Customer acquisifion costs . .. ... ... . ...
General and administrative . .. ... ... ... .. L.
Amortization of capital assets .. ........ ... .. ... .. .. ...,

Total Expenses . . . . ... ... .. ... . ...

Loss before other incomef{expense) . ... ... ... oL
Gain on sale of gas supply contracts .. ... ... ... .. . ...,
Loss on swap contracts . ... ... ... ... . ... ... ...
Future tax {recovery)floss ... ... ... . L

Net Loss for the year/period . . .. ... . ... ... ... ... . ......

Ralance Sheet Data:

Total ASSEES . . ..o

TGF — Selected Consolidated Financial Information

Interest InComie . . .. .
Net Barnings . ... o e
Total ASSBIS . . . L
Shareholders’ EQUity . .. . ...

Year ended
September 30, 2006

November 25, 2004 to
September 3, 2005

14,182,708 50,741
44,109.415 —
$ 58,292,123 $  50,74]
11,791,782 57.508
24,052,777 —
$ 35,844,559 $ 57508
2,390,926 $ (6,767
20,056,638 —
$ 22,447,564 $  (6.767)
16,838,441 974,535
8,183,731 1,396,911
235,519 36,476

$ 25,257,691 $ 2,407,922
(2,810,127) (2,414,639)
— 1,796,743
(88,141.459) —
(31,250,246) (222.484)
$(59,701,340) $ (395,462)

$ 62,230,596
$ 97,327,489

$ 2,850,664
$ 3,245.126

April 25, 2006 to

September 30, 2006

$ 358,676
3,961
39,498,715
35,541,809

See also “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™.




Offering:
Price:

Issue Size:

Shares Qutstanding after
Completion of this Offering
and the Acquisitions:

Over-Allotment Option:

Use of Proceeds:

Retained Interest:

Escrow Agreement:

Terms of this Offering
11,363,637 Common Shares.
$11.00 per Common Share (the “Offering Price™).

$125,000,007 ($143,750.013, assuming the Over-Allotment Option is fully
exercised).
36,272,728 Common Shuares.

The Company has granted the Underwriters an option {the “Over-Allotment
Option™) exercisable for a 30 day period following the Closing of this
Offering to purchase up to an additional 1,704,546 Common Shares (being
equal to 15% of the Common Shares sold pursuant to this Offering) at the
Offering Price, payable in cash against delivery of such additional Common
Shares. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised, the Underwriters will
receive a fee of $0.66 per additional Common Share purchased pursuant to
such option. See “Plan of Distribution™.

The net proceeds from the issuance of the Common Shares is estimated to be
approximately  $115,000,007 after deducting the fees payable to the
Underwriters and the expenses of the Offering estimated at $2,500,000. 1f
the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the net proceeds from the
issuance of the Common Shares is estimated to be approximately
$132,625.012 after deducting the fees payable to the Underwriters and the
expenses of the Offering. Approximately $92,500,000 of the gross proceeds of
the Offering, together with 24,909,090 Common Shares (with a deferred
purchase price of $18,750,006 outsianding), will be used by the Company to
acquire the Purchased Securities. The remaining $32,500,007 of the gross
proceeds of the Offering will be used by the Company to pay the expenses of
the Offering and for working capital and general corporate purposes. If the
Over-Allotment Option is exercised, the Company will use the additional net
proceeds towards satisfying the deferred purchase price for the Purchased
Securities in lieu of issuing the up to 1,704,546 Common Shares that would
otherwise be issuable. See “Use of Proceeds” and “Funding, Acquisitions and
Related Transactions™.

Following the compiction of the Acquisitions and this Offering, the Existing
Sharcholders will collectively beneficially own, directly or indircctly, or
cxercise control or direction over, approximately 69% of the issued and
outstanding Common Shares (64% if the Over-Allotment Option is exercised
in full), which includes the approximately 43% of the issued and outstanding
Common Shares that will be bencficially owned. directly or indirectly, or over
which control or direction will be exercised, by the executive officers of the
Company (40% if the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full). See
“Retained Interest”.

Each of the Existing Sharcholders will, prior to the Closing of the Offering,
enter into the Escrow Agreement with the Company and Computershare
Investor Services Inc., in its capacity as escrow trustee. Pursuant to the
Escrow Agreement, all of the Common Shares held by the Existing
Shareholders following the Closing of the Offering and the completion of the
Acquisitions, being 24,909,090 Common Shares in aggregate representing
69% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares following the Closing of
the Offering and the completion of the Acquisitions (23,204,544 Common
Shares representing 64% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares if
the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full), will be deposited with the
€scrow trustcc.




Description of Acquisition
Agreements:

The  Universal Existing Sharcholders and the TGF Management
Sharcholders {who will collectively hold 23,541,144 Common Sharcs
representing 57% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares following
the Closing of the Offering and the completion of the Acquisitions and
19,126,781 Common Shares representing 53% of the issucd and outstanding
Common Shares if the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full) will be
subject to a three year escrow period. One third of the Common Shares held
by such shareholders on the Closing Date will be released from escrow on
each of the first three anniversaries of the Closing Date.

The TGF Non-Management Sharcholders (who will collectively  hold
4367946 Common Shares representing 12% of the issued and outstanding
Common Shares following the Closing of the Offering and the completion of
the Acquisitions and 4,077,763 Common Shares representing 11% of the
issued and outstanding Common Shares if the Over-Allotment Option s
exercised in full) will be subject to an 18 month escrow period. One half of
the Common Shares held by each of the TGF Non-Management
Sharcholders on the Closing Date will be released from escrow on the first
anniversary of the Closing Date and the remaining Common Shares held by
cach of the TGF Non-Management Sharcholders will be released on the
18 month anniversary of the Closing Date. See “Escrow of Securities”.

The Company, the Existing Shareholders, Universal and TGF will enter into
the Acquisition Agreements on or prior to Closing. On the Closing Date, the
Compuny will acquire the Purchased Seccuritics and Universal and TGF
Amalco will become wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the Acquisition Agreements.

On the Closing Date, (i) the aggregale consideration payable by the
Company lo the Universal Existing Sharcholders for the Universal Shares
will consist of 15,314,999 Common Shares and 361,050,000 in cash, and
{ii) the aggregale consideration payable by the Company to the TGF Existing
Securityholders for the TGF New Amalco Shares and TGF Notes will consist
of 7,889,545 Common Shares and $31,450,000 in cash. In addition, a further
$12,375,004 will be payable to the Universal Existing Shareholders and a
further $6,375,002 will be payable to the TGF Existing Sccurityholders within
30 days following Closing. Such amounts arc payable in cash or Common
Shares (10 be issued at the Offering Price) at the option of the Company. To
the extent the Over-Allotment Option is exercised, such amounts will be paid
in cash. Such amounts will otherwise be satisfied by the issuance of Contmon
Shares (to a maximum of 1,704.546 Common Shares). Accordingly, if the
Over-Allotment Option is cexercised in full, the aggregate consideration
pavable to the Universal Existing Shareholders and the TGF Existing
Securityholders will consist of 23,204,544 Common Shares and $111,250,006
in cash and if the Over-Allotment Option is not exercised, the aggregate
consideration payable to the Universal Existing Sharcholders and the TGF
Existing Sccurityholders will consist of 24,909,090 Common Shares and
$92.500,000 in cash.

The acquisition of the Purchased Sccurities by the Company will be effected
on a partially tax-deferred basis under the fncome Tax Act {Canada).
Accordingly, the Company’s cost for tax purposes of the Purchased Securities
will be less than the aggregate purchase price for the Purchased Securities
paid to the Existing Sharcholders pursuant to the Acquisition Agreements.




The completion of the Acquisitions is subject to customary conditions,
including: (i} the Offering having been completed; (ii) certain required
consents, waivers and rcleases having been obtained: and (iii) there heing no
legal impediment to the Acquisitions.

The Acquisition Agreements will contain customary representations and
warranties and relaied indemnities from the Existing Shareholders in favour
of the Company, including several representations and warranties concerning
the Purchased Securities and the Existing Shareholders. The Acquisition
Agreements will also contain customary representations and warranties and
related indemnities from Universal, TGF and certain of the Existing
Sharcholders in favour of the Company, including several representations
and warrantics concerning Universal and TGFE and several representations
and warranties from certain of the Existing Sharcholders holding 38% of the
Purchased Securities that this prospectus contains full, true and plain
disclosure of all material facts relating to the Company, Universal, TGF and
the Common Shares, and does not contain any “‘misrepresentation” (as that
term is defined in the Securities Act (Ontario)).

The total maximum liability of each Existing Shareholder under the
Acquisition Agreements in respect of an untrue representation or warranty
will be limited, without duplication, to the aggregate net after tax proceeds
received by such Existing Sharcholder from the sale of its Purchased
Securitics (including any Common Shares received by such Existing
Sharcholder, but in such case recourse will be limited 1o the period of time
that such Common Shares remain in escrow pursuant to the Escrow
Agrecment).

All claims under the representations, warranties and indemnities against the
Existing Shareholders under the Acquisition Agreements will be subject to an
aggregate deductible of $500,000 and thereafter each set of related claims
must reach an aggregate threshold of $100,000 (other than in respect of the
ownership of the Purchased Sceuritics and in certain cases in respect of the
representation and warranty of certain Existing Shareholders that this
prospectus does not contain & misrepresentation, which will not be subject to
any deductible).

The majority of these representations and warranties will survive the Closing
for a perivd of two (2) years, except for: (i) certain limited representations
and warranties (including ownership of the Purchased Securities), which will
survive indefinitely; (ii) representations and warranties relating to taxation
matters, which will survive the Closing for the duration of the applicable
reassessment and appeal period; and (iii) the representation and warranty as
to the prospectus disclosure, which will survive the Closing for a period of
three years and 90 days,

There can be no assurance of recovery by the Company from the Existing
Sharcholders for breaches of such representations and warranties, given that
there can be no assurance that the assets or financial resources of the
Existing Shareholders will be sutficient to satisty such obligations, Investors
in the Company will not have a direct statutory right of action against any of
the Existing Sharcholders for a misrepresentation in this prospectus.

If onc or both of the Acquisitions do not close, the Company will refund to
purchascrs the consideration paid in respect of the Common Shares offered
under this  prospectus.  See  “TFunding, Acquisitions and Related
Transactions — Acquisition Agreements™.
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Risk Factors: Prospective purchasers should carcfully review and evaluate certain risk
factors relating to an investment in the Common Shares, including:

(i)

(ii)

risks relating to the Company’s retail clectricity and natural gas business,
including risks relating to: Universal’s inability to contract for supply of
natural gas and Electricity Swap agreements; Universal's rcliance on
Sempra; hedging, balancing and market risks relating to matching the
estimated electricity and natural gas rtequircments of Universal’s
customers; volatitity of commodity prices; the enforcement of
Universal’'s Encrgy Contracts; the availability of credit; changes in the
legislative and regulatory environment; energy trading inherent risks;
Universal’s dependence on its management information system;
Universal’s dependence on LDCs; Universal’s ability to compete with its
competitors; Universal’s reliance on its Independent Contractors;
Universal’s ability to renew Energy Contracts at the expiration of their
terms; customer attrition; customers choosing other energy sources;
exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates; dependence on key
personnel; and Universal’s limited operating history;

risks relating to the Company's ethanol business, including risks relating
to: the possibility that there are inaccurate assumptions in TGF's
busingss plan; TGF’s reliance on the Contractor; defective material,
workmanship or process engineering affecting the Belle Plaine Facility;
construction or operational delays; the condition of the construction site
on which the Belle Pluine Facility is being constructed; TGF's
dependence on the Belle Plaine Facility; TGF's reliance on intellectual
property rights and proprietary technology; third party claims for
infringement in respect of the Delta-T proprietary technology to be used
by TGF; cost overruns at the Belle Plaine Facility: TGF’s limited
operating history; TGF's dependence on commodity prices, including
the spread between ethanol and wheat prices, TGF's sensitivity to wheat
prices and supply, TGF’s sensitivity to natural gas prices and supply,
TGF’s sensitivity to gasoline prices and demand, sensitivity of distillers
grain prices to the price of other commodity products and scasonal
fluctuations affecting commodity prices; TGF’s reliance on third party
service providers; TGF's dependence on federal and provincial
legisiation and regulations: the uncertainty regarding the long term use
of ethanol; the existence of ¢xcess supplies of ethancl; TGF's inability to
compete with its competitors; TGF's inability to execule its expansion
strategy; TGF’s inability to execute future acquisitions successfully or at
all;, TGF’s use of hedging transactions and other risk management
strategies; changes to environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations and potential exposure to environmental, health and safety
liabilities; disruptions to infrastructure on which TGF relies or to the
supply of fuel or natural gas; TGF's dependence on its key personnel;
technological advances that make the Belle Plaine Facility less efficient
or obsolete; TGF's use of leverage and obligation to comply with
restrictive covenants; TGF’s obligation to service its debt and exposure
to variations in interest rates; and TGF’s exposure to flucluations in
currency cxchange rates; and

{iii) general risks relating to the Offering, including risks relating to: the

Company's obligation and potential inability to comply with financial
reporting and other continuous disclosure requirements and securities




legislation: the Company’s inability to acquire financing in the future:
the existence of conflicts of interest pertaining to the Company's
directors and officers; income tax matters: the Company's dependence
on its subsidiaries; increases in operating costs; the existence of
potential unknown labilitics in connection with the Acquisitions; the
Company’s lack of an operating history as a public company: future
sales of Common Shares by the Existing Shareholders negatively
affecting the market price of the Common Shares; the issuance of
Common Shares from treasury in the future diluting investors’ interest
in the Company; the limited ability of the Company to recover from
the Existing Sharcholders for breaches of the Acquisition Agreements;
and the possibility that the market price of the Common Shares will be
unpredictable and volatile.

See “Risk Factors™.

Structure of the Company

The following chart illustrates the structure of the Company after giving effect 10 the Offering and the
Acquisitions. Sec “Structure of the Company”.

Existing Sharehotders

699"
Common Shares

‘Terra Grain
Fuels Inc.2%9

Notes:

Public Shareholders

3 ! %III)
Common Shares

Universal Energy Group Ltd.

Universal Energy
Corporation'™

1005%
(Common Shares)

b

Universal Gas & Electric
Corporation*

(1) If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the Existing Sharcholders will own 64% of the owtstanding Comimion Shares and the
public shareholders witl own 36% of the outstanding Common Shares.

(2) TGF Amulco will carry on the ethanol business currently carricd on by TGYF and TGF Opco.

(3) Following Closing, TGF Amalco and Universal intend 1o Torm the Universal Partnership to carry on the electricity and natural gas
marketing business currently carried on by Universal in Canada.

(4) Universal U.S. will continue to carry on the natural gas marketing business currently carried on by Universal .S, in Michigan,
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

In this prospectus, the following terms will have the meamings set forth below, unless otherwise indicated.
Words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa and words importing any gender include
all genders:

“Acquisitions” means the acquisition by the Company from the Existing Sharcholders of the issued and
outstanding shares of each of Universal and TGE, all us more particularly described under “Funding,
Acquisitions and Related Transactions — Acquisition Agreements”,

“Acquisition Agreements” means the purchuase and sale agreement or agreements to be entered into between the
q g
Company and the Existing Sharcholders.

“affiliate” has the meaning given to it i Section 1.2 of Nationul lostrument 45-106 — Prospectus
and Registration Exemptions promulgated under the Securities Aer (Ontario).

“AGS” means alternative gas supplier, as defined by the MPSC.
“Amalgamation” mcans the amalgamation of TGF and TGF Opco on the Closing Date to {form TGF Amalco.

“Amended Electricity Swap Agreement” means the Electricity Swap Agreement, as amended as of the
Closing Date.

“Amended Gas Purchase Agreement” means the Gas Purchase Agrecment, as amended as of the Closing Datc,
“associate” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Securities Act (Ontario).
“Audit Committee” means the audil committee of the Board of Directors,

“BCUC” means the British Columbia Utilities Commission, a regulatory body which regulates, among other
things, the distribution and marketing of electricity and natural gas in the Province of British Columbia.

“Belle Plaine Facility” means the ethanol facility and related infrastructure and facilities that TGF is constructing
in the rural municipality of Pense No. 160 near Belie Plaine, Saskatchewan.

“Board of Dircctors” or “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.

“BC Natural Gas Licence” mcans Gas Marketer Licence No, A-6-06 issued by the BCUC 1o Universal on
November 23, 2006 authorizing Universal to serve as a natural gas marketer in the Provinee of British Columbia
until October 31, 2007.

“CBCA” mecans the Canada Business Corporations Aet, as amended, including the regulations thercunder.
“Closing”” means the closing of the Offering.

“Closing Date” mcans the closing date of this Offering, which is expected to occur on or about February 2, 2007 or
such other date as the Company and the Underwriters may agree, but in any event no later than
February 28, 2007.

“Closing Time” means the time on the Closing Date at which the Closing oceurs.
“Common Shares” means the commaon shares of the Company.

“Company”, “we”, “us” and “our”, unless the context otherwise requires, each mean Universal Energy
Group Ltd. when referring to events or transactions that occurred or will occur prior to the completion of the
Acquisitions, and each mean Universal Energy Group Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries (including Universal
and TGF Amalco) when referring 10 events or transactions that will occur after completion of the Acquisitions.

“Compensation, Nominating and Gevernance Committee”’ means the compensation, nominating and governance
committee of the Board of Dircctors.

“Contractor” means EllisDon/VCM In Joint Venture, an unincorporated joint venture and TGF’s contractor
under the EPC Contract,




“CRFA” means the Canadian Renewable Fuels Association, a non-profit organization with a mission to promote
renewable fuels for transportation through consumer awareness and government liaison activities.

“Delta-T” means Delta-T Corporation, TGF’s ethanol process technology provider.

“Distributors” means, collectively, the seven corporate marketing consultants of Universal who manage
Universal’s Independent Contractors pursuant to the Marketing Agreements.

“Electricity Contracts” means Universal's long term contracts for a customer’s electricity supply requirements at a
fixed price (subject to the application of balancing charges).

“Electricity Swap Agreement” means the electricity swap master agreement dated as of July 14, 2005 between
Universal and Sempra pursuant to which Universal engaged Sempra to act as Universal’s exclusive supplier of
Electricity Swaps on the terms and conditions set forth therein, which agreement will be amended as of the
Closing Date,

“Electricity Swaps” mecans any swap, contract for differences, option or other similar transaction in respect
of clectricity.

“EllisDon” means EllisDon Inc., one of TGF’s joint venture contractors.
“Enbridge” means Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc., an Ontario LDC.

“Enbridge Gas Distribution Franchise Area” means the geographic area in the Province of Ontario within which
Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. is franchised as an LDC to service its customers and distribute natural gas.

“Energy Contracts” means Gas Contracts and Electricity Contracts.

“Energy Retailers’” means agents/brokers/marketers such as Universal. Energy Retailers are market aggregators,
meaning that they aggregate downstream customers into groups.

“EPC Contract” means the EPC construction contract dated as of September 29, 2006 between TGE, the
Contractor and EllisDon, pursuant to which TGF retained the Contractor for the design, engineering,
procurement, construction and commissioning of TGF’s Belle Plaine Facility.

“Escrow Agreement’” means the escrow agreement to be entered into on or before the Closing Date between the
Existing Sharcholders, the Company and Computershare Investor Services Inc., in its capacity as escrow trustee.

“Existing Commodity Agreements” means the Gas Purchase Agreement and the Electricity Swap Agreement,
“Existing Shareholders™ means the Universal Existing Shareholders and the TGF Existing Securityholders.

“Existing Shareholder Group” means, collectively, cach of the Existing Shareholders and any shareholder,
associate or affiliate of an Existing Sharcholder, including any family member of an Existing Sharcholder or of a
sharcholder of an Existing Sharcholder or any company, trust or other entity owned by or maintained for the
benefit of any such persons.

“GAAP” means accounting principles generally accepted in Canada.

“Gas Contracts” means Universal's long term contracts for a customer’s natural gas supply requirements at a fixed
price (subject to the application of balancing charges for certain classes of customers).

“Gas Purchase Agreement’” means the natural gas purchase and sale agreement dated as of July 14, 2005 between
Universal and Sempra pursuant to which Universal engaged Sempra to act as Universal’s exclusive supplier of
natural gas on the terms and conditions set forth therein, which agreement will be amended as of the
Closing Date.

“Gas Supplier” means a person who is a natural gas producer or a natural gas supply aggregator,
“Gasco” means Gasco Holdings Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Barbados.

“GJ” means gigajoules (one billion joules). A joule is a measurement of energy, with one gigajoule being equal
to .95 million British thermal units or approximately 26.53 m* of natural gas.



“Grain Supply Agreement” means the grain supply agreement made effective December 3, 2006 between TGF
and SWP.

“HOEP” means the final hourly market clearing price for clectricity as posied on the IESO website
at www.icso.ca.

“IESO” means the Independent Electricity System Operator (formerly the Independent Electricity Market
Operator} established under the Electricity Act, 1998 (Ontario). or other successor or replacement entity, public
or private, administering transmission reliability and control of the electricity grid in the province of Ontario.

“Independent Contractor”™ means a person who scrves in the capacity of an independent contractor to solicit
contructs for the supply of electricity and/or natural gas on behalf of Universal,

“kWh” means a kilowatt hour, the stundard commercial unit of ¢lectricity energy, with one kilowatt hour being
the amount of energy consumed by ten 100 watt light bulbs burning for one hour.

“Large Volume User™” means an electricity consumer who consumes more than 250,000 kWh of clectricity per year,
or a natural gas consumer who consumes more than 50,000 m* of natural gas per ycar.

“LDC” mecans local distribution company, the electricity or natural gas distributor for a geographic
franchise arca.

“LECG” means LECG Canada, Ltd., the independent anthor of the LECG Report.

“LECG Report” mcans the opinion of LECG dated December 20, 2006 described under *Business of Universal —
Business Strengths — Long Term Encrgy Contracts with Secure Operational Margins”, a copy of which is
included in this prospectus. See “Report of LECG Cunada, Ltd.”

“Licence Agreement” means the licence of technology agreement dated October 22, 2006 between Delta-T and
TGF pursuant to which Delta-T granted TGF the right 1o use Delta-T’s technology for the purposes of
constructing, building and the ongotng operation of TGF’s Belle Plaine Facility and the repair, maintenance,
optimization and enhancement of the Belle Plaine Facility.

“m¥’ means a cubic metre, One m* of natural gas is equal to approximately 0.03769 Gls.

“Marketing Agreements” means the marketing agreements dated effective January 1, 2007 between Universal
and cach of the Distributors.

“Mcf’ means thousand cubic feet.

“Michigan Natural Gas Licence” means Licence No. U-14732 issucd by the MPSC to Universal on December 20,
2005 authorizing Universal to serve as an AGS in the State of Michigan.

“MMBtu” means million British thermal units.

“MPSC" means the Michigan Public Service Commission, a regulatory body which regulates, among other
things, the distribution and marketing of clectricity and natural gas in the State of Michigan.

“MTBE” means methyl tertiary butyl ether.
“MWh” meuans megawalt hour.

“New Commodity Agreements” means the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement, the Amended Elcectricity Swap
Agreement and the Universal U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement.

“NYPSC” means the New York Staic Public Service Commission, a regulatory body which regulates, among
other things, the distribution and marketing of electricity and natural gas in the State of New Yok,

“OBCA” means the Business Corporations Act {Ontario), as amended, including the regulations thercunder.

“OEB” means the Ontario Energy Board, a regulatory body which regulaies. among other things, the
distribution and marketing of electricity and natural gas in the Province of Ontario.

“Offering” means the offering of Commeon Shares qualified under this prospectus.



“Offering Price” means the price per Common Share sold pursuant to this Offering.

“Ontario Electricity Licence” means Electricity Retailer Licence No, ER-2005-0261 issucd by the OEB 10
Universal on May 26, 2005 authorizing Universal to serve as an electricity marketer in the Province of Ontario
until May 25, 20140.

“Ontario Natural Gas Licence” means Gas Marketer Licence No. GM-2004-0537 issued by the OEB to Universal
on February 3, 20035 authorizing Universal to serve as a natural gas marketer in the Province of Ontario until
February 2, 2010.

“Operational Revenue™ means (i) for natural gus, revenue adjusted upward by the dollar amount of “gas delivered
in excess of consumption™ (natural gas that has been delivered by Universal to LDCs in excess of customer
consumption) and adjusted downward by the dollar amount of “gas under-delivered” (natural gas that has been
consumed by Universal’s customers in excess of that delivered by Universal to the LDCs), and (i1} for electricity,
revenue without adiustment. Sce “Non-GAAP Financial Mcasures™.

“Operational Margin” means (i) for natural gas, gross margin adjustcd upward for the excess of “deiferred
revenuc” over “gas delivered in cxcess of consumption” or adjusted downward for the excess of “unbilled
revenues” over “gas under-delivered”, and (i} for electricity, gross margin adjusted upward for “swap receipts”
or adjusted downward for “swap payments”, which are not included in cost of sales for accounting purposes. See
“Non-GAAP Financial Measures”,

“OPG” means Ontario Power Generation Inc.
“Option Plan” mecans the option plan established by the Company prior to the Closing of this Offering.

“Over-Allotment Option™ means the option granted by the Company to the Underwriters exercisable for a period
of 30 days from the date of the Closing to purchase up 1o an additional 1,704,546 Common Shares (being equal
to 15% of the Common Shares sold at the Closing) at the Offering Price solely to cover any over-allotments and
for market stabilization purposes.

*I'J” means petajoules.

“Promoters” means, collectively, Gary J. Drummond and Mark L. Silver.

“Purchased Securities” means all of the issued and outstanding Universal Shares, TGF New Amalco Shares and

TGF Notes to be acquired by the Company from the Existing Sharcholders pursuant to the Acquisitions
at Closing.

“RCE” means a rcsidential customer equivalent, which is a unit of measurement equivalent to 10,000 kWh of
electricity on an annual basis or 2,815 m* (or 106 GJs) of natural gas on an annual basis, which quantitics
management belicves to represent the approximate amounts of electricity and natural gas uscd annually by a
typical residential customer,

“Renewal” means the renewal of an existing customer’s contract upon expiration of such contract.
“RFA” mecans the Renewable Fuels Association, the national trade association for the U.S. ethanol industry.
“RFS” means the U.S. renewable fuels stundard, which was adopted as part of the Energy Policy Act of 2005.
“Risk Management Committee” means the risk management committee of the Board of Dircctors.

“RPP” means the Regulated Price Plan developed by the OEB for specific classes of customers who purchase
their electricity supply from Ontario electric LDCs,

“Sempra” means Sempra Encrgy Trading Corp., Universal's exclusive supplier of natural gas and Electricity
Swaps and Universal U.Ss exclusive supplier of natural gas,

"“Services Agreement” means the scrvices agrcement dated as of July 14, 2005 among Universal, Sempra, Silverco
and Gasco pursuant to which Universal engaged each of Sempra, Silverco and Gasco to perform the services
cnumerated therein.



“Silverco” means 1663749 Ontario Limited, a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province
of Ontario.

“subsidiary” has the meaning set out in the Securitics Act (Ontario), and includes a partnership or other entity.
“SWP” means Saskatchewan Wheat Pool Inc.

“Termination Agreement” mcans the services agrecment termination agreement dated as of September 30, 2006
among Universal, Sempra, Silverco, Gasco and UEC Distributors, as agent for and on behalf of certain
individuals.

“TGF” means Terra Grain Fuels Holdings Inc., a corporation incorporated under the federal laws of Canada,
and where the context requires, includes its whotly-owned subsidiary TGF Opco.

“TGF Amalco™ means Terra Grain Fuels Inc., the corporation to be formed on the Amalgamation of TGF and
TGF Opco at the Closing Time.

“TGF Amalco Shares” means the class A common voting sharcs of TGF Amalco [ollowing the Amalgamation.

“TGF Capital Reorganization” means the reorganization of TGF Amalco’s capital to occur on or about the
Closing Date pursuant to which the TGF Amalco Shares will be exchanged for TGF New Amalco Shares and
TGF Notes.

“TGF Credit Facility” means the term sheet dated July 21, 2006 between TGF and its lead lender, on behalf of a
syndicate of Canadian lenders, for a credit facility. See “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of
TGF — TGF Credit Facility”.

“TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement” means the agreement dated August 25, 2006 among TGF and the TGF
Debentureholders. See “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of TGF — TGF Debenture Purchase
Agreement’.

“TGF Debentureholders™ means the purchasers of the TGF Debenturcs and the holders of the TGF Warrants.

“TGF Debentures” means the $40 million aggregate principal amount of 10.5% subordinated secured debentures
of TGFE.

“TGF Opco™ means Terra Grain Fuels Inc., a corporation incorporated under the federal laws of Canada and the
wholly-owned subsidiary of TGE

“TGF Opco Shares” mcans the class A common voting shares of TGF Opco.
“TGF Shares” means the class A common voting shares of TGF.

“TGF Existing Securityholders” mecans the holders of the issued and ouistanding TGF New Amalco Shares and
TGF Notes following the TGF Capital Reorganization.

“TGF Management Shareholders” means Gary Drummond, Tim LaFrance and Mark Silver (and entities that are
shareholders of TGF Amalco immediately prior to the completion of the Acquisitions and over which such
individuals directly or indirectly exercise control or direction) and Sempra.

“TGF New Amalco Shares” meuns the class E common voting shares of TGF Amalco to be issued in exchange for
the TGF Amalco Shares on or about the Closing Date pursuant to the TGF Capital Reorganization.

“TGF Non-Management Shareholders” means all shareholders of TGF Amalco immediately prior to the
completion of the Acquisitions other than the TGF Management Shareholders.

“TGF Notes” means the promissory notes of TGF Amalco to be issucd in exchange for the TGF Amalco Shares on
or about the Closing Date pursuant to the TGF Capital Reorganization.

“TGF Warrants” means the 983,111 issued and ocutstanding warrants, which arc exercisable to acquire an
aggregate of 1,109,831 TGF Opco Shares (and following the Amalgamation, TGF Amalco Shares).

“TSX” means the Toronto Stock Exchange.



“UEC Distributors” means UEC Distributors Group Ltd., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the
Province of Ontario that is a sharcholder of Universal.

“Underwriters” mecans National Bank Financial Inc., CIBC World Markets Inc., GMP Sccuritics I.P. and HSBC
Securities {Canada) Inc.

“Underwriting Agreement” means the underwriting agreement among the Company, Universal, TGF, TGF Opco,
the Promoters and the Underwriters dated January 26, 2007.

“Union Gas Franchise Area” means the geographic area within the Province of Ontario within which Union Gas
Limited is franchised as an LDC 1o service its customers and distribute natural gas.

“United States” or “U.S.” means the United States, as defined in Rule 902(1) under Regulation § under the
U.S. Securities Act.

“Universal” means Universal Energy Corporation, a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of
Ontario, and where the context requires, includes its wholly-owned subsidiary Universal U.S. and, when formed,
the Universal Partnership.

“Universal Assets” mcans substantially all of Universal’s asscts other than the securities of Universal U.S. owned
by Universal.

“Universal Existing Shareholders”™ means the holders of the issued and outstanding Universal Shares at the
Closing Time.

“Universal Partnership’” means Universal Energy Limited Partnership, a limited partnership to be formed under
the laws of the Province of Ontario.

“Universal Shares” means the common shares and the class C shares of Universal.

“Universal U.8." means Universal Gas & Electric Corporation, a company incorporated under the laws of the
State of Delaware and the wholly-owned subsidiary of Universal.

“Universal U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement’” means the natural gas purchase and sale agreement to be dated as of
the Closing Date between Universal U.S. and Sempra pursuant to which Universal U.S. will engage Sempra to
act as Universal U.S.’s exclusive supplier of natural gas on the terms and conditions set forth therein.

“ULS. Securities Act” means the United States Secinrities Act of 1933, as amended.
“VCM” means VCM Contractors & Engineers Lid., one of TGF’s joint venture contractors.

“WACOG” means, for any period, the weighted average cost of gas for such period, which is generally derived by
weighting the natural gas volumes by the natural gas prices paid under specific natural gas contracts by an LDC
to produce one average price for a natural gas supply portfolio.



THHE COMPANY, UNIVERSAL AND TGF
The Company

The Company was incorporated under the CBCA as “Universal Energy Group Ltd.” on November 1, 2006
and, other than as described in this prospectus, has not carried on any business to date.

The Company was formed to participate in the retail electricity and natural gas industrics and the ethanol
industry. Following the Closing of the Offering, the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding
shares of Universal and TGF from the Existing Shurcholders. Sce “Funding, Acquisitions and Related
Transactions” and “Use of Proceeds™.

The head office of the Company is located at Suite 1700, 25 Sheppard Avenue West, Toronto, Ontario
M2N 686. The registered office of the Company is located at Suite 1600, 25 Sheppard Avenue West, Toronto,
Ontario M2N 656.

The Company does not currently have any operations or subsidiaries,

Universal

Universal was incorporated under the OBCA as “Universal Energy Corporation” on November 25, 2004
and commenced operations on February 25, 2005,

Universal currently sells electricity and natural gas in Ontario o residential, small to mid-size commercial
and small industrial customers and sells natural gas in Michigan to small to mid-size commercial and small
industrial customers.

The heuad office of Universal is located at Suite 1700, 25 Sheppard Avenue West, Toronto, Ontario
M2N 656. The registered office of Universal is located at Suitc 1600, 25 Sheppard Avenue West, Toronto,
Ontario M2N 656.

Universal has one whollty-owned subsidiary, Universal U.S., a company incorporated under the laws of the
State of Delaware on June 29, 2005. Universal U.S. carries on business in the State of Michigan.

TGF

TGF was incorporated under the CBCA as “6558551 Canada Incorporaied” on April 25, 2006 and
commenced carrying on business on May 12, 2006. On May 1, 2006, TGF filed Articles of Amendment changing
its name to “Terra Grain Fucls Holdings Inc.”.

TGE, through its wholly-owned subsidiary TGF Opco, is constructing the Belle Plaine Facility in the rural
municipality of Pense No. 160, ncar Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan that is designed to produce approximately
150 million litres of ethanol annually and to produce dried distillers grains as a co-product of such cthanol
production. Construction of the Belle Plaine Facility commenced in September 2006. When the Belle Plaine
Facility is operational, which is scheduled to be by the end of 2007, TGF believes that it will be the largest
ethanol producer in western Canada.

The head office of TGF is located at 1570 — 2002 Victoria Avenue, Regina, Saskatchewan, S4P OR7. The
registered office of TGF is located at 2398 Scarth Street, Regina, Saskatchewan, S4P 2J7.

TGF has one wholly-owned subsidiary, TGF Opco, a corporation incorporated under the CBCA. TGF
conducts its operations through TGF Opco.
Rationale for the Business Combination of Universal and TGF

Management believes that the combination of Universal and TGF provides an attractive means ol
enhancing the value of the combined companies:

» Greater Geographical and Operational Diversification. On a combined basis, management believes that
Universal and TGF represent a mere diverse and stable source of long term cash flow than either
company cn its own. In addition, certain operational elements can be leveraged by both companies:
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* Addition of Fixed Assets. TGF will contribute a significant base of fixed assets that are leveragable
and that over time may provide the ability to sccure further credit for continued growth of
Universal’s customer basc (cither organically or through acquisitions) and its related energy
matching requirements,

* Leverage Risk Managememnt Synergies. Management intends to use its collective risk management
experience and expertise to implement a hedging strategy at each of Universal and TGF with the
objcctive of generating long term, sustainable, stable and growing cash flow from cach of Universal
and TGF.

* Capitalize on Two Platforms for Growth. Management believes that significant growth opportunities exist
in both the energy retailing and cthanol production industries in North America. These opportunities
exist through both organic or “greenfield” growth and through acquisition.

* Enhanced Market Capitalization and Broader Sharcholder Base. The Company will have a significantly
larger market capitalization than would cither Universal or TGF alone, which is expected to attract a
more diverse shareholder base.
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OVERVIEW OF THE ELECTRICITY INDUSTRY
General Market Overview of the Electricity Industry

The North American electricity industry primarily consists of the following entities in each jurisdiction:
power generating companies; electricity transmission companies; an independent systems operator (an “1ESO™)
(in jurisdictions where the power generation and transmission functions are separated); local electricity
distribution or utility companies (“LDCs”); and, in deregulated markets, wholesale aggregators and Energy
Retailers.

Power-gencrating  entitics range from large government owned entitics to small private facilitics.
Transmission companies, which consist of government owned entities and private companies (often monopolies),
connect the power generators to the LDCs and Large Volume Users through large scale grid systems (generally
within each jurisdiction} that transmit high voltage electricity. In jurisdictions where the power generation and
power transmission functions arc separated, an IESO often manages the electricity supply and operates the
wholesale electricity market. IESOs direet the flow of clectricity over the high voltage grid transmission lines and
the transmission companies are responsible for the safety, operation and maintenance of thosc lines. Each
clectricity LDC accepts the transmission of electricity scheduled by the IESOs or other wholesale suppliers on
behalf of all of its customers. These customers either pay the LDC the wholesale price for their electricity, or pay
a fixed or capped price for their electricity that is determined by local laws. Fixed or capped prices are typically
adjusted periodically to reflect the true cost of generating the electricity consumed. LDCs are almost always
regulated monopolies. Where the participants in the industry have monopoly or near monopoly status,
regulatory agencies usually regulate tariffs for the generation, transmission, delivery and administration costs
charged by those participants. In some jurisdictions, governments (or government agencies) still regulate
electricity commodity prices even though a monopoly does not exist.

The Direct Purchase Electricity Market

In a jurisdiction with a deregulated retail electricity market (i.e.. the wholesale and retail price for electricity
as a commaodity for consumption is no longer fully determined by regulation), clectricity consumers usually have
the option of signing a contract with an Energy Retailer to pay for clectricity at unregulated prices. Energy
Retailers offer a variety of fixed, floating or blended prices for different periods of time. LDCs continue to
supply electricity to customers who sign a contract with an Energy Retailer Lo purchase electricity. However, the
LDC will charge the Encrgy Retailer for the actual amount of electricity consumed by the customer multiplied
by the variablc rate charged by the LDC, and the LDC will invoice the customer for the actual amount of
electricity consumed by the customer multiplicd by the Energy Retailer's fixed price under its clectricity
contract. Energy Retailers generally enter into financial swap contracts to sccure long term Operational Margins
with reasonable certainty as if they were purchasing clectricity directly at a fixed rate.

Direct purchase customers can be divided into the following segments: (i) the medium and large industrial
and commercial customers (which Universal does not attempt to supply); and (ii) the residential, small to
mid-size commercial and small industrial customers (the segment in which Universal is currently active). In
contrast to larger volume industrial end users for whom annual costs of electricity can be millions of dollars,
management believes (based on its recent experience in the Ontario market) that the annual clectricity
commodity cost to an average residential customer (who management considers to consume approximately
10,000 kWh of clectricity annually) is much less, generally less than $600 annually. As a result, electricity supply
does not represent a major purchase decision for a residential customer. However, the combined demand of a
large number of these small volume customers cconomically justifics Encrgy Retailers entering into direct
purchase contracts with such customers.

Energy Retailers operate in the direct purchase electricity market by providing fixed, floating, blended price
or price protecled electricity contracts to residential, commercial and industrial customers for varying periods of
time. By providing price protection under electricity contracts for a fixed period of time (generally up to five
years), customers reduce their exposure to changes in electricity commodity prices. Wholesale electricity prices
have been very volatile over the past few years. A key to the success of this product is the atiracliveness 1o
customers of price protection for their electricity supply costs. The percentage of the etectricity supply that has a
fixed pricc may vary depending on the Encrgy Retailer’s product offering. Simtlar to fixed rate mortgages, which
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provide interest rate certainty, these contracts allow customers to fix the price of substantially all of the
clectricity consumption portion of their electricity bills for the term of the contract. In contrast, the clectricity
LDCs typically offer clectricity at prices that may lluctuate more widely from time to time as wholesale prices
change.

Encrgy Retailers deliver clectricity to their customers through the clectricity LDCs, who still charge the
customers for delivery and other costs. Typically. the LDCs collect all of the monies payable by clectricity
consumers, including the payments duc to Energy Retailers for the commodity portion of the consumer’s
clectricity bill. Even in jurisdictions where there is electricity commodity price deregulation, regulators typically
regulate: the fees paid to transmission companies and LDCs w transmit and deliver electricity; and the activitics
of Energy Retailers, including the terms of their contracts and their business practices.

Management believes that the ability to build a large retail customer base in jurisdictions that allow long
term fixed price protected contracts and the ability to mateh the purchase of electricity supply with the ¢lectricity
demand of that customer base, all on an administratively efficient basis, are the critical elements of success as an
clectricity Energy Retailer.

Electricity deregulation. is a relatively recent pheromenoen in North America. The extent of dercgulation
and the rules under which Energy Retailers must operate, including the consumer protection elements of the
regulatory regime (such as the ability to prematurely terminate long term contracts) varies from jurisdiction to
jurisdiction. Some jurisdictions, although deregulated, are not as attractive as others to Energy Retailers. The
following map identifies the North American jurisdictions in which management believes that electricity Energy
Retailers and wholesalers are currently operating.

Deregulated Electricity Markets in North America

E] Deregulated

Markets

Considering
Deregulation

Note:

(1} Source: Encrgy Information Administration; StatsCan; National Energy Bourd.
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Specific Markets

Universal currently opcrates as an clectricity Energy Retailer in the residential, small to mid-size
commercial and small industrial markets in Ontario. In addition, Universal is currently evaluating expansion
opportunitics in the small to mid-size commercial and small industrial clectricity markets in New York.

Ontario

Ontario permitted Energy Retailers to commence delivery of electricity to small volume customers,
including residential customers, in May of 2000. However, in 2002, electricity rates were frozen by the Ontario
government. Penetration rates for direct purchase customers have declined in Ontano since 2002 as a result of
the province’s rate freeze, which caused Energy Retailers to suspend their operations until the RPP was
implemented in April 2005. When the RPP was introduced in Ontario effective April 1, 2005 and consumers
were again exposed 0 electricity price increases, significant penetration opportunities in the Ontario electricity
market became available. Management estimates that OPG supplies approximately 70% of the Ontario
wholesale eleclricity market at capped prices. The OEB is authorized to sct payments Lo be made to OPG with
respect to the outputs of certain ol OPG’s generation lacilities. On November 30, 2006, the OEB issued a report
summarizing, among other things, the regulatory methodology that the OEB has sclected to determine payment
amounts for the prescribed OPG assets. Management belicves that the application of this methodology should
lead the OEB to increase the required rate of return on the prescribed OPG assets, and that this should lead to
an increase in the RPP, and therefore increased electricity prices for consumers. The report suggests that the
revised payments to be made to OPG may commence on April 1, 2008.

In Ontario, as of December 31, 2005, approximately 635,000 residential, small to mid-size commercial and
small industrial electricity customers (o1 approximately 15% of the 4.3 million electricity customers in these
segments of the Ontario electricity market) received their electricity under long term contracts with Energy
Retailers. Management believes that the retail electricity prices available through the LDCs will experience
increased fluctuations as the Ontario electricity market moves closer to fully market-based pricing. As such,
management believes that many consumers will respond by seeking price protection for their electricity
CONSUMpLion costs,

New York

As of Scptember 30, 2006, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial electricity customers
representing in excess of 2.2 million RCEs (or approximately 49% of the 4.6 million electricity RCEs in that
segment of the New York clectricity market) received their clectricity under long term contracts with Energy
Retailers. The price of electricity in New York has not been subject to price controls since 2000. Since then, the
New York market has seen an increasing percentage of the small to mid-size commercial and small industrial
customers utilizing Energy Retailers as the source of their electricity supply.



Market Penetration Rates and Market Growth

The charts below illustraic the penetration rates achieved by Energy Retailers in the residential, small to
mid-size commercial and small industrial markets in Ontario and the small w mid-size commercial and small
industrial markets in New York for the periods indicated.

Electricity Energy Retailers Penetration Rates™
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(1) Source: The SPi Group Inc.

(2) Data is for residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers.

{3} Data is for small to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers. Total number of RCEs for New York also includes clectricity
consumed by street lights.

In addition to the opportunity to increase customer penetration rates within existing deregulated markets,
each market also has growth potential through the addition of new electricity customers. This growth potential is
primarily attributable to new housing starts and/or increases in the number of commercial and smalt industrial
businesses in operation. The following table provides the historical number of new housing starts in Ontario for
the periods indicated and illustrates the growth potential of the Ontario residential market.

Number of New Housing

Calendar Year Units in Ontario
2000 . e 73,282
002 0 83,597
2003 © 85,180
2004 83,114
2005 L 78,795

Note:

(1) Information obtained from Canada Mortgage and Housing Corpuration.

Electricity Prices in Ontario and New York

Wholesale electricily prices have been very volatile over the past few years. Management believes that this
volatility is creating a greater demand for price certainty, and thus the products offered by Universal and other
Energy Retailers. The following chart illustrates the HQEP for an Ontario wholesale electricity customer from
May 31. 2002 to November 30, 2006. As noted above, residential electricity prices in Ontario were capped at
below-market levels in 2002. Since 2005, such retail prices, although still regulated, have been rising, The
following chart also illustrates the price of electricity for wholesale customers in New York City bascd on the
location based marginal prices (“LBMP”") of New York’s independent system operator, which administers
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New York’s wholesale energy markets. The chart demonstrates that wholesale electricity prices in New York
have also been volatile.

Historical Electricity Prices

16,1
wusnne HOFEP Average (CIINS)
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Notes:
(1) Refers to the monthly weighted average HOEP in Canadian dollars,
(2) Refers to the New York independent system operator’s location based marginal pricing based on New York City's average price on the

last day of each menth during the period shaown. The prices have been expressed in US. doellars tor the purpose of demonstrating the
deregulated price trends in the New York market.
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OVERVIEW OF THE NATURAL GAS INDUSTRY
General Market Overview of the Natural Gas Industry

The North American natural gas industry includes: natural gas producers; pipeline companies; storage
operators; supply aggregators and traders; natural gas LDCs; and, in dereguiated markets, Energy Retailers.
Natural gas producers are primarily located in western Canada and the Guif of Mexico region. Natural gas is
shipped through local gathering pipeline systems and continental pipelines from producing regions to
downstream markets across North America. The tolls charged by pipeline companies for the transportation of
natural gas through their pipeline systems are reguluted by government agencies and are passed through to the
customers of the LDCs as the transportation component of their natural gas bill.

Natural gas producers scll natural gas to large end users such as power gencrators {for conversion into
other uses) and LDCs, Encrgy Retailers and others (for direct consumption). Supply aggregators also play a
wholesale market role between producers and end users. Supply aggregators may also provide various other
services, including natural gas storage services, backstopping services and operational services.

Natural gas LDCs, commonly known as gas utilities, sell and distribute natural gas in their franchise arcas
through their own distribution ncitworks pursuant to a variety of upsiream and downstream transmission
pipeling, storage and distribution agrcements. LDCs manage natural gas flows and are responsible for
operational considerations and system cxpansions under their regulated mandate to deliver natural gas. The
LDCs’ distribution rates arc regulated by provincial and state regulators.

The Direct Purchase Natural Gas Market

In a jurisdiction with a deregulated retail natural gas market (i.e., the wholesale and retail price for natural
gas as 3 commodity for consumption is no longer fully determined by regulation), natural gas consumers usually
have the option of signing o contract with an Energy Retailer to pay for natural gas at unregulated prices. Energy
Retuilers offer a variety of fixed, floating, price protected or blended prices for different contractual time
periods. These retailers purchase natural gas in the market and through contracts with natural gas producers
and/or wholesale aggregators. Under arrangements entered into between the Energy Retailers and their
customers, the LDCs remain responsible for the distribution of the natural gas from the citygate (e.g., the
interconnect of the national or regional pipeline and the LDC’s local distribution network) to the customer’s
residence or place of business. The LDCs are also typically responsible for billing the customers for all three
components of their natural gas bill, being the transportation, distribution and commodity costs.

The direct purchasc natural gas consumer market is segmented in much the same manner as the direct
purchase electricity consumer market. Many Energy Retailers operate in the same segments, selling both
clectricity and natural gas to the same consumers in jurisdictions where they are permitted to scll both products.
Universal sells natural gas to the residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial market segments
of this industry. In contrast to larger volume industrial end users for whom annual costs of natural gas can be
millions of dollars, management believes (based on its recent experience in the Ontario market) that the annual
natural gas commodity cost for an average residenttal customer (who management considers to consume
approximately 2.815 m? of natural gas annually) is generally less than $1,000 annually.

Energy Retailers operate in the direct purchase natural gas market by providing fixed. floating, blended
price or price protected natural gas contracts to residential. commercial and industrial customers for varying
periods of time. By providing price protection under natural gas contracts for a fixed period of time (gencrally
up to five years), customers reduce their exposure to changes in natural gas commodity prices, which have been
particularly volatile over the past few years. A key to the success of this product is the attractiveness to customers
of price protection for their natural gas supply costs. The percentage of the natural gas supply that has a fixed
price may vary depending on the Energy Retailer’s product offering. In contrast, LDCs typically offer natural gas
at market prices that fluctuate from time to time, often monthly.

Universal believes that the ability to build a large retail customer base in jurisdictions that aliow long term
fixed price or price protecled contracts and the ability to match the purchase of natural gas supply with the
natural gas demand of that customer hase, all on an administratively cfficient basis, are the critical clements of
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success as a natural gas Energy Retailer. These elements permit an Energy Retailer to secure long term
contractual Operational Margins with reasonable certainty.

The direct purchase natural gas market has generally been deregulated in a number of North American
jurisdictions for a longer period of time than clectricity deregulation has been in place. The extent of
deregulation and the rules under which Encrgy Retailers operate, including the consumer protection elements of
the regulatory regime (such as the ability to prematurcly terminate long term contracts), varies from jurisdiction
to jurisdiction. Some jurisdictions, although deregulated, arc not as attractive as others to Encrgy Retailers. The
following map identifies the North American jurnisdictions in which management believes that natural gas
Energy Retailers and aggregators arc currently operating,

Deregulated Natural Gas Markets in North America
D Preregulated
Markets

Cunsidering
Deregulation

Nole:

(1} Source: Energy Information Administration; StatsCan; National Energy Board.

Specific Markets

Universal currently operates as a natural gas Encrgy Retailer in the residential, small to mid-size
commercial and small industrial market in Ontario and in the small to mid-size commercial and small industrial
market in Michigan. Universal intends to expand into the British Columbia residential, small to mid-size
commercial and small industrial markets in the first quarter of 2007. In addition. Universal is currently
evaluating the expansion opportunitics in the small to mid-size commercial and small industrial natural gas
markets in New York.

Ontario

Since the deregulation of the market in the late 1980s, the Ontario natural gas markel has become relatively
mature. As at December 31, 2005, residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial natural gas
consumers representing in excess of 2.3 million natural gas RCEs {or approximatcly 44% of the 5.3 million
natural gas RCEs in that segment of the Ontario natural gas market) received their natural gas under long term



contracts with Energy Retailers. Despite the maturity of this market, management believes that a substantial
amount of natural gas RCEs become available to Energy Retailers cach year as a result of: (i) the addition of
new customers to the natural gas market as a result of new housing starts and/or increases in the number of
small to mid-size commercial and small industrial businesses in operation; and (ii) customers’ existing energy
contracts with Universal's Energy Retailer competitors expiring at the end of their terms. Management estimates
that approximately 20% of all natural gas contracts with Energy Retailers will reach their renewal date each
year.

Michigan

Michigan has permitted Energy Retailers to operate in the large industrial segment of the natural gas
market since the carly 1980s, and in the small to mid-size commercial and small industrial segments of the
markel since 2001. Universal has been an active Energy Retailer in the small to mid-size commercial and small
industrial scgments of the market since March 2006. In Michigan, as of December 31, 2005, small to mid-size
commetcial and small industrial customers representing approximately 135,346 natural gas RCEs (or
approximately 8% of the 1.7 million natural gas RCEs in these segments of the Michigan natural gas market)
received their natural gas under long term contracts with Energy Retailers. Customer penetration rates in
Michigan’s natural gas market remain relatively low, Management belicves that Energy Retailers have not been
particudarly active in the Michigan market as a result of the significant security requirements imposed on Energy
Retailers operating in Michigan by the relevant natural gas LDCs. Unlike certain of its Energy Retailer
competitors, however, management of Universal has elected to invest in the Michigan market notwithstanding
the significant security requirements. Management has made this decision because it believes that there is a
significant opportunity to increase penetration rates in the Michigan small to mid-size commercial and small
industrial segments of the market for Energy Retailers like Universal who are prepared to invest in the market.

British Columbia

British Columbia produces the second largest amount of natural gas in Canada and its residents are
collectively the third largest consumers of natural gas in Canada. British Columbia has two natural gas utilities,
Terasen Gas Inc. and Pacific Northern Gas Ltd. Although the commercial natural gas market in British
Columbia has been dercgulated since 2004, the BCUC has only recently approved a natural gas unbundling
program for residential customers of Terasen Gas Inc. Management currently expects that as of May 2007 in
excess of 700,000 residential customers in British Columbia will be able to choose their natural gas supplier.
Opportunitics also cxist to acquire commercial natural gas customers. As at December 31, 2005, only 14% of the
approximately 79,000 commercial customers have entered into direet purchase agreements with Energy
Retailers.

New York

As of July 31, 2006, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers representing in cxcess of
272,000 natural gas RCEs (or approximately 35% of the 782,000 natural gas RCEs in these segments of the
New York natural gas market) received their natural gas under long term contracts with Energy Retailers. The
number of RCEs in the small to mid-size commerctal and small industrial natural gas market in New York is
substantially lower than the number of RCEs in the same segments of the electricity market in New York. This is
because (among other things) many customers in New York cither do not have the ability to choose natural gas
as their encrgy source because their local LDC does not provide natural gas or such customers have the ability to
choose an alternative to natural gas (such as heating oil) as their energy source (whercas few customers have the
ability to choose an alternative to electricity),

The whelesale price of natural gas in New York has not been subject to price controls since the early 1980s.
Since then, the New York market has scen an increasing percentage of small to mid-size commercial and smail
industrial customers utilize Encrgy Retailers as the source of their natural gas supply. Natural gas penetration
rates in New York rose significantly in 2005 because of the introduction of unbundling programs by additional
natural gas utilitics. However, management believes that a market remains available for properly positioned
Enecrgy Retailers to establish or expand their market share.
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Market Fenetration Rates and Market Growth

The charts below illustrate the penetration rates achieved by Energy Retailers in the residential, small to
mid-size commercial and small industrial markets in Ontario and in the small to mid-size commercial and small
industrial markets in cach of Michigan and New York for the periods indicated. Historical penetration rates for
the British Columbia market are not provided becavse the restdential segment of the market will not be
available 1o Energy Retailers until May 2007. The commercial segment of the market has only been deregulated
since 2004,

Natural Gas Energy Retailers Penetration Rates!!
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In addition to the opportunity to increase customer penctration rates within existing deregulated markets,
cach market also has growth potential through the addition of new natural gas customers, primarily as a result of
new housing starts andfor increases in the number of commercial and small industrial businesses in operation.
The following table provides the historical number of new housing starts in Ontario and British Columbia for the
periods indicated and illustrates the growth potential of the Ontario and British Columbia residential markets.

Number of New
Housing Units

Calendar Year Ontario  British Columbia
2000 . 73,282 17.234
2002 e 83,597 21,625
20003 L e 85,180 26,174
2004 . 85,114 32,925
2005 .« e 78,795 34,667

Note:

(1} Information obtained from the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation.

Natural Gas Prices in North America

Natural gas prices have been very volatile over the past few years. Management believes that this volatility is
creating a greater demand for price certainty, and thus the products offered by Universal. The following chart
illustrates the AECO C Hub (Alberta) pricing on a daily basis for a wholesale natural gas customer from
January 31, 2002 to November 30, 2006. The following chart also illustrates the dailv wholesale NYMEX Henry
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Hub spot price and the monthly wholesale Michigan Consolidated Gas Company default customer price in
Michigan for the same time period. The chart demonstrates the volatility of wholesale natural gas prices in
North America.

Historical Natural Gas Prices
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(1} Refers 1o the daily cash natural gas wholesale price in Canadian dollars at the AECO C Hub located in southern Alberta.

(2) Refers 1o the daily cash natural gas wholesale price of NYMEX Henry Hub. The prices have been expressed in U.S. dollars for the
purpose of demonstrating the deregulated price trends in the New York market.

(3) Refers to the monthly natural gas wholesale spot price of Michigan Censelidated Gas Company. The prices have been eapressed in
U.S. dollars for the purpuse of demonstrating the deregulated price trends in the Michigan market.

BUSINESS OF UNIVERSAL
General Overview of Universal

Universal’s business currently involves (1) the sale of electricity and natural gas in Ontario to residential,
small to mid-size commercial and small industnial customers, and (ii) the sale of natural gas in Michigan to small
to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers. Universal intends to enter the British Columbia
residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial natural gas market in the first quarter of 2007. In
addition. Universal is currently evaluating the expansion opportunities in the small to mid-size commercial and
small industrial electricity and natural gas markets in New York.

Universal’s customers purchase electricity and natural gas under long term, non-terminable (except in
timited circumstances) Energy Contracts, typically for a term of five years (see “— Key Regulatory Provisions —
Customer Contract Terminations™). By fixing the price of natural gas under Universal’s Gas Contracts and by
obtaining pricc protection under its Electricity Contracts for a period of five years, Universal's customers
eliminate or reduce their exposure to changes in natural gas prices {(which have been volatile over the past
several years) and electricity prices {which have increased in Ontario since April 2005).

It is Universal’s general policy to malch the estimated energy requirements of its customers by purchasing,
in the case of natural gas, offsetting volumes of natural gas and, in the case of electricity, entering into offsciling
financial swap contracts (Elcctricity Swaps) with Sempra at fixed prices for the term of its customers’ Energy
Contracts. Universal derives its Operational Margin from the difference between the price it pays for Eleetricity
Swaps and natural gas supply from Sempra and the price it charges to its customers.

41




History of Universal

Universal was incorporated in November 2004, The OERB issued Universal its Ontario Natural Gas Licence
in February 2005 and Universal began test marketing natural gas in Ontario in that month. The OEB issued
Universal its Ontario Electricity Licence in May 2005 and Universal began marketing electricity in Ontario in
September 2005, Universal entered into the Gas Purchase Agreement and the Electricity Swap Agreement in
July 2005. In December 2005, the Michigan Natural Gas Licence was issued to Universal U.S. by the MPSC
authorizing Universal to serve as an Alternative Gas Supplicr in the State of Michigan. Universal began
marketing natural gas in Michigan in March 2006. The BCUC issued Universal its BC Natural Gas Licence in
November 2006.

Customer Base and Growth

From January 1, 2006 to November 30, 2006, Universal’s customer base (measured in RCEs) grew at an
average monthly growth rate of approximately 209%. The graph below has been prepared by management of
Universal to indicate the approximate growth of Universal in all markets (expressed in terms of RCEs) from its
inception to November 30), 2006.

Universal’s RCE Growth
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(1) As at November 30, 2006.

{2) This tigure represents 80% of the RCEs represented by electricily customers who have entered into Energy Contracts and whao have had
their Energy Contracts reaffirmed by Universal, but who are not yet receiving their electricity supply from Universal because certain
administrative procedures have not yet been completed with the customers’ LDDC. Universal’s experience is that approximately 95%
(rather than (%) of the Energy Contracts submitted to LICs by Universal are accepied.

As at November 3(), 2006, Universal had approximately 114,322 residential, small to mid-size commercial
and small industrial customers under Electricity Contracts in Ontario, representing approximately 135,026
RCEs, which management believes makes it the third largest residential, smalt to mid-size commercial and small
industrial electricity Energy Retailer in Canada. Management estimates that Universal has approximately a 21%
share of the customers in Ontario’s direct purchase market for these market segments (based on Universal’s
current customer levels and market data as at December 31, 2005, the most recent date for which data
is availablc).

As at November 30, 2006, Universal had approximately 39,778 residential, small to mid-size commercial and
small industrial customers under Gas Contracts in Ontario, representing approximately 47,879 RCEs, which
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management believes makes it the fourth largest residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial
natural gas Energy Retailer in Ontario. Management estimates that Universal has approximately a 2% share of
the Ontario direct purchase market for these market segments (based on Universal's current customer levels and
market data as at December 31, 2005, the most recent date for which data is available).

As at November 30, 2006, Universal had approximately 8,563 small to mid-size commercial and small
industrial customers under Gas Contracts in Michigan, representing approximately 44,095 RCEs, making it a
significant commercial Energy Retailer in Michigan. Management estimates that Universal has approximately a
33% sharc of the Michigan direct purchase market for small to mid-sizc commercial and small industrial natural
gas customers (based on Universal’s current customer levels and market data as at December 31, 2005, the most
recent date for which data is available).

Of the approximately 228,004 RCEs that Universal had at November 30, 2006, approximately 60% were
derived from Energy Contracts with residential customers and approximately 40% were derived from Encrgy
Contracts with small to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers. [n Ontario, residential customers
represent more than 75% of Universal’s total RCE base in the province.

Universal’s Value Proposition to Customers

Universal believes that its products appeal to customers because they reduce or eliminate the customers’
exposure to the volatility of energy prices. In addition, if energy prices rise above Universal's fixed energy rates,
customers experience savings on their energy bills, Based on Universal's experience to date, management
belicves that consumers’ primary concern is to avoid the volatility of energy prices and the possibility of rising
enecrgy prices over the long term. Management thercfore believes that Universal's ability to acquire RCEs is not
significantly affected by short term declines in energy prices.

Business Strengths
Management believes the following key attributes contribute to the strength of Universal’s business:
« Long term Energy Contracts with sccure Operational Margins
* Opportunitics for growth

* Sophisticated management information system (o support Independent Contractors, customer
acquisttions and commodity purchasing

* Experienced management tcam

* Scaleable platform

Long Term Energy Contracts with Secure Operational Margins

Universal’s Energy Contracts are primarily for a fixed term of five years, with existing Encrgy Contracts
having an average remaining life of approximately 4.5 years as at November 30, 2006. Universal is able 1o secure
its Operational Margins per RCE with reasonable certainty by purchasing energy in large quantities at a fixed
price in the case of natural gas, or through financial swaps, in the case of clectricity, and selling energy at a
higher fixed price to customers, under fixed price or price protection Energy Contracts. See “— Electricity and
Natural Gas Supply”. For the year ended September 30, 2006, Universal achieved Operational Margins of
approximately $175 per RCE in the Ontario natural gas market segment, $120 per RCE in the Ontario clectricity
market segment, and $401 per RCE in the Michigan natural gas market scgment. Management belicves that the
Operational Margins achieved by Universal in the Ontario clectricity market for the year ended September 30,
2006 were lower than management’s long term budget for such margins because Universal was offering various
time limited discounts to customers in the first year of their Electricity Contract and such customers represented
a large percentage of Universal’s Electricity Contracts during the period. In addition, management believes that
the Operational Margins achieved by Universal in the Michigan natural gas market segment for the year ended
September 30, 2006 were higher than management’s long term budget for such margins due to Universal U.S.'s
ability to purchase natural gas for the period from July to October 2006 at relatively low prices as a result of
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excess natural gas inventories existing in the market. Further, because Universal has only been active as an
Encrgy Retailer in Michigan since March 2006 the margins per RCE in Michigan were annualized on this basis.
From November 2006 onwards, management anticipates that Operational Margins in the Michigan natural gas
market segment will revert back to Operational Margins that are similar to those experienced in the Ontario
natural gas segment.

Universal engaged LECG 1o review its existing Energy Contracts and provide an opinion regarding the
aggregate Operational Margins to be earncd by Universal on those Energy Contracts in 2007 and 2008. The
aggregate Operational Margins were calculated by LECG based on Universal’s existing Energy Contracts as at
November 30, 2006 and therefore exclude Operational Margins attributable to customer aequisitions subsequent
to that date. The Operational Margins have been determined without consideration of attrition in the
November 30, 2006 customer base over the 2007 and 2008 period, and arc based on the assumptions that as at
November 30, 2006 any excess of contracted supply over estimated customer demand will be absorbed by new
customers to be acquired by Universal and any deficiency of supply will be purchased in the spot market. Based
on these assumptions, LECG opined that the Operational Margins on Universal’s existing Energy Contracts are
$43.5 million in 2007 and $44.8 million in 2008. This summary of the LECG Report is qualified in its entirety by
reference to the complete LECG Report, a copy of which is included elsewhere herein. See “Report of LECG
Canada, Ltd.”

Energy Conlracts are non-lerminable in accordance with their terms (excepl in limited circumstances) and
provide for significant termination charges in the event that a customer attempts to avoid its obligations under
the contract without a legal basis for doing so. Sec “— Customer Contracts — Contract Attrition”. However,
management has cstablished a system for subsequently reconfirming all Energy Contracts through a telephone
reconfirmation process, which provides all customers (whether required by law in the customer’s jurisdiction of
residence or not) with an opportunity to withdraw their application to purchase electricity or natural gas from
Universal before an Energy Contract becomes effective. Management believes that this process helps minimize
the number of customers that attempt to avoid their obligations under their Energy Contracts. Universal records
all interactions with customers in conncction with the reconfirmation of Energy Contracts.

Opportunities for Growth

Management believes that significant opportunity still exists for turther growth through increased customer
penetration in the Ontario residential, smatl to mid-size commercial and small industrial electricity market
because of the low penetration rates achieved by Energy Retailers in this market to date. Management also
believes that the residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial Ontario naturail gas market
{where the penetration rate is approximately 44% of available RCEs) continues to offer opportunity for growth.
In Michigan, the penetration rate in the small to mid-size commercial and small industrial natural gas market is
approximately 8% of available RCEs. Management belicves that this market offers Encrgy Retailers like
Universal a significant opportunily 1o increase existing penetration rates. In addition, Universal is constantly
analyzing and evaluating new markets in order to identify expansion opportunitics. Management’s analysis of the
British Columbia residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial market has led to the decision to
¢xpand into British Columbia in 2007, Universal is also currently cvaluating the expanston opportunitics in the
small to mid-size commercial and small industrial markets in New York.

Sophisticated Management Information System to Support Independent Contractors, Customer Acquisitions and
Commodity Purchasing

Universal has developed a sophisticated management information system which management believes
provides Universal with a significant competitive advantage over its Energy Retailer competitors. This system
enables Universal to provide its Independent Contractors with up-to-the minute pricing, promotien and
incentive information, as well as information respecting their compensation. In addition, the system provides
management with real-time access to information respecting the confirmation of customer Energy Contracts and
customer acquisition levels. The system also has the ability to electronically record each meaningful customer
telephone interaction.
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Management belicves that its information system has contributed to Universal’s ability to capture a
significant portion of the direct purchase market in any given month. For example, although there are
approximately 66 licensed clectricity Energy Retailers in Ontario, on average, 33% of the customers that entered
into an electricity contract with an Energy Retailer between December 2005 and November 2006 entered into
that Electricity Contract with Universal,

Universal’s Ontario Electricity Monthly Customer Acquisitions Relative to Total
Monthly Customer Acquisitions in Ontario
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(1) Total Ontario electricity monthly customer acquisition data was obtained from The SPi Group Inc.’s public website, Universal’s Ontario

electricity monthly customer acquisition totals are provided by management.

(2) Ontario clectricity monthly customer acyuisition data is expressed in terms of the number of residential, smali to mid-size commercial
and small industrial customers that have entered inte Electricity Contracts. ‘The data is nol expressed in terms of RCEs.

Universal's information system also helps management forecast new customer enrolments and their energy
requirements. Appropriate forecasting helps Universal mateh all of its new customers’ estimated average energy
requirements without unduly exposing itself to the “spot” market.

Experienced Management Team

The Company’s executive officers and the principal of each of the Distributors have an average of more
thar 15 years of experience in the energy supply business. During their careers, senior management of the
Company have held senior executive positions al companies that have aggregated in excess of one million
Energy Contracts. Collectively, they have participated in the evolution and development of the electricity and
natural gas regulatory frameworks in Ontario and various U.S. states. Certain members of both the Company’s
and Universal's scnior management teams held senior executive positions with Direct Energy Marketing Limited
(a subsidiary of Dircct Energy, a trust listed on the TSX from 1996 to 2000) and its predecessors from 1991 to
1996, During the period from 1996 when Direct Energy (originally named Optus Natural Gas Distribution
Income Fund) complelted its initial public offering to 2000 when it was acquired by Centrica ple, Direct Energy
provided average annual total returns of approximately 35% to unitholders (assuming the reinvestment of all
distributions).

Scaleable Platform

Universal’s existing operational infrastructure provides considerable scale and scope. Universal’s energy
purchasing, sales force development and information technology functions are integrated and scalable, allowing
Universal to efficiently acquire and supply customers in new markets as it expands its operations without
significant capital cost. Management believes that Universal’s existing infrastructure is sufficient to successfully
manage Universal’s expansion plans (up to at least one million RCEs).
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Business and Growth Strategies

With its existing operational infrastructure, opportunities are available to grow Universal's customer base,
revenucs und aggregate Operational Margin. They include (i) conducting tocused marketing campaigns to sign
up additional customers in the residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial markets of Ontario,
(ii) the continued development of Universal’s presence in the Michigan small to mid-size commercial and small
industrial markets, (ii1) the opportunity to enter the British Columbia residential, small to mid-size commercial
and small industrial markets in 2007, and (iv) the potential for future expansion into the deregulated small to
mid-size commercial and small industrial markets in New York. Universal may also consider expanding its
operations into other jurisdictions or into other segments of the market in jurisdictions where il is already
operating.

When evaluating the merits of expanding into a new market, management considers a number of relevant
factors including, but not limited to, the following: the nature of the retail electricity and natural gas regulatory
regime in the market; the rate of Energy Retailer penetration in the market; the availability of wholesale energy
supply in the market; whether the LDCs in the market provide billing and collection services; the enforceability
of Energy Contracts in the market; and, the degree of customer education that will be required to succeed in
the market.

Ontario

Universal commenced its operations in Ontario in February 2005 when it began test marketing natural gas.
Universal subsequently began marketing electricity in Ontario in September 2003,

As at December 31, 2005, approximately 15% of residential, small to mid-size commercial and small
industrial customers in Ontario were parties 1o a fixed price electricity contract with an Energy Retailer.
Management thercfore believes that there is a significant opportunity for Universal to grow through further
peneiration of the Ontario electricity market.

Although management does not believe that the natural gas market offers the same high growth
opportunities that the electricity market offers, management does believe that the natural gas market offers
opportunities as a result of: (i) the continued growth of the size of the natural gas market as a result of new
housing starts andfor increases in the number of small to mid-size commercial and smail industrial businesses in
operation; (ii) customers’ existing natural gas contracts with Universal’s competitors expiring (management
estimates that approximately 20% of all natural gas contracts with Energy Retailers will reach their renewal date
each year};, and (iii) further penetration of the Ontario natural gas market. Management believes that one
method of achieving additional penetration in Ontario’s existing natural gas market is to target the more upscale
and rural areas of Ontario where Energy Retailers have historically not been as active. Universal has therefore
created markeling campaigns and implemented specific sales force incentives that are designed 1o market
Universal’s Gas Contracts to the upscale and rural markets.
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The following charts illustrate the penetration levels achieved by Energy Retailers in the residential, small
to mid-size commercial and small industrial segments of the Ontario clectricity and natural gas markets (being
the market segments in which Universal competes) as at December 31, 2005,

Ontario Electricity Penetration'" Ontario Natural Gas Penetration
14.6%
4.0%
% of % of
Customers'?  Eligible RCEs Eligihle
Energy Rewstler Enrolled . .. ... .. 635,000 14.6% Energy Retailer Enrolled ... ... .. 2,343,668 44.0%
LDC Enrolled . . .. .. ...... ... 3,710,000 #5.4% LDC Enrolled . . ... ........ 2.982,851 36.0%

4,345,000 L)L 3326519 100.0%

Notes:
(1) Source: The SPi Group Inc.

(2) Penetration rates in the Ontario electricity market have been expressed in terms of numbers of customers rather thaa in terms of RCEs
because the RCE duta that is availubie for the Ontario electricity market is not segregated by customer segment.

Michigan

Universal selected Michigan as its initial point of entry into the United States primarily due to: the low
penetration rates achieved by Energy Retailers in Michigan to date; the existence of a retail energy regulatory
environment that is conducive to retail marketing and customer choice; and the significant sceurity requirements
imposed on Energy Retailers operating in Michigan by the relevant natural gas LDCs, which management
believes has resulted in Energy Retailers not having been particularly active in the Michigan market. Unlike
certain of its Energy Retailer competitors, however, management of Universal has clected to invest in the
Michigan market notwithstanding the significant security requirements, Management has made this decision
because it believes that there is a significant opportunity to increase penetration rates in the Michigan small to
mid-size commercial and smail industrial segments of the market for Encrgy Retailers like Universal who are
prepared to invest in the market.

As at November 30, 2006, Universal had enrelled small to mid-size commercial and small industrial
customers representing approximately 44,095 RCEs in Michigan. Universal plans to leverage its existing
operations in Michigan to continue to penctrate the small to mid-size commercial and small industrial markets.
These markets represent approximately 1.7 million RCEs in Michigan.
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The following chart illustrates the penetration levels achieved by Energy Retailers in the small to mid-size
conunercial and small industrial segments of the Michigan natural gas market (being the market segments in
which Universal U.S. competes) as at December 31, 20035, expressed in terms of RCEs. Energy Retailers are not
permitied to participate in the Michigan electricity market because it is not currently deregulated.

Michigan Natural Gas Penetration'"

% of
RCEs Eligible
Energy Retailer Enrolled . . . . 135346 7.8%
LDC Envolled . . .. .. ... L. 1,610,351 92.2%%

1.745.697  100.0%

Note:
{1} Source: The SPi Group Inc.

British Columbia

Universal has performed research into the British Columbia market and belicves that it represents an
attractive opportunity for further growth. British Columbia is home to the second largest amount of natural gas
production in Canada and its residents are collectively the third largest consumer of natural gas in Canada.
British Columbia has two natural gas utilities, Terasen Gas Inc. and Pacific Northern Gas Ltd. Although the
commercial natural gas market has been deregulated since 2004, the BCUC has only recently approved a natural
gas unbundling program for residential customers of Terasen Gas Inc. Management currently expects that as of
May 2007 in excess of 700,000 residential customers will be able to choose their natural gas supplier.
Opportunities also exist to acquire commercial natural gas customers. As at December 31, 2005, only 14.0% of
the approximately 79.000 commercial customers have ¢ntered into direct purchase agreements with Energy
Retailers.

Universal recently obtained its BC Natural Gas Licence from the BCUC allowing it to market natural gas in
British Columbia. Universal intends to commence operations in British Columbia in the first quarter of 2007 in
preparation for the anticipated opening of the British Columbia residential natural gas market in May 2007.
Given the scalability of Universal’s operations, management docs not anticipate that it will have to incur
significant capital costs in connection with this expansion.

The following chart illustrates the penetration levels achieved by Energy Retatlers in the residential and
commercial segments of the British Columbia natural gas market (being the market segments in which Universal
competes or intends Lo compelte) as at December 31, 2005.
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British Columbia Natural Gas Penetration'!

%o of
Customers  Eligible
Energy Retailer Enrolled . . . 19,000 24%
LDC Enrolledd . . .. .. .. .. 761,325 47.6%

780,325 100.0%%

Notes:
(1) Source: The SPi Group Inc.

(2) Penctration rates in the British Columbia natural gus market have been expressed in termis of customer numbers rather than in terms of
RCEs becuuse the RCE data that is available for the British Columbia natural gas market is not scgmented by customer scgment,

New York

Universal has performed research into the New York market and management is currently evaluating the
merits of expanding into the New York small to mid-size commercial and small industrial electricity and natural
gas markets. New York became an early adopler of North American retail energy competition when it
restructured its natural gas markets in the early 1980s and its electricity markets in 2000.

Management cstimates that there are small to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers
representing approximately 4.6 million electricity RCEs and 782,000 natural gas RCEs in New York. The number
of RCEs in the small to mid-size commercial and small industrial natural gas market in New York is substantially
lower than the number of RCEs in the same segments of the electricity market in New York. This is because
{among other things) many customers in New York either do not have the ability to choose natural gas as their
energy source because their local LDC does not provide natural gas or such customers have the ability to choose
an alternative to natural gas (such as heating oil) as their energy source (whereas few customers have the ability
to choose an alternative to electricity).

Since the New York energy market's restructuring, customers representing approximately 49% of New York
clectricity RCEs and 35% of New York natural gas RCEs have switched their supply to Encrgy Retailers.

The following charts illustrate the penetration levels achieved by Energy Relailers in the small to mid-size
commercial and small industrial segments of the New York electricity and natural gas markets (being the market
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segments that Universal is considering for expansion) as at September 30, 2006 and July 31, 2006, respectively,
expressed in terms of RCEs. ‘

New York Electricity Penetration'? New York Natural Gas Penetration®!
34.8%
" 81.3% T 48.7%
65.2%
% of % of
RCEs® Eligible RCEs Eligible
Energy Retailer Enrolled 2,230,826 48.7% Encrgy Retailer Enrolled ... ... .. .. 272,185 34.8%
LDCEnrolled .. ............... 2,345,891 51.3% LDC Enrolled 509,397 65.2%

4,576,717 100.0% 781,582 100.0%

Notes:
(1) Source: The 8Pi Group Inc.

(2) Electricity RCE numbers also include electricity consumed by street lights.

Universal has developed “Bill Ready” system capabilitics, which arc required to operate in the Ontario
electricity retail market. A Bill Ready system allows Energy Retailers to provide billing functions, such as
calculating the commodity portion of a customer’s energy bill. Management belicves that in New York
approximately three of the eight LDCs that allow Encrgy Retailers to participate in the retail market will only
contract with Energy Retailers if they can provide a “Bill Ready” system. Management further believes that only
a limited number of Energy Retailers operating in New York have Bill Ready systems. As a result, management
believes that Universal’s Bill Ready system provides it with a competitive advantage over some of the Energy
Retailers operating in New York. Management believes that in those jurisdictions where LDCs only accept Bill
Ready systems, there is less competition for customer enrolments given the lower number of participating
Energy Retatlers.

Munagement betieves that Universal is in a better position to pursue U.S. expansion opportunities than
certain of its Canadian Energy Retailer competitors due to, among other things: (i) the experience that key
members of Universal’s management team have in the U.S. direct purchase market; (i) Universal’s focus on
markets where it can leverage its Bill Ready system capabilities; and (iii) Universal’s focus on U.S. markets
where the LDCs assume the credit (receivable) risk associated with default in payment by customers.
Management uses independent third-party research, in addition to its own market analysis, 10 determine the
viability of targeted U.S. markets.

Customer Contracts

In excess of 99.9% of Universal’s existing Energy Contracts are for an initial five year term, after which time
they arc cligible for renewal. Sce “— Contract Rencewals” below. Universal's Energy Contracts are also
non-terminable by their terms, except in certain limited circumstances. See “— Contract Attrition” below.
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Ontario Electricity Contracts

Universal's Electricity Contracts offer customers price protection based on the estimated or actual historical
consumption of such customers. As actual usage varies, customers are likely to expernience a balancing charge or
credit during cach billing period duc to fluctuations in their clectricity requirements (as compared to their
historical usage) that is not covered by fixed pricing. For residential customers, commencing in early 2007 this
adjusiment will be limited to plus or minus 10% per year of the fixed price such customers have agreed to payv to
Universal during any contract vear. In contrast, LDCs such as Toronto Hydro and Hydro Onc are required by
regulation to charge the RPP price to their default supply customers, which is currently set every six months. By
charging their default supply customers the RPP price, the LDCs are passing through the actual cost they incur
in buying the electricity on behalf of their customers. Although Universal's customers purchase their electricity
supply from Universal, the LDC is still mandated to distribute the electricity. Universal, using its “Bill Ready”
system, advises the LDC of the amount of the commeodity charge to be billed to the customer. The LDCs provide
billing and collection services, including the collection and remittance to Universal of the commodity portion of
each customer’s account for a small monthly fee. In Ontario, each LDC assumes 100% of the credit (receivable)
risk associated with default in payment by custoners for electricity that has been delivered to them. Rebates, if
any, from OPG are assigned to Universal, however Universal is required to credit these rebates to the customer
account or provide a direct cash rebate to the customer within one year of receipt.

The electricity commaodity charge appears as a separate line item on the clectricity bills sent by the LDCs to
Universal’s customers identifying the name of Universal and its toll free customer service number. The LDCs
collect the electricity charges and other charges on behalf of Universal for an administration fee per customer
(which is currently 30.30 per month). The LDC pays Universal's revenue entitiement directly to a blocked
account daily, from which Sempra deducts the costs of the Electricity Swaps which Universal has contracted for
under the Electricity Swap Agreement and amounts owing by Universal to Sempra under the commodity trade
financing arrangement between Universal and Sempra (which terminates at Closing). The difference,
Universal’s Opcrating Margin, is remitted to Universal monthly by Sempra,

Ontario and Michigan Gas Contracts

All of Universal’s natural gas customers arc charged a fixed price for the full term of their contracts as
opposed to the variable WACOG price which the LDCs, such as Union Gas and Enbridge Gas Distribution, are
requircd by regulation to charge. By charging their customers WACOG, the LDCs are simply passing through
the actual cost they incur in buying natural gas on behalf of their customers. The Ontario LDCs adjust their
respective WACOGs cach quarter and the Michigan LDCs adjust their WACOGs cach month, thus exposing
customers to volatile natural gas commodity prices. Although Universal’s customers purchase their natural gas
supply from Universal, the LDCs are still mandated, on a regulated basis, to distribute the natural gas. All of the
LDCs in whose franchise areas Universal sclls energy provide billing and collection services, including the
collection and remittance to Universal of the commodity portion of cach customer’s account for a small monthly
fee. Going forward, Universal intends to only enter into Energy Contracts with customers whose LDCs provide
these billing and collection services. In Ontario, cach LDC (except for Union Gas) assumes [00% of the credit
(receivable) risk associated with default in payment by customers for gas that has been delivered to them. Union
Gas guarantees all receivables except for the receivables attributable to Large Volume Users whose annual
consumption is in excess of 700,000 m*. [n Michigan, each LDC assumes 100% of the credit (receivable) risk
associated with default in payment by customers for gas that has been delivered 10 them in the market segments
in which Universal is currently active. Universal’s monthly remittance from the Michigan LIDCs is the lesser of
110% of the LDC's Gas Cost Recovery factor (“GCR™") (essentially the LIDCs regulated price for natural gas)
and Universal's contracted selling price to its customers. In the event that Universal’s contracted selling price is
greater than 110% of the GCR a holdback account for the differcnual will be maintained for Universal by the
LDC. Universal will receive a refund of the amount accumulated in the holdback account, without interest, to
the end of the most recently completed program year.

The natural gas commodity charge appears as a separate line item on the natural gas bills sent by the LDCs
to Universal's customers identifying the name of Universal and its toll free customer service number. The LDCs
collect the natural gas commodity charges and other charges on behalf of Universal for a monthly administration
fee per residential customer (which is currently $1.35 in the Union Gas Franchise Area and $1.05 in the
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Enbridge Gas Distribution Franchise Area). For larger volume small to mid-size commercial and small industrial
customers, the monthly fees in the Enbridge Gas Distribution Franchise Arca range between $1.05 and $5.00 per
customer per month. The Michigan gas utilities charge a collection services fee of ULS. $0.30 per month per
customer. The LDC pays Universal’s revenue entitlement directly to a blocked account monthly, from which
Sempra deducts the costs of the natural gas which Universal has contracted to purchase. The difference,
Universal’s Operational Margin, is remitted to Universal monthly by Sempra, along with any proceeds relating
to the sale of excess natural gas.

Contract Attrition

Universal’s Energy Contracts are by their terms non-terminable except in certain limited circumstances,
such as when a residential or small commiercial customer relocates to a jurisdiction that Universal docs not serve
or when a customer dies. Sce “— Key Regulatory Provisions — Customer Contract Terminations™. In addition
to losing Energy Contracts duc to circumstances such as customer relocation to arcas not served by Universal
and death, Universal loses some Energy Contracts when customers cease to comply with their obligations under
their Energy Contracts. However, Universal’s policy is to enforce the early termination charge provisions of its
Energy Contracts when a customer attempts to avoid its obligations, other than in circumstances permitted by an
Energy Contract (e.g., customer relocation to areas not served by Universal or death). For planning purposes,
management assumes that Universal will lose approximately 12% of the total number of its Energy Contracts on
an annual basis, although it has experienced Energy Contract attrition rates of less than 10% per year.

Contract Renewals

Legislation and regulations relating to the renewal of consumer contracts affect the percentage of existing
customers whose Energy Contracts arc rencwed at the ond of their initial term. See “— Key Regulatory
Provisions — Customer Contract Renewals” for information respecting the ability of Energy Retailers to renew
Energy Contracts.

Marketing and Sales Force

Universal’s growth has been achieved primarily through marketing initiatives. Customers are solicited
primarily on a door to door basis by Independent Contractors who are trained by the Distributors using training
methods and materials approved by Universal. The Independent Contractors are paid a commission based on
successful customer enrolments. Universal's current marketing program involves the explanation to potential
customers of the regulatory environment and the benefits of the purchase of electricity and natural gas pursuant
to Energy Contracts. The Independent Contractors complete the sales contract with the customer at the point of
sale. Contracts are then processed through Universal (including subsequent reconfirmation of the Energy
Contracts) and the LDC in the franchise territory where the customer is located,

Universal utilizes between 700 and 900 Independent Contractors depending on the season. The number of
Independent Contractors that Universal uses will increase as Universal expands into additional markets.
Although Universal’s Independent Contractors gencerally have a high turnover rate, Universal has a relatively
stable corc group of Independent Contractors who arc responsible for sourcing a substantial portion of
Universal’s new Energy Contracts.

Universal’'s Independent Contractors are managed by the Distributors pursuant to Marketing Agreements
with Universal. Pursuant to the Marketing Agreements, each of the Distributors has agreed to provide
marketing scrvices to Universal and its affiliates. Each Marketing Agreement is for an initial term of four years
and is renewable for one year tcrms thercafter with the agreement of the partics. The Distributors are
compensated by Universal in amounts and on terms that are competitive within the industry having regard to
each Distributot’s responsibilitics and performance. Universal reserves the right to accept or reject any customer
that does not meet its credit or usage requirements. Under the Marketing Agreements, the Distributors are
responsible for {among other things) recruiting, hiring, training and managing the Independent Contractors and
Universal is responsible for (among other things) providing the Distributors with payroll services, paying
commissions and bonuses, printing marketing materials and administering and enforcing codes of conduct.
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Management has ensured that the interests -of Universal and the sharcholders of the Company are
strategically aligned with the interests of the principal of cach of the Distributors. The principals of the key
Distributors will own approximately 14% of the Common Shares in the aggrepate immediately following
Closing. which shares will be subject to escrow. See “Escrow of Securities™. The Marketing Agreements contain
confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation covenants during the term thereof and for varying periods
of time thereafter which extend to both the Distributors and the principal of each of the Distributors.

Universal utilizes marketing campaigns to attruct new customers. In fiscal 2006, Universal has successfully
cnrolled customers representing between approximately 2,300 and 6,200 new RCEs per week. The Operational
Margins from a new customer begin to be realized when clectricity or natural gas begins to flow to the customer.
In both Ontario and Michigan, this generally occurs within three months after sign up due to administrative
procedures carried out by the LDCs. The cost for obtaining a new residential customer and related expenses
currently include, among other things, commissions payable to the Independent Contractors, salaries paid to the
marketing and customer service departments which support the Independent Contractors, salaries paid 10
customer service representatives who verify the customer contracts, the cost of printing contracts, bonus awards,
advertising costs and the costs of promotional materials.

Customer Service Centre

Universal operates a call centre where it employs approximately 100 telephone represcntatives in four areas
of focus: customer service, reaffirmation, quality assurance and inside sales. The customer service department is
located at Universal’s head office and answers inquiries seven days a week, Most customer service and inside
sales representatives have industry experience and have been trained in respect of the energy market and the
regulatory framework.

Electricity and Natural Gas Supply

Subject to certain limited exceptions, it is Universal’s general policy to match the estimated electricity and
natural gas requircments of its customers by purchasing, in the case of natural gas, the offsetting volumes of
natural gas from Sempra at fixed prices and, in the case of clectricity, entering into offsctting financial swap
contracts with Sempra. in cach case in advance of obtaining customers, rather than rclying on electricity and
natural gas “spot” markets. In order to do this, energy supply for prospective customers is generally purchased
by Universal in four weck blocks based on management’s estimate of the number of new customers that will be
acquired during the ensuing four weeks of marketing and management’s estimate of the average energy
consumption of these customers, Management considers various information in order to make these estimates,
including: Universal's historical customer acquisition rates; the types of customers that Universal is targeting in
the ensuing four week marketing period; and the historical consumption of electricity and natural gas by its
customers as evidenced by the records of the applicable LDCs. Universal's sophisticated management
information system assists management in making these estimates, Management believes that by using the
information obtaincd from these sources it is able to predict with a reasonable degree of accuracy the number of
customers that Untversal will be able to sign to Energy Contracts during the ensuing four week marketing period
and the energy requirements of those customers during the terms of their Energy Contracts.

As a result of adhering to this policy, the amount of energy that Universal is obligated to supply to its
customers during the term of its Energy Contracts that it has not contracted to purchase is small compared to
the aggregate volume ol natural gas that it purchases and the aggregate notional volume of electricity covered by
swaps that it contracts for. Universal must manage the variance between actual customer usage and the estimate
of usage it has made when cstablishing its supply arrangements. The requirement for Universal 10 match its
current and ncar ferm forecast customers’ estimated cleciricity and natural gas requirements by entering into
supply or financial contracts to purchase {physically or cconomically) the offsctting volumes is (subject to certain
limited exceptions) also required by the Existing Commaodity Agreements and will be required by the New
Commodity Agreements. Universal has implemented various procedures and safeguards to ensure that its
matching policy and its covenants in its agreements with Sempra are complied with. For instance, the aggregate
amount of energy used by Universal’s customers is monitored on a wecekly basis. This allows Universal to
determine if it has enough contracted energy supply to meet its estimated contracted delivery obligations to its
customers during the terms of their Energy Contracts. In addition, Universal’s risk management group monitors




Universal’s ¢lectricity and natural gas matching positions each business day. Universal's matching positions are
reported by the risk management group to senior management weekly. Universal also reports its matching
positions to Sempra weekly.

The following chart indicates the percentages of Universal’s annual estimated clectricity and natural gas
supply obligations that are subject to clectricity swap and natural gas physical supply contracts which have been
entered into by Universal to enable it to meet the estimated requirements of its customers who are currently
receiving clectricity or natural gas under an Energy Contract. The percentages in the chart: (i) do not take into
account electricity and natural gas required for future customers of Universal who are not currently receiving
electricity or natural gas under an Energy Contract (although any excess electricity or natural gas supply could
be used to satisfy Universal's obligations to future customers): (ii} assume that Universal experiences no
customer attrition (Universal’s customer attrition rate has been less than 109 annually): and (iii) assume that
80% of Universal's Encrgy Contracts (all of which expire in 2010 or 2011) are renewed at the expiration of their
terms.

Percent of Natural Gas Supply  Percent of Electricity Supply

Obligation Under Centract Obligation Under Contract
as at November 30, 2006 as at November 30, 2006

Calendar Year Ending Decemher 31 (Omtario and Michigan}™ (Ontario)!?

2007 . 108% 104%

2008 . .. 106% 106%

2000 . 100% 106%

20000, . o 81% 102%

200 e 71% 75%

Note:

(1) The matching position is as of November 30, 2006 and assumes that the aggregate amount of energy consumed by Universal's existing
customers on an annual basis will remain constant during the term of the applicable Encrgy Contracts, Like other Encrgy Retuilers,
Universal hus implemented balancing procedures that it follows when the amount of encrgy consumed by Universal's customers is
higher or lower than the amount of energy estimated by Universal to be consumed by its customers. See “Balancing” below.

Universal currently has 1009 of its natural gas purchase and Electricity Swap arrangements with Scmpra.
Universal purchases natural gas and enters into Electricity Swaps in large volumes and is therefore able to
secure long term fixed price supply contracts. [n addition to obtaining competitive prices under its contracts with
Sempra, Universal obtains credit from Sempra and certain value added services, such as supply management and
risk management services.

As at November 30, 2006, Universal had customer demand of approximately 23,103 GJs of natural gas per
day and approximately 134 megawatts of clectricity per hour. Higher aggregate demand is anticipated in the
near future as Universal grows its customer base. Management belicves that it can continue to access ¢lectricity
and natural gas supplies at favourable prices. Universal has never failed to deliver any electricity or natural gas
to its customers since it commenced operations.

Balancing

Universal purchases natural gas to meet its estimated supply obligations 10 its customers based upon,
among other things, the types of customers being supplied and the historical amount of natural gas consumed by
its customers, as evidenced by the records of the applicable LDCs. The LDCs continue to deliver electricity to
Universal’s customers and Universal financially fixes the price of that supply through the Electricity Swap
Agreement with Sempra. Sce “— Electricity and Natural Gas Supply” above. However, depending on several
factors, including weather, Universal’s customers may use more or tess electricity and natural gas than the
volume purchased by Universal for their supply. Like other Energy Retailers, Universal has implemented
balancing procedures that it follows when the amount of energy consumed by Universal’s customers is higher or
lower than the amount of energy estimated by Universal to be consumed by its customers.




Balancing Charges and Credits

An Energy Retailer can enter into energy contracts with its customers that dllow the cnergy retailer to
invoice its customers for balancing charges (or give its customers balancing credits} when the amount of energy
uscd by its customers is greater than (or is less than) the amount of cnergy that the Encrgy Retailer had
cstimated its customers would use.

With respect to its residential electricity customers in Ontario, it is Universal’s intention to implement a
practice in carly 2007 not to invoice such customers for balancing charges (or issue credits) that exceed 10% of
the aggregate amount of the commodity portion of their electricity bill on an annual basis. Any excess balancing
charges (or credits} will be carricd forward and applied to a customer’s electricity bill in subsequent years.
Universal will bear the cost (or ¢njoy the benefit) of any aggregate balancing charges {or unapplied credits) in
excess of this 10% threshold at the end of the contract term. With respect to its commercial and small industrial
clectricity customers in Ontario, Universal’s practice is to invoice its customers for the fuli amount of all
balancing charges (or issue credits).

Universal does not inveice its Ontario residential or small commercial natural gas customers balancing
charges {or issue credits). Universal bears the cost (or enjoys the benefit) of any balancing costs (or credits),
which have been nominal to date. However, Universal’s contracts with its other commercial and small industrial
natural gas customers provide that after each year of the contract term Universal can apply balancing charges
(or credits) by adjusting the natural gas price in the subsequent year. Michigan and New York also permit
Energy Retailers to charge electricity and natural gas customers balancing charges. Universal collects balancing
charges from its Michigan commercial and small industrial natural gas customers in the same manner that it
collects balancing charges from these customers in Ontario. If Universal expands into the New York market,
Universal anticipates adopting the same balancing policy that it applies in Ontario. In British Columbia, the
LDCs currently accept the risk of balancing charges in respect of all customer categories.

Ontario Electricity Balancing

Electricity LDCs are responsible for the flow of electricity 1o end vsers, including Universal's customers, In
contrast to natural gas, there is never a physical imbalance of supply between Universal and the LDC because
Universal does not physically supply electricity. However, Universal will never be perfectly hedged because
actual customer usage varies from estimated customer usage. Universal has therefore developed a balancing
mechanism to address this issue. At the end of a customer’s billing cycle, the LDC will charge Universal for the
actual amount of electricity consumed by the customer multiplied by the variable rate charged by the LDC, and
will invoice the customer for the actual amount of electricity consumed by the customer multiplied by
Universal’s fixed price under its Electricity Contract. Universal aggregates its electricity customers into groups of
customers in similar market segments {each a “customer electricity balancing pool”). Under the customer’s
Electricity Contract with Universal, balancing charges (or credits) will apply to a customer if the customer
clectricity balancing pool to which the customer is assigned has consumed a quantity of clectricity that differs
from the quantity of electricity forecast to be consumed by that customer electricity balancing pool. Universal’s
balancing charges are billed (or credited) to its customers cach billing period approximately three to four
months in arrears in the manner described above under “— Balancing Charges and Credits™.

Ontario Natural Gas Balancing

Natural gas LDCs are responsible for the flow of natural gas to end users, including Universal’s customers.
Universal aggregates its natural gas customers into groups of customers with similar pricing structures or similar
flow dates (each a “‘customer gas pool”). LDCs permit Energy Retailers 1o deliver natural gas at a constant
average daily level throughout the year. For instance, if a customer gas pool is estimated to consume, on average,
3,650 GIs of natural gas per year, the LDCs will permit Universal to smooth its natural gas delivery obligation by
supplying 10 Gls per day to the LDC in respeet of that customer gas pool. Each customer’s natural gas
consumption is then allocated to the customer gas pool to which the customer is assigned and the amount of
natural gas credited to this customer gas pool is reduced as the customers in the customer gas pool consume it.
Al the end of the relevant period, all of the natural gas supplied by Universal in respect of the customer gas pool
must cqual all of the natural gas consumed by the customer gas pool. In order to achieve this, Universal must
use certain balancing procedures.
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In Ontario, Universal utilizes the services of Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas to satisfy the
transportation, delivery, metering and billing requirements of its natural gas customers. Although cach of the
utilities provides certain services and information upon which Universal relies, Universal is responsible [or
managing tmbalances between the amount of natural gas it has purchased (based on its estimates of customer
consumption) and the actual amount of natural gas that its customers consume.

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.

Under Universal’s arrangements with Enbridge, the amount of natural gas required to be delivered on a
daily basis in order to deliver the amount of natural gas estimated to be consumed annually by customers in the
refevant customer gas pool (the “DCQ") is established using the amount of natural gas consumed in the past
12 months. However, Universal has the ability 1o adjust the DCQ 30 days prior to the date that it begins
delivering natural gas in respect of a customer gas pool. Enbridge provides Universal with variance reports each
month in respect of the customer gas pool’s natural gas consumption in the previous month. This report provides
critical information, such as how forecast aggregate natural gas consumption for the customer gas pool compares
to actual aggregate natural gas consumplion by the customer gas pool. The aggregate imbalance between the
forecast natural gas consumption quantity and the actual natural gas consumpticn quantity can then be
calculated. The imbalance in the pool of natural gas allocated to each particular customer gas pool is reviewed at
regular intervals and must be within stipulated parameters. Universal is generally required to rectify imbalances
on a pool’s anniversary date (which varies from pool to pool). If imbalances are not within stipulated parameters
at the requisite times, Universal may be required 1o pay certain penalties, which in some cases can be significant.
Universal rectifies imbalances using the balancing procedures described below.

v Load Balancing Suspension. If customer consumption levels are less than forecast customer consumption
levels, Universal may suspend the delivery of the contracted supply quantity. If Universal suspends the
delivery of natural gas, it can: (i) divert the natural gas during the applicable delivery month from the
applicable Enbridge customer gas pool to another Universal market (that is either served by Enbridge or
by another utility) where the actual amount of customer consumption has cexceeded the amount of
forecast customer consumption; (if) sell the suspended natural gas into the spot market for the delivery
month; or (i) sell the suspended natural gas to Enbridge at Enbridge’s prevailing WACOG for the
delivery month. Universal's management prefers the first alternative because Universal has more control
over the timing of implementing this balancing procedure and it allows Universal to more closely
maintain its Operationai Margins.

Make-ups. 1t customer consumption levels exceed forecast customer consumption levels, Universal may
be required to deliver additional volumes of natural gas. Universal can satisfy its obligation to deliver
additional natural gas volumes by doing onc or more of the following: (i) diverting natural gas during the
delivery month from another Universal market (either served by Enbridge or by another utility) where
customer consumption was less than the forecast customer consumption; (ii} purchase the additional
natural gas volumes in the spot market for the delivery month; or (iii) purchase the additional natural gas
volumes from Enbridge at its prevailing WACOG for the delivery month. Universal's managenment
prefers the first alternative because Universal has more control over the timing of implementing this
balancing procedure and it allows Universal to more closely maintain its Operational Margins.

Union Gas

Under Universal's arrangements with Union Gas, the DCQ is established 30 to 45 days prior to the delivery
of natural gas to the customer gas pool. However, Union Gas also weather normalizes the DCQ. Universal is not
permitted to participate in the DCQ calculation. Union Gas provides Universal with a variance report cach
month in respect of the amount of natural gas consumed by each customer gas pool in the previous month.
Union Gas cstablishes the imbalance between actual natural gas consumed by Universal's customers as
compared to the forecast natural gas consumed by such customers and then calculates the year to date
imbalance and the projected contract year-end imbalance. Universal is generally required to rectify imbalances
three times a ycar and must be within stipulated parameters on an annual basis. If imbalances are not within
stipulated parameters at the requisite times, Universal may be required to pay certain penalties, which in some
cases can be significant. Universal rectifies imbalances using the balancing procedures described below.
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= Load Balancing Suspension. 1f customer consumption levels are less than forecast customer consumption
levels, Universal may suspend delivery of the contracted natural gas supply quantity. In this situation,
Universal has the same three alternatives described above under “Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. —
lLoad Balancing Suspension”.

* Make-ups: 1f customer consumption levels exceed forecast customer consumption levels, Universal may
be required to deliver additional volumes of natural gas. In this situation, Universal has the same three
alternatives described above under “Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. — Make-ups™.

Michigan Natural Gas Balancing

Natural gas balancing procedures in the Michigan market are conducted in substantially the same manner
that natural gas balancing procedures are conducted in the Ontario market with Enbridge. A maiterial difference
is that customer gas pools are generally balanced on the pool’s annual anniversary date in Ontario (which varics
from pool to pool}, whereas all customer gas pools are balanced on an annual basis on April | of cach year
in Michigan,

Key Regulatory Provisions

The following is a summary of the principal regulatory provisions that affect Universal and other Energy
Retailers operating in Ontario, Michigan, British Columbia and New York. For a general overview of the
regulatory regime applicable to Universal’s operations, see “Overview of the Electricity Industry” and
“Overview of the Natural Gas Industry”.

Custemer Contracts

Consumer rights protection legislation in Ontario and British Columbia limits the term of energy contracts
for residential and small commerecial customers to five years. This legislation does not apply to other commercial
and industrial customers. There is no comparable legislation in Michigan or New York. However, it is
Universal’s current policy not to offer energy contracts for terms in excess ol five years to any ol its customers.
Energy Retailers product offerings arc generally quile similar. One notable exception to this similarity is that
cnergy coniracts offered by Energy Retailers operating in the U.S. arc generally for much shorter terms
{typically between one month and one year) than energy contracts offercd by Energy Retailers in Canada.
Management beticves that Universal’s offering of a five year term Energy Contract in Michigan to small to
mid-size commercial and small industrial customers makes it unique in the Michigan market place.

The form and terms of Energy Contracts are highly regulated in Ontario. Forms of Energy Contracts must
comply with regulations prescribed under the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, Energy Contracts must also
contain specified disclosures and terms. Energy Retailers in the electricity and natural gas markets must also
comply with the Code of Conduct for Gas Marketers and the Electricity Retailer Code of Conduct, each of
which has been issued by the OEB. The Codes of Conduet set minimum standards to which licensed Energy
Retailers must adhere, including the regulation of door-to-door sales activities, Failure to adhere to the Codes of
Conduct can result, in addition to other penalties, in the suspension or revocation of the Energy Retailer’s
licence to sell electricity or natural gas, as the case may be. Energy Retailers in British Columbia will be subject
to similar requirements with respect to residential and small commercial customers.

Customer Contract Terminations

Energy Retailers are permitted to enter into non-terminable contracts with all categories of customers in
each of Ontario, British Columbia, Michigan and New York. This means that the contract cannot be terminated
by the customer unless it pays the early termination fee stipulated by the contract. However, it is Universal’s
policy that Ontario residential and small commerciat customers may terminate their Energy Contracts without
penalty if the customer moves out of province, moves to a location where the customer would not have an energy
account (e.g., an apartment or condominium), moves 1o a location that Universal does not service, or dies.
Universal currently intends to extend the same policy to residential customers tn British Columbia. Other
commercial and industrial customers can only terminate their Energy Contracts if they pay the applicable early
lermination fee.
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Customer Contract Reaffirmation; “Cooling-Off Periods”

In Ontario, electricity and natural gas residential or small commercial customers are provided with a 10 day
“cooling-off” period and must reaffirm their agreement with the Energy Retailer not earlier than 10 days, and
not later than 60 days. after entering into a contract with the Energy Retailer. There are no reaffirmation
requirements for other commercial and industrial customers in Ontario. In British Columbia, the LDC wili be
required to send a confirmation letter to residential and small commercial customers within two days of
enrolment of the customer by the Energy Retailer. The customer has 10 days following receipt of the
confirmation letter from the LDC (e.g., a “cooling-off™ period) to cancel the contract. In Michigan, residential
and commercial customers are provided with a 30 day “cooling-off™ period after entering into a contract with an
Encrgy Retailer during which they may cancel the contract. There are no reaffirmation requirements in
Michigan, British Columbia or New York for any category of customers. However, it is Universal's practice to
reconfirm Energy Contracts entered into with all of its customers notwithstanding that it is not required by
applicable laws. Universal believes that this practice results in a more secure customer base that is less likely to
attempt to avoid the contractual obligations in Universal's Energy Contracts.

Customer Contract Renewals

In Ontario, residential and smail commercial customer contracts may only be renewed by providing notice
of the renewal to the customer not less than 60 days and not more than 120 days prior to the expiry of the
contract. A contract rencwal for a period of more than one year requires a customer’s written approval
(including by signature, clectronic communication or recorded verbal communication). A renewal of one year or
less can be effected by default provided the customer is given notice thereof prior to the renewal, and on his or
her first utility bill the renewal price is stated, together with a statement that the customer has 35 days to cancel
the contract following the receipt of such invoice. There are no regulations governing the price at which
contracts can be renewed. In addition, there are no regulatory requirements governing contract renewals for
other commercial and industrial customers in Ontario. Regulations in British Columbia provide for contract
renewals on notice of not more than 120 days and not less than 90 days prior to expiry of the contract for all
classes of customers. The customer has 30 days after receipt of written notice from the Energy Retailer to select
renewal terms or cancel the contract.

There are no regulatory requircments governing contract renewals for customers in Michigan and
New York. Howcver, Universals current policy is that it will not seck to automatically renew its Gas Contracts
with its commercial and industrial customers in Michigan for a term of greater than one year. Universal will only
renew its Gas Contracts with its commercial and industrial customers in Michigan for a term of greater than one
year if it receives the customer’s written approval to do so.

Customer Switching; “Contest Period”

A “Contest Period” refers to procedures that govern an attempt by an Energy Retailer to enrol a customer
already receiving service from an incumbent Energy Retailer. Under a typicat Contest Period, an incumbent
Energy Retailer has between 15 (o 30 business days to get the consent of its customer to cancel the pending
enrolment of its customer with a competing Energy Retailer. If the incumbent Energy Retailer docs not get the
consent of its customer to cancel the pending enrolment of its customer with o competing Energy Retaiter, the
incumbent Energy Retailer would, however, be entitled to enforce the carly termination payment provisions of
its energy contract.

The OEB has recently developed a rule for the natural gas industry entitled the Gas Distribution Access
Rule (“GDAR™). GDAR will, when implemented, among other things, prescribe the relationship between the
natural gas L.DCs, the Encrgy Retailers and the customers of the Energy Retailers. The principal effect of
GDAR will be to extract the LDCs from the contractual relationships between Energy Retailers and their
customers. Under the rules currently in place, an LDC will not accept a customer contract between an Energy
Retailer and a customer where that customer has already entered into a contractual arrangement with another
Energy Retailer. Under GDAR, the LDCs would be required to process a customer service transfer request and
commence a 30 business day Contest Period if the customer has an existing contract with an Energy Retailer. It
would then be up to the Encrgy Retailer with whom that customer has a prior existing contractual relationship to
get the consent of such customer to cancel the pending enroliment of such customer with a competing Energy
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Retailer within the 30 business day pertod. The provisions of GDAR are scheduled to be implemented in
June 2007, A similar 20 business day contest period currently exists in Ontario for electricity customers.

There are currently no Contest Period regulations in force in British Columbia and Universal is not aware
of any attempt by Energy Retailers to persuade natural gas LDCs to implement Contest Periods in British
Columbia. However, British Columbia LDCs will only enrol a customer already receiving service from an
incumbent Energy Retailer with a different Energy Retailer on the anniversary date of a customer’s Encrgy
Contract. This cffectively climinates the ability of a customer to switch from one Energy Retailer to another
during the first year of the customer’s Encrgy Contract.

There are currently no Contest Period regulations in force in Michigan and Universal is not aware of any
attempt by Energy Retailers to persuade natural gas LDCs to implement Contest Periods in Michigan. In
Michigan, EDCs will swilch a customer 10 a competing Energy Retailer if a customer has entered into an Energy
Coaltract with that competing Energy Relailer.

There are currently no Contest Period regulations in force in New York, although conEdison, inc.. the LDC
for much of the city of New York and surrounding areas, has publicly announced its intention to implement a
Contest Period effective December 15, 2006. In addition, certain Energy Retailers have petitioned the NYPSC
to issue an order establishing a Contest Period. Management expects a decision from the NYPSC by late
December 2006. The outcome of this decision is not expected to affect Universal's decision to expand into
New York’s commercial or industrial markets, particularly in light of conEdison, inc.’s recent announcement.

Energy Retailers can seck to enforce their Energy Contracts in the event a customer switches to a
competing Energy Retailer whether or not contest period procedures are in place.

Changes to Prices

In Ontario and Michigan, Encrgy Retatlers are permitted to adjust the prices charged to custemers on a
monthly basis. In British Columbia, prices may be adjusted only once a vear subsequent to the first year of the
Encrgy Contract. There are no regulatory requirements governing the adjustment of prices charged to customers
in New York. Because Universal enters into fixed price Energy Contracts with its customers, the ability to adjust
the prices charged to customers under applicable regulatory requirements is not particularly relevant to
Universal, except in connection with initial discount periods that Universal offers customers from time to time.
These rules would become more relevant if Universal were to determine in the future to offer its customers an
opportunity to adjust the cost of their clectricity or natural gas under their Energy Contracts pursuant o a new
product offering.

Relationship with Sempra

Sempra is one of North America’s largest full-service energy trading companies, Sempra markets and trades
physical and financial energy products: crude oil and refined products, natural gas and natural gas liquids,
power, coal, emissions and ethanol. Sempra has more than 1,200 customers worldwide. Sempra’s customer base
includes most of the major oil, gas and power companies in North America, Europe, Asia and South America.

Sempra is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sempra Enecrgy, a Fortune 500 energy scrvices holding company
based in San Diego, California. In 2005, Sempra Encrgy had revenues of approximately U.S. $11.7 billion and at
December 31, 2005 Sempra Energy had 1otal assets of approximately U.S. $29.2 billion. As at January 24, 2007,
Sempra Energy has a market capitalization in excess of $14.5 billion. With 14,000 employees worldwide, Sempra
Energy companics develop energy infrastructure, operate utilities and provide related products and services to
more than 29 million consumers in the United States, Europe, Canada, Mexico, South America and Asia.
Sempra Energy’s common shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “SRE”.

Sempra has been Universal’s exclusive supplier of Electricity Swaps and natural gas since inception.
Universal and Sempra have a strong relationship that will continue following the Closing. Sempra is currently a
significant shareholder of Universal and, immediately following the Closing, will be a significant shareholder of
the Company. See “Principal Holders of Common Shares”. For information regarding Universal’s agreements
with Sempra, see “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of Universal™.
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Competition

As at November 30, 2006, Universal had approximately 114,322 residential, small to mid-size commercial
and small industrial customers under Electricity Contracts in Ontario, representing approximately 135,026
RCEs, which management believes makes it the third largest residential, small to mid-size commercial and small
industrial electricity Energy Retailer in Canada. Management estimates that Universal has approximately a 219%
share of the customers in Ontario’s direct purchasc market for these market segments (based on Universal’s
current customer levels and market data as at December 31, 2005, the most recent date for which data
is available).

As at November 30, 2006, Universal had approximately 39,778 residential, small to mid-size commercial and
small industrial customers under Gas Contracts in Ontario, representing approximately 47,879 RCEs, which
management believes makes it the fourth largest residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial
natural gas Energy Retailer in Ontario. Management estimates that Universal has approximately a 2% share of
the Ontario direct purchase market for these market segments (based on Universal’s current customer levels and
market data as at December 31, 2005, the most recent date for which data is available).

As at November 30, 2006, Universal had approximately 8,563 small to mid-size commercial and small
industrial customers under Gas Contracts in Michigan, representing approximately 44,095 RCEs, making it a
significant commercial Energy Retailer in Michigan. Management estimates that Universal has approximately a
33% share of the Michigan direct purchase market for small to mid-size commercial and small industrial natural
gas customers {based on Universal's current customer levels and market data as at December 31, 2005, the most
recent date for which data is available).

Universal does not view the LDCs as true competitors because they do not actively scek to obtain andfor
retain customers, but rather are suppliers of last resort for customers. Universal also views LDCs as service
providers to Universal. The LDCs are currently not permitted to make a profit on the sale of clectricity and
natural gas to their supply customers. With respect to Energy Retailers supplying residential and small to
mid-size commercial customers with natural gas, management believes that Universal’s largest competitors in
Ontario are Direct Energy Marketing Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Centrica ple {which management
estimates to have approximately 2.0 million customers) and Energy Savings Income Fund {which management
estimates to have approximately 1.6 million customers).

Competition in Universal's target electricity market in Ontariv is currently more limited than in the natural
gas market in Ontario. While many Energy Retailers cntered the electricity market when it was first dercgulated
in 2000, subsequent to the November 11, 2002 Action Plan, many Energy Retailers operating in Ontario either
sold their electricity businesses or terminated marketing clectricity, With respect to Energy Retailers supplying
residential and small to mid-size commercial customers with electricity, Universal's largest competitors in
Ontario are also Direct Energy Marketing Limited and Energy Savings Income Fund. Two other competitors are
belicved to have a much smaller customer base than Universal. Each market in which Universal operates has
rcgional competitors.

Although there are approximately 15 AGS’s licensed in Michigan, management belicves that it is the only
AGS to provide a tive year, fixed-price product in the Michigan market, The other AGS’s licensed in Michigan
offer more short-term, fixed and variable price products to customers.

Energy Source Competition

Management believes that natural gas enjovs advantages over other fossil fuels, including the fact that it is
readily available through vast transmission and distribution systems and has significant cnvironmental
advantages compared to other fossil fuels, However, the price advantage which natural gas enjoys over these
other forms of encrgy will be diminished if the price of natural gas increases and, to the extent that consumers
have the capacity to switch 10 the use of other forms of encrgy, such increases in the price of natural gas (relative
to the alternatives) could result in other sources of energy providing more significant competition to Universal’s
natural gas offering. With regard to Universal’s customer base, while some of its mid-size industrial and
commercial customers may be in a position to select an alternate encrgy source, this option would normally not
be available to its residential, smull to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers without significant
capital cost. Accordingly, while major industrial users (a market segment not served by Universal), can indeed
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change from one source of energy to another to take advantage of commodity price differentials, this requires
installation of cquipment which is gencrally not economic for residential or small to mid-size commercial and
small industrial users,

The alternatives to the use of LDC supplied electricity, such as self-generated solar or geothermal power,
require significant capital expenditures and are not widely used in the market segments served by Universal.
Management docs not anticipate that these or other alternative sources of power will compete with LDC
supplied clectricity in the near or medivm term.

Seasonality

Universal recognizes revenues for natural gas sales based on customer consumption. Natural gas
consumption by Universal's customers is typically highest in October through March and lowest in April through
September. Electricity consumption is typically highest in January through March and July through September
and is lowest in April through June and October through December. As a resull, management expects that
revenues will typically be higher in the first calendar quarter and lower in the second calendar quarter. The
scasonality of natural gas customers’ consumption does not create any variability in cash flows as Universal
purchases for delivery to LDCs a pre-determined fixed amount of natural gas per month and receives monthly
payment for the delivered amount irrespective of actual customer consumption, The seasonalily of customers’
electricity consumption creates variability in monthly cash flow because electricity is consumed upon delivery
and payments reccived from LDCs are based on consumption.

Properties

Universal leases 33,652 square feet of space, of which 21,678 square feet is used for Universal’s head office
and customer service centre and the balance i1s used as marketing offices. Universal has entered into the
following leases of real property:

Location Square Feet  Function Term

25 Sheppard Avenue West .. .. .. 21,678 Head Office 5 year term cxpiring in July 2011
Suite 1605 and Suite 1700
Torento, Ontario

245 Fairview Mall Drive ... ... .. 6,059 Marketing Office 3 year term expiring in July 2008
Suite 203
Toronto, Ontario

30555 Southfield Road . ... ... .. 2,280 Marketing Office 39 month term expiring in April 2009
Suite 440
Southfield, Michigan

50 Richmond Street East ... .. .. 3,635 Marketing Office 5 year term expiring in June 2010
Suite 112
Oshawa, Ontario

Environment

Universal does not take physical custody or control of electricity or natural gas or any facilitics used to
transport it, and passes title to the natural gas sold to its customers at the same point at which it accepts title
from Sempra. Therefore, management is of the view that there is no potential liability 10 Universal for natural
gas leaks or explosions during transmission and distribution.

Employees

Universal employed 150 persons as at November 30, 2006, of which cight constitute the exccutive group, six
are employed in the finance and administration department, 11 are employed in agent compensation, seven are
employed in the regulatory department, scven are employed in the information technology group, three are
employed in the supply management department, and 108 are employed in customer care and marketing.
Approximately 800 Independent Contractors were engaged at November 30, 2006 10 the door-to-door marketing
of Energy Contracis,
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OVERVIEW OF THE ETHANOL INDUSTRY
Ethanol Industry Overview

Ethanol is a clean-burning, renewable fuel made from agricultural products such as wheat and corn.
Ethanol was used in early combustion engines, including Henry Ford’s Model T. However, during the 1920s,
gasoling became the motor fuel of choice, and ethanol became primarily a gasoline additive. [n 1979, the
U.S. Congress established an ethanol program to stimulate the rural economy and reduce the U.S.’s dependence
on imported oil. The production and use of ethanol as a motor fuel in the United States and in Canada has
increased continuously since that time.

North America represents a single intcgrated market for ethanol much the same as it does for oil and
natural gas. However. there is some regionalization within this single market due to factors such as the size of
the market in some regions, the effect of transportation costs on the market in some regions, and the existence
of incentive programs and regulatory mandates that are specific to certain states and provinces,

Primary Uses of Ethanol

Ethanol is primarily used as a gasoline fuel additive to lower the lifecycle emissions of greenhouse gases.
The lifecycle cmissions from the production and combustion of ethanol are significantly lower than the lifecycle
emissions from the production and combustion of gasoline. “Lifccycle emissions” refers 1o the greenhouse gas
emissions related to all processes in the production and consumption of a fucl. In the case of cthanol it refers to
the greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the production of feedstock (typically wheat or corn), the
conversion of the feedstock to ethanol, and the combustion of cthanol. Ethanol has also gained wide acceptance
as a replacement for the fuel additive methyl tertiary butyl ether (MTBE), which has been banned in certain
jurisdictions due 1o concerns regarding its impact on the cnvivonment. As a gasoline blendstock, ethanol
functions as an octanc cnhancer, a clean air additive and a fuel extender.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction — When ethanol is produced from renewable feedstocks such as
wheat or corn, the greenhouse gas emissions are reduced on a full lifecycle basis. The use of renewable fuels
such as ethanol in place of fossil fuels represents an effective means of reducing greenhouse gas emissions in the
transportation sector.

Octane Enhancer — Purc ethanol possesses an average octane rating of 113 (compared to regular unleaded
gasoline’s average octane rating of 87). Blending ethanol with gasoline enubles refiners to conform lower octane
blendstock to gasoline standard, while also expanding the volume of fuel produced. In addition, ethanol is
commonly added to finished regular grade gasoline at the wholesale terminal as a means of producing higher
octanc mid-grade and premium gasoline. Ethanol represents one of the few commercially viable sources of
octane enhancement available to refiners.

Clean Air Additive — A clean air additive is a substance that, when added to gasoline, reduces tailpipe
emissions and improves air quality characteristics. Ethanol contains 33% oxygen, approximately twice that of
MTBE, u historically used oxygenate. The additional oxygen found in ethanol results in more complete
combustion of the fuel in the engine cylinder, which reduces tailpipe emissions by as much as 30%. Ethanol,
which is non-toxic, water soluble and biodegradable, replaces some of the harmful gasoline components,
including benzene.

Fuel Extender — Ethanol extends the volume of gasoline by the amount of ethanol blended with
conventional gasoline, thereby reducing the use of crude oii and refined products. Furthermore, ethanol is easily
added to gasoline after the refining process, reducing the need for large, capital intensive capacity expansion
projects at refineries.

Supply and Demand for Ethanol in North America

Demand

Management believes that the North American ethanol industry will continue to grow as a result of a
variety of factors, including government mandated renewable fuel usage and periodic constraints on North
American petroleum refining capacity.
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US. Demand

In the United States, the RFS established minimum nationwide levels of renewable fuels {ethanol, biodiesel
or any other liquid fue!l produced from biomass or biogas) to be included in gasoline as parl of the Energy Policy
Act of 2005. The RFS requires an increase from approximately 15 billion litres of renewable fuels usage in 2006
to approximately 28 billion titres by 2012. The RFA expects ethanol to account for the largest share of renewabie
fuels produced and consumed under the RFS.

Cunadian Demand

The provinces of Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario have introduced regulations that will require
gasoline sold in their respective provinces to be comprised of between 5% and 10% ¢thanol. These mandated
programs have commenced in Saskatchewan and Ontario and are in the process of being implemented in
Manitoba. The incremental demand generated by these provincial mandates is expected to create a total market
in Canada for almost one billion litres of ethanol annually when fully implemented in 2008.

In addition, the Government of Canada has announced its intention to introduce a 5% biofuels strategy for
Canada, which it expects to be fully implemented by 2010, If implemented as proposed, the program will require
gasoline sold in Canada to be comprised of at lcast 5% biofuel. Because cthanol production is based on proven
technology and has proven to be commercially viable (as opposed to other biofuels that rely on less proven
technology andfor that are not yet proven 1o be cconomically viable), management cxpects that the incremental
demand generated by the proposed Canadian 5% biofuel strategy would result in a total annual market in
Canada for at least 2 billion litres of ethanol.

Supply
U.S. Supply

According to the RFA, us of December 6, 2006, there were 109 ethanol plants operating in the
United States (which are predominantly corn based and primarily concentrated in the mid-western region of the
United States) capable of producing approximately 20 billion litres of ethanol per year. In addition, according to
the RFA, as of December 6, 2006, an additional 53 plants were under construction and an additional seven
plants were under expansion (primarily concentrated in the mid-western region of the United States) which, if
constructed and expanded as proposed, could produce approximately 16 billion additional litres of cthanol per
year. However, management believes that it is unlikely that all of these new plants and expansions will
necessarily be completed as proposed or at all because, among other things, the RFA data does not assess
whether financing and/or requisite approvals have been obtained for thesc plants or cxpansions.

According to the RFA, U.S. production of cthanol has increased by approximately 179% over the last
10 years, The increase in U.S. ethanol] production is shown in the following graph.
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Historical US Ethanol Production
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Canadian Supply

Canadian ethanol accounled for only 0.5% of world cthanol production in 2005. The ethanol industry in
Canada consists of only cight production facilities, all of which are ecither corn or wheat based. As of
November 2006, the top three producers in Canada accounted for approximately Y0% of the ethanol production
capacity in Canada.

Management estimates that as of November 2006: (i) three producers had the combined capacity to
produce approximately 48) million litres of ethanol per year, and four smaller producers had the combined
capacity 10 produce approximately 75 million litres of ethanol per year; and (i1) two of the existing producers had
tacilities under construction that will be able to produce un additional 250 million litres of ethanol per year,
in aggregate. In addition. an existing producer recently announced the construction of an additional 400 million
litres of capacity.

TGF's Belle Plaine Facility is designed to produce 150 million litres of cthanol per year, based on the
performance standards that the Contractor is required to attain under the EPC Contract. However,
management anticipates that TGF should be able to optimize its operations within 12 to 18 months of
commissioning the Belle Plaine Facility. with the result that approximately [65 million litres of annual ethanol
output should be achicvable.

The otal projected Canadian ethanol production volumes for carly 2008, from plants either in operation or
expected Lo be in operation by early 2008 (including the Belle Plaine Facility), is estimated by management to be
approximately 955 million litres annually. This is less than one half of the Canadian annual demand volume that
management anticipates will exist by 2010 with the implementation of the proposed Canadian 5% hiofucls
strategy.

Canada has both imported and exported ethanol in recent years as supply and demand is balanced
regionally. Imports have exceeded exports and are expected to continue to do so for several years.

The following graph illustrates the actual historical and forecasted supply and demand volumes for ethanol
in Canada for the periods indicated.
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Canadian Ethanol Historic and Forecasted Supply and Demand
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(1) Historical supply and demand volumes for ethanol are based on data obtained from the CRFA.
(2) Forceast supply volumes for cthanol are provided by (8&T)* Consultants Inc. and arc based on the production capacitics of the cthanol

planis currently in operation in Canada and the production capacities of all ethanol plants known by (S&T)? Consultams Inc. to be
cither currently under construction in Canada or the proposed construction of which has been publicly announced.

(3) Forccast demand volumes for ethanol are provided by (8&1)? Consultants Inc, and are basced primarily on the following assumptions:
(1) all existing provincially and federally mandated biofuel blending requirements remain in force; (ii) all proposed provincially and
federally mandated hofuel blending requirements are implemented a8 proposed; (iii) ¢thanol is the biofuel used w satisfy the
aforementioned mandated requirements; and (iv} gasvline sales in Canada remain constant at the 2005 levels reported by Statistics
Canada.

North American Ethanol Plants

The location of U.S. ethanol plants has historically been concentrated in the mid-western region of the
U.S. where abundant agricultural supplics exist. As a result, carly U.S. ethanol sales were dominant in this
region. Today, ethanol demand is driven by gasoline demand. As a consequence, ethanol demand is nation-wide.

Corn fed cthanol plants are expected (o supply most of the demand for ethano! in eastern Canada, whereas
wheat fed cthanol plants are expected to supply the demand for ethanol in western Canada. In addition, there
are no regulatory impediments to the sale of cthanol produced in Canada to the U.S. market or 1o the sale of
ethanol produced in the U.S. to the Canadian market.

The following map identifies the location of each ethanol plant in North America (including the Belle
Plaine Facility) and the status of each ethano! plant as a1 July 2006.
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North American Ethanol Plants

QO Operational

Under Construction

5
%“OE&Q O Under Expansion
' & ldc

8 Belle Plaine Facility

“Note:

(1) Source: “Canadian Renewable Fuels Strategy” prepared by (S&T) Consultants lne. and Mevers Norris Penny LLP for the CRFA,
July 2006.

Ethanol Pricing

Prices for ethanol in North America have increased during the past five years. The strong demand for
ethanol that has persisted throughout 2005 and 2006 has resulted in strong ethanol prices, providing cthanol
producers with an opportunity for very favourable cconomic returns. Management believes that the strong
demand for ethanol during this period of time has been driven by ethanol’s widespread acceptance and
mandated use as an additive in retail gasoline. Management expects that this trend will continue in the future.
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Historical Nebraska Ethanol Price
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(1) Source: Nebraska Energy Office.

(2) Management is not aware of comparable pricing data for the Canadian market. Management helieves that the Nebraska ethanol price is
generally representative of Canadian prices over this period, although ethanol prices vary from region o region, primarily due to the
effects of transportation costs.

(3) Ethano! prices have been converted from US. dollars 1o Canadian dollars using the average monthly exchange rate for the applicable
period. ‘

Ethanol Production Process

In North America, ethanol is currently produced mostly from starch containing crops such as corn, wheat
and milo. Several plants use a waste sugar strcam {rom another industrial plant such as a sulphite pulp mill, a
brewery, cheese factories, potato processors and other food processing plants. However, the dominant feedstock
is corn. The basic process involves the enzymatic hydrolysis of starch to sugars and the fermentation of the
sugars to ethanol via yeast. The weak ethanol solution known as beer is then distilled and dried to produce
anhydrous ethanol, which is suitable for blending with gasoline. There are a number of process variations that
arc employed, such as dry or wet milling and batch or continuous fermentation.

Most new ethanol plants being considered are dry mill ethanol plants because these plants have lower
capital costs and produce fewer co-products. The basic process flow for one of these plants is shown in the
following diagram.
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Ethanol Process Flow Schematic
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The major steps in the dry milling process are summarized below.

Grain Unloading. Trucks deliver wheat to the plant dircetly from farms or from grain clevators.

Milling. The wheat passes through a grain milling system which mills the wheat into a fine powder called
“meal”. A cyclone or baghouse dust collector eliminates grain dust during milling.

Liguefaction. The meal is mixed with water and the enzyme alpha-amylase. This mixture then passes
through cookers, where the starch is liquefied. Heat is supplied at this stage of the process to enable
liquefaction,

Saccharification. The mash from the cookers is cooled and the secondary enzyme gluco-amylase is added
to convert the liguefied starch into fermentable sugars. This process is called “saccharification”.

Fermentation. Yeast is added to the mash to ferment the sugars into ethanol and carbon dioxide.

Distillation. The fermented mash, called “beer”, contains approximately 12.5% ethanol by volume and
the non-fermented solids from the wheat and the yeast cells. The beer mash is pumped into a continuous
flow, multi-column distillation system where the ethanol is separated from the solids and water. The
ethanol Icaves the lop of the final column at approximately 95% strength and the residual mash, called
stillage, is recovered from the base of the column and is transferred to the co-product processing area.

Dehydration. The ethanol then passes through a dehydration system where the remaining water is
removed. The alcohol product at this stage is called “anhydrous ethanol”.

Co-Product Recovery. Evaporators and natural gas fired ring dryers are used to remove the water from
the stillage and produce the dried distillers grains.

Ethanol Storage. The ethanol is then stored in carbon steel tanks until it is delivered to customers.

Ethanol and Dried Distillers Grains Load-out. Trucks and railears transport the ethanol and dried distillers
grains 1o customers.

Wheat versus Corn Ethanol

Ethanol produced from starchy grains, such as wheat or corn, is identical in composition and properties.
The different composition of the feedstock does have some impact on the quantity of ethanol and distillers
grains produced and on the composition of the distillers grains. Most varieties of wheat have a lower starch
content than corn {approximately 65% versus approximately 72%). As a result, approximately 12% more wheat
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(in terms of volume} is required to be processed to produce the same volume of ethanol. However, this results in
about 25% more distillers grains being produced. Distillers grains are a co-product of the cthanol process which
are sold primarily for livestock and dairy feed. The protein content of wheat distillers grains is higher than corn
distillers grains, making it a more valuable ingredient for livestock feed.

There are some minor design changes that must be made to an cthanol plant w efficiently process wheat.
Management estimates that these changes tncrease the capital cost of the plant compared 10 a corn plant by
approximately 15%. However, wheat based cthanol plants generally have lower operating costs, which more than
compensate for the higher start-up capital costs. In addition, wheat based ethanol plants can also process corn
feedstock with no loss of cfficiency or capacity, whereas a corn plant could be expected to suffer some
throughput loss when processing wheal.

Supply of Wheat

Management believes that there is an ample supply of wheat production in Canada to support the growth of
the Canadian ethanol industry. Management cstimates thal in 2005 the Canadian cthano! industry consumed
approximately 125,000 metric tonnes ol wheat, which represcnted approximately 0.5% of the 26 million metric
tonnes ol the 2004/2005 domestic wheat crop {approximately 60% of which is exported in most years). The Belle
Plaine Facility will be situated in the heart of Canada’s grain belt. Saskatchewan produces more wheat than any
other Canadian province. According to Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada and Saskatchewan Agriculture and
Food, on average, Saskatchewan produces approximately 50% of Canada's annual wheat crop.

Canadian wheat production is planted with the intention of producing milling quality wheat, but in most
years a portion of the crop is downgraded to feed quality due to adverse growing conditions. This feed quality
wheat has traditionally been used for ethanol production. Other varieties of wheat, such as Canadian Prairies
Spring and Canadian Soft White Spring, provide producers with a higher yvield. These wheats have a higher
starch content and are better suited to cthanol production. As a result of the development of a larger domestic
ethanol industry, management expects the production of these varieties of wheat to increase, which will increase
overall wheat production in Canada.

Wheat pricing is primarily affected by growing conditions and fluctrations in demand from different
geographic regions of the world. Although there have been periods of volatility in Canadian wheat prices,
management believes that wheat prices have not changed substantially in real terms over the last 20 years and
are currently much lower than the high prices expericnced in the early 1990s. Between August and November
2006, therc has becn an increase in prices in the North American wheat market. However, management believes
that this increase is due to wheat shortages in Australia and the 2006 wheat crop in the U.S. failing to meet
expectations. These factors have both put upward pressure on global wheat prices. Farmers generally respond to
price increases by growing morc wheat to take advantage of the opportunity to sell wheat at higher prices. Price
increases may also cause buyers to substitute their use of feed wheat with other livestock feed alternatives. Both
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of these reactions to higher prices typically have a stabilizing effect on prices. The charts below indicate the
amount of wheat produced in Canada and the market price for feed wheat for the periods indicated.

Historical Canadian Wheat Production Historical Feed Wheat Price/®
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{1} Source: Canadian Wheat Board.
{2} Pricc of fecd wheat, as reported by the Winnipeg Commaedity Exchange. The pricing basis chunged from Thunder Bay to Saskatchewan

in 2002, This change resulted in a price reduction of approximately $30 per lonne.

Ethanol Co-Products
Distillers Grains

Distillers grains, a co-product of the dry-mill ethanol production process, are the concentrated nutrients
{protein, fat, fibre, vitamins and minerals) remaining after starch from corn or wheat is converted into ethanol.
Distillers grains may be sold as wet distillers grains or, after drying in natural gas fuelled driers, as dried distillers
grains. Ethanol producers arc typically able to sell distillers grains as livestock and dairy feed, which provides
them with an additional source of revenue.
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The price of distillers graing varies based on prevailing supply and demand factors, The following graph
illustrates the price (or corn based distillers grains in Indiana for the periods indicated.
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(1) Source: USDA Feedgrains Database.

(2) Management is not aware of comparable pricing data for the Canadian market. Management believes that the Indiana distillers grain
price is generally representative of Canadian wheat distillers grain prices over this period, although distillers grain prices vary from
region to region,

{3y Distillers graing prices have been converted from U.S. dollurs to Canadizn dollurs using the monthly exchange rate for the applicable
period.

Carbon Dioxide

The ethanol production process alse produces carbon dioxide. Carbon dioxide is a potentially harmful
greenhouse gas, however, the net effect of the production of carbon dioxide during the ethanol production
process is generally believed to be largely offset by the intake of carbon dioxide by the wheat, corn or other
feedstock used to create ethanol. Because ethanol is produced using a bioprocess, the carbon dioxide generated
from the creation of ethanol is not controlled by the Kyoto Protocol established under the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change.

Some cthanol plants capture and compress carbon dioxide for sale to industrial and food markets.
Management does not expect to have a market for its carbon dioxide production in the near future. However,
management believes that there is potential for a market to develop in western Canada where carbon dioxide is
uscd as an vilfield flooding agent.

Government Legislation and Regulation

The Canadian ethanol industry is impacted by provincial and federal legislation, in particular:

* The governments of Saskatchewan and Ontario mandate the use of ethanol in gasoline sold in their
respective provinces and a stmilar program is being implemented in Manitoba. Saskatchewan and
Manitoba provide financial incentives if the ethanol is produced in their respective province. Ontario has
entered into agreements with some Ontario ethanol producers to provide financial incentives in the event
of low crude oil prices, high corn prices or low cthanol prices.

71



» The government of Canada provides a $0.10 per litre excise tax remission for the use of cthanol in
gasoline in Canada.

* The governments of British Columbia and Alberta also provide an cxemption from fuel taxes for ethanol
used in gasoline in their respective provinces. Alberta has announced its intention to replace this tax
exemption with an ethanol producer payment.

+ Ethanol plants in Canada must be licensed with the Canadian Grain Commission if they purchase grain
directly from producers.

* Ethanol plants in Canada must obtain a licence under the Federal Excise Act (Canada).

+ Wheat-based ethanol plants must obtain permission from the Canadian Wheat Board if they export
wheat-based distillers grains from Canada.

» Ethanol plants must obtain operating permits similar to other industrial operations. The required permits
can vary from province to provinge.

* Ethanol imported into Canada from non-NAFTA countries (such as Brazil) is subject to a duty of
$0.0492 per litre.

BUSINESS OF TGF
General Overview of TGF

TGF, through its subsidiary TGF Opco, is constructing the Belle Plaine Facility in the rural municipality of
Pense No. 160, near Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan, which is approximately 45 kilometres west of Regina. The Belle
Plaine Facility is designed to produce approximately 150 million litres of cthanol and approximately
163,150 tonnes of dried distillers grains annually. However, management anticipates that TGF should be able to
optimize its operations within 12 to 18 months of commissioning the Beile Plaine Facility, with the result that
approximately 165 million litres of ethanol production and approximately 180,000 tonnes of dried distillers
grains production annually should be achievable. When the Belle Plaine Facility is operational, management
believes TGF will be the largest ethanol producer in western Canada.

TGF anticipates that the construction of the Belle Plaine Facility will be completed and that ethanol
production will commence by the end of 2007, TGF intends to sell ethanol to gasoline producers and marketers
throughout Canada and the United States, primarily as a gasoline additive. TGF also intends to sell disttllers
grains to the livestock industry throughout western Canada and the U.S. Pacific Northwest. TGF intends to
distribute its products by both rail and truck.

History of TGF

TGF was incorporated in April 2006, [n July 2006, TGF obtained a commitment for the TGF Credit Facility
in the amount of $30 million with a syndicate of lenders. In August 2006, TGF entered into the TGF Debenture
Purchase Agreement pursuant to which the TGF Debenturcholders agreed to purchase up to $40 miltion
aggregate principal amount of TGF Debentures. In September 2006, TGF entered into the fixed price EPC
Contract with the Contractor for the design, engineering, procurement, construction and commissioning of the
Belle Plaine Facility. In October 2006, TGF entered into the Licence Agreement with its technology provider,
Delta-T, wherein Deltal granted TGF the right to use Delta T’s technology for the purposes of constructing,
building and the ongoing operation of TGF’s Belle Plaine Facility and the repair, maintenance, optimization and
enhancement of the Belle Plaine Facility. See *Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of TGF”.

Business Strengths
Management believes the following key attributes will contribute to the strength of TGF's business:
* Strategically located facility,

* Proven production technology; and
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» Opportunity to pursue low-cost operations strategy, including:
* Proximity to competitively priced inputs;
* Use of risk mitigation strategics: and

* Flexibility of feedstock chaice,

Strategically Located Facility

The Belle Plaine Facility will be strategically located less than two miles from the TransCanada Highway. In
addition, rail access is readily available on site, with scrvice from both Canadian National and Canadian Pacific
rail lines. Management therefore believes that TGF is well positioned 1o deliver its products to western
Canadian refining centers at lower transportation costs than a number of the competing U.S. ¢thanol producers
and certain Canadian cthanol producers. In addition, management believes that TGF is well positioned to
deliver its products to the primary markets for ethanol in western Canada, Ontario and the northern
United States. According to Statistics Canada, 29.1 billion litres of gasoline were sold in western Canada and
Ontario alone in 2003,

TGF's principal raw material is wheat, The Belle Plaine Facility is situated in the heart of Canada's grain
bell. Saskaichewan produces more wheat than any other Canadian province. Management therefore believes
that it will have access to abundant sources of wheat al competitive prices.

Management also believes that the Belle Plaine Facility will have aceess to stable supplies of natural gas and
electricity at competitive prices given its close proximity to major energy sources in Canada. Furthermare,
management believes that the Belle Plaine Facility is strategically located near water supplies and other key
utility services.

Proven Production Technology

TGF will use the latest in proven production technology, which is anticipated to result in lower operating
costs and more cfficient conversion of wheat to ethanol than older plants that use older technology. In addition,
management believes that the equipment and technology to be used in TGF’s ethanol production have been
successfully proven by some of the major ethanol producers in North America.

Opportunity to Pursue Low-Cost Operations Strategy

Management believes thut TGF is well positioned 1o become one of the lowest cost producers of ethanol in
North America. In addition to the strategic location of the Belle Plaine Facility and TGF's proven production
technology, these low-cost operations will be the result of the following:

* Proximity to Competitively Priced Inpuis. Management believes that the Belle Plaine Facility’s strategic
location gives TGF access to abundant supplies of its primary inputs, wheat and natural gas, at
compctitive prices.

» Use of Risk Mitigation Strategies. TGF intends to mitigate its exposure to commodity price fluctuations by:
(i) purchasing wheat through cash fixed-price contracts and deferred pricing contracts; and (ii} utilizing
hedging positions in the wheat, crude oil and natural gas futures markets to manage the risk of price
fluctuations of raw materials and ethanol.

* Flexibility of Feedstock Choice. Wheat based ethanol plants such as the Belle Plaine Facility can also
process corn feedstock with no less of cfficiency or cupacity, whereas a corn based plant would be
expected to suffer some throughput loss when processing wheat. The Belle Plaine Facility will therefore

- have the flexibility to process corn feedstock with limited disruption to its operations in the event the
need arises.

73



Business Strategies

TGF’s objective is to obtain a compeltitive position in the North American renewable fuels industry and 10
realize efficiencies in cthanol production. Key elements of TGF's strategy 1o achieve this objective include:

s Complete Construction of Belle Plaine Facility. TGF is currently constructing the Belle Plaine Facility,
which will produce ethanol and distillers grains. TGF’s primary near term objective is to complete the
construction of the Belle Plaine Facility and commence operations by the end of 2007.

* Add Low-Cost Production Capacitv. TGF will seek to capitalize on growing North American demand for
ethanol by potentially expanding its production capacity in the next several years. In pursuing an
expansion stralegy, TGF will continue to (i) evaluate the construction of large-scale facilities utilizing
fixed price cngineer, procure, construction contracts to fix its costs, (ii} incorporate technology
improvements, and (iii) locate facilities in close proximity to abundant and competitively priced supplies
of wheat and natural gas and in close proximity to major trucking and/or rail transportation routes.

+ Continue to Focus on Cost Efficiency and Evolving Technologies. TGF will scek 1o take advantage of its
large production capacity and cconomies of scale to become more energy efficient and increase yicld. In
addition, TGF has identified and is monitoring the development of ethanol production systems and
technology improvements that have the potential to increase plant productivity and decrease plant energy
consumption, TGF has elected not to incorporale these sysiems and technology improvements into the
Belle Plaine Facility at this time as these systems and technology improvements are still unproven in the
commercial context. However, if management is satistied that these systems and technology
improvements are commercially proven in the future and management believes that it would be cost
effective 1o do so, TGF will consider incorporating these improvements at the Belle Plaine Facility.

s Flexibility to Capitalize on Market Opportunities. TGF, in combination with Universal, will have the ability
to maintain an appropriate capital structure that will enable it to respond to changing market conditions
and capitalize on industry opportunities. Furthermore, management will focus on maintaining the
flexibility to either build production facilities, make disciplined and opportunistic acquisitions or enter
into strategic alliances or joint ventures, in each case based on market opportunities and industry
conditions.

Belle Plaine Facility
Overview

TGF is currently constructing the Belle Plaine Facility. The Belle Plaine Facility is designed to produce
approxtmately 150 million litres of ethanoi and approximately 163,150 1onnes of dricd distillers grains annually.
Management anticipates that TGF should be able 1o optimize its operations within 12 to 18 months of
commissioning the Belle Plaine Facility, with the result that approximately 165 million litres of ethanol
production and approximately 180,000 tonnes of dried distillers grains production annually should be achievable.

TGF’s primary product will be ethanol. TGF’s Belle Plaine Facility will produce ethanol by using a dry-mill
process. which is expected to yield approximately 365 litres of ethanol per metric tonne of wheat. The dry-mill
ethanol production process also produces distiliers grains as a co-product. In the dry-mill process, each metric
tonne of wheat yields approximately 397 kilograms of distillers grains.

TGF has not generated any material revenues to date and will not generate any material revenucs until
construction of its Belle Plaine Facility is complete and production begins, which is anticipated to oceur in late
2007. Thereafter. all of TGF’s revenues will be derived primarily from the sale of ethanol and distillers grains.

Location

In June 2006, TGF acquired approximately 160 acres of land in the rural municipality of Pense No. 160 ncar
Belle Plaine, Saskatlchewan, approximately 45 kilometres west of Regina. Subsequent (o acquiring the land, TGF
was successful in obtaining a rezoning of the land from an agricultural use designation to a rural industrial park
designation. Afler receiving environmental endorsement from the Saskatchewan Environment — Environment
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Assessment Branch, construction of the Belle Plaine Facility commenced in September 2006. TGF expects to
complete the construction of the Belle Plaine Facility and to commence ¢thanol production by the end of 2007.

TGF's decision to locate the Belle Plaine Facility at Belle Plaine. Saskatchewan was based on many factors.
First among these factors is the availability of wheat and cnergy supplics for TGF's inputs and cthanol and
distillers grains markets for TGF’s outputs. TGF has utilized in-house expertise as well as external consultants to
analyze the feasibility of obtaining and using wheat as a feedstock at the Belle Plaine Facility and has weighed
that knowledge with a similar analysis of the logistical advantages and disadvantages of moving cthanol to both
cxisting and projected new markets. TGF is presently cogaged in discussions with rail and truck carriers
regarding securing transportation to meet its requirements for the supply of wheat to TGFE’s Belle Plaine Facility
and the delivery of ethanol and distillers grains products to markets. TGF has also begun consultation with local
wheat farmers and cooperatives to secure long-term, reliable wheat supplies. TGF has finalized its natural gas
and powcer supply service arrangements and is in the process of finalizing its water supply scrvice arrangements.

The Belle Plaine Facility is located approximately 45 kilometers west of Regina. Management therefore
believes that the Belle Plaine Facility is positioned near a qualified labour force and community scrvices that are
capable of attracling and retaining top personncl.

Design and Construction
Design and Construction Team

TGF has sclected the “engineering, procurement and construction” method of development for the Belle
Plaine Facility and has retained EllisDon and VCM ({in joint venture) as its Contractor, EllisDon Corporation
(an affiliate of EllisDon) is onc of Canada’s largest general contractors and has a track record of successfully
completing large and complex projects across Canada, including breweries, cogencration facilities and many
large municipal projects throughout Canada. VCM is a local Saskatchewan company with a track record of
successfully completing agriculture related projects in Saskatchewan, including the major cxpansions at Prairic
Malt Limited’s malt plant located in Biggar, Saskatchewan, and the development of Can Oat Milling Inc.’s
milling facility located in Saskatoon, Saskatchcwan.

Delta-T, one of the leading ethanol process technology providers in North America, has been engaged by
the Contractor as a consultant. Delta-T has successfully designed ethanol plants across North America and is
currently working on the design ol approximately 25 predominantly corn based cthanol plants across North
Amcrica and additional wheat-based cthanol plants internationally. TGF belicves that Delta-T’s process design
includes the following advantages: (i) Delta-T has experience with wheat to cthanol conversion; (ii) Delta T was
the first process designer to incorporale zero process waste water discharge, which will be a feature of the Belle
Plaine Facility; and (iii) Delta<T’s design includes a low energy consumption feature derived from Deha-T’s
experience in thermodynamics and heat exchangers. TGF believes thal Delta-T’s design will produce a facility
capable of efficiently using wheat as a feedstock and producing an environmentally sound product.

EPC Contract

Pursuant to the EPC Contract, TGF retained the Contractor to perform and complete all design,
engineering, procurement, construction and commissioning work in connection with the development of TGF’s
Belle Plaine Facility. Under the terms of the EPC Contract, the Contractor is responsible for obtaining all
required building permits. Management does not anticipate any difficulty obtaining such permits. The
Contractor has engaged Delta-T to provide engineering and other services related 1o the construction of the
Belle Plaine Facility based on Delta-T’s proprietary technology under a subcontract with the Contractor. The
Contractor has apreed to substantially complete the design, engineering, procurement, construction and
commissioning of the Belle Plaine Facility by December 14, 2007. The Contractor has guaranteed to TGF that
the Bellc Plaine Facility will be designed and constructed by the Contractor to mect or exceed certain
performance guarantces set out in the EPC Contract. EllisDon has guarantced the performance of the
obligations of the Contractor under the EPC Contract, including the Contractor’s indemnily obligations and the
Contractor’s compliance with its warranty and performance guarantee obligations provided that TGF is not in
default under the EPC Contract. In consideration for the performance and completion of its work, TGF will pay
the Contractor a fixed price of $129.8 million (plus GST), subject to adjustment in certain limited circumstances.
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See “— Design and Construction — Design and Construction Cost Estimate™. This fixed price does not include
a fee of approximately $2,900.000 payable by TGF for the use in perpetuity of the technology provided by
Delta-T in connection with the Licence Agreement. Except as expressly set out in the EPC Contract, any and all
costs and expenses incurred by the Contractor relating to the construction of the Belle Plaine Facility in excess of
the fixed contract price are the responsibility of the Contractor. Given the current competitive market place for
materials and staffing, these costs overrun provisions are an important element of the EPC Contract. Under the
EPC Contract, TGF is required to pay the fixed contract price in progress payments as the work progresses.

Design and Construction Schedule

The following table scts forth a summary of the schedule of significant milestones in the design,
engineering, procurement, construction and commissioning of TGE's Belle Plaine Facility.

Completion Date / Target Completion Date

APHIL2006 ... oo

June 2006 .. ...

September 12,2006 . ... .. o L

September 16,2006 .. ....... ... .. ... ... ...

September 29, 2006 .. ..... ... ... ...

October 22, 2006 ... ... ... ... . . ... .. ......

March 2007 . .. ... . ... ..,
April 2007 .. e

May 2007 . .. .
October 2007 .. ... .. ..

November 2007 .. ... . ... ..
December 2007 .o . .

Milestone

Pre-development agreement with the Contractor
exccuted. The Contractor began to review the
prclinminary engincering and associated costs estimate
to engineer, procure and construct TGF's Belle
Plainc Facility.

Approval received to rezone the Belle Plaine Facility
site to rural industrial park status.

Environmental support for the project received from
Saskatchewan Environment — Environment
Assessment Branch.

TGF entered into a letter agreement with the
Contractor regarding the Belle Plaine Facility.

Construction work commenced, including site
preparation work, pile foundation work and concrete
foundation work.

TGF entered into the EPC Contract with the
Contractor for the design, engincering, procurement,
construction and commissioning of the Belle Plaine
Facility.

TGF entered into the Licence Agreement with its
technology provider Delta-T.

Foundation preparation to be completed.

Building structurcs to be ¢rected. Ethanel storage
tanks to be completed.

Structurc work o be completed. Fermentation tank
construction to be initiated.

Process equipment to be installed and piping to be
completed.

Electrical and mechanical work to be completed.

Design, engineering, procurement, construction and
commissioning of Belle Plaine Facility to be
completed.
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Design and Construction Cost Estimate

The table below summarizes the budgeted capital expenditures to develop the Belle Plaine Facilily from
inception 1o plant commissioning.

Major Costs Responsibility  Cost (§ millions)
Plant, Construction, Equipment and Engincering Costs (net)V .. ... ... .. Contractor 126,18
Freightt e Owner 2.0
Additional Tank Costs™ . . Owner 6.8
Owners Costs™ Owner 7.0
Total . . .. 1419
Notes:

{1) Includes all processing cquipment, prefabricated buildings. structural, piping, mechanical and clectrical, net of Saskutchewan
investment tax credits. Also includes the approximately $2.9 million fee payable to Delta-T" pursuant 1o the Licence Agreement.

{2} Relates to expected anticipated freight charges for the shipping of centrifuges, dryers und other equipment.

(3) Additional tank costs of $6.8 million represents the cost for field fabricated and erected tanks over and above the 7.0 million contract
allowance included in the $126.1 million figure above. Subsequent to the execution of the EPC Contract, TGF finalized its contractual
arrangements for ficld fabricated and erected anks for 4 toral cost of approximately $13.8 million.

{4} “Owners Costs™ includes costs to connect the Belle Plaine Facility 1o utilities, consulting costs, and working capital.

(3) Represents the EPC Contract fixed price of $129.8 million (which includes PST but excludes GST) and the approximately $2.9 million
fee payable to Delta-T pursuant to the Licence Agreement ($132.7 million in aggregate) after deducting an estimated $6.63 million of
Suskalchewan investment tax credits (representing 5% of the total estimated installed capital cost of $132.7 million).

Of the total project costs of approximately $141.9 million, TGF anticipates incurring approximately 139% of
the costs by the end of 20006, 14% of the costs in the first calendar quarter of 2007, 15% of the costs in the second
calendar quarter of 2007, 22% of the costs in the third calendar quarter of 2007, 26% of the costs in the fourth
calendar quarter of 2007 and the remaining 10% of the costs in the first calendar quarter of 2008. TGF intends
to [inance the construction of the Belle Plaine Facility using the following sources of funds: (i) $55,000,000 will
be in the form of equity, of which TGF has raised $44,393,245 and will raise the balance from proceeds of the
exercise of the outstanding TGF Warrants of $5,057,600 and additional committed TGF Opco share
subscriptions of $5,549,155, cach of which are contingent on the Closing of the Offering; {iv) $30,000,000 from
the TGE Credit Facility; and (iii) $40,000,000 from the issuance of TGF Debentures pursuant to the TGF
Debenture Purchase Agrcement.

Net Operating Costs

The primary costs that TGF will incur to operate the Belle Plaine Facility will include wheat, processing
supplies (such as ¢nzymes, yeast and other chemicals). naturai gas, electricity and other miscelianeous operating
costs, such as repairs and maintenance, water supply, waste management and denaturant. The table below
identifies management’s current estimate of: (i) TGF's primary operating costs for each litre of ethanol
produced; (1} TGF's dried distillers grains revenue for each litre of ethanol produced; and (iii} TGF’s net
operating costs for each litre of ethanol produced.

For purposes of its business plan, management has estimated TGF’s primary operating costs based on,
among other things, the historical and forward pricing estimates for the commodities required to preduce
ethanol and the historical and forward pricing for certain commodities whose prices are correlated to the
commaodities required to produce cthanol. Management’s estimates of TGF's primary operating costs also
assume that the Belle Plaine Facility will produce approximately 142.5 million litres of ethanol in its first year of
operations and approximately 165 million litres of ethanol per year thereafter. Management’s estimates of
TGF's dried distillers grains revenue per litre of ¢thanol are based on, among other things, the historical and
forward pricing estimates for dried distillers grains. There is no assurance that the operating cost, dried
distillers grains revenue and net operafing cost estimates presented in the table below and the related
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assumptions will be attained and variances could be material. Actual operating costs, dried distillers grains
revenues and net operating costs may be greater than or less than the estimates provided below.

Net Operating Costs per

Primary Operating Costs™ Litre of Ethanol™
Wheat .. .. $0.365
Processing Supplies . .. ... .. oo o $0.034
Natural Gas .. ..ot e $0.063
Electricity . . . ... .. $0.024
Other Operating Costs .. ... .. . .. ... . .. . $0.028
Total .. ... $0.514
Dried Distillers Grains Revenue per litre of Ethanol®® 0, $0.151
Net Operating Costs . .. ... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... . $0.363
Notes:
(1) In addition, management estimates that TGF will also incur saluries, wages and other administrative costs of approximately $2.8 million

(2}

)

per year.

Management's current estimates of TGF’s primary operating costs for each litre of ethanol produced assume the following average per
unit costs: wheat at $135 per metric tonne; natural gas al $6.84 per GJ; and clectricity at 30048 per kWh, Muanagement’s current
estimate of TGF's dried distillers grains revenue per litre of ethanol preduced assumes an average price for dried distillers grains of
$139.07 per metric tonne and the production of 1,092 kilograms of dried distillers grains for each litre of ethanol. There is no assurance
that these per unit costs or revenues will be obtained and variances conld be material. Actual per unit costs for wheat, natural gas and
clectricity and revenues for dried distillers grains may be greater than or less than the costs and revenues assumed by management.

Management's estimate of TGF's primary operating costs excludes the cost of transporting TGF's products (ethanol and dried distitlers
grains) to market.

Wheat based cthanot ptums create a higher vield of dried distilters grains per lire of ethanol than corn based ethanot plants. In
addition, management believes that wheat based dried distillers grains can be sold at higher prices than corn bused dried distillers grains
due to the superior protein content of wheat based dricd distillers grains.

Belle Plaine Facility Overview

The Belle Plaine Facility will be comprised of the following low clevation, self-contained structures:

* Administration Building. An administration office will provide approximately 3,200 square feet of office
space. An cmployce parking arca will be located adjacent to the office building.

s Truck Scales. Truck scales will be located near the administration office. The scales will be used for
scaling inbound and outbound trucks.

* Maintenance Building. A maintenance building will allow for on site maintenance and repairs. This
buildmg will be a pre-engineered facility.

* Grain Storage Areq. A grain storage area will feature a covered truck dump pit, two primary corrugated
steel grain storage bins, smaller secondary steel grain bins and screenings bins and associated milling
equipment, including a scalper, grain milling equipment and a dedicated dust collection system. TGF's
grain storapge area will he capable of storing enough grain to supply the Belle Plaine Facility for
approximately 45 days.

* Muin Processing Building. The main processing building wilt be a pre-enginecred structure, housing first
stage processing cquipment. The Belle Plaine Facility will also include a staff lunch room, a controls
room, an clectrical room, lockers, washrooms and a quality control laboratory.

* Fermentation Area. Four stainless steel fermentation tanks and one beer well will be located adjacent to
the main processing building. These tanks will be located outside of the main process building.

* Dried Distillers Grains Dryer Area. The dried distillers grains dryer system will consist of two vertical ring
flash dryers and will be housed within an open structural steel frame.
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* Ukility Building. The utility building will be located adjacent to the main processing huilding and will
house ancillary equipment, including boilers, air compressors and water conditioning cquipment.

* Dried Distillers Grains Storage Arca. The dricd distillers grains storage building will be located adjacent to
the rail tracks and will provide 10 days of dried distillers grains surge capacity. Two dried distillers grains
load-out bays will be attached to the building to facilitate the loading of trucks and rail cars. This will be a
self-contained facility.

o Ethanol Storage and Load-out. The ethanol storage and load-out arca will be located adjacent to the rail
track, and will provide both rail car and truck tanker loading access. TGF's ethanol storage area will be
capable of storing approximately 5.7 million litres of ethanol, representing approximately 15 days of
ethanol production from the Belle Plaine Facility.

» Ultilities. Utility supply to the facility will not require major infrastructure changes duc to the current level
of development. All major utilities, including natural gas, power, water and telephone, currently run
directly adjacent to the property.

Raw Materials

The principal raw materials that TGF’s Belle Plaine Facility will require are wheat and natural gas.

Wheat

TGF's principal raw material is wheat. When the Belle Plaine Facility becomes operational, it will require
approximately 400,000 metric tonnes of wheat per year in order to produce 150 million litres per year of ethanol.
Within 12 to 18 months of completion of the Belle Plaine Facility, TGF expects that its operations will require
approximately 440,000 metric tonnes of wheat per year in order to produce the 165 million litres per year of
ethanol production that management believes the Belle Plaine Facility should ultimately be capable of
producing. TGF intends to source its wheat both directly from farmers located near the Belle Plaine Facility and
from local dealers. TGF intends to employ the following wheat procurement methods and related hedging
strategies:

* purchase wheat through cash fixed-price contracts and deferred pricing contracts; and

* utilize hedging positions in the wheat futures market to manage the risk of excessive wheal price
fluctuations for a portion of our wheat requirements. Sce “— Hedging” below.

TGF has entered into a Grain Supply Agreement with SWP dated effective December 5, 2006. Under the
terms of the agreement, SWP will assist TGF in the procurement and delivery of wheat supplies to the Belle
Plaine Facility. The agreement is for a term of one year (two years in certain circumsiances) commencing on
August 1, 2007 and can be extended in certain circumstances for an additional one year term. TGF will pay an
agency fee to SWP for services provided pursuant 1o a fee schedule.

Natural Gas

TGF’s cthanol production will also require significant quantities of natural gas, which has historically been
subject to volatile market conditions. Natural gas prices and availability are affected by weather conditions and
overall economic conditions. When fully operational and operating at capacity, the Belle Plaine Facility will
require approximately 42.8 million m* of natural gas per year. TGF anticipates adopting an active hedging
program and intends to hedge a large portion of its exposure to natural gas price risk from time to time by using
fixed priced physical or exchange traded futures contracts and storage scrvices. Sec -~ Hedging”.

Marketing

The market demand for ethanol in Canada is currently dominated by the demand for ethanol blended
gasoline in the provinces of Ontario, Saskatchewan and Manitoba due to the existence of government mandated
programs thal require the use of biofuel blended gasoline. By 2010, if the Canadian federai government’s
publicly announced policies are implemented, gasoline will be required to be comprised of at least 5%
renewable fuels. Management believes that ethanol is currently the only commercially viable renewable fuel
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available to satisfy this requirement. The primary buyers of ethanol will therefore be entities involved in the
refinement, aggregation and distribution of gasoline, such as large oil companies. Because cthanol will be
blended with gasoline at or near refineries, ethanol will need to be delivered to areas where gasoline refineries
are located.

According to Statistics Canada, gasoline sales in 2005 in western Canada were approximately 13.2 billion
litres and in Ontario were approximately 15.9 billion litres. The retail gasoline market is dominated in western
Canada by three large integrated oil companies whose combined market share ranges from 55% in Alberta to
63% in Manitoba. These same companics produce approximately 61% of the gasoline consumed in Ontario. The
balance of the market share in these provinces is represented by approximately 10 other gusoline refiners
or retailers.

The most proximate and accessible northern United States markets include the Pacific Northwest,
Montana, Idaho, North and South Dakota and Minnesota, where pasoline consumption is estimated by the
LS. Federal Highway Administration — Office of Highway Policy Information at approximately 34 billion litres
annually.

Beceause the Belle Plaine Facility will be strategically located less than two miles from the TransCanada
Highway and rail access is readily available on site, with service from both Canadian National and Canadian
Pacific rail lines, management believes that TGF is well positioned to deliver its products to all of these markets
and to access markets located in Northern California and beyond.

Ethanol

TGF does not currently have any contracts for the sale of ethanol, but has entered into discussions with
interested third partics in Canada and the U.S. TGF intends to market its ¢thanol production to gasoline retailer
and marketing companies ucross Canada and the US. TGF anticipates selling its ethanol production at
prevailing market prices as TGF’s ethanol production will not be large enough to influence the market price for
ethanol. Among the potential Canadian customers for TGF’s ethanol production are crude oil refineries located
at Regina, Saskatchewan. Edmonton, Alberta, Winnipeg, Manitoba and Toronto, Ontario.

Distillers Grains

Management anticipates that approximately 18% ol the revenue to be generated by the Belle Plaine Facility
will be derived from the sale of distillers grains, TGF does not currently have any contracts for the sale of
distillers grains. TGF intends 10 markelt its distillers grains production to the beef, dairy, poultry and swine
markets across Canada and the U.S. TGF anticipates selling its distillers grains at prevailing market prices as
TGF’s distillers grains production will not be large cnough to influence the market price for distillers grains.

Transportation

TGF intends to receive wheat and ship ethanol and distillers grains principally by rail and to a lesser degree
by truck. The Belle Plaine Facility is located less than two miles from the TransCanada Highway and rail access is
readily available on site, with service from both Canadian National and Canadian Pacific.

Hedging

TGF intends (to the extent practicable} to partially hedge against changes in prices of key inputs (such as
wheat and natural gas) and key outputs (such as ethanol and distillers grains). TGF will seek to hedge its primary
commodity risks directly through a combination of futures contracts, derivatives (including options) and fixed
price contracts. TGF may also enter into hedging transactions in respect of commoditics whose prices are
correlated with TGF’s key inputs and outputs. For example, TGF may hedge against changes in crudc oil prices
because of the positive correlation between the price of crude oil and the price of gasoline, and the positive
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correlation between the price of gasoline and the price of ethanol. As of December 20, 2006, TGF has entered
into the following hedging transactions:

Commodity Term Quantity Price Percent Hedged
Feed Wheat Calendar 2008 31,200 metric tonnes®™  $130 per metric tonne 12,894
Feed Wheat Calendar 2009 21,600 metric tannest”  $135 per metric tonne 5.4%
Notes:

(1} Quantity represents physical volures 1o be delivered 1o the Belle Plaine Facility pursuant to approximately 20 physical delivery
contracts.

(2) Thesc figures represent the percentage of TGF's estimated snnual feed requirements that the hedge represents (assuming 150 million
titres of ethanol production).

Competition

The largest Canadian ethanol producers are Suncor, Husky Energy and GreenFields Ethanol. If TGF sells
ethanol in the United States, it will compete with Archer Daniels Midland Company, which is the single largest
producer in the cthanol indusiry, as well as other large producers such as VeraSun Energy Corp., Hawkeye
Holdings Inc., Aventine Rencewable Energy Holdings Inc. and Cargill, Inc. The North American ethanol industry
also includes many small, independent firms and farmer-owned cooperatives. Management believes that the
Belle Plaine Facility’s capacity will generally be comparable 10 the capacily of the facilities owned by TGF's
primary competitors.

TGF believes that its ability to compete successfully in the ethanol production industry will depend on many
factors, including price, reliability of its production processes and delivery schedule, transportation costs and
volume of ethanol produced and sold.

With respect to distillers grains, TGF will compete with other ethanol producers, as well as a number of
large and small supplicrs of competing livestock and dairy feed. TGF believes the principal competitive factors
will be price, proximity to purchasers and product quality.

Seasonality

Subsequent to the construction of TGF's Belle Plaine Facility and the commencement of ethanol
production, TGF anticipates that its operating results will be increasingly influenced by seasonal Muctuations in
the price of its primary operating inputs, wheat and natural gas, and the price of its primary product, ethanol. In
recent ycars, the spot price of wheat tended to rise during the spring planting season in May and June and
tended to decrcase during the fall harvest in October and November. The price for natural gas is highly weather
dependent and is influenced by the summer hurricane scason and the winter heating season, In addition, TGF
anticipates that its ethanol prices will be substantially correlated with the price of unleaded gasoline (which is
itself substantially correlated with the price of crude oil), which tends to rise during each of the summer and
winter. TGF will seck to mitigate the cffects of these scasonal fluctuations by adopting an active hedging
program. See “— Hedging” above. As a result of seasonal fluctuations, TGF belicves that comparisons of
operating measures bebween consecutive quarters may not be as meaningful as comparisons between longer
reporting periods.

Properties

TGF owns the land on which it is building the Belle Plaine Facility and leases 1,514 square feet of head
office and administrative space. TGF has entered into the following leases of real property:

Laocation Square Feet Function Term
1570, 2002 Victoria Avenue .. ... .. 1,514 Head Office Five year term expiring on
Regina, Saskatchewan July 30, 2011
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Environment

TGF is or will become subject to vartous federal, provincial and local environmental laws and regulations,
including those relating to the discharge of materials into the air, water and ground; the generation, storage,
handling, use, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials; and the health and safety of its employees.
These laws and regulations require TGF to obtain and comply with numerous cnvironmental permits to
construct and opcrate its Belle Plaine Facility. These laws, regultations and permits can often require expensive
pollution controf equipment or operational changes to limit actual or potential impacts on the environment. A
violation of these laws. regulations or permit conditions can result in substantial fines, natural resource damage,
criminal sanctions, permit revocations and/or facility shutdowns. TGF does not anticipate a muterial adverse
cffect on its business or financial condition as a result of its cfforts to comply with these requirements. TGF also
doces not expect to incur material capital expenditures for environmental controls in this or the succecding fiscal
year. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to our Ethanal Business — Environmental, Health and Safety Laws,
Regulations and Liabilitics™.

Employees

As of November 30, 2006, TGF has engaged six consultants with specific expertise in the areas of
cngineering, construction, risk management, finance and environmental regulations. TGF may retain some of
these consultants as full time cmployees. TGF will need 1o recruit qualified individuals to operate and assist in
managing the Belle Plainc Facility. TGF is currently in discussions with several possible candidates who have
been targeted to assist in managing certain aspects of TGF’s business.

Upon commencement of plant operations, TGF expects to employ approximately 35 individuals at the Belle
Plaine Facility. TGF expects approximately 10 of these employees to be involved primarily in management and
administration and the remainder to be involved primarily in plant operations.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following management's discussion and analysis of Universal's and TGF's financial condition and results of
operations should be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and the
selected financial information included elsewhere in this prospectiss.

Universal is the entity that operates the retail electricity and natural gas business of the Company immediately
prior to the completion of the Offering. TGF is the entity that operates the ethanol business of the Company
immediately prior to the completion of the Offering. See “Funding, Acquisitions and Related Transactions’. This
discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Please see “Forward-Looking
Statemneris” for u discussion of the risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating 1o those statenments.

This discussion makes reference to certain non-GAAP measures, namely Operational Revenie and Operational
Margin, to assist in assessing Universal’s financial performance. Non-GAAP measures do not have standard
meanings prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by
other issuers.

For a reconciliation of Operational Revenue to revenue and Operational Margin 1o gross margin, see
“— Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Universal — Reconciliation of Operational Revenue and Operational
Margin”. For a discussion of Universal’s revenue recognition policies see “"Management’s Discussion and Analysis —
Universal — Critical Accounting Estimates”.

See also “"Non-GAAP Financial Measures®.

Selected Pro Forma Financial Information of the Company

The foilowing sclected pro forma financial information has been derived from the pro forma consolidated
financial statements of the Company set out elsewhere in this prospectus. This information should be read in
conjunction with the pro forma consolidated financial statcments of the Company for the vear ended
September 30, 2006, with the consolidated financial statements of Universal for the year ended September 30,
2006 and the period from incorporation on November 25, 2004 to September 30, 2003, and with the consolidated
financial statements of TGF for the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30. 2006,
together with the notes thereto, included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Pro Forma Year Ended
September 30, 2006

Statement of Operations Ilighlights

ReVENUE . . . e $ 58,292,123
Cost of Sales . ... e $ 35,844,559
Gross Margin ... .. § 22,447,564
Net Income (LOSSY. .o e $(59,637.642)
Balance Sheet Highlights

CUITEM ASSCES . . o L et e e e $101,595.379
Total ASSeS . . . o $210,186.657
Current Liabilities . . . . $ 32459027
Sharcholders” Equity . ... Lo o $115,513,115

For selected historical financial information for Universal and TGF, see “— Management’s Discussion and
Analysis — Universal - Selected Consolidated Financial and Operating Data” and “— Management’s
Discussion and Analysis — TGF — Selected Consolidated Financial Information™.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Universal

This management's discussion and analysis relutes to the consolidated financial statenients of Universal for the
year ended September 30, 2006 and the period from the date of incorporation, November 25, 2004 1o September 30,
2005 and has been prepared with information available up to and including December 20, 2006. The financial




statements of Universal are preparcd in accordance with GAAP, which requires estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amount of assets and labilities at the date of the financial statements and the amount of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates as a result of
various factors, including those discussed below and elsewhere in this prospectus, particularly under “Risk
Factors”. Certain totals, subtotals and percentages may not reconcile due to rounding.

Overview

Universal was incorporated in November 2004, The OEB issued Universal its Ontario Natural Gas Licence
in February 2005 and Universal began test marketing natural gas in Ontario in that month. The OEB issued
Universal its Ontario Electricity Licence in May 2005 and Universal began marketing electricity in Ontario in
September 2005. In December 2005, the Michigan Natural Gas Licence was issued to Universal U.S. by the
MPSC authorizing Universal U.S. to serve as an AGS in the State of Michigan. Universal began marketing
natural gas in Michigan in March 2006. The BCUC issucd Universal its BC Natural Gas Licence in
November 2(00)6.

Universal’s business currently involves (i) the sale of clectricity and natural gas in Omario to residential,
small 1o mid-sizc commercial and small industrial customers, and (i1) the sale of natural gas in Michigan to small
to mid-size commercial and small industrial customers. In addition, Universal intends to enter the British
Columbia residential, small to mid-size commercial and small industrial natural gas market in the first quarier of
2007, Universal is also considering expansion into the New York electricity and natural gas small to mid-size
commercial and smait industrial markets.

Universal’s customers purchase electricity and natural gas under long term. non-terminable (except in
limited circumstances) Energy Contracts, typically for a term of five years (see “Business of Universal — Key
Regulatory Provisions — Customer Contract Terminations™). By fixing the price of natural gas under Universal’s
Gas Contracts and by obtaining price protection under its Electricity Contracts for a period of five years,
Universal’s customers eliminate or reduce their exposure to changes in natural gas prices (which have been
volatile over the past several years) and electricity prices (which have increased in Ontario since April 2005).

It is Universal’s general policy to match the estimated energy requircments of its customers by purchasing,
in the casc of natural gas, offsetting volumes of natural gas and, in the case of electricity, entering into offsctting
Electricity Swaps with Sempra at fixed prices for the term of its customers’ Energy Contracts. Universal derives
its Operational Margin from the difference between the price it pays for Electricity Swaps and for natural gas
supply from Sempra and the price it charges its customers.

Universal’s first fiscal period ended September 30, 2005 was primarily focused on the development of
marketing and sales programs, agent recruitment, training processes and implementation of a sophisticaied
information system for customer care, agent payroll, contract processing and admimistration. In July 2005,
Universal commenced large-scale marketing of natural gas to Ontario customers followed with its clectricity
offering to Ontario customers in September 2005, With the electricity program successfully launched in Ontario,
Universal identificd the Michigan small to mid-sized commercial and small industrial natural gas market as its
next opportunity for expansion. Marketing commenced in Michigan in March 2006 with the first customers
receiving natural gas in May 2006,

As at November 3(), 2006, Universal had successfully enrolled customers representing 227,000 RCEs and
had an additional 1,604 RCEs pending enrollment (228,604 RCEs in aggregate).

Sources of Revenite

Universal carns its revenue primarily from the supply of clectricity and natural gas to dircet purchase
customers. Universal's policy is to purchase in advance an estimate of the commodity supply required for cach
marketing program (either through physical supply or financial contracts). When it becomes reasonably certain
that a marketing program will not exhaust the allotted commodity supply this commodity supply will generally be
transferred to other marketing programs,

Universal recognizes revenue for natural gas sales based on customer consumption. Natural gas
consumption by customers is typically highest in October through March and lowest in April through September.
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However, the natural gas delivered monthly by Universal to the LDCs in both Canada and the United States
remains constant throughou the year irrespective of customer consumption. As Universal receives payment
from the LDC when the natural gas is delivered, rather than consumed, this results in a reasonably predictable
Operational Margin, unaffected by monthly fluctuations in customer consumption. For electricity, which is
consumed by customers upon delivery, Universal recognizes revenue when the customer consumes the electricity
and as such Operational Margins are highest during January through March and July through September when
consumption is at its peak and lowest during April through June and October through September.

Selected Consolidated Financial and Operationat Data

The following selected historical financial information has been derived from the historical consolidated
financial statements of Universal set out elsewhere in this prospectus. This information should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of Universal for the year ended September 30, 2006 and
the period from incorporation on November 25, 2004 1o September 20, 2003, together with the notes thereto,
included clsewhere in this prospectus. The operating data has been prepared by management based on
Universal’s records.

November 25, 2004 to

Year ended Sceptember 30, 2006 September 30, 2005

Canada United States Consolidated Canada
Income Statement Data:
Gas Revenue .. ... ... ... L. 10,707,555 3,475,153 14,182,708 50,741
Electricity Revenue . . ... ... ... ... ... 44,109,415 § — 44,109 415 —
Total Revenue . . ... .................. $ 54816970 % 3475153 § 58,292,123 50,741
Gas Costof Sales . . . ...... ... ... ..... 9,386,729 2,405,053 11,791.782 57.508
Electricity Cost of Sales ... ........ . ... 24052777 — 24,052,777 —
Total Cost of Sales . . .. ... ... ...... ... $ 33439506 $ 2405053 § 35,844,559 $ 57,508
Gas Gross margin . . .................. 1,320,826 1,070,100 2,390,926 $ {6,767)
Electricity Gross margin ... . ........ ... 20,056,638  § — 20,056,638 —
Total Gross Margin .. ................ $ 21377464 % 1,070,100 § 22,447,564 § (6.767)
Customer acquisition costs . . ........... 14,400,558 2,437,883 16,838,441 074.535
General and adminiserative .. ... .. ... ... 7,845,891 337,840 8,183,731 1,396,911
Amortization of capital assets ... ... ... .. 2353519 —_ 235,519 36,476
Total Expenses . .. .. ................. $ 22,481,968 $ 2,775,723 § 25,257,691 $ 2,407,922
Loss before other income/(expense) ... . .. (1,104,504)  (1,705,623) (2,810,127) (2,414,689)
Gain on sale of gas supply contracts ... ... — — — 1,796,743
Loss on swap contracts®™ . . ... ... (88,141,459) —  (88,141,459) —
Future tax (recovery)loss ... ... . ...... {30,653,420) (596,826)  (31,250,246) (222,484)
Net Loss for the year/period . .. ... .. ... 3(58,592.543y $(1,108,797) $(39,701.340) 3 (395,462)
Balance Sheet Data:
Total Assets ... ... L $ 62,230,396 § 2,850,664
Total Liabilities . . .. ........ . ......... $ 97,327,489 § 3,245,126
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Navember 25, 2004 to

Year ended September M), 2006 September 30, 2005

Canada United States Consoliduted Canada
Selected Operational Data:
GAS
Gross margin % . .. ... ... L 12.34% 30.79% 16.86% - 13.34%
Gross margin per unit® oL L $ 005 8 3.7t
Gross margin per RCE .. ... ... ... ... 3 140.75 § 37100
Gas delivered® ... L 36,180,525 852,870
Gas consumed™ ... oL L 26,348,407 288,314
Overf(under) delivered™ . ... ... ... .. 9832118 564,556
ELECTRICITY
Grossmargin % ... ... ... ... 45.47% 45.47%
Gross margin per unit? ... oL $ 0.041
Gross marginper RCE .. ... ... ... ... 3 410.00
Electricity consumed —kWh . ... .. ... ... 488,474,693
RCEs™ ... . ... . .. 196,153 6,506
Notes:

(1) For additional information on the loss on swap contracts. see “— Results of Operations — Year Ended September 30, 2006 Compared
to the Period November 25, 2004 to September 361, 2005 — Other Operating Expenses/Gains”™ and *— Financial Instruments”.

(2) CGhross margin per unit is gross margin divided by the natural gas (expressed in m? for Canadian gross margins and Mcf for U.S. gross
muarging) or clectricity consemed.

(3) Nauturad gas volumes for Canada are expressed in m?, and natural gas volumes for United States are expressed in MCE

(4) RCEs have been prepared by management to indicate the growth in Universal's customer base from inception to September 2006. See
“General Disclosure Matters — Certain Information”,

Reconciliation of Operational Revenue and Operational Margin

Universal recognizes revenue based on customer consumption, but delivers natural gas, and is paid by the
LDCs on an equal monthly basis. In addition, Universal uses financial swaps to fix its operating margins in its
clectricity business. These swap payments are not included in cost of sales for accounting purposecs although
Universal treats them as such for business planning purposes. Accordingly, Universal uses the concepts of
“Operational Revenue” and “Operational Margin” to adjust for the differences between revenue recognition
and delivery/payment that exist in its natural gas business and for the effect of the financial swaps used in its
electricity business.

Operational Revenue and Operational Margin are not earnings measures recognized by GAAP and do not
have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP. Universal’s method of calculating Operational Revenue and
Operational Margin may differ from the methods used by other issuers and, accordingly, Universal’s
Operational Revenue and Operational Margin may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other
issuers. Tnvestors are cautioned that Operational Revenue and Operational Margin should not be construed as
alternatives to revenuc or gross margin determined in accordance with GAAP as indicators of Universal's
performance or to cush flows from operating activitics as measures of Universal’s liquidity and cash flows. The
Company believes that these are useful measures as they allow Universal to assess its ongoing business and are
indicators of Universal’s ability to invest in its businesses and continue operations. Universal calculates
Operational Revenue and Operational Margin as follows:

Operational Revenue. For natural gas, Operational Revenue is revenue adjusted upward by the dollar
amount of “gas delivered in excess of consumption” (natural gas that has been delivered by Universal to LDCs
in excess of customer consumption) and adjusted downward by the dollar amount of “gas under delivered”
(natural gas that has been consumed by Universal’s customers in excess of that delivered by Universal to the
LDCs). For electricity, Operational Revenue is revenue without adjustment.
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Operational Margin.  For natural gas, Operational Margin is gross margin adjusted upward for the excess
of “deferred revenue™ over “gas delivered in excess of consumption” or adjusted downward for the excess of
“unbilled revenues” over “gas under delivered™. For electricity, Operational Margin is gross margin adjusted
upward for “swap receipts” and downward for “swap payments”, which are not included in cost of sales for
accounting purposes.

Year ended September 30, 2006

Canly United States Consolidated
GAS — Operational Revenue and Margin:
Revenue . .. ... .. $ 10,707,555 % 3.475,153  § 14,182,708
Add: incremental revenue on gas over delivered®™ ... 4,097,186 6.834,248 10,931,434
Operational Revenue® . . .. ... .. ... ... ... ... .. ... ..... $ 14804741 $10.309.401 § 25,114,142
Gross margin . . ... ... ... e e $ 1,320,826 § 1,070,100 $ 2,390,926
Add: incremental margin on gas over delivered™ ... ... ..., 934,239 2347719 3,281,958
Operational Margin™ .. ... ... ... .. ... o $ 2,255,065 33417819 § 5,672,884
Operational Margin % .. ......... ... . ... ... .. . ... 15.23% 33.15% 22.59%
Operational Margin perunit™ ... ... .. .. . L. $ (L0623 $ 4.01
Operational Margin per RCE .. ... ... i $ 17537 401.00
ELECTRICITY — Operational Margin:
Revenue ... ... $ 44,109.415 §% —  § 44,109,415
Cost of sales .. ... . . . . . . 24,052,777 — 24 052,777
Cost of sales adjustment forswaps . ..................... 14,259,120 — 14,259,120
Operational gross margin'® .. ... . ... ... ... .. ... .. .... § 5,797,518 % — § 5797518
Operational Margin % . . ......... ... .. ... ... . ..... 13.14% 13.14%
Opcrational Margin per unic™ ... .. $ 0.012
Operational Marginper RCE . ... ... ... ... ... .. ..... 3 120.00
Notes:

(1} Sce Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial statememts of Universal included elsewhere in this prospectus.
(2) Operational Revenue and Operational Margin are non-GAAP measures. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures™.

(3) Operational Margin per unit for natural gas is natural gas Operational Margin divided by natural gas (expressed in m* for Canadian
Operational Margin and Mef for U.S. Operationul Marginy delivered. See “Non-GAAP Financial Mcasures™

(4) Operational Margin per unit for electricity is etectricity Operational Margin divided by electricity consumed. See “"Non-GAAP Financial
Measures”.

Results of Operations
Year ended September 30, 2006 compared to period November 25, 2004 to September 30, 2005
Revenue and Operational Margin — Canudua

For the year ended September 30, 2006 Canadian natural gas revenue was $10,707,333, accounting for
18.4% of total revenue on customer consumption of 26.3 million m* of natural gas. This resulted in a gross
margin of approximately 12.3% with a gross margin per unit of $0.05 per m* or $14{).75 per RCE. Operational
Revenue was $14,804,741 on delivered volume of 36.2 million m*. This resulted in an Operational Margin of
15.2% with an Operational Margin per unit of $0.062 or $175.37 per RCE. Since natural gas is delivered to the
LDCs in equal monthly amounts and natural gas consumption by Universal’s customers is lowest in the period
from April through September, Universal typically has a significant component of deferred revenues at its year
end as its customer base grows reflecting Universal’s natural gas deliveries to LDCs in excess of customer
consumption over the summer months, The prior period’s natural gas revenue was not significant enough to
provide any meaningful year over vear comparisons.
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Canadian electricity revenue over the past vear was 344,109,415, accounting for 75.7% of total revenue on
customer consumption of 488.5 million kWh. This resulted in a gross margin of approximately 45.5% with a per
unit gross margin of $0.041 per kWh or $410.00 per RCE. In accordance with GAAP, the gross margin does not
include swap payments totaling $14,259,120. The Operational Margin, which adjusts for swap payments, is
13.1% with a per unit Operational Margin of $0.012 per kWh or $120.00 per RCE. The electricity Operational
Margin was below Universal's target Operational Margin of $0.015 as various time-limited discounts were
offered to customers in their first year of usage. As Universal only commenced its electricity marketing in the
2006 fiscal year, Electricity Contracts with discounts represent a large proportion of all Electricity Contracts.
The discount will generally expire before the end of the first year of usage and the customer will then revert to
the full price for the remainder of the five-vear program and Universal’s Operational Margin on such contracts
will increase by the extent of the discount. No electricity revenue was earned in the prior period.

Revenue and Operational Margin — United States

U.S. natural gas revenuc for the year ended September 30, 2006 was $3,475,153, accounting for 6.0% of
total revenue on customer consumption of 288,314 Mcf of natural gas. This resulted in a gross margin of
approximately 30.8% with a per untt gross margin of $3.71 per Mef or $371.00 per RCE. Operational Revenue
was $1{1,309,401 based on delivered volume of 852,870 Mcf. This resulted in an Operational Margin of 33.15%
with an Operational Margin per unit of $4.01. The gross margins and Operational Margins were higher than
anticipated, as Universal U.S. was able to purchase natural gas for the period July to October 2006 at rclatively
low prices as a result of excess natural gas inventories existing in the market. Further, because Universal has only
been active as an Energy Retailer in Michigan since March 2006 the margins per RCE in Michigan were
annualized on this basis, From November 2006 onwards, it is expected that Operational Margins will revert back
to Operational Margins that are similar to those experienced in the Ontario natural gas segment, as the natural
gas purchase discount period comes to an end. No U.S. natural gas revenue was earned in the prior period. as
Universal U.S. was not active in the Michigan market until March 2006.

Revenue and Operational Margin — Consolidated

On a consolidated basis, total revenue for the vear ended Scptember 30, 2006 was $58,292,123 with a gross
margin of $22,447.564 or 38.5%. The Operational Margin, which adjusts gross margin downward for the
$14.259,120 loss on swap payments and upward for the expected margin on natural gas delivered in excess of
consumption of $3,281,958, amounted to $11,470,402 or 16.6%. During thc past year, Universal added
customers representing approximately 200,000 new RCEs to its enrelled customer base.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses — Consolidated

Customer acquisition costs, which arc primarily commissions paid to Independent Contractors for enrolling
new customers, are charged to income in the period in which the customer is contracted by Universal. These
costs amounted to $16,838.441 and increased significantly over the prior period’s amount of $974,5335 as
Universal accelerated its marketing and sales programs.

General and administrative expenses increased to $8,183,731 from the prior period’s amount of $1,396,911.
The increase in general and administrative expenses over the prior year was primarily driven by the additional
infrastructure required to support Universal’s rapid growth leading to the enrolment of customers representing
approximately 200,000 new RCEs. The significant components of general and administrative expenses are
processing charges (principally LDC processing and other third party processing and data entry fees) —
$2.172,300, salaries and benefits — $2,219.061, consulting (principally for management services and systems
development) — $1,221,850 and rent — $827.824, together totaling $6,441,035 or 78.7% of general and
administrative expenses.

Other Income/(Expense)

During the fiscal period ended September 30, 2005, as a result of rising natural gas spot prices, Universal
took the opportunity to realize greater profits by sclling into the spot market natural gas supply it had acquired
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for a future sales program. This resulted in a one time trading gain of $1,796,743. Therc were no such gains
recorded in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006,

The loss on swap contracts includes the payments made under swap contracts during the year of $14,259,120
plus the unrealized loss on the remaining notional volumes of the swap contracts of $73,882,339. This represents
the estimated amount that Universal would have to pay to dispose of these supply contracts in the market as at
September 30, 2006. See “— Financial Instruments”.

The future tax recovery represents a future tax benefit of $25.441,580 related to the unrealized portion of
the electricity swap loss plus o future tax benefit of $6,031,738 relating to remaining losses, which are expected to
reverse against future income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At Scptember 30, 2006 Universal had cash of 2,947,924 and together with other working capital items had
net working capital of $5,793,299, excluding future taxes and the current portion of the unrealized loss on swaps.
Universal currently has no long-term debt. As the number of customers moving from an enrolled to flowing state
increases, Universal will start to receive larger amounts of cash from the underlying margins on these contracts.
The Opcrational Margins that Universal has secured over the next five-year period are expected to exceed the
projected selling and administrative costs and are expected to generate pretax profits. On completion of the
Oftering, Universal will have no long-term debt and will have a working capital position estimated to be in excess
of $5 million.

Cash Provided by Operations

Cash uscd in operations in fiscal 2006 amounted to $19,439,785 up significantly from $790,067 in fiscal 2005.
This was primarily due to upfront customer acquisition costs as Universal rapidly accumulated customers over
the past year. In addition to the effect that scasonality has on cash flows, the lug between customer flow and
actual cash receipts from customer billings create a delay in the conversion of accounts receivable to cash. This
accounts receivable conversion delay, which increased from the prior period by $16,913,618, can range from two
to four months after the month in which the customer commences flow and creates a demand for other sources
of financing. The natural gas delivered in excess of consumption, which is shown as an asset on the balance
sheet, is funded by payments received from the LDCs upon delivery of such natural gas, which arc reflected as a
liability on the balance sheet as deferred revenues.

Cash used in investing activities

Universal purchased capital assets totaling $1,438,584, up significantly from $352,240 in fiscal 2005. The
purchases were for information technology systems and for furniture and leascholds for its new call centre to
support its expanding customer basc.

Financing activities

To date, Universal has financed its activities by drawing down on a trade financing facility from its exclusive
commodity supplier, of which $2,515452 was outstanding at September 30, 2006, loans received from
shareholders and the issuance of Universal Shares. Shareholder loans in the amount of $2,842,941 were
converted o class C shares during the year ended September 30, 2006.

Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liabilities of $73,882.339 (current portion — $12,050.535) is the estimated amount that Universal
would pay to dispose of its supply contracts in the market as at September 30, 2006. These liabilities are marked
to market and any changes to the fair value are recorded in other incomef(cxpense). Sce “— Financial
Instruments™ for further details.
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Contractual obligations

In the normal course of business, Universal is obligated to make future payments under various
non-cancellable contracts and other commitments. The payments due by period are set out in the following

table.
Contractual Obligations ‘Total Less than | year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years
Premises under lease ... ... ... .. 3,732,373 — 2,224,603 1,507,774} e

Natural gas supply purchase

commitments .. .............. 345,012,938

242,785,445 102,227,513
245,010,048 103,735,283

(A
(NI

348,745,331

For 4 description of Universal's obligations under electricity swap contracts see “~— Financial Instruments”™,

Transactions with Related Parties

During the year Universal entered into various transactions with related parties as follows:

(a) Scmpra

Universal has entered into the following agreements with Sempra, a significant shareholder of
the company:

(i)

(ii)

Commodity trade financing

Sempra provides commodity trade financing to Universal. The commodity trade financing includes
a facility of $5,000,000 for amounts deemed due for payment, which bears interest at LIBOR plus
2%. Intercst paid during the ycar amounted to $91,903 (2005 — Nil). Included in the amount
outstanding at Scptember 30, 2006 of $5,779,353 is the amount due for payment under the facility
of §2,515,452 (2005 — Nil). This trade facility will terminate at Closing.

Gas purchasc agreement

Universal entered into the Gas Purchase Agreement with Sempra on July 14, 2005, Pursuant to
the Gas Purchase Agreement, Universal engaged Sempra to act as Universal’s exclusive supplicr
of natural gas, subject to certain limited circumstances.

Universal’s obligations to Sempra under the Gas Purchase Agreement are secured by the grant of
a first priority security interest on substantially all of Universal's current and future assets,
including all cash and cash equivalents, all accounts receivable and all deposit accounts. In
addition, ail payments received by Universal from its customers and the LDCs are paid to a
specified lockbox or by wire transfer to specified blocked Universal accounts under the control of
Sempra, from which amounts are first paid to Sempra in satisfaction of payments due to Sempra
under the Gas Purchase Agreement, and all excess amounts are then paid to Universal.

If Sempra defaults in its obligations to deliver natural gas to Universal, or if Universal defaults in
its obligation to accept dclivery of natural gas, subject to force majeurc, the Gas Purchase
Agreement contains provisions requiring the payment of various amounts by the non-performing
party 10 the performing party.

During the year, Universal made natural gas purchases under the agreement totaling $18,893,613
(2005 — $230,852). Included in accounts payable at September 30, 2006 is $2,140,667 (2005 —
£184,882).

It is anticipated that in connection with the Closing of the Offering and the Acquisitions, the Gas
Purchase Agreement will be amended. See “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of
Universal — Amended Gas Purchase Agreement”.
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{iit) Electricity swap agreement

Universal cntered inlo the Electricity Swap Agreement with Sempra on July 14, 2005, Pursuant (o
the Electricity Swap Agrcement, Universal engaged Sempra 1o act as Universal’s exclusive
supplicr of Electricity Swaps.

Universal’s obligations to Sempra under the Electricity Swap Agreement are secured by the grant
of a first priority security interest on substantially all of Universal’s current and future assets,
including all cash and cash equivalents, all accounts receivable and all deposit accounts. In
addition, all payments received by Universal from its customers and the LDCs are paid 0 a
specified lockbox or by wire transfer to specified blocked Universal accounts under the control of
Sempra, from which amounts are first paid 10 Sempra in satisfaction of payments due to Sempra
under the Electricity Swap Agreement, and all excess amounts are then paid to Universal.

Upon the occurrence of a contract termination event, the non-defaulting party has the right to
immediately, for so long as the contract termination event is continuing: (a) suspend its
performance under Eleetricity Swaps then outstanding; or (b) liquidate and terminate the
Electricity Swaps then outstanding and accelerate the payment of any amounts due. Upon any
such liquidation and termination, the non-defauiting party must calculate a net settlement amount
in accordance with the formula contained in the Electricity Swap Agreement. The party with the
net settlement amount payment obligation must pay such amount to the other party within one
business day of receipt from the non-defaulting party of notice of such caleulation.

During the year, Universal made clectricity swap payments under the agreement totaling
$17,886.958 (2005 — Nil),

It is anticipated that in connection with the Closing of the Offering and the Acquisitions,
the Electricity Swap Agreement will be amended. See “Principal Agreements — Principal
Agreements of Universul — Amended Electricity Swap Agreement”.

(b) During the year, Universal paid $71.404 (2005 — $399,714) to UEC Marketing Lid., which is
controlled by certain sharcholder-distributors, to offset branch opening and operating costs. Universal
has loaned monics to UEC Marketing Lid., which are included in accounts receivable at September 30,
2006 for an amount owing of $279.919 (2005 — $184.919). This amount was repaid subscquent
to ycar-end.

(¢} During the year, Universal paid $258,000 (2005 — Nil) for dircet mail marketing services to Market

Connections Inc. in which certain sharcholders hold an equity interest. Included in accounts payable at
September 31, 2006 is an amount owing of $10,326 (2005 — Nil).

(d) During the year, Universal paid $5,047,000 (2005 — $466,000) to shareholder-distributors for
commissions and marketing fees, which are included in customier acquisition costs.

(e) During the ycar, Universal leased office space under a sub-lcase arrangement with a company
controlled by a shareholder of Universal and made payments for rent totaling $139,109 (2005 —
$34,760).

(f) During the year, Universal purchased computer software from a company controlled by an officer of
Universal. Included in accounts payable at September 30, 2006 is an amount owing of $150,000
(2005 — Nil).

(g) During fiscal 2005 sharcholders advanced non-interest bearing loans to Universal. These loans were
converted into class C shares during fiscal 2006,

These transactions were conductied by Universal in the normal course of business on terms and raies similar
to transactions negotiated with arm’s length partics.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management of Universal to
make cstimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilitics and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilitics as at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during the
reporting period. These estimates are based on assumptions and judgments that may be affected by commercial,
cconomic and other factors. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The following assessment of critical
accounting cstimates is nol meant to be exhaustive.

Electricity revenue recognition

Based on a customer’s historical usage and other parameters, Universal estimates the customer’s current
monthly electricity consumption using a computer driven model for the purpose of recognizing revenue and for
assessing supply commitments. The estimates are adjusted monthly to reflect actual consumption which is
generally available within three months. If this estimate of consumption is not reliable Universal could overstate
or understate its electricily revenue,

Universal’s estimate of its customers’ current monthly electricity consumption is used to determine
electricity revenue, which is disclosed on Universal’s consolidated statement of operations as “Revenue —
Electricity”. The estimate is also used to determine Universal’s cost of sales, which is disclosed on Universal’s
consolidated statement of operations as “Cost of Sales — Electricity”. The net amount of electricity revenue less
the cost of sales is recorded on Universal's consolidated balance sheet as “Current Assets — Accounts
Receivable”.

This accounting estimate was first implemented for the year ended September 30. 2006.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

Universal enters into contracts with customers to provide electricity at fixed prices. These contracts expose
Universal to changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reduce the exposure to the commodity
market price changes, Universal uses derivative financial contracts to secure fixed prices in respect of commodity
supply matching its delivery obligations. Universal will hedge the estimated consumption requirements of its
customers with offsetting volumes of electricity at fixed prices for terms equal to those of the customer contracts.
The value of clectricity contracts requires judgment and is based on market prices or management’s best
estimates if there is no market and/or if the market is illiquid,

The fair value of derivative financial instruments (which is currently limited to Electricity Swaps) is
significantly influenced by the variability of forward spot prices for electricity. Period to period changes in
forward spot prices for electricity could cause significant changes in the marked-to-market valuation (“MTM
valuation™) of these derivatives. For example, assuming that all other variables remain constant: {i) a 1%
increase in forward spot prices for electricity would result in a decrease in the MTM valuation at September 30,
2006 from $73.9 miilion to $71.1 million, representing a decrease of $2.8 million or 3.8%, and a 1% decrease in
forward spot prices for electricity would result in an increase in the MTM valuation at September 30, 2006 from
$73.9 million 1o $76.6 million, representing an increase of $2.8 million or 3.8%; and (ii) a 5% increase in forward
spot prices for electricity would result in a decrease in the MTM valuation at September 30, 2006 from
$73.9 million to $60.3 million, representing a decrease of $13.6 million or 18.4%, and a 5% decrease in forward
spot prices for electricity would result in an increase in the MTM valuation at September 30, 2006 from
$73.9 million to $87.5 million, representing an increase of $13.6 million or 18.4%.

This accounting estimate was first implemented for the year ended September 30, 2006.

Changes in accounting policies and recent accounting pronouncemernts
Universal has not had any changes in accounting policics.

On January 27, 2005, the CICA issued new accounting standards including: Handbook Section 1530,
“Comprehensive Income”, Handbook Section 3855, “'Financial Instruments -— Recognition and Mcasurement”,




and Handbook Section 3863, “Hedges”. These standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
October 1, 2006. The impact of implementing these new standards is discussed below,

Other Comprehensive Income

As a result of adopting these standards, a new category, Other Comprehensive Income, will be added to
sharcholders’ cquity on the consolidated balance sheet. Major components for this category will include
unrealized gains and losses on financial assets classified as available-for-sale, unrealized forcign currency
translation amounts, net of hedging, arising from self-sustaining foreign operations, and changes in the fair value
of the cffective portion of cash flow hedging instruments. The impact of implementing this new standard will be
that Universal will have to record unrealized foreign currency translation amounts from Universal U.S. in
“Other Comprchensive Income”.

Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement

Under the new standards, all financial instruments will be classified as one of the following:
held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, hetd-for-trading or available-for-sale. Financial assets and liabilities
held-for-trading will be measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in net income. Financial
assets held-to-maturity, Joans and receivables and financial liabilities other than those held-for-trading, will be
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Available-for-sale instruments will be measured
at fair value with unrcalized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income. The standard also
permits designation of any financial instrument as held-for-trading upon initial recognition.

The impact on Universal’s operations of implementing the new standard has been assessed and where
necessary appropriate documentation has been developed to meet the requirements of the new Handbook
Section, In addition. estimates have been prepared to allow Universal to assess the impact of the new standard
on its consolidated financial statements. With respect to natural gas purchases, Universal has analyzed its natural
gas supply purchase contracts and has put appropriate documentation in place to evidence the designation of
such contracts as normal purchase/sale contracts. As a result, there are no changes required to Universal’s
consolidated financial statements with respect to the accounting for natural gas purchases. With respect to
Electricity Swaps, Universal computes the marked-to-market exposure of all unexpired Electricity Swaps on a
monthly basis and has recorded its marked-to-market exposure for the year ended September 30, 2006 in its
consolidated financial statements. Therefore, the impact of the new standard on the accounting trealment of
Universal’s Elcctricity Swaps has already been included in Universal’s consolidated financial statements
contained in the Preliminary Prospectus.

Hedges

This new standard specifies the criteria under which hedge accounting can be applied and how hedge
accounting can be executed for each of the permitted hedging strategies: fair value hedges, cash flow hedges and
hedges of a foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a self-sustaining foreign operation. In a fair value
hedging relationship. the carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted by gains or losses attributable to the
hedged risk and recognized in net income. This change in fair value of the hedged item, to the extent that the
hedging relationship is effective, is offset by changes in the fair value of the derivative. In a cash flow hedging
relationship, the effective portion of the change in the fair value of the hedging derivative will be recognized in
other comprehensive income, The ineffective portion will be recognized in net income. The amounts recognized
in other comprehensive income will be reclassified to net income in the periods in which net income is affected
by the variability in the cash flows of the hedged item. In hedging a foreign currency exposure of a net
investment in a self-sustaining foreign operation, foreign exchange gains and losses on the hedging instruments
will be recognized in other comprehensive income. The impact of implementing this new standard is discussed
above under “Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement”,

Financial Instruments

Universal has entered into Electricity Contracts with customers to provide electricity at fixed prices. The
Electricity Contracts expose Universal to changes in market prices of electricity and consumption as Universal is
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obligated to the electricity 1LDC at the floating rate paid by the LDC for the electricity consumed by its
customers. To reduce its exposure to movements in commodity prices arising from the acquisition of electricity at
floating or indexed rates, Universal uses clectricity derivative financial contracts (“electricity derivative
contracts”). These electricity derivative contracts are fixed-for-floating swaps whereby Universal agrees with a
counterparty (currently Sempra) to cash settle the difference between the floating or indexed price and the fixed
price on a notional quantity of electricity for a specified time frame. The cash flow from these contracis is
expected to be effective in offsetting Universal's electricity price exposure and serves to [ix Universal's
acquisition cost of electricity to be delivered under the fixed price customer Electricity Contracts.

These electricity derivative contricts have been accounted for in the financial statements in accordance with
Emerging Issue Committee 128 — Accounting for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging Derivative Financial
Instruments. Unrealized and realized changes in the fair value of the clectricity swaps, generally referred to as
mark to market gains/(losscs), have been recognized as other income/expense in the Consolidated Statement
of Operations.

The [air value of derivative financial instruments is the estimated amount that Universal would pay or
receive Lo disposce of these supply contracts in the market in the unlikely event that Universal was required to
dispose of its electricity swap contracts. Universal has estimated the value of electricity swap contracts using a
discounted cash flow method which employs market forward price curves.

At September 30, 2006, Universal had electricity fixed-for-floating swap contracts in Ontario designated as
hedges of Universal's anticipated cost of sales to which it has committed with the following terms:

Notional volumes . ................. 2.0 10 40.0 MW/h

Total remaining notional volume . ... . .. 5,037,593 MWh

Maturity dates .. ... .. ... ... QOctober 31, 2006 to December 31, 2011
Fixed price per MWh (in dollars) .. .. .. $65.85 to 386.69

Fairvalue . ... ... ... .. .. .. ..., ... $73.882,339 unfavorable

Notional value .. .................. $377.780,000

Gas Contracts are not considered derivative financial instruments.

Risks and uncertainties

See “Risk Factors” for a description of key risks and uncertaintics,

Outlook

On the Closing of the Offering and pursuant to the Acquisitions, the Company will purchase all of the
issued and outstanding Universal Shares. There will be no operational changes to Universal’s business in
connection with the transactions relating te the Offering or the Acquisitions. On completion of the Offering,
Universul will have no long-term debt and working capital estimated to be in excess of $20 million.

The Opecrational Margins which Universal has secured with existing customers over the next five-year
period are expected to exceed its projected sclling and administrative costs and to generate pretax prolits.
Operational Margins are substantially fixed based on the contracted price in the Energy Contracts against the
price payable under the natural gas supply and Electricity Swaps arranged by Universal. Universal must manage
natural gas balancing arising from the difference between its hedged supply and actual usage and clectricity
usage in excess of the amounts that it balances under the Electricity Contracts. Further, it must manage
customer attrition to allow it to maintain average Operational Margin per RCE. Management believes that
balancing and attrition can be managed so as not to materially affect Operational Margin per RCE.
Furthermore, through marketing programs Universal expects to add new customers and accordingly increase its
revenues and aggregate Operational Margins. Universal expects that the funding requirements relisted to new
growth including planned cxpansion into new markets will be funded by cash flow from operations and working
capital.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis — TGF

This management’s discussion and analysis relates to the consolidared financial statements of TGF for the
period from the date of incorporation on April 25, 2006 10 Scptember 30, 2006, and has been prepared with
information available up to and including December 20, 2006. The financial statements of TGF are prepared in
accordance with GAAP, which require estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilitics at the date of the financial statements and the amount of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates as a result of various factors, including those discussed
below and clsewhere in this prospectus, particularly under “Risk Factors”. Certain totals, subtotals and
percentages may not reconcile due to rounding.

Overview

TGF was incorporated under the CBCA on April 25, 2006. Through its substdiary, TGF Opco, TGF is
constructing the Belle Plaine Facility in the Rural Municipality of Pense No. 160, near Belle Plaine,
Saskatchewan. The Belle Plaine Facility is designed to produce approximately {50 million litres of ethanol
annually along with approximately 163,150 tonnes of dried distillers grain., Ethanol is a clean burning, renewable
fuel made from agricultural products such as wheat or corn. Distillers grains are a co-product of wheat and corn
based ethanol that are used as animal feed. Construction of the Belle Plaine Facility is scheduled to be
completed by the end of 2007. TGF intends to sell ethanol to gasoline producers and marketers throughout
Canada and the United States, primarily as a gasoline additive. TGF also intends to sell distillers grains to the
livestock industry throughout western Canada and the Pacific Northwest. Distribution of the cthanol and
distillers grains will primarily be by both rail and truck. The Belle Plaine Facility will require approximately
400,000 metric tonnes of wheat per vear in order to produce to its nameplate capacity of 130 million litres of
ethanol per year. TGF plans to secure the required wheat through the supply and logistics agency agreement
with SWP as well as by contracting to purchase grain directly from local producers.

Selected Consolidated Financial Information

The following selected consolidated financial information has been derived from the historical consolidated
financial statements of TGF sct out elsewhere in this prospectus. This information should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements of TGF for the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to
September 30, 2006, together with the notes thereto, included clsewhere in this prospectus.

April 25, 2000 10
September 30, 2006

Interest ImCOME . . . . .o e $ 338,676
Net Earnings . .. ... 3,961
Total ASSelS . . e 39,498,715
Sharcholders’ Equity . .. .. ... ... . . ... . ... . . ... 33,541,809

Results of Operations

Active production operations have not commenced as TGF is in the construction phase. Construction began
in September 2006 and operations are scheduled to commence in December of 2007, Total construction costs
incurred 1o September 30, 2006 are $6,540,338 net of investment tax credits.

For the period from the date of incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006, TGF realized net
income of $3,961. TGF earned $358,676 of interest on short term investments and incurred expenses of
$352,612. These expenses relate primarily to professional fees and other administration costs not directly
attributable to the development and construction of the Belle Plaine Facility. Prior to completion, revenues, if
any, generated by TGF will be used o offset construction and development costs.

Liguidity and Capital Resources
Liguidity

At Scptember 30, 2006, TGF had cash and cash equivalents of $29.963,645, which was provided by
subscriptions for sharc capital, less amounts expended on construction and operating costs. Included in cash is
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restricted cash of 35,000,000 as provided for in the TGF Credit Facility deseribed under *Principal
Agreements — Principal Agreements of TGF —TGF Credit Facility”. This amount is to be held for cost
overruns related to construction of the Belle Plaine Facility and debt servicing shortfalls. Upon the issuance of a
certificate of substantial performance related to the Belle Plaine Facility, the restriction will be reduced to
$3,000,000 for debt servicing requirements.

Capital Resources

TGF is committed to the construction of the Belle Plaine Facility at an estimated cost of $141,900,600
including working capital requirements. The majority of these costs will be incurred in the construction of the
Belle Plaine Facility, being approximately $126.100,000 (after provincial investment tax credits) in accordance
with the EPC Contract. The remaining approximately $135,800,000 will be used for associated construction and
development costs and working capital as described under “Business of TGF — Design and Construction —
Design and Construction Cost Estimate™.

Expected source of funds is as follows: (i) $55,000,000 will be in the form of equity, of which TGF has raised
$44.393.245 and will raise the balance from proceeds of the exercise of the outstanding TGF Warrants of
$5,057,600 and additional committed TGF Opco share subscriptions of $5,549,155, each of which arc contingent
on the Closing of the Offering; (ii) $50,000,000 from the TGF Credit Facility; and (iii) $40,000,000 from the
issuance of TGF Debentures pursuant to the TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement. See ‘“‘Principal
Agreements — Principal Agreements of TGF — TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement”.

Contractual Obligations
TGF has entered into the following contractual arrangements:

(a) On Scptember 29, 2006, TGF cntered inte the EPC Contract with the Contractor to perform and
complete all design, engincering, procurement, construction and commissioning work in connection
with the development of the Belle Plaine Facility for a sum of $129,800,000 (the “Contract Price”),
excluding GST but before provincial investment tax credits of approximately $6.63 million. Except as
expressly set oul in the EPC Contract, any and all expenscs incurred by the Contractor related to the
construction of the Belle Plaine Facility in excess of the Contract Price are the responsibility of the
Contractor. Additionally, the Contractor has guaranteed to TGF that the Belle Plaine Facility will be
designed and constructed by the Contractor to meet or cxceed certain performance guarantees sct out
in the EPC Contract. TGF is obligated to pay the Contract Price by progress payments as the work
progresses. Sce “Business of TGF — Design und Construction™ for more detailed information
regarding the EPC Contract and the total costs to develop the Belle Plaine Facility which are estimated
at $141,900,000.

{b) TGF has entered into operating lcase arrangements for office spacc for a five year term expiring
July 30, 2011 with payment obligations as set forth below:

As of Sept. 30, 2006 Total Less than 1 year  1-3 years  4-5 years
Operating Lease . ... ... ... ... ... ......... $60,990 $11,770 $25.680 $23,540

(¢} TGF has entered into a term sheet for the TGF Credit Facility for up to $50,000,000 with a syndicate of
Canadian lenders. The term of the facility is the construction period (up to 16 months) plus a term of
up to five years starting the earlier of (i} the date on which a centificate of substantial performance is
issued by TGF and the Contractor or (ii) six months from last drawdown (the “Term Conversion
Date”). Interest only will be charged on the loan during the construction period until the Term
Conversion Date. Blended monthly principal and interest payments will be made thereafter sufficient
lo amortize the loan over 1} years. Interest rates are prime plus 2% during the construction period and
prime plus 1% after construction. TGF has the right to convert to a fixed rate.

(d) TGF has also entered into the TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement with a number of private parties
providing for the issue of up to $40,000,000 aggregate principal amount of TGF Debentures. The
interest rate is 10.5% per annum, compounded annually and payable quarterly. Interest is 10 be paid
quarterly over the first ycar and quarterly principal and interest payments made beginning on
completion of the Belle Plaine Facility in the amount of $24.99 per $1,000 of principal advanced with a
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lump sum payment of all outstanding amounts payable 6t months after the date of the initial advance.
No TGF Debentures were issued as of September 30, 2006,

(¢} TGF has entered into the Licence Agreement with Delta T for a price of approximately $2,900,000 for
the right to use in perpetuity its technology for the purpose of construction, operation, enhancement
and optimization of the Belle Plaine Facility. The license fee is in addition to the $129,800.000 Contract
Price under the EPC Contract.

(f) Subscquent o September 30, 2006, TGF entered into a nuniber of contracts with various growers (the
“Proaduction Contracts™) to purchase wheat at fixed prices. The Production Contracts arce for one or two
vear periods and provide the grower with the option to extend the Production Contract for a further
one year term upon proper written notice. Total commitments under these production contracts to
December 201 2006 arc:

Contract Term Quantity Contract Price
Calendar 2008 . . . .. . 51,200 metric tonnes  $6,912,000
Calendar 2009 . . . .. .. 21,600 metric tonnes  $2.916,000

The Production Contracts also provide the growers with a cash advance option whereby Conexus
Credit Union (“Cenexus”) will make cash advances to the grower. On direction by the grower, TGF
will repay the cash advances to Conexus upon delivery of wheat to TGF by the grower. Should the
grower fail to deliver the wheat as specified in the Production Contract, TGF has guaranteed the
payment of any outstanding cash advances plus interest to Conexus. To December 20, 2006, total cash
advances under these Production Contracts are $743,350.

(g) On December 5, 2006, TGF entered into the Grain Supply Agreement with SWP for assistance in the
procurement and delivery of grain. The Grain Supply Agreement provides that TGF will pay a fee for
grain sourced under the Grain Supply Agreement. The Grain Supply Agreement is for a one year term
commencing on August 1, 2007 and provides for automatic one year renewal periods unless either
party gives proper wrilten notice to terminate the Grain Supply Agrcement.

Off Balunce Sheet Arrangements

TGF has no off balance sheet arrangements as of September 36}, 2006.

Financial Instruments and other Instruments

TGF’s financial instruments consist of cash, GST recoverable, investment tax credit receivable and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities. Due 10 the short term maturities associated with these items, their fair value
approximales their carrying value,

Transactions with Related Parties

During the period, TGF made the following aggregute payments to companies and entities related to
certain shareholders:

General and administrative @XpenSes. . . . . . ..ottt it e 5 39,000
Belle Plaine Facility under development . ... .. ... $6.918,074
Financing fees and share (SSUance COSIS . . . .. . . . i s $ 297,000

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount of
consideration established and agreed to by the related partics. The Belle Plaine Fucility development costs
reflect amounts paid to September 30, 2006 to certain minority shareholders of TGF (or affiliates of said
sharcholders), including $6,379,247 paid to the Contractor under the EPC Contract and $500,046 paid to the
Contractor under a pre-development agreement that preceded the EPC Contract {certain sharcholders of
EllisDon and VCM are minority sharcholders of TGF).
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management of TGF to make
estimates that affect the reported amounts of asscts and liabilitics and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilitics as at the date of the financial statements and the reported wmounts of revenue and expense during the
reporting period. These are based on assumptions and judgments that may be affected by commercial, economic
and other factors, Actual results could differ from those estimates. As adjustments become necessary, they are
reported in income in the period in which they become known. There have been no significant estimates except
for amortizanion policies as sei out in Note 1 10 TGF’s financial statements included elsewhere herein.

Risks and Uncertainties

Sec “Risk Factors — Risks Related to our Ethanol Business” for a description of key risks and uncertaintics
affecting TGF’s business and operations.

Outlook

TGF entered into a letter agreement with the Contractor on September 12, 2(H16 and entered into the EPC
Contract with the Contractor on Scptember 29, 2006. Construction of the Belle Plaine Facility commenced on
September 16, 2006. The Contractor combines the capabilitics of EllisDon and its affiliate EllisDon
Corporation, one of Canada’s largest construction companies, with the local engineering and construction
expertisc of the Saskatoon based VCM. TGF and the Contractor have agreed 1o a detailed and time sensitive
milestone schedule and TGF will continue to closcly monitor construction. Among other things, TGF meets
weekly with the Contractor to gauge progress and address issues as they arise. TGF has assembled a tcam of
consultants who are experts in engineering and construction, commodity trading and risk management, as well as
various facets of the agricultural industry.

Management of TGF believes that the North American ethanol market presents it with significant growth
polential and that TGF will be well positioned to 1ake advantage of future opportunities. The Belle Plaine
Facility is strategically located near abundant wheat supplies and has excellent access 1o utilities and rail and
truck transportation routes,

FUNDING, ACQUISITIONS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
In connection with the Closing, the following transactions will take place:
(a) The Amalgamation of TGF and TGF Opco to form TGF Amalco will oceur.
(b} TGF Amalco will amend its articles to create the TGF New Amalco Shares.

{c) Sempra will subscribe for 1,109,831 TGF Amalco Shares at a price of $5.00 per share for an aggregate
subscription pricc of $5,549,155.

(d) The TGF Debentureholders will exercise their TGF Warrants to acquire 983,111 TGF Amalco Shares
at an exercise price of $4.50 per share and 126,720 TGF Amalco Shares at an exercise price of $5.00
per share, for an aggregate exercise price of $5,057,600,

(¢} TGF Amalco will compicte the TGF Capital Reorganization pursuant to which the TGF Amalco
Shares will be exchanged for TGF New Amalco Shares and $31,450,000 principal amount of
TGF Notes.

(f) The Company will purchase all of the issued and cutstanding TGF New Amalco Shares and TGF
Notes from the TGF Existing Securityholders. As consideration for the acquisition of the TGF
New Amalco Shares and TGF Notes, the Company will ultimately pay to the TGF Existing
Securityholders an aggregate of 831,450,000 in cash and will issue to the TGF Existing Securityholders
an aggregate of §,469.091 Common Sharcs ($37, 825,002 in cash and 7.889,545 Common Shares if the
Over-Allotment Option is cxercised in full).

(g) The Company will purchase all of the issued and outstanding Universal Shares from the Universal
Existing Sharcholders. As consideration for the acquisition of the Universal Shares, the Company will
ultimately pay 10 the Universal Existing Sharcholders an aggregate of $61,050,000 in cash and will issue
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10 the Universal Existing Sharcholders an aggregate of 16,439,999 Common Shares ($73.425,004 in
cash and 15,314,999 Common Shares if the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full).

Acquisition Agreements

The Company, the Existing Shareholders, Universal and T'GF will enter into the Acquisition Agreements
on or prior to Closing. On the Closing Date, the Company will acquirc the Purchased Securities and Universal
and TGF Amalco will become wholly-owned subsidiarics of the Company pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the Acquisition Agreements.

Consideration

On the Closing Date, (i) the aggregate consideration payablc by the Company to the Universal Existing
Shareholders for the Universal Shares will consist of 15,314,999 Common Shares and $61,050,000 in cash, and
(ii) the aggregate consideration payable by the Company to the TGF Existing Sccurityholders for the TGF New
Amalco Sharcs and the TGF Notes will consist of 7,889,545 Common Shares and $31,450,000 in cash. In
addition, a further $12,375,004 will be payable to the Universal Existing Shareholders and a further $6,375,002
will be payable to the TGF Existing Securityholders within 30 days following Closing. Such amounts are payable
in cash or Common Shares (to be issued at the Offering Price) at the option of the Company. To the extent the
Over-Allotment Option is exercised, such amounts will be paid in cash. Such amounts will otherwise be satisfied
by the issuance of Common Shares (to a maximum of 1,704,546 Common Shares). Accordingly, if the
Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the aggregate consideration payable to the Universal Existing
Shareholders and the TGF Existing Securityholders will consist of 23,204,544 Common Shares and $111,250,006
in cash and if the Over-Allotment Option is not exercised, the aggregate consideration payable to the Universal
Existing Sharcholders and the TGF Existing Securityholders will consist of 24,909,090 Common Shares and
$92.500,000 in cash.

The acquisition of the Purchased Securities by the Company will be effected on a partially tax-deferred
basis under the fncome Tax Act (Canada). Accordingly, the Company's cost for tax purposes of the Purchased
Sccurities will be less than the aggregate purchase price for the Purchased Securitics paid to the Existing
Shareholders pursuant to the Acquisition Agrecments.

Conditions

The completion of the Acquisitions is subject to customary conditions, including: (i) the Offering having
been completed; (ii) certain required consents, waivers and releases having been obtained; and (iii) there being
no legal impediment to the Acquisitions.

Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Indemnities

The Acquisition Agreements will contain customary representations and warranties and related indemnities
from the Existing Shareholders in favour of the Company, including several representations and warranties
concerning the Purchased Securitics and the Existing Sharcholders. The Acquisition Agreements will also
contain customary representations and warranties and related indemnities from Universal, TGF and certain of
the Existing Sharcholders in favour of the Company, including scveral representations and warranties
concerning Universal and TGF, and several representations and warrantics from certain of the Existing
Sharcholders holding 38% of the Purchased Sccuritics that this prospectus contains full, true and plain
disclosure of all material facts relating to the Company, Universal, TGF and the Common Shares, and does not
contain any “misrepresentation” {as that term is defined in the Securities Act (Ontario)).

The total maximum liability of each Existing Sharcholder under the Acquisition Agrcements in respect of
an unirue representation or warranty will be limited, without duplication, to the aggregate net after tax proceeds
received by such Existing Sharcholder from the sate of its Purchased Sccuritics (including any Common Shares
reccived by such Existing Shareholder, but in such case recourse will be limited to the period of time that such
Common Shares remain in escrow pursuant to the Escrow Agreement).

All claims under the representations, warranties and indemnities against the Existing Shareholders under
the Acquisition Agreements will be subject 1o an aggregate deductible of $300,000 and thereafter cach set of
related claims must reach an aggregate threshold of $100,000 (other than in respect of the ownership of the
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Purchased Securitics and in certain cases in respect of the representation and warranty of certain Existing
Shareholders that this prospectus does not contain a musrepresentation, which will not be subject 10 any
deductible).

The majority of these representations and warrantics will survive the Closing for a period of two years,
except for: (i) certain limited representations and warrantics (including ownership of the Purchased Securities),
which will survive indefinitely; (ii} representations and warranties relating 1o taxation matters, which will survive
the Closing for the duration of the applicable reassessment and appeal period; and (iii) the representation and
warranty as to the prospectus disclosure, which will survive the Closing for a period of three years and 99 days.

There can be no assurance of recovery by the Company from the Existing Shareholders for breaches of such
representations and warranties, given that there can be no assurance that the assets or financial resources of the
Existing Sharcholders will be sufficient to satisfy such obligations. Investors in the Company will not have a
direct statutory right of action against any of the Existing Shareholders for a misrepresentation in this
prospectus.

Non-resident Existing Shareholders will be subject 10 withholding on the disposition of their Purchased
Securities and in respect of certain other dispositions. The Company will withhold cash and Common Shares to
satisfy its obligations. Upon the satisfaction of certain decumentary requirements, the withheld amounts and
Common Shares will be released to such non-residents, failing which the Common Shares will be liquidated and
the cash and proceeds remitted 1o the CRA in accordance with applicable law.

If one or both of the Acquisitions do not close, the Company will refund to purchasers the consideration
paid in respect of the Common Shares offered under this prospectus,
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STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

The following chart illustrates the structure of the Company after giving eficct to the Offering and the
Acquisitions. Sce “Funding, Acquisitions and Related Transactions” and “Usc of Procceds™.

3190
Common Shares

(9%
Common Shares

Universal Energy Group Lid.

Terra Grain Universal Energy

Tuels 20 . .

Fuels Inc. 249 Corporation™
10U%%

(Common Shares)

Universal Gas & Electric
Curporationt™

Notes:

(1) I the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the Existing Shareholders will own 649 of the outstanding Commeon Shares and the
public sharcholders will own 36% of the outstanding Common Shares.

(2) TGF Amalco will carry on the ethanol business currently carried on by TGF and TGF Opco.

(3} Following Closing, TGF Amalco and Universal inend to form the Universal Partaership to carry on the electricity and natvral gas
marketing business currently carried on by Universal in Canada.

(4) Universal U.S, will continue to carry on the natural gas marketing business cwrrently carried on by Universal U.S. in Michigan.
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PRINCIPAL AGREEMENTS
Principal Agreements of Universal
Amended Gas Purchase Agreement

Universal entered into the Gas Purchase Agreement with Sempra on July 14, 2005. The Gas Purchase
Agreement will be amended effective on the Closing Date. Pursuant to the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement,
Universal will agree that Sempra will be Universal’s exclusive supplier of natural gas, subject to certain limited
circumstances.

The Amended Gas Purchase Agreement will set forth procedures pursuant to which Universal shall notify
Sempra of the quantity of natural gas that Universal wishes to purchase from Sempra from tme to time in order
to satisfy the requirements of Universal's customers. For each purchase and sale of natural gas transaction (each
a ““Gas Transaction’) that acts as a hedge of Sempra’s market price risk with respect to a transaction in respect
of natural gas entered into by Sempra with a third party on terms negotiated by Universal with that third party
and acceptable to Sempra (a “Sleeve Transaction”), the price per GJ is equal to the sum of the following
amounts: (i) the fixed price actually paid or received by Sempra per GJ under such Sleeve Transaction (the “Gas
Base Price™); plus (i) all actual related risk management and delivery expenses incurred by Sempra with respect to
the Gas Transaction or the related Sleeve Transaction, including brokerage commissions, interest costs for
required cash margin or other collateral posted in connection with the Gas Transaction or related Sleeve
Transaction, costs for breaking andfor replacing any hedge, delivery charges, and similar costs and expenses
incurred by Sempra divided by the quantity of natural gas associated with such Gas Transaction to determine the
per GJ amount of such costs, expenses and charges; plus (iii) 3% of the Gas Base Price. For each Gas
Transaction that does not act as a hedge of Sempra’s market price risk with respect to a Sleeve Transaction,
Universal must pay a price per GJ that is mutually agreed between Universal and Sempra (provided that when
Universal requests that Sempra offer a price quote in respect of such a proposed Gas Transaction, Sempra must
act in good faith to offer a commercially reasonable price based on Sempra’s assessment of the then prevailing
market).

The Amended Gas Purchase Agreement will provide that (except for an aggregate outstanding long
position in natural gas maintained by Universal comprised of natural gas purchases with individual tenors of up
to five successive years maintained in respect of marketing programs that when aggregated with any such
outstanding long positions in natural gas maintained by Universal, Universal U.S. and any other affiliate of
Universal, shall not exceed 2.5 billion cubic feet per year), Universal must maintain a matched trading book such
that at all times (i) for any fixed price purchase by it of a volume of natural gas, there is a fixed price sale by it of
an equal amount of natural gas with the same delivery timing and at either the same delivery point or at another
delivery point that is also acceptable (at no additional cost) to the relevant LDC that will be delivering such
natural gas to the Universal customers for whom such natural gas was purchased, and (ii) for any floating price
purchasc by it of a volume of natural gas there is a floating price sale of an equivalent volume of natural gas by it
at the same delivery location, with the same delivery timing and with a price based on the same pricing index.

The Amended Gas Purchase Agreement will also provide that Universal may not: (a) directly or indirectly
purchase natural gas from any third party except for (i) natural gas purchased from an LDC for balancing
purposes, (i) natural gas purchased as a result of Sempra’s failure to meet a delivery obligation, and (iii) natural
gas purchased as a result of the occurrence of an event of force majeure, provided that except for fixed price
purchases made for the balance of the then current month under the circumstances described in paragraphs (it)
and (1i1) above, under no circumstances will Universal be able to purchase natural gas from any third party at a
fixed price, and provided further that Universal and Universal U.S. will be able to sell natural gas to the other
subject to the terms of the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement; (b) directly or indirectly enter into any swap,
option or any other financially or physically settled derivative transaction with any third party; (c) except to the
extent expressly permitted by Sempra, directly or indirectly, make or own any investment in any entity, including
any joint venture, or acquire, by purchase or otherwise, all or substantially all of the business, property or fixed
assets of, or capital stock or other ownership interest of any entity, or any division or line of business of any
entity, or acquire any subsidiary, unless immediately prior 10 making such investment, the amount of margin
held by Sempra meets certain stated thresholds; (d) subject to the approval of Sempra, (i) during the first two
years following the Closing Date, declare or pay any dividends or return any capitat to its shareholders or make
any other distribution to its shareholders, or acquire any of its own shares or complete any similar transactions
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{each a “Dividend Event), and (ii} after the second anniversary of the Closing Date, cause any Dividend Event
to occur that would require a payment of an amount of cash, interests or property with a current market value
that exceeds 75% of the ““free cash™ (as defined in the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement) earned by Universal
during such vear; provided that Universal shall not cause any Dividend Event to occur (1) unless immediately
prior to such Dividend Event the amount of margin held by Sempra meets certain stated thresholds, or (2) if a
Termination Event (as defined below) has occurred and is continuing under one or more of the Commodity
Agreements; (¢) except in the limited circumstances permitted by the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement and
subject to such agreement, directly or indirectly, enter into any physically settled natural gas sale transaction with
any third parties involving a fixed price other than where, prior to or contemporaneously with entering into such
transaction, Universal shall enter into a transaction with Sempra that fully hedges the price risk associated with
such fixed price transaction such that such transaction with the third party would be profitable to Universal,
(f) directly or indirectly sell natural gas to any person (other than persons to which Sempra may agree) that
results in such person’s natural gas purchases for Universal to be more than (i) 500 Gls for any single day, or
(ii) $500,000 in value for any 30 day period, provided that Universal may not sell both gas and electricity to a
single user of more than 250 GJs per day and 1.5 MW per hour except as approved in advance by Sempra;
(g} dircctly or indirccily cnter into any natural gas sales transactions with any person that consumes more than
the maximum daily volume guaranteed by an LDC without the prior approval of Sempra; (h) cxcept to the
extent expressly permitted by Sempra, directly or indirectly sell natural gas to a third party other than an LDC or
Universal U.S., where all of the ultimate purchaser’s purchase price of such natural gas is not fully guaranteed by
an LDC; (i) market or enter into financially or physically settled transactions in respect of natural gas or
electricity in any jurisdiction without the prior written consent of Sempra other than (i) natural gas and
electricity in the province of Ontario, (ii) natural gas in the province of British Columbia, and (iii) natural gas
and electricity in the province of Alberta; provided that prior to Universal marketing or entering into financially
or physically settled transactions in respect of natural gas and/or electricity in any of Alberta, British Columbia
or any other jurisdiction in which Universal is not currently engaged in marketing activity, Universal must obtain
Sempra’s confirmation that it is satisficd that the regulatory environment in such jurisdiction relating to the
retail sale of natural gas and/or electricity, as the case may be, is not materially different than in the jurisdictions
in which Universal then-currently docs business; (j) enter into financially or physically settled transactions in
respect of natural gas or clectricity for a fixed price with a term of greater than five vears; (k) enter into
financially or physically settled transactions in respect of natural gas or electricity as purchaser for a fixed price
of greater than $10 per GJ or $100 per MWh; {I) enter into new customer contracts in any contract year in exccss
of certain stated thresholds; (m) become or remain directly or indirectly liable with respect 10 any indebtedness,
or directly or indircetly ereate or become liable with respect to any contingent obligation, except o the extent
permitted by Sempra; provided that after June 3(), 2010, Universal may issue to one third-party that will act as
both natural gas supplier and Electricity Swap counterparty to a “new supply affiliate” (being an affiliate of
Universal that is not a subsidiary of Universal U.S. that is formed to actively market naturat gas andfor electricity
to end-use customers, and that actively engages in such marketing, and with which Sempra has no commodity
supply or other obligations), a guarantee of any indebtedness which arises under a natural gas supply and
Electricity Swap arrangement with such third-party, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions; {n) except to
the extent permitted by Sempra, directly or indirectly create, incur, assume or permit to exist any lien on or with
respect to any property or asset of any kind of Universal, or any income or profits therefrom, or file or permit
the filing of, or permit to remain in effect, any financing statement or other similar notice of any lien with
respect thereto, except as otherwise permitted therein; (o) except to the extent permitted by Sempra, enter into
any agreement prohibiting the creation or assumnption of any lien upon any of its properties or assets, except as
otherwise permitted therein; (p) alter its corporate, capital or legal structure (other than to establish a subsidiary
in connection with an investment), or enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation, or liquidate,
wind-up or dissolve itself, or convey, sell, lease or sub-lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of, in one transaction
or a series of transactions, all or any part of its business, property or assets, without the consent of Sempra; and
(q) enter into any natural gas sale transaction if, after giving effect (o the hedge transaction that would be
required in order to hedge the price risk associated with the natural gas sale transaction, the notional exposure
amount {as determined in accordance with the formula contained in the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement)
would cqual or exceed $2,250,000,000.
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Commencing on the second annual anniversary of the Closing Date, and on the first business day of each
calendar month occurring thereafter (cach such day a “Margin Determination Day”). Universal will deliver to
any bank account that Scmpra designates from time to time by wire transfer of immediately available funds, an
amount in cash equal to any “Required Margin Amount”, which is any amount by which the Current Margin
Requirement (as defined in the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement) exceeds the aggregate amount of cash
margin previously delivered by Universal to Sempra that Sempra has not returned to Universal (the “Held
Margin Amount”), as calculated by Sempra. If on any Margin Determination Day, the Held Margin Amount
exceeds Universal’s Current Margin Requirement, Sempra will, on such day, return any such excess amount in
cash to an account maintained in the name of Universal but subject 1o the control of Sempra (the “Blocked
Account”). Sempra will hold all cash delivered by Universal in respect of Universal’s Current Margin
Requirement as margin collateral in accordance with the terms of the security agreement to be entered into
between Universal and Sempra. In accordance with the security agreement, Universal will grant 1o Sempra a lien
and security interest in all such margin collateral and all such margin collateral shall constitute collateral to
secure the secured obligations of Universal to Sempra.

The Amended Gas Purchase Agreement will enumerate certain conditions and events with respect to each
of Universal and Sempra that will constitute a termination event (each a “Termination Event™), including the
following: (i) a change in control of Universal occurs; (ii) Universal and/or any affiliate of Universal (other than
TGF Amalco, any subsidiary of TGF Amalco or any shareholder of the Company), shall, in the aggregate,
without the prior consent of Sempra, make direct or indirect contributions to, or investments in, TGF Amalco or
any subsidiary of TGF Amalco, in an aggregate amount exceeding $20,000,000; (iii) Sempra shall not be
permitted to appoint a director to the board of directors of Universal; and (iv) a default in the performance by
Universal of any term, covenant or agreement contained in such agreement. Upon the occurrence of a
Termination Event, the non-defaulting party has the right to immediately, for so long as the Termination Event is
continuing: (a) suspend its performance under natural gas purchase and sale transactions then outstanding; or
(b) liquidate and terminate the natural gas purchase and sale transactions then outstanding and accelerate the
payment of any amounts due. Upon any such liquidation and tcrmination, the non-defauiting party must
calculate a net settlement amount in accordance with the formula to be contained in the Amended Gas Purchase
Agreement. The party with the net settlement amount payment obligation must pay such amount to the other
party within onc busincss day of receipt from the non-defaulting party of notice of such calculation.

If Sempra defaults in its obligations to deliver natural gas to Universal, or if Universal defaults in its
obligation to accept delivery of natural gas, subject to force majeure, the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement
will contain provisions requiring the payment of various amounts by the non-performing party 10 the performing
party. The remedy of liquidation and termination described above is not available when the Termination Event is
a failure to deliver or receive natural gas and the non-performing party pays any sum due by it in accordance
with the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement.

The obligation of Sempra and Universal to enter into Gas Transactions will terminate on the earlier of
{a) June 30, 2010, and (b) the date of termination, liguidation and settlement by the non-defaulting party after
the occurrence of a Termination Event. It will be a condition to Sempra’s obligation to enter into the Amended
Gas Purchase Agreement that it shall have the right to appoint one director to the Board of the Company during
the term of the New Commodity Agreements. The right will be included in the articles of the Company through
the issue to Sempra of a special share (which will have no other rights attached to it) or in a manner otherwise
acceptable to Sempra. Subject to the terms of the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement, the remaining terms of
the agreement will remain in full force and effect until the satistaction by both parties of all of their respective
obligations thereunder and in respect of all Gas Transactions entered into thereunder.

Universal U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement

Universal U.S. will enter into the Universal U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement with Sempra as of the Closing
Date. Pursuant to the Universal U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement, Universal U.S. will agree that Sempra will be
Universal U.S’s exclusive supplier of natural gas, subject to certain limited circumstances. The terms and
conditions of the Universal U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement will be the same as the terms and conditions of the
Amended Gas Purchase Agreement described above in all material respects, including in respect of the terms on
which purchases and sales of natural gas will occur between Universal U.S. and Sempra, the affirmative and
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negative covenants to be given by Universal U.S. in favour of Sempra, and the termination and liguidation
provisions.

Amended Electricity Swap Agreement

Universal entered into the Electricity Swap Agreement with Scmpra on July 14, 2005, The Electricity Swap
Agreement will be amended effective on the Closing Date. Pursuant to the Amended Electricity Swap
Agrecment, Universal will agree that it will enter into Electricity Swaps with Sempra on an exclusive basis,

The Amended Electricity Swap Agrecment will sct forth procedures pursuant to which Universal may
requcst that Sempra enter into an Electricity Swap with Universal in respect of a specific quantity of clectricity
and with a term specified by Universal. The “floating price” for each Electricity Swap, unless otherwise agreed
by Universal and Sempra, will be the hourly Ontario cnergy price published by the Ontario Independent
Electricity System Operator, subject to certain exceptions that will be enumerated in the Amended Electricity
Swap Agreement. For each Electricity Swap that acts as a hedge of Sempra’s market price risk with respect to a
swap transaction entered into by Sempra with a third party on terms negotiated by Universal with that third
party and acccptable to Sempra (a “Sleeve Transaction™), the “fixed price” per MWh is equal to the sum of the
following amounts: (i) the fixed price actually paid or reccived by Sempra, per MWh, under such Sleeve
Transaction (the “Base Price™); plus (ii) all actual related risk management cxpenses incurred by Sempra with
respect to the Electricity Swap or the related Sleeve Transaction, including brokerage commissions, interest costs
for required cash margin or other collateral posted in connection with the Electricity Swap or the related Sleeve
Transaction, costs for breaking andfor replacing any hedge, and similar costs and expenses incurred by Sempra
divided by the notional contract quantity of ¢lectricity associated with such Electricity Swap to determine the per
MWh amount of such costs, expenses and charges; plus (iii} 3% of the Base Price. For each Electricity Swap that
does not act as a hedge of Sempra’s market price risk with respect to a Sleeve Transaction, Universal shall pay a
price per MWh that is mutually agreed to between Universal and Sempra (provided that when Universal
requests that Sempra offer a price gquote in respect of such a proposed Electricity Swap, Sempra must act in
good faith to offer a commercially reasonable price based on Sempra’s assessment of the then prevailing
market).

The Amended Electricity Swap Agreenment will provide that (except for any aggregate outstanding long
financial or physical position in electricity maintained by Universal comprised of Electricity Swaps with terms of
up to five successive years maintained in respect of marketing programs that when aggregated with any such
outstanding long positions in electricity similarly maintained by any affiliate of Universal shall not exceed
2,000,000 MWhs per year), Universal must maintain a matched trading book such that at all times for any
notional contract quantity of electricity that is the subject of the Electricity Swap in respect of which Universal is
paying a fixed price there is a sale by Universal to customers of an equal quantity of electricity at a price higher
than the relevant fixed price, and with an equivalence between the projected quantity of electricity to be
delivered under such customer contracts and the notional contract quantity of electricity that is the subject of
such Electricity Swap.

The Amended Electricity Swap Agreement will also provide that Universal may not: {a) directly or
indirectly purchase clectricity from any third party other than through the IESO administered market and the
amount of clectricity purchased by Universal from the [ESO administered market shall equal the amount of
electricity required to be supplied by Universal to its customers, (b) directly or indirectly enter into any swap,
option or other financially or physically settled derivative transaction with any third party except with the
consent of Sempra; (¢) except Lo the extent expressly permitted by Sempra, directly or indirectly, make or own
any investment in any entity, including any joint venture, or acquire, by purchase or otherwise, all or substantially
all of the business, property or fixed assets of, or capital stock or other ownership interest of any entity, or any
division or line of business of any entity, or acquire any subsidiary, unless immediately prior to making any such
investment, the amount of margin held by Sempra meets certain stated thresholds; (d) subject to the approval of
Sempra, (i) during the first two years following the Closing Date, declare or pay any dividends or return any
capital to its shareholders or make any other distribution to its shareholders, or acquire any of its own shares or
complete any similar transactions (each a “Dividend Event™), and (ii) after the second annual anniversary of the
Closing Date, cause any Dividend Event to occur that would require a payment of an amount of cash, interests
or property with a current market value that exceeds 75% of the “free cash” (as defined in the Amended
Electricity Swap Agreement) carned by Universal during such year; provided that Universal shall not cause any
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Dividend Event to occur (1) unless immediately prior to such Dividend Event the amount of margin held by
Sempra meets certain stated thresholds, or (2) if a Contract Termination Event (as defined below) has occurred
and is continuing under one or more of the Commodity Agreements; (¢) directly or indirectly enter into any
physically-settled electricity sale transaction with any third parties involving a fixed price other than where, prior
to or contemporaneously with entering into any such transaction, Universal shall enter into a transaction with
Sempra that fully hedges the price risk associated with such fixed price transaction such that such transaction
with a third party will be profitable to Universal; (f) directly or indirectly enter into any electricity sale
transaction with any entity (other than those entities to which Sempra may agree) that results in Universal fixing
the price of such entities” electricity purchases in respect of more than (i) three MW per hour for any day, or
(ity $500,000 in value for any 30 day period; provided that Universal may not sell both natural gas and electricity
to a single user of more than 250 Gls per day and 1.5 MW per hour, except as approved in advance by Sempra;
(g) enter into any transaction in respect of electricity with a customer if after giving effect to the Electricity Swap
that would be required in order to hedge the price risk associated with such transaction, the notional exposure
amount (as determined in accordance with the formula contained in the Amended Electricity Swap Agreement)
would equal or exceed $2,250,000,000; (h) dircctly or indirectly enter into any physically setiled electricity sales
transaciions with any person that consumes more than the maximum daily volume guarantced by an LDC
without the prior approval of Sempra; (i) except to the cxtent expressly permitted by Sempra, directly or
indirectly enter into or remain a parly Lo any clectricily sale transaction with a third party other than an LDC
where such third party’s purchase price of such electricity is not fully guaranteed by an LDC; (j) market or enter
into financially or physically settled transactions in respect of natural gas or electricity in any jurisdiction without
the prior written conscnt of Scmpra other than (i) natural gas and clectricity in the province of Ontario,
(ii) natural gas in the province of British Columbia, and (iii) natural gas and electricity in the province of
Alberta; provided that prior to Universal marketing or entering into {inancially or physically settled transactions
in respect of natural gas and/or clectricity in any of Alberta, British Columbia or any other jurisdiction in which
Universal is not currently engaged in marketing activity, Universal must obtain Sempra’s confirmation that it is
satisfied that the regulatory environment in such jurisdiction relating to the retail sale of natural gas undfor
electricity, as the case may be, is not matenally different than in the jurisdictions in which Universal
then-currently does business; (k) enter into financially or physically scttled transactions in respect of natural gas
or clectricity for a fixed price with a term of greater than five years; (1} enter into financially or physically settled
transactions in respect of natural gas or clectricity as purchaser for a fixed price of greater than $10 per GJ or
$100 per MWh; (m) enter into new customer contracts in any contract year in excess of certain stated thresholds;
(n) become or remain directly or indirectly liable with respect to any indebtedness, or directly or indirectly
create or become liable with respect to any contingent obligation, except to the extent permitted by Sempra;
provided that after June 30, 2010, Universal may issue to one third-party that will act as both natural gas supplier
and Electricity Swap counterparty to a “new supply affiliate” (being an affiliate of Universal that is not a
subsidiary of Universal U.S. that is formed to actively market natural gas and/or electricity to end-use customers,
and that actively engages in such marketing, and with which Sempra has no commodity supply or other
obligations), a guaranty of any indebtedness which arises under a natural gas supply and Electricity Swap
arrangement with such third-party, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions; (o) except to the extent
permitted by Sempra, directly or indirectly create, incur, assume or permit to exist any lien on or with respect to
any property or asset of any kind of Universal, or any income or profits therefrom, or file or permit the filing of,
or permil to remain in effect, any financing statement or other similar notice of any lien with respect thereto,
except as otherwise permitted therein; (p) except to the extent permitted by Sempra, enter into any agreement
prohibiting the creation or assumption of any lien upon any of its properties or assets, except as otherwise
permitted therein; and (q) alter its corporate, capital or legal structure (other than to establish a subsidiary in
connection with an investment), or enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation, or liquidate, wind-up
or dissolve itsell, or convey, sell, lease or sub-lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of, in ane transaction or a
serics of transactions, all or any part of ils business, properly or asscts, without the consent of Sempra.

Commencing on the second annual anniversary of the Closing Date, and on the first business day of each
calendar month eccurring thereafter (each such day a “Margin Determination Day”), Universal will deliver to
any bank account that Sempra designates from time to time by wire transfer of immediately avaiiable funds, an
amount in cash equal to any “Required Margin Amount”, which is any amount by which the Current Margin
Requirement (as defined in the Amended Electricity Swap Agreement) exceeds the aggregate amount of cash

106




margin previously delivered by Universal to Sempra that Sempra has not returned to Universal (the “Held
Margin Amount”), as calculated by Sempra. If on any Margin Determination Day, the Held Margin Amount
exceeds Universal’'s Current Margin Requirement, Sempra will, on such day, return any such excess amount in
cash to a Blocked Account. Sempra will hold all cash delivered by Universal in respect of Universal’s Current
Margin Requirement as margin collateral in accordance with the terms of the security agreement to be entered
into between Universal and Sempra. In accordance with the security agreement, Universal will grant to Sempra
a lien and security interest in all such margin collateral and all such murgin collateral shall constitute collateral
to secure the secured obligations of Universal to Sempra.

The Amended Electricity Swap Agrecement will enumerate certain conditions and events with respect to
cach of Universal and Sempra that will constitute a termination cvent (each a “Contract Termination Event™),
including the following: (i) a change in control of Universal occurs; (ii} Universal andfor any affiliate of
Universal {other than TGF Amaleo, any subsidiary of TGF Amaleo or any sharecholder of the Company), shall,
in the aggregate, without the prior consent of Sempra, make direct or indirect contributions to, or investments
in, TGF Amalco or any subsidiary of TGF Amalco, in an aggregate amount exceeding $20,000,000; (iti) Sempra
shall not be permitted to appoint a director to the board of directors of Universal; and (iv) a default in the
performance by Universal of any term, covenant or agreement contained in such agreement. Upon the
occurrence of a Contract Termination Event, the non-defaulting party has the right to immediately, for so long
as the Contract Termination Event is continuing: (a) suspend its performance under Electricity Swaps then
outstanding; or (b) liquidate and terminate the Electricity Swaps then outstanding and accelerate the payment of
any amounts due. Upon any such liquidation and termination, the non-defaulting party must calculate a net
settlement amount in accordance with the formula to be contained in the Amended Electricity Swap Agreement.
The party with the net settlement amount payment obligation must pay such amount to the other party within
one business day of receipt from the non-defaulting party of notice of such calculation.

The obligation of Sempra and Universal to enter into Electricity Swaps will terminate on the earlier of
(a) June 30, 201{), and (b) the date of termination, liguidation and settlement by the non-defaulting party after
the occurrence of a Contract Termination Event. It will be a condition to Sempra’s obligation to enter into the
Amended Electricity Swap Agreement that it shall have the right to appoint one director to the Board of the
Company during the term of the New Commodity Agreements. The right will be included in the articles of the
Company through the issue to Sempra of a special share (which will have no other rights attached to it) or in a
manner otherwise acceptable to Sempra. Subject to the terms of the Amended Electricity Swap Agreement, the
remaining terms of the agreement will remain in full force and effect until the satisfaction by both parties of all
of their respective obligations thereunder and in respect of all Electricity Swaps entered into thereunder.

Security Agreements

Universal's obligations to Sempra under the Amended Gas Purchase Agreement and the Amended
Electricity Swap Agreement will be secured under a security agreement by the grant of a first priority security
interest on substantially all of Universal’s current and future assets, including all cash and cash equivalents, all
accounts receivable and all deposit accounts. Universal U.S’s obligations to Sempra under the Universal
U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement will be secured under a security agreement by the grant of a first priority security
interest on substantially all of Universal U.S.’s current and future assets, including all cash and cash equivalents,
all accounts receivable and all deposit accounts. Sempra’s security interests under the security agreements will
not extend o the assets of the Company or TGF Amalco except the interest of TGF Amalco in the Universal
Partnership. In addition, all payments received by Universal and Universal U.S, from their respective customers
and LDCs will be paid to a specified lock box or by wire transfer to Blocked Accounts, from which amounts will
first be paid to Sempra in satisfaction of payments duc to Sempra pursuant to the New Commodity Agreements,
as applicable, and all excess amounts will then be paid to Universal and Universal U.S., as applicable.

On the Closing Date the Company will provide an unlimited guarantee to Sempra covering all past, present
and future indebtedness and liabilities of Universal and Universal U.S. to Sempra including, without limitation,
under the New Commodity Agreements and any other documents to which Universal or Universal U.S. is a
party, and the Company will enter into a securities pledge agreement pursuant to which it will pledge all of the
shares of Universal owned by it in support of such guarantee. ln addition, on the Closing Date Universal will
provide an unlimited guarantece to Sempra covering all past, present and [uture indebtedness and liabilities of
Universal U.S. 1o Sempra including, without limitation, under the Universal U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement and
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any other documents to which Universal U.S. is a party, and Universal will enter into a sccurities pledge
agrecment pursuant to which it will pledge all of the shares of Universal U.S. owned by it in support of
such guarantee.

Services Agreement and Termination Agreement

Universal entered into the Services Agreement with Sempra, Silverco and Gasco as of July 14, 2005
pursuant to which cach of Sempra, Silverco and Gasco provide ceriain services to Universal relating to the
conduct of its retail clectricity and natural gas marketing business.

Universal, Sempra, Silverco, Gasco and UEC Distributors (as agent) entered inte the Termination
Agreement as of September 30, 2006 pursuant to which Universal, Sempra, Silverco and Gasco agreed to
terminate the Scrvices Agreement at no cost to Universal effective as of September 30, 2006 contingent upon
the Closing of the Offering and the Acquisitions. If the Closing Date does not occur by February 28, 2007, the
Termination Agreecment will terminate.

Upon termination of the Services Agreement, Universal, Sempra, Silverco and Gasco will not have any right
or claim against the other under the Services Agrcement, and Universal will relcase and discharge Sempra,
Silverco and Gasco. and Sempra, Silverco and Gasco will release Universal, from all claims or demands with
respect to the Services Agreement.

Principal Agreements of TGF
EPC Contract

TGE, the Contractor and EllisDon entered into the EPC Contract as of September 29, 2006. Pursuant to the
EPC Contract, TGF retained the Contractor to perform and complete all design, engineering, procurement,
construction and commissioning work in connection with the development of the Belle Plaine Facility, including
the provision of all (i) design and engineering services (through the Contractor and sub-consultants),
(ii) machinery, equipment, materials and other goods required for the performance and completion of the Belle
Plaine Facility, (ifi) temporary structures and other facilities required for the proper and safe performance and
completion of the Belle Plaine Facility, (iv) construction plant, equipment, machinery, tools, vehicles and other
things that arc required to be employed by the Contractor or by a sub-contractor 1o perform and complete the
work required 1o construct the Belle Plaine Facility, (v) management, supervision, labour and overhead
requirements, and (vi) other goods, services and things that arc necessary or incidental to the completion of the
Belle Plaine Facility. Delta-T has agreed to provide engincering and other services related to the construction of
the Belle Plaine Facility based on Delta-T's proprictary technology under a subcontract with the Contractor on
the condition that TGF enters into the Licence Agreement. The Contractor has agreed to substantiaily complete
the design, enginecring, procurement, construction and commissioning of the Belle Plaine Facility by
December 14, 2007. In consideration for the performance and completion of its work, TGF will pay the
Contractor $129,800,000 (plus applicable taxes) (the “Contract Price”), subject to adjustment in certain limited
circumstances. Except as expressly set out in the EPC Contract, any and all costs and expenses incurred by the
Contractor relating to the construction of the Belle Plaine Facility in excess of the Contract Price are the
responsibility of the Contractor. TGF is obligated to pay the Contract Price by progress payments as the work
progresses.

EllisDon has guaranteed the prompi performance and observance of the covepants, agrecments,
undertakings and obligations of the Contractor contained in the EPC Contract, including the Contractor’s
indemnity obligations and the Contractor’s compliance with its warranty and petformance guarantee obligations.
Under the EPC Contract, the Contractor has warranted that the Belle Plaine Facility will comply with the
requirements of the EPC Contract and related agreements and documeats, applicable laws, permits and codes,
and will be and will remain free from defects and deficiencics in workmanship and materials appcaring within a
period cxpiring 12 months after substantial completion of the Belle Plaine Facility. The Contractor is also
responsible for repairing or correcting any defects or deficiencies in the design or engincering services provided
by it, provided such defect or deficiency has manifested itself within a period expiring 12 months after the
substantial completion of the Belle Plaine Facility. The Contractor has guaranteed to TGF that the Belle Plaine
Facility will be designed and constructed by the Contractor to meet or exceed certain performance guarantees
sct out in the EPC Contract. In the event that the Belle Plaine Facility fails to meet the performance guarantees,
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and the Contractor does not correct any defect or deficiency in the Belle Plaine Facility and cause the Belle
Plaine Facility to achieve the performance guarantees within a specified time period, the Contractor is obligated
to pay to TGF certain liquidated damages to a maximum of $2,900.000.

Licence Agreement

TGF entered into the Licence Agreement with Delta T on October 22, 2006. Pursuant to the Licence
Agreement, Delta-T has granted to TGF a non-cxclusive, fuily paid-up, non-transferable right to use in
perpetuity Delta-T’s technology solely for the purposes of the construction, building and ongoing operation of
the Belle Plaine Facility, and the repair, maintenance, optimization or enhancement of the Belle Plaine Facility.
At such time as (i} TGF has paid the Contractor all amounts due to it under the EPC Contract, (i) the EPC
Contract is terminated (A) due to breach by the Contractor or bankruptey of the Contractor, or (B) due to a
force majeure event affecting the Contractor, or (iii) the EPC Contract remains in effect, has not been
completed for reasons other than the fault of TGF so that all amounts have not yet become due under the EPC
Contract, but the Belle Plaine Facility is capable of operating for commercial purposes, the licence rights granted
by Delia-T to TGF become irrevocable. Unless and until the licence becomes irrevocable, at the option of
Delta-T, the licence terminates (i) upon termination of the EPC Contract by TGF for convenience, (ii) upon
termination of the EPC Contract by TGF for any reason other than a breach by the Contractor resulting from a
breach by Delta-T of its subcontract with the Contractor, or (iii) upon termination of the subcontract between
Delta-T and the Contractor for any reason other than breach by Delta-T. In the case of termination of the EPC
Contract by TGF, Delta-T has agreed to negotiate in good faith with TGF to enter into a contract to complete
the services remaining to be performed by Delta-T under its subcontract with the Contractor, provided that all
breaches by the Contractor are first cured, and upon entering into such a contract the licence continues in full
force and cffect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, TGF has the right at any time, including upon the termination
of the licence, however caused, to pay to Delta T all sums due to Delta-T for the licence owing under the EPC
Contract in order to make the licence rights irrevocable.

TGF Credit Facility

In July 2006, TGF cntered into a term sheet for the TGF Credit Facility with a syndicate of Canadian
lenders providing for a $50 million loan to assist with the financing of the construction and operation of the
Belle Plaine Facility. Security for the TGF Credit Facility includes a first priority security interest and charge on
all asscts and undertakings of TGF, plus a general security interest on all other current and after acquired assets.
During construction of the Belle Plaine Facility, interest on the TGF Credit Facility is a floating rate of the lead
lender’s prime rate plus 2%. After construction, interest on the TGF Credit Facility will vary between a floating
rate of the lead lender's prime rate plus 1% and fixed rate terms based on Canadian bid bond rates plus
225 basis points, with TGF having the right, but not the obligation, to convert the interest rate from a floating
rate to a fixed rate. Interest rates will be reviewed at the time of cach annual review of the loan. TGF is only
required to make interest payments on the TGF Credit Facility until the earlier of (i} the date that a certificate
of substantial performance is issued in respect of the Belle Plaine Facility, and (ii) the date that is six months
following the last drawdown under the loan (the “Term Conversion Date”). Following the Term Conversion
Date, the loan is repayable in cqual and consccutive blended instalments of principal and interest caleulated and
payable maonthly in such amount as is sufficient to repay the loan over the remaining amortization period of ten
years. TGF must repay all principal and interest outstanding on the loan on the date that is five years after the
Term Conversion Date. The TGF Credit Facility is subject to customary terms and conditions, including limits
on incurring additional indebtedness or granting encumbrances without the consent of the lenders and
compliance with ccrtain financial covenants. The TGF Credit Facility restricts the ability of TGF to declare or
pay any dividends to the holders of its securities if TGF is in default or if such dividend would place TGF in
default of any of its covenants under the TGF Credit Facility. As at December 20, 2606, no funds had been
drawn down under the TGF Credit Facility. Management of TGF anticipates that TGF will not need to draw on
the TGF Credit Facility until approximately the second calendar guarter of 2007.

TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement

On August 25, 2006, TGF cntered into the TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement with the TGF
Debenturcholders for the purchase and sale of up to $40 million aggregate principal amount of TGF
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Debentures. Pursuant to the TGF Debenture Purchase Agreemient, the TGF Debenturcholders have severally
agreed to purchase the TGF Debentures up to their respective commitment amounts from time to time in
accordance with the provisions contained in the TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement, including the satisfaction
of all conditions precedent to the purchase and sale of TGF Debentures thereunder. The proceeds realized by
TGF in connection with the issue and sale of TGF Debentures must be used to assist in financing the
construction and testing of its Belle Plaine Facility and related costs and expenses. Security for the TGF
Debentures includes a security interest in all of TGF’s present and after acquired property of whatever nature
and kind, second in priority 1o the security interest of TGF's lenders under the TGF Credit Facility. The TGF
Debentures bear interest from the dates on which such TGF Debentures are issued at the rate of 10.5% per
anntum payable on the first day of each calendar quarter commencing on the first calendar quarter following the
first date on which TGF Debentures are issued and sold by TGF to the TGF Debentureholders (the “Initial
Purchase Date”). Principal payments commence on the first day of the calendar quarter following the earlier of:
{(a) the date on which the completion certificate of the independent engineer in respect of the Belle Plaine
Facility is delivered; and (h) August 25, 2008 (the “Principal Payment Commencement Date’). On the Principal
Payment Commencement Date and on the first day of each of the following calendar quarters to and including
the first day of the calendar quarter immediately preceding the date that is 60 months from the Initial Purchase
Date {the “Maturity Date”), TGF shall pay each TGF Debenturchoider an amount equal to $24.99 per $1,000
original principal amount of TGF Debentures held by such TGF Debentureholder. On the Maturity Date, TGF
must repay to cach TGF Debentureholder all remaining outstanding principal, interest and other amounts
owing in respect of the TGF Debentures. The TGF Debentures are subject to customary lerms and conditions,
including limits on incurring additional indebtedness or granting encumbrances without the consent of the TGF
Debentureholders and compliance with certain financial covenants. The TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement
provides that without the prior consent of ccrtain of the TGF Debenturcholders, TGF cannot make any
payment or declaration of payment of any dividends or other distributions on any of its shares. As at
December 20, 2006, no TGF Debentures have been issued. Management anticipates that the Initial Purchase
Date will be in the first calendar quarter of 2007.

In addition, the TGF Debenturcholders were issued the TGF Warrants exercisable to purchase, in the
aggregate, 109 of the fully diluted equity of TGF (which calculation includes any additional equity issued by
TGF from time 1o time subscquent to the issuance of the TGF Warrants). The TGF Debenturcholders wili
exercise their TGF Warrants and acquire TGF Amalco Shares in connection with the Closing of the Offering.
See “Funding, Acquisitions and Related Transactions”.

TGF and two of TGF’s direct or indirect principal sharcholders (the “TGF Parties™) provided an
undertaking and agreement dated August 25, 2006 in favour of two of the TGF Debenturcholders (the *ROFR
Holders”) pursuant to which the TGF Parties granted the ROFR Holders a right of first refusal (the “Debt
ROFR”) to extend subordinated debt financing in connection with any additional ethanol development
{a “New Facility”} that may in the future be undertaken by TGF or its affiliates (which includes the TGF
Partics), that is funded with a combination of third party debt and equity. In the event that one or more of the
TGF Partics (or an affiliate of one or more of the TGF Parties) intends to seek subordinated debt financing in
connection with a New Facility, the TGF Parties must offer or will cause the applicable affiliate to offer such
subordinated debt financing opportunity to the ROFR Holders and must stipulate all relevant terms on which
such invesiment will be made (the “Proposed Terms”). The ROFR Holders will have 10 days within which to
accept or reject the Proposed Terms. If the ROFR Holders do not agree to provide the subordinated debt
financing on the Proposed Terms, the TGF Party (or its affiliate, as applicable) may obtain such subordinated
debt financing from a third party on the Proposed Terms. The Debt ROFR is in effect until August 25, 2011.

RETAINED INTEREST

Following the completion of the Acquisitions and this Offering, the Existing Shareholders will collectively
beneficially own, dircctly or indirectly, or excrcise control or direction over, approximately 69% of the issued and
outstanding Common Shares (64% if the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full). which includes the
approximately 43% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares that will be beneficially owned, directly or
indirectly, or over which control or direction will be excrcised, by the executive officers of the Company (40% if
the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has not paid any dividends on its Common Shares and currently intends to reinvest any
carnings to fund the development and growth of its business. Any future payments of dividends will be at the
discrction of the Board of Directors and will depend on the finuncial condition. capital requirements and
carnings of the Company as well as any other factors it may deem relevant. The Company's articles do not
contain any restrictions on the payment of dividends. '

The TGF Credit Facility restricts the ability of TGF to declare or pay any dividends to the holders of its
securities if TGF is in default or if such dividend would place TGF in default of any of its covenants under the
TGF Credit Facility. Sce “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of TGF — TGF Credit Facility”, The
TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement provides that without the prior consent of certain of the TGF
Debentureholders, TGF cannot make any payment or declaration of payment of any dividends or other
distributions on any of its shares. Sec “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of TGF — TGF
Debenture Purchase Agreement”.

Each of the New Commodity Agreements will also contain restrictions ot the ability of Universal and
Universal US., as applicable, to pay dividends. For a description of these restrictions, sec “Principal
Agrecements — Principal Agrcements of Universal — Amended Gas Purchase Agreement”, “— Universal
U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement” and “— Amended Electricity Swap Agreement”,

USE OF PROCELDS

The net proceeds from the issuance ol the Common Shares is cstimated to be approximatety $115,000,007
after deducting the fees payable to the Underwriters and the expenscs of the Offering estimated at $2,500,000. If
the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the net proceeds from the issuance of the Common Shares is
estimated 1o be approximately $132,625,012 after deducting the fees payable o the Underwriters and the
expenses of the Offering. Approximately $92,500,000 of the gross proceceds of the Offering, together with
24,909,090 Common Shares {with a deferred purchase price of $18,750,006 outstanding), will be used by the
Company to acquire the Purchased Sccuritics. The remaining $32,500,007 of the gross procecds of the Offering
will be used by the Company to pay the expensces of the Offering and for working capital and general corporate
purposes. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised, the Company will use the additional net proceeds towards
satisfying the deferred purchase price for the Purchased Securities in licu of issuing the up to 1,704,546 Common
Shares that would otherwise be issuable. See “Funding, Acquisitions and Related Transactions” and “Plan of
Distribution”.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The Company's Board of Directors will initially consist of ecight directors, five of whom will be
“independent” (within the meaning of applicable securitics laws). The Board of Directors is currently comprised
of Messrs. Gary Drummond, Mark Silver and Tim LuFrance. At Closing, Messrs. Frank Klees,
Barry Tissenbaum and George Krieser and Ms. Janet Wightman and Ms. Christine Cantor will be appointed as
additional Board members. The term of office for cach of the directors will expire at the time of the next annual
meeting of the sharcholders of the Company. Following the completion of the Acquisitions and this Offcring,
the executive officers and directors of the Company will collectively beneficially own, dircetly and indirectly, or
exercise control or direction over, a total of 15,502,140 Common Shares, representing approximately 43% of the
Common Shares (14,434,225 Common Shares, representing approximately 40% of the Common Shares, if the
Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full}).
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The following table sets forth the names, municipalities of residence, positions held with the Company,
principal occupations, and other information for the current dircctors and executive officers of the Company.

Director of the
Company Since

Name and Municipality of
Residence

Position with the Company

Principal Occupation if Different from
Paosition Held

Gary J. Drummond . . . . .. November 1, 2006

Nassau, Bahamas

Mark L. Silver
Toronto, QOntario

November I, 2006

Tim J. LaFrance . .. ... ..
Calgary, Alberta

Stephen Plummer . ... ... nfit
Thornhill, Ontario
Nino C. Silvestri ., . ... .. nfa

Qakville, Ontario

Executive Chairman and
Director

President, Clectricity and
Gas Marketing and
Director

President, Terra Grain Fuels
and Director

Chicf Financial Officer

Chief Operating Officer,
Electricity and Gas

Consultant

President of Universal

President and Chief Executive Officer
of TGF

Chief Financial Officer of Universal

Chief Operaling Officer of Universal

Marketing

In addition, the following individuals, each of whom is independent of the Company, will be appointed as
dircctors of the Company prior to or concurrent with the Closing:

Position with the

Name and Municipality of Residence Company Principal Gecupation if Different from Position Held
Frank F Klees .. .......... ... ...... Director Member of Provincial Parliament (Ontario)
Aurora, Ontario

Janet Wightman . ... ... ... ... ..., Director President and Chicf Executive Officer,
Regina, Saskatchewan Victoria Park Capital Inc.

Barry A. Tissenbaum ... ... ... ... Director Consultant

Toronto, Ontario

George Krieser. ... ... ... .., Director President, ‘Total Credit Recovery Limited
Toronto, Ontario

Christine M. Cantor .. ................ Director Senior Vice-President, Sempra Energy

Stamford, Connecticut Trading Corp.

Mr. Klees, Mr. Tissenbaum, Mr. Krieser, Ms. Wightman and Ms. Cantor are not currently directors of the
Company but will be appointed to the Board of Directors prior to the Closing of this Offering. The Company
believes that they do not have any statutory liability for this prospectus under provincial and territorial securities
laws as they are not directors of the Company at the time of the filing of this prospectus.

In connection with the entering into of the New Commodily Agreements Sempra will be granted the right
to appoint one director to the Board during the term of the New Commodity Agreements. The right will be
included in the articles of the Company through the issue to Sempra of a special share {which will have no other
rights attached to it) or in a manner otherwise acceptable to Sempra. Ms. Cantor is the Sempra appointee for
this purpose. See “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of Universal”,

The principal occupations of each of the directors, executive officers and proposed directors of the
Company for the five years preceding the date of this prospectus are sct out below.

Gary J. Drummond, Q.C. — Executive Chairman and Director

Mr. Drummond has been a consultant to the energy industry since December 2002. Prior thercto,
Mr. Drummond was the President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of Direct Encrgy Marketing Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of Direct Energy (a TSX listed income trust), and its predecessors from January 1991
to December 2002, Prior thereto, Mr. Drummond practiced corporate and commercial law in the Province of
Saskatchewan, with emphasis on oil and gas, from 1973 10 December 1990. Mr. Drummond obtained a Bachelor
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of Laws from the University of Saskatchewan in June 1973, has been a member of the Saskatchewan Law Society
since May 1974 and was appointed Queen’s Counsel in 1989, Mr. Drummond presently serves as a director of a
number of TSX listed companies operating in the energy, oil and gas and mining industrics, including Bonterra
Energy Income ‘Trust., Comaplex Minerals Corp., Pine Cliff Energy Ltd. and Crew Energy Inc.

Mark L. Silver — President, Electricity and Gas Marketing and Director

As the President, Electricity and Gas Marketing of the Company and the President of Universal, Mr. Silver
has prime responsibility for the overall strategic direction of Universal. In addition, Mr. Silver has prime
responsibility for the direction of the sales process. Mr. Silver brings over 25 years of business management
experience to Universal, including over 15 years of sales and management experience in the energy industry.
Mr. Silver has been involved in the deregulated natural gas industry since 1991, In 1991, Mr. Silver co-founded
TransPrairiec Energy Management Ltd. (“TransPrairie”), which carried on business as a natural gas marketer in
the Provinces of Ontaric and Manitoba. TransPrairie was subsequently sold in 1996 to Optus Natural Gas
Distribution Income Fund, which subsequently changed its name to Direct Energy. In 1996, Mr. Silver formed
Natural Gas Wholesalers Inc. (“NGW”), NGW acted as the exclusive natural gas marketing agency for Direct
Energy. In 2000, Direct Energy and NGW were sold to Centrica ple. At the time of the sale Mr. Silver and his
sales team had been responsible for contracting with over one million natural gas users in Canada and the
United States. His extensive understanding and knowledge of sales and marketing strategies have resulted in
successful ventures in the long-distance telephone industry and the home security business. Over the last
15 years Mr. Silver has made significant investments in the real estate industry through his company Optus
Capital Corporation {“Optus”)., Today, Optus and relaied companics own and manage over onc million
square fect of commercial and industrial space, and have significant residential, commercial and industrial land
holdings for development in and around the greater Toronto arca.

Tim J. LaFrance, EEng. — President, Terra Grain Fuels and Director

Mr. LaFrance oversees all facets of TGF’s business and strategic initiatives, including dircet management of
enginecring, coustruction, marketing and risk management. Mr. LaFrance founded Vertex Energy Limited
{“Vertex) in 2003 and is its President and Chief Executive Officer. Through its operating divisions, Vertex Oil &
Gas Ltd. and Daodsland Oil Processors, Vertex explores, operates, markets and processes oil and natural gas
from wvarious properties located throughout western Canada. Prior to joining TGF and founding Vertex,
Mr. LaFrance was an Exccutive Director and the Exccutive Vice-President of the Energy Management Group of
Centrica Canada from 2000 to 2003, where he was responsible for the energy procurement and related trading
activity for all of Centrica’s four million North American power and natural gas customers. Mr. LaFrance’s
responsibilitics at Centrica also included overseeing the oil and gas division (which had daily production of
approximatcly 21.000 barrels of oil equivalent) and the power assct division. Mr. LaFrance has extensive
knowledge of all facets of the energy business, including risk management. Mr. LaFrance currently serves on the
hoard of dircctors of a number of private energy companices and is a tribunal member of the Alberta Electrical
System Operator {AESQ). Mr. LaFrance holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum Engineering from the
University of Alberta and is a member of the Association of Professional Engincers, Geologists and
Geophysicists of Alberta.

Frank F. Kiees, MPP — Director

Mr. Klees has been a sitting Member of Provincial Parliament (Ontario) since 1995 for the electoral district
of Oak Ridges. Ontario. He is currently the Critic for the Official Opposition for Education and Citizenship and
Immigration and is a member of the Justice Standing Commiittee. During his political carecr, Mr. Klees has
served in several key roles, including Parliamentary Assistant in the portfolios of Natural Resources and Social
Services, Chief Government Whip, Deputy House Leader, Tourism Minister and Minister of Transportation,
during which he was responsible for the implementation of a multi-year $10 billion highway infrastructure
program. Prior to his political career, Mr. Klees co-founded the Municipal Gas Corporation, an ¢nergy company
that developed 55,000 customers in Ontario. Manitoba and Quebec.
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Janet Wightman — Director

Ms. Wightman has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Victoria Park Capital Inc.. the
contract investment manager for Investment Saskatchewan Inc., since November 2006. Prior thereto,
Ms. Wightman served as the President und Chicf Exccutive Officer of Investment Saskatchewan Inc. from
May 2004 to October 2006, where she was responsible for establishing a start-up Crown corporation with
responsibility for commercial private equity investment and debt financing with a portfolio of approximately
3460 million. Prior thereto, Ms. Wightman served as the Exccutive Vice-President and Chicef Operating Officer
of Farm Credit Canada from April 20011 to April 2004, where she was responsible for all operational divisions,
including a national portfolio of approximately $10 billion and annual disbursements of approximately $3 billion.
Prior thereto, Ms. Wightman held other senior management positions with Farm Credit Canada, including
Vice-President, Agribusiness and Eastern Operations (November 1999 to April 2001), Vice-President, Human
Resources, Administration and Business Process Reengineering (Aprit 1999 10 November 1999) and
Vice-President, Human Resources and Administration (September 1997 to April 1999). Prior to joining Farm
Credit Canada in 1994, Ms. Wightman served as the Director, Resource Management with the Grain
Transportation Agency in Winnipeg. Ms. Wightman has served as a director and board committee member of
numerous private and Crown corporations.

Barry A. Tissenbaum, CA — Director

Mr. Tissenbaum was a Partner, Entrepreneurial Scrvices at Ernst & Young LLP from 1991 to 2005. He also
served as the Director of Retail and Consumer Products at Ernst & Young LLP from 1996 to 2000 and the
Managing Partner of the Toronto Midtown Office at Ernst & Young LLP from 1991 to 1996, In these roles.
Mr. Tissenbaum provided consulting services to senior management in the areas of strategy, profitability.
finance, management, taxation, mergers, acquisitions and divestitures. Mr. Tissenbaum has been serving as a
director and consultant to numerous privale companies since June 2005. Mr. Tissenbaum has also taken
numerous leadership roles in not-for-profit organizations. Mr. Tissenbaum qualified as a chartered accountant
in Quebec in 1968 and in Ontario in 1974. He is a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
and the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario.

George Krieser — Director

Mr. Krieser has been the President of Total Credit Recovery Limited (“Total Credit”) since he founded the
business in November 1980, Total Credit is a Canadian collection agency with over 500 employees that offers
accounts receivable management, collections and call centre services through its offices in Vancouver,
Edmonton, Toronto, Montreal, Moncton, Halifax and Ottawa. Total Credit has recently expanded into the
US. Total Credit’s customers include governments, financial institutions and large business concerns.
Mr. Krieser serves on the Board of Directors of Baycrest Hospital and is involved with numerous charitable
organtzations, including the SickKids Foundation.

Christine Cantor, MBA — Director

Ms. Cantor is currently a Senior Vice-President of Sempra. She has held this and other executive and
managenal positions with Sempra and its predecessors since 1994, Sempra is one of North America’s largest
full-service energy trading companies. Sempra markets and trades physical and [inancial energy products: crude
oil and refined products, natural gas and natural gas liquids, power, coal, emissions and ethanol. For more
information regarding Sempra, sce “Business of Universal — Relationship with Sempra”. Among other things,
Ms. Cantor has been involved in building Sempra’s natural gas, electricity and crude oil marketing and trading
businesses. Ms. Cantor has considerable experience in trading/risk management and the structuring of derivative
and physical products for wholesale encrgy commodity customers. Recently, Ms. Cantor had responsibility for
restructuring and integrating a pre-existing commercial and industrial gas and power sales business into
Sempra’s infrastructure. Ms. Cantor graduated from Louisiana State University with a Business degree in 1990
and obtained an MBA from Loyoela University in 1994,

Stephen Plummer, MBA, CA, CFP — Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Plummer is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the accounting, processing and information
technology groups. Prior 1o joining Universal in 2005, Mr. Plummer ran his own business consulting practice
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from 1994 w 2005, providing financial and business operations consulting to companies in industries ranging
from financial services, encrgy marketing and telecommunication services. Mr. Plummer has significant
experience in the development of online financial systems and is the primary architect behind the integrated
financial and back office system in use at Universal. Prior to starting his own consulting practice in 1994,
Mr. Plummer served as the Chief Financial Officer for a national trust company, and prior to that as a manager
in the financial services group at Ernst & Young. Mr. Plummer qualified as a chartered accountant in 1987 and
as a certified financial planner in 1998, He graduated from York University with a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree in 1985 and an MBA in 1991. Mr. Plummer is also a graduate of the Canadian Institute
of Chartered Accountants in-depth tax specialist program.

Nino C. Silvestri, MA — Chief Operating Officer, Electricity and Gas Marketing

In addition to overall responsibility for corporate operations at Universal, Mr. Silvestri has primary
responsibility for the management of Universal’s electricity and natural gas supply arrangements and is also
responsible for regulatory and government affairs. Mr. Silvestri brings approximately 25 vears of energy industry
experience to Universal, with significant exposure to energy supply management. Prior to joining Universal in
2005, Mr. Silvestri operated his own energy services company from 2000 to 2005. Mr. Silvestri was Senior
Vice-President, Marketing and Business Development at Direct Energy from 1997 to 2000). Prior to joining
Direct Energy, Mr. Silvestri held various management and marketing positions at TransCanada Pipelines from
1982 to 1992. Mr. Silvestri has been a Board Member of the Ontario Energy Retailers Association, the Ontario
Natural Gas Association and the Coalition of Eastern Natural Gas Aggregators. In addition, he has appcared as
an expert witness before the QEB, The Manitoba Public Utilities Board and The British Columbia International
Commercial Arbitration Centre. Mr. Silvestri is a graduate of York University where he obtained a Master of
Arts degrce in Economics. He is also a graduate of Wilfrid Laurier University where he obtained an Honours
Bachclor of Business Administration degree.

Committees of the Board of Directors

The Board of Dircctors of the Company will initially establish three commitiees: (i) an Audit Committee;
(i) a Compensation, Nominating and Governance Committee; and (iii) a Risk Management Committee. Each
of these committecs will be guided by a charter to be cstablished by the Board of Directors,

Audit Committee

The primary purpose of the Audit Committee will be to assist the Company’s Board of Directors in
discharging its oversight and evaluation responsibilities. In particular, the Audit Committee will oversee the
Company’s tinancial reporting process. The Audit Committee will also review and report to the Board on: the
quality and integrity of the Company’s financial statements and other financial information; compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements related to financial reporting; the effectiveness of the systems of control
cstablished by management to safeguard the assets of the Company; the maintenance of accounting and other
records; annual and quarterly interim financial information; the independent audit process, including
recommending the appointment and compensation of the cxternal auditor, and assessing the qualifications,
performance and independence of the external auditor; all non-audit scrvices; the development and
maintenance of procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and the confidential anonymous
submission by employees of the Company and its subsidiaries of concerns regarding questionable accounting or
auditing matters; the review of environment, insurance and other liability exposure issucs relevant to the affairs
of the Company; and any additional matters delegated to the Audit Committee by the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has the right, for the purposes of performing its duties, to maintain direct
communication with the Company’s external auditors and Board of Directors, to inspect all books and records of
the Company and its affiliates, to seck any information it requires from any employee of the Company and its
affiliates and to retain outside counsel or other experts.

The Audit Committee will be required to meet at least once a quarter and will be comprised of a minimum
ol three directors, each of whom will be “independent” and “financially literate” within the meaning of
applicable securities laws.
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Compensation, Nominating and Governance Committee

The Compensation, Nominating and Governance Committee will assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling
its oversight responsibilities in relation to the sclection, retention, compensation, benefits, severunce and
professional development of the directors of the Company and the senior officers of the Company. The
Committee will consider the size, composition and structure of the Board of Directors and its Committees and
director orientation and continuing education. The Compensation, Nominating and Governance Committec will
also review the Company’s overall approach 1o governance, including matters involving actual or potential
conflicts of interest, matters relating to the Company's Code of Conduct and Ethics and, on referral from the
Audit Committee, matters relating to complaints received by the Company. The Committec will meet with
senior management on an annual basis, and correspond with such senior management as necessary, to review the
Company’s performance.

The Compensation, Nominating and Governance Committee will be required to meet at least
semi-annually and will be comprised of a minimum of three dircctors.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee is the committee to which the Board wiil delegate certain responsibilities
relating to corporate finance and capitalization policy and risk management policies. The Risk Management
Committec will also prepare and provide reports to the Board on hedging activities, including financial forecasts,
debt levels, financial instruments, and where required, provide information from such reports for inclusion in the
Company’s disclosure documents. The objective of the Risk Management Committee will be to assist the Board
in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities (particularly in respect of accountability) in respect of the assessment,
monitoring and management of principle business risks.

The Risk Management Committce will be required to meet at least semi-annually and witl be comprised of
a minimum of three directors,

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Summary Compensation Table -— Universal

The following table provides a summary of compensation information for the President, the Chief Financial
Officer and the Chief Operating Officer of Universal (collectively, the “Universal Named Executive Officers”)
during the year ended September 30, 2006. No other individual served as the Chief Executive Officer or the
Chief Financial Officer of Universal during the year ended September 30, 2006 and no other executive officer of
Universal had a total salary and bonus that exceeded $150,000 during the year ended September 34, 2006.

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards Payout
Securities Shares or
Under Units

Cptions/ Subject to
Name and Other Annual SARs Resale LTIP AH Other
Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Compensation® Granted  Restrictions  Payouts  Compensation

3 $ $ # $ 3 $

Mark Silver . ... .. ... 2006 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
President
Stephen Plummert™® . . 2006 150,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nit Nil
Chief Financial Officer
Nino Silvestrit¥ . . .. . .. 2006 22,000 10,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Chief Operating Officer

Notes:

(1) The aggregate amount of all perquisites and other personal benefits, securities or property received by each Universal Named Executive
Officer was less than $50,000 and 109 of the total of the annual salary and bonus of the Universal Named Executive Officer for the year
cnded September 30, 2006,

(2} These amounts were paid to Stephen Plummer, Chartered Accoumant, as consulting fees.

{3) These amounts were paid 1o a management service corporation that is wholly-owned by Mr. Silvestri.
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Summary Compensation Table — TGF

The following table provides a summary of compensation information for the President and Chief Executive
Officer of TGF (the “TGF Named Executive Officer™) during the year ended September 30, 2006. TGF did not
have a Chief Financial Ofticer during the year ended September 30, 2006, In addition, no other individual served
as the Chief Executive Officer of TGF during the year ended September 30, 2006 and no exccutive officer of
TGF-had a total salary and bonus that excceded $130,0000 during the vear cnded September 34, 2006.

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards Payom
Securities Shares or
Under Units
Options/ Subject to
Other Annoal SARs Resale LTIP All Other
Namie and Principal Position Year  Salary  Bonus  Compensation' Granted Restrictions  Payouts  Compensation
$ $ $ # 5 3 S
Tim LaFrance .. .... ... 2006 Nil Nil Nil Nil il Nil Nil

President and Chief
Executive Officer

Long Term Incentive Plan Awards

Neither Universal nor TGF had any plans providing compensation intended to motivate performance over
a period greater than one financial year during the year ended September 30, 2006.

Options and Stock Appreciation Rights

Neither Universal nor TGF had any option plans or stock appreciation rights plans in place during the year
ended September 30, 2(06.

Defined Benefit or Actuarial Plans

Neither Universal nor TGF had any defined bencfit or actuarial plans in place during the year ended
September 30, 2006 under which benefits are determined primarily by final compensation (or average final
compensation) and years of service,

Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities and Employment Contracts

Except as described below, there were no employment contracts between Universal or any of its subsidiaries
and a Universal Named Executive Officer in existence at the end of the most recently completed financial year.
In addition, ecxcept as described below, there were no compensatory plans, contracts or arrangements in
existence at the end of the most recently completed financial year pursuant to which a Universal Named
Exccutive Officer is emitled to receive more than $100,000 from Universal or any of its subsidiaries, including
periedic payments or instalments, in the event of: (i) the resignation, retirement or any other termination of the
Universal Named Executive Officer's employment with Universal or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) a change of
control of Universal or any of its subsidiaries; or (1) a change in the Universal Named Executive Officer’s
responsibilities following a change of control.

Universal is a party to a consulting agreement dated April 1, 2005 with a management services corporation
(“MSC”) that is wholly-owned by Mr. Silvestri, Universal’s Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Silvestri’s MSC is
entitled to an annual basc retainer of $220,000 per annum. The initial term of the agreement is for a period of
three years, Universal may at any time after April 1, 2007 terminate thc agreement upon payment to
Mr. Silvestri's MSC of an amount equal to onc-half of the annual retainer otherwise payable to the MSC
pursuant to the agreement. The consulting agreement will be amended in connection with the Closing.

There were no employment contracts between TGFE or any of its subsidiarics and the TGF Named
Exccutive Officer in existence at the end of the mast recently completed financial year. In addition, there were
no compensatory plans, contracts or arrangements in existence at the end of the most recently completed
financial year pursuant to which the TGF Named Exccutive Officer is entitled to receive more than $100,000
from TGF or any of its subsidiaries, including periodic payments or instalments, in the event of: (i) the
resignation, retirement or any other termination of the TGF Named Executive Officer’s employment with TGF
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or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) a change of control of TGF or any of its subsidiaries; or (iii) a change in the TGF
Named Executive Officer’s responsibilitics following a change of control.

It is anticipated that on Closing the Company will enter into employment agreements with cach of its senior
officers on terms and conditions subject to approval by the Compensation, Nominating and Governance
Commitiee and the Board of Directors. It is expected that the agreements will provide for a base salary, together
with cash performance bonuses and other incentives as may be determined from time to time by the
Compensation, Nominating and Governance Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. Other terms
and conditions of the agreements, including the termination, severance and non-competition arrangements, will
be consistent with employment agreements for senior cxccutives of comparable cntities,

Compensation of Directors

Each of the directors of the Company (other than those who are corporate officers of the Company) is
entitled 1o receive an annual retainer of $15,000. The chairs of the Compensation, Nominating and Governance
Committee and the Audit Committee arc entitled to reccive an additional annual retainer of $5,000 each and
the members of cach Committee of the Board (other than those who are corporate officers of the Company) are
entitled to receive an additional annual retainer of $1,000 each. In addition, each of the directors of the
Company (other than those who are corporate officers of the Company) is entitled to receive a fee of $1,000 for
each Board or Committec meeting attended in person or by telephone. Each independent director serving on
the Board will be entitled to participate in the Option Plan. See “Incentive Plans — Option Plan”.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Ms. Wightman nor Ms. Cantor will receive any compensation from the
Company for acting as a director of the Company and neither will participate in the Option Plan.

In the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, no fees were paid to the directors of Universal and there were
no: (i) standard compensation arrangements pursuant to which amounts were ¢arned by directors of Universal
for their services as dircctors from Universal or any of its subsidiaries during the financial year, including any
additional amounts payable for committee participation or special assignments; (ii} other arrangements under
which directors were compensated for their services as directors by Universal or any of its subsidiaries during the
financial year; and (iii) other arrangements, under which directors of Universal were compensated for services as
consultants or experts by Universal or any of its subsidiarics during the financial year.

In the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, no fees were paid to the directors of TGF and there were no:
(i standard compensation arrangements pursuant to which amounts were carned by directors of TGF [or their
services as directors from TGF or any of its subsidiaries during the financial year, including any additional
amounts payable for committee participation or special assignments; (i) other arrangements under which
directors were compensated for their services as directors by TGF or any of its subsidiaries during the financial
year; and (iii} other arrangements, under which directors of TGF were compensated for services as consultants
or experts by TGF or any of its subsidiaries during the financial year.

Insurance Coverage for Directors and Officers and Indemnification

The Company will obtain a directors” and officers’ liability insurance policy, which will cover corporate
indemmification of directors and officers and individual dircctors and officers in certain circumstances. In
addition, the Company has ¢ntered into (or will enter into) indemnification agreements with each of its directors
and officers for liabilitics and costs in respect of any action or suit against them in cennection with the exccution
of their duties, subject to customary limitations prescribed by applicable law.

Indebtedness of Directors and Officers

No individual who is, or who at any time since the incorporation of the Company has been, a director or
exccutive officer of the Company (or an associate of any such individual): (i) is at the date of this prospectus,
indebted to the Company or a subsidiary of the Company (other than in respect of routine indebtedness); or
(i) at the date of this prospectus, has indebtedness to another entity that is the subject of a guarantee, support
agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Company or a
subsidiary of the Company.
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Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies

Except as set forth below, no director ar officer of the Company or sharcholder holding a sufficient number
of Common Shares to affect materially the control of the Company is, or within the 10 years prior to the date
hercof has been, a director or officer of any other issucr that, while that person was acting in that capacity,
(i) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the other issuer access to any
statutory cxemptions under applicable securitics laws for a period of more than 30 consccutive days, or
(ii) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptey or insolvency or was subject
to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or comproniise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager
or trustee appointed to hold its assets.

Mr. Drummond is a trustee of Heating Oil Partners Income Fund (the “Fund™) and formerly scrved as a
director of its subsidiarics, HOP Holdings, Inc. {(*HOP Holdings”) and Hcating Oil Partners G.P. Inc.
(“HOP G.P”). HOP G.P. was the general partner of Heating Qil Partners, L.P. (*HOP"), a Dclawarc limited
partnership that carried on a heating oil and liquid petroleum products distribution business in the northeastern
United States. On Sceptember 26, 2005, HOP filed a voluntary petition for reorganization under Chapter 11 of
the US. Bunkruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Connecticut. Bridgeport
Division. HOP sought and obtained recognition of the U.S. proceedings in Canada under the Companies’
Creditors Arrangement Act. Both the U.S. and the Canadian filings included HOP G.P. and HOP Holdings. The
Fund was not directly a party to these filings. As a consequence of these filings, the Fund’s trust units were
suspended from listing on the TSX effective at the close of business on October 6, 2005 and were subsequently
delisted on November 7, 2005. The Ontario Superior Court of Justice Commercial List (the “CCAA Court™)
issued an order on June 26, 2006 rccognizing and implementing the order of the United States Bankruptey
Court that confirmed the First Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization, as amended, of HOP and HOP G.P.
pursuant to Chapter 11 of the US. Bankruptcy Code. The CCAA Court also issued an order authorizing
HOP Holdings to file an assignment in bankruptey pursuant o the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act.

Penalties or Sanctions

Nao director or officer of the Company or sharcholder holding a sufficicnt number of Common Shares to
affect materially the control of the Company has (i) been subject to any penaltics or sanctions imposed by a
court relating to Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority, or has entered
into a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority, or (i) been subject to any other
penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body.

Personal Bankruptcies

No director or officer of the Company or sharcholder holding a sufficient number of Common Shares to
affect materially the control of the Company (or personal holding company of any such person) has, during the
10 years prior to the date hereof, become bankrupt or made a proposal under any legislation relating to
bankruptcy or insolvency or has been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with
creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold his or her assets.

Conflicts of Interest

There are no known existing or potential material conflicts of interest among the Company or a subsidiary
ot the Company and their respective directors or officers as a result of their outside business interests, except
that certain of the directors and officers serve as directors and/or officers of other public companies which may
be involved in the industries in which the Company participates and therefore it is possible that a conflict may
arise between their duties as a director or officer of the Company and their duties as a director and/or officer of
such other companies. In accordance with the CBCA, directors who have a material interest in any person who
is a party to a material contract or proposed material contract with the Company are required, subject to certain
exceptions, to disclose that interest and abstain from voting on any resolution to approve that contract. In
addition, the directors are required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the
Company. See “Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions”, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Management’s Discussion and Analysis —
Universal — Transactions with Related Partics” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
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Condition and Results of Operations — Management’s Discussion and Analysis — TGF — Transactions with
Related Parties™.

INCENTIVE PLANS
Option Plan

Prior to Closing, the Company will establish the Option Plan, which is intended to aid in attracting,
rctaining and motivating the officers, directors, employces and other cligible service providers of the Company
and its subsidiarics.

The maximum number of Common Shares issuable on cxercise of outstanding options at any time is limited
Lo 7% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares, less the number of Common Shares issuable pursuant to
outstanding RSUs pursuant fo the RSU Plan. Any increase in the issued and outstanding Common Shares
{whether as a result of the exercise of options or otherwise) will result in an increase in the number of Common
Shares that may be issued on exercise of options outstanding at any time and any increase in the number of
options granted, upon exercise, makes new grants available under the Option Plan. Options that are cancelled,
terminated or expire prior to the excrcise of all or a portion thereof shall result in the Common Shares that were
reserved for issuance thereunder being available for a subsequent grant of options pursuant to the Option Plan
to the extent of any Common Shares issuable thereunder that are not issued under such cancelled, terminated or
expired options.

Options granted pursuant to the Option Plan have a term not exceeding five years and vest in such manner
as determined by the Board. Options granted under the Option Plan are non-assignable. The exercise price of
options granted is determined by the Board at the time of grant and may not be less than the closing price of the
Common Shares on the TSX on the last trading day prior to the date of grant.

The number of Common Shares reserved for issuance to any one optionee may not exceed 5% of the issued
and outstanding Common Shares. In addition, the number of Common Shares under all security based
compensation arrangements of the Company: (i) issuable to insiders at any time shall not exceed 10% of the
issued and outstanding Common Shares; and (ii) issued to insiders within any one year period shall not exceed
10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares. Also, the maximum number of Common Shares issuable on
exercise of options cutstanding at any time held by directors of the Company who are not officers or employees
of the Company is limited to 1.0% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.

In case of death of an optionee, options terminate on the date determined by the Board which may not be
more than 12 months from the date of death and, if the optionee shall no longer be a director or officer of or be
in the employ of, or a consultant or other service provider to, either the Company or a subsidiary of the
Company (other than by reason of death), their options terminate on the expiry of a period not in excess of six
months as determined by the Board at the time of grant. The number of Common Shares that an optionee
(or his or her heirs or successors) are entitled to purchase until such date of termination: (i) shall in the case of
death of the optionee, be all of the Common Shares that may be acquired on exercise of the options held by such
optionee (or his or her heirs or successors) whether or not previously vested and the vesting of all such options
shall be accelerated on the date of death for such purpose; and (ii) in any case other than death, shall be the
number of Common Shares which the optionee was entitled to purchase on the date the optionee ceased to be a
service provider.

Except if not permitted by the TSX, if any options may not be exercised due to any Black-Out Period at any
time within the three business day period prior to the normal expiry date of such options (the “Restricted
Options™), the expiry date of all Restricted Options shall be extended for a period of seven business days
following the end of the Black-Out Period {or such longer period as permitted by the TSX and approved by the
Board). A “Black-Out Period” means the period of time when, pursuant to any policies of the Company, any
securities of the Company may not be traded by certain persons as designated by the Company, including any
holder of an option.

An optionee may, under the terms of the Option Plan, make an offer {the “Surrender Offer™) 1o the
Company, at any time, for the disposition and surrender by the optionee to the Company (and the termination
thercof) of any options for an amount (not to exceed the fair market value thereof) specified in the Surrender
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Offer and the Company may, but is not obligated to, accept the Surrender Offer, subject to any required
regulatory approval.

The Board may amend or discontinue the Option Plan at any time without the consent of a holder of
options, provided that such amendment shall not alter or impair any options previously granted under the
Option Plan (except as otherwise permitted under the Option Plan). In addition, the Board may, by resolution,
amend the Option Plan and any options granted under it without sharcholder approval provided, however, that
the Board will not be entitled to amend the Option Plan without sharcholder approval in circumsiances where it
is required by the TSX. Pursuant to the current requirecments of the TSX, disinterested shareholder approval is
required for a reduction in the exercise price of options or an extension of the term of options held by insiders.

Sempra, in its capacity as a scrvice provider to the Company, will be eligible to participate in the Option
Plan. The Company has agreed that Sempra will be granted such number of options from time to time as is
cqual to onc-half of the aggregate number of options granted to the Promoters (or entities over which they have
direct or indirect control or direction) from time to time.

It is currently anticipated that options to purchasc Common Sharcs, excrcisable at the Offering Price, will
be granted on or about the Closing Dale.

Restricted Share Unit Plan

Prior to Closing, the Company will establish a restricted share unit plan (the *RSU Plan”) as a discretionary
incentive compensation plan to provide officers, dircclors, employees and other eligible service providers of the
Company and any subsidiary thercof who provide services 1o the Company (collectively, “Service Providers™)
with the opportunity to acquire Common Shares of the Company through an award of restricted share units
{"Restricted Share Units” or “RSUs”). Each RSU represents a right 10 receive one Common Share.

In accordance with the terms of the RSU Plan, the Board approves which Service Providers are entitled to
participate in the RSU Plan (the “participants™) and the terms of each award. including the number of RSUs to
be awarded to each participant and any acceleration of vesting or waiver of termination of any award. No award
may have a term in excess of seven years. RSUs awarded to participants are credited to an account that is
established on their behalf and maintained in accordance with the RSU Plan. Each RSU awarded conditionally
entitles the participant to the delivery of one Common Share upon attainment of the RSU vesting period. RSUs
awarded o participants vest in accordance with terms determined by the Board from time to time, which terms
may include certain performance criteria in which the number of Common Shares to be delivered to a
participant in respect of cach RSU awarded is dependent upon the Company’s performance and/or market price
of the Common Shares, as determined by the Board, The performance (erms that the Board may apply to RSUs
are intended to strengthen the link betwcen the Company’s performance and the value of the RSUs at the time
that they are paid out. RSUs are non-transferable. The Board may delcgate its administrative authority under
the RSU Plan to a committee of the Board.

A participant’s account will be credited with dividend equivalents in the form of additional RSUs as of each
dividend payment date. if any, in respect of which dividends are paid on Common Shares.

At the time that any RSUs are granted under the RSU Plan, the Board will determine whether the
Common Shares to be delivered to participants upon the vesting of such RSUs will be purchased on the open
market, issued from treasury or obtained from a combination of market purchases and treasury issuances.
Common Shares issued from treasury are issued from the pool of Common Shares that are available to be issued
under the RSU Plan. The RSU Plan provides that the maximum number of Common Shares reserved for
issuance from time to time pursuant to ouistanding RSUs shall not exceed a number of Common Shares equal
to 7% of the aggregate of the number of issued and outstanding Common Shares, less the number of Common
Shares issuable on exercise of outstanding options pursuant to the Option Plan. To the extent that RSUs are
terminated or cancelled prior to the issuance of any Common Shares, such Common Shares underlying such
award shall be added back to the number of shares reserved for issuance under the RSU Plan and will become
available for grant again under the RSU Plan.

The RSU Plan also provides thal the number of Common Shares reserved for issnance and which may be
issued within a one-year period, pursuant to RSUs granted to insiders {as defined in the Securities Act (Ontario))
pursuant to the RSU Plan and all other share compensation arrangements established by the Company is limited
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to 10% of the number of Common Shares issued and outstanding, excluding any Common Shares issued
pursuant to share compensation arrangements during the immediately preceding one-year period. Furthermore,
the number of Common Shares which may be issued within a one-year period 1o any one insider and such
insider’s associates (as defined in the Securities Act (Ontario)) pursuant to the RSU Plan and all other share
compensation arrangements is lhimited to 3% of the number of Common Shares issued and outstanding,
exciuding any Common Shares issued pursuant to share compensation arrangements during the immediately
preceding one-year period.

Unless othcrwise determined by the Board or unless otherwise provided in any written employment
agreement governing a participant’s role as a Service Provider, if a participant’s service with the Company
terminates for cause, then all unvested RSUs will automatically terminate. Upon a participant’s voluntary
resignation, all unvested RSUs will automatically terminate, provided however, that the Board has discretion to
accelerate vesting or permit continued vesting of the RSUs upon written request by the participant. If a
participant’s services terminate without causc or as a result of the participant’s disability, then the participant’s
awards will generally continue to vest in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in the participant’s award
agreement. Upon a participant’s retirement or death, all outstanding RSUs held by the participant shall
immediately vest and Common Shares shall become deliverable.

If the Common Shares to be delivered upon the vesting of RSUs are purchased in the market instead of
issued from treasury, after RSUs are awarded to participants and prior to vesting, the Company will provide
funds to a trust established for the purpose of purchasing on the market, and holding in trust, Common Shares
to be delivered to Canadian participants in exchange for RSUs once the applicable vesting criteria have
been met.

Upon a subdivision or consolidation of the Common Shares or apy similar capital reorganization or
payment of a stock dividend (other than a stock dividend that is in lieu of a cash dividend) or any similar change
in the capitalization of the Company, the Board may make any appropriate equitable adjustments to the number
of shares reserved for issuance under the RSU Plan and to the number of Common Shares underlying any
outstanding award. In addition, the Board may make any other appropriate amendments to or replacement of
outstanding RSUs in the event of an amalgamation, combination, merger or other reorganization involving the
Company in order to preserve proportionately the rights and obligations of the participants. Where the Board
determines that the steps described above would not preserve such rights and obligations or otherwise
determines it 1o be appropriate, the Board may permit accelerated vesting and delivery of Commaon Shares with
respect to outstanding RSUs.

Under no circumstances will RSUs be considered Common Shares nor shall they entitle the participant to
cxercisc voting rights or any other rights attaching to the ownership of Common Shares, nor shall any participant
be considered the owner of the Common Shares by virtue of the award of RSUs.

The Company has the right to amend from time to time or 10 terminate the terms and conditions of the
RSU Plan by resolution of the Board. Any amendments arc subject to the prior consent of any applicable
regulatory badies, including the TSX.

It is currently anticipated that RSUs will be granted on or about the Closing Date.

Other Incentive Plans

The Board or the Compensation, Nominating and Governance Committee may also in the future establish
other incentive based compensation plans.
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CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalization of the Company as at November 1, 2006, both
before and after giving effect to the Offering and the Acquisitions. This table should be read in conjunction with
the financial statements and the notes thercto included elsewhere in this prospectus.

P’ro Forma as at November 1, 2006,
At November 1, after giving effect to the (Mfering

Authorized 20064 and the Acquisitions
Shareholders’ Equity
Common Shares®® L. Unlimited $1 $236,661,008
{1 shurc) (30,272.728 sharcs)
LongTerm Debt™® ... ... .. .. ... .. ... N/A $nil $ 73,882,339

Notes:

(1) The Company was incorporated gn November 1, 2006 and issued one (1) Common Share for consideration of $1.00.

(2) Represents the marked-to-market valuation of Universal's Electricity Swaps. See “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of
Universal — Amended Electricity Swap Agreement” and “Muanagement Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Universal™,

(3) Itis currently anticipated that options to purchase Common Shares, exercisable at the OGifering Price, will be granted on or about the
Closing Date. See “Incentive Plans — Option Plan™. 1t is currently anticipated that RSUs will be granted on or about the Closing Date.
See “Incentive Plans — Restricted Share Unit Plan”.

(4) Based on the issuance of 11,363,637 Common Shares for aggregate gruss proceeds of $125.000.007, less the Underwriters’ fee of
37,500,000 and expenses of the Offering estimated to be $2,500,000, the net proceeds from the Offering arc estimated 1o be
$115,000,007. Also assumes that 24.909.090 Common Shares arc jssucd to the Existing Sharcholders in connection with the
Acquisitions. These figures do not give effect to the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option.
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PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF COMMON SHARES

To the knowledge of the Company, immediatcly following the Closing and the completion of the
Acquisitions (and assuming the Over-Alloiment Option is not exercised), no person or company will beneficially
own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, Common Shares carrying more than 10% of the
outstanding voting rights attached to the Common Shares, other than the following:

Number of Common Shares S of Common Shares after
after giving effect ta the giving effect to the Offering and
Sharcholder Type of Ownership Offering and the Acquisitions'' the Acquisitions*®!
Sempra Energy Trading
Corp! o oo of record and beneficial 4,950,320 13.6
Gary Drummond®® control and direction 6.917.546 19.1
Mark Silver®®Gy of record, benefical and 7.347.584 203

control and direction

Nutes:

{1} Sempra is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sempra Energy, a New York Stock Exchange listed energy services holding company. See
“Business of Universal — Relationship with Sempra’.

(2} Mr. Drummond controls Gasco and Altfuel Strategic Investments Led. (“Altfuel™). Gasco will be the regisiered and beneficial owner of
4,411,345 Common Shares (12.2%) and Alifucl will be the registered and benefictal owner of 2.506.201 Common Shares (6.9%).

{3} Mr. Silver will be the registered and beneficial owner of 45,430 Common Shares (0.19%), will contral Silverco (which will vwn
1,876,955 Common Shares (5.29)) and will exercise the voting rights attached to the 5,425,200 Common Shares (15.09) owned by the
principals of the Distributors pursuant to the pooling agreement described in Note (3).

{4} On or prior to the Closing Date, Silverco, Gasco, Sempra, Nino Silvestri, $tephen Plummer and Kevin Sterling will enter into a pooling
agreement on terms satisfactory to each such party in respect of the Common Shares hetd by them. The pooling agreement will provide
that the Common Shares subject to the agreement, or a pro rata portion of such Comimon Shares, shall be released as Silverco, Gasco
and Sempra may frem time to time unanimously agree in writing, provided that the Commoen Shares remaining subject to the pooling
agreement on June 30, 2010 shall be released on that date. Each party to the pooling agreement will be entitled 10 exercise the voling
rights attached to its Common Shares.

{3) On or prior 1o the Closing Date, the principal of each of the Distributors (collectively, the “Principals™), UEC Distributors, Mark Silver
and Gary Drummond will enter into a pooling agrecment on terms satisfactory o cach such party in respect of the Common Shares
held by the Principals. The pooling agreement will provide that the Common Shares subject to the agreement will be released as
follows: {i) the Common Shares, or a pro rata portion of the Common Shares, may be released with the prior written consent of Mark
Silver from time to time: (ii) a proportionate number of the Comman Shares, comprising a pro rata portion of the Common Shares of
the Principals, shail be released concurrently at the time of any sale by Silverco or Gasco of any of the Common Shares held by them:
and (iit) the Common Shares remaining subject 10 the pooling agreement on January 31, 2011 shall be released on that date. The
Principals have appointed Mark Silver as voting trustee under the pooling agreement and Mr. Silver will therefure be entitled to
exercise the voting rights attached to the Common Sharcs subject 1o the pooling agreement.

(6) Other than the pooling agreements described in Notes (4) and (5) above, to the knowledge of the Company, none of the voting
securities of the Company are held, or are w be held following Closing, subject to any voting trusts or other similar agreement.

(7) To the knowledge of the Company, no principal shareholder named above is an associate or affiliate of any other person or company
named as a principal sharcholder above.

(8) If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the ownership, control and/or direction of Common Shares of the principal
shareholders will be as follows: Sempra Energy Trading Corp. 4,609,780 Common Shares (12.7%); Gary Drummond 6.438.846 Commun
Shares (17.8%); and Mark Silver 6,844,687 Common Shares (18.955).
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DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares, an
unlimited number of first preferred shares, issuable in series, and an unlimited number of second preferrcd
shares, i1ssuable in series. Upon compietion of this Offering (and assuming the Over-Allotment Option is not
cxercised), there will be issued and outstanding 36,272,728 Common Shares and no preferred shares. Sce
“Consolidated Capitalization”. In addition, the Company anticipates amending its articles in connection with
Closing to create a special share that will be issucd to Sempra. The special share will provide Sempra with the
right to appoint one director to the Board of the Company during the term of the New Commodity Agreements
but will have no other voting or economic rights except as requircd by law.

Comunon Shares

Holders of Common Shares arc entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote at all meetings of
sharcholders of the Company, except meetings of holders of another class of shares. Each Common Share
entitles the holder thercof to one vote.

Subject to the preferences accorded to holders of first preferred sharcs, second preferred shares and any
other shares of the Company ranking senior to the Common Shares from time to time with respect to the
payment of dividends, holders of Common Shares are entitled to reccive, if, as and when declared by the Board,
such dividends us may be declared thereon by the Board from time 1o time.

In the event of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, or any
other distribution of its asscls among its sharcholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs
{a “Distribution”}, holders of Common Shares are entitled, subject 1o the preferences accorded to the holders of
first preferred shares, sccond preferred shares and any other shares of the Company ranking senior Lo the
Common Shares from time to time with respect Lo payment on a Distribution, to share equally, share for share,
in the remaining property of the Company.

First Preferred Shares

Subject to the filing of articles of amendment in accordance with the CBCA, the Board may at any time and
from time to time issuc the first preferred shares in one or more series, each series to consist of such number of
shares as may, before the issuance thereof, be determined by the Board. Subject to the filing of articles of
amendment in accordance with the CBCA, the Board may from time to time fix, before issvance, the
designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to cach serics of first preferred shares
including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amount, if any, specified as being paid
preferentially to such series on a Distribution; the extent. if any, of further participation on a Distribution; voting
rights, if any; and dividend rights (including whether such dividends be preferential or cumulative or
non-cumulative), if any.

In the event of a Distribution, holders of each series of first preferred shares shall be entitled, in priority to
holders of Common Shares, second preferred shares and any other shares of the Company ranking junior to the
first preferred shares from time to time with respect to payment on a Distribution, to be paid rateably with
holders of cach other scries of first preferred shares the amount, if any, specified as being payable preferentially
to the holders of such series on a Distribution,

The holders of each series of first preferred shares shall be entitled, in priority 10 holders of Common
Shares, second preferred shares and any other shares of the Company ranking junior to the first preferred shares
from time to fime with respect to the payment of dividends, to be paid rateably with holders of each other series
of first preferred shares, the amount of accumulated dividends, if any, specified as being payable preferentially
to the holders of such series.

Second Preferred Shares

Subject to the filing of articles of amendment in accordance with the CBCA, the Board may at any time and
from time to time issue the second preferred shares in one or more series, ¢ach series to consist of such number
of shares as may, before the issuance thereol, be determined by the Board. Subject to the filing of articles of
amendment in accordance with the CBCA, the Board may from time to nme fix, before issuance, the
designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to cach series of second prelerred shares
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including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amount, if any, specified as being payable
preferentially to such series on a Distribution; the extent, if any, of further participation on a Distribution; voting
rights, if any: and dividend rights (including whether such dividends be preferential, or cumulative or
non-cumulative}, if any.

In the event of a Distribution, holders of each series of second preferred shares shall be entitled, subject to
the preference accorded to holders of first preferred shares but in priority to holders of Common Sharcs and any
other shares of the Company ranking junior to the second preferred shares from time to time with respect to
payment on a Distribution, to be paid rateably with holders of cach other series of second preferred shares the
amount, if any, specified as being payable preferentially to the holders of such series on a Distribution.

The holders of each series of second preferred shares shall be entitled, subject to the preference accorded
to the holders of first preferred shares but in priority to holders of Common Shares and any other shares of the
Company ranking junior to the second preferred shares from time to time with respect to the payment of
dividends, to be paid ratcably with holders of cach other series of second preferred shares, the amount of
accumulated dividends, if any, specified as being payable preferentially to the holders of such series.

ESCROW OF SECURITIES

Each of the Existing Sharecholders will, prior to the Closing of the Offering, cnter into the Escrow
Agrcement with the Company and Computershare Investor Services Inc., in its capacity as escrow trustee.
Pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, all of the Common Shares held by the Existing Shareholders following the
Closing of the Otffering and the completion of the Acquisitions, being 24,909,090 Common Shares in aggregate
representing 69% of the issued and outstanding Commeon Shares following the Closing of the Offering and the
completion of the Acquisitions (23,204,544 Common Sharcs representing 64% of the issued and outstanding
Common Shares if the Over-Allotment Option is excrcised in full), will be deposited with the escrow trustee.

The Universal Existing Shareholders and the TGF Management Shareholders (who will collectively hold
20,541,144 Common Shares representing 57% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares following the
Closing of the Otfering and the completion of the Acquisitions and 19,126,781 Common Shares representing
53% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares if the Over-Allotment Qption is exereised in full) will be
subject to a three year escrow period. One third of the Common Shares held by such sharcholders on the
Closing Date will be released from escrow on each of the first three anniversaries of the Closing Date.

The TGF Non-Management Sharcholders (who will collectively hold 4,367,946 Common Shares
representing 12% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares following the Closing of the Offering and the
completion of the Acquisitions and 4,077,763 Common Sharcs representing 1% of the issued and outstanding
Common Shares if the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full) will be subject 1o an 18 month escrow period.
One half of the Commaon Shares held by each of the TGF Non-Management Shareholders on the Closing Date
will be released from cscrow on the first anniversary of the Closing Date and the remaining Common Shares
held by cach of the TGF Non-Management Sharcholders will be relcased on the 18 month anniversary of the
Closing Date,

Notwithstanding the foregoing, all Common Shares remaining in escrow shall be released upon the death,
permanent disability or involuntary termination (other than for cause) of an Existing Shareholder, or upon a
change of control. All Common Shares subject to the Escrow Agreement may still be voted by the Existing
Sharcholders,

PRIOR SALES

Other than the issuance of one Common Share at incorporation for consideration of $1.00, no Common
Shares have been issued since incorporation, or are to be issued prior to the Closing Date, by the Company.

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

No director, executive officer or shareholder who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises
control or direction over, more than 10% of the outstanding Common Shares, or any known associate or affiliate
of any such person, has or had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the last three
years or in any proposed transaction, that has materially aflected or will materially affect the Company or a
subsidiary of the Company, except as disclosed under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
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Condition and Results of Operations — Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Universal — Transactions
with Related Parties”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Management's Discussion and Analysis —— TGF — Transactions with Related Parties”, “Funding,
Acquisitions and Related Transactions — Acquisition Agreements”, “Principal Agreements — Principal
Agreements of Universal”, “Retained Interest”, “Use of Proceeds”, “Directors and Officers”, “Executive
Compensation”, “Incentive Plans”, “Principal Holders of Common Shares” and “Promoters™.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement among the Company, Universal, TGFE, the Promolters and the
Underwriters, as underwriters, the Company has agreed to sell, and the Underwriters have severally agreed to
purchase, as principals, on the Closing Date, subject to the terms and conditions stated therein, all but not less
than all of the 11,363,637 Common Shares offered hereby at a price of $11.00 per Common Share for an
aggregate price of $125,000,007 payable in cash to the Company against delivery of certificates representing such
Common Shares. In consideration for their services in connection with this Offering, the Company has agreed to
pay the Underwriters an aggregate fee of $7,500,000, or $0.66 per Common Share.

There is no market through which the Common Sharcs may be sold and purchasers may not be able to
resell Common Shares purchased under this prospectus, Accordingly, the Offering Price of the Common Shares
has been determined by negotiation among the Company, the Promoters and the Underwriters. The TSX has
conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares. Listing is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the
requirements of the TSX on or before April 24, 2007, including the distribution of Common Shares to a
minimum number of public shareholders.

The obligations of the Underwriters under the Underwriting Agreement are several and may be terminated
at their discretion based on their assessment of the state of the financial markets and may also be terminated
upon the occurrence of certain stated events. The Underwriters are, however, severally obligated to take up and
pay for all Common Shares offered by this prospectus if any of the Common Shares are purchased under the
Underwriting Agreement. Subject to the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, the Company and the
Promoters have agreed to indemnify the Underwriters and their respective sharcholders, directors, officers,
cmployees and agents against certain liabilities under Canadian provincial and territorial scecurities legislation,
or to contribute to any payments the Underwriters may be required to make in respect thereof.

The Underwriters, as principals, are conditionally offering the Common Shares, subject to prior sale, if, as
and when issued, by the Company and accepted by the Underwriters in accordance with the conditions
contained in the Underwriting Agreement, and subject to approval of certain legal maticrs by their counsel and
satisfaction or waiver of other conditions contained in the Underwriting Agreement, such as the receipt by the
Underwriters of officer’s certificates and legal opinions. The Underwriters reserve the right to withdraw, cancel
or moedify offers to the public and to reject orders in whole or in part and the right is reserved to close the
subscription books at any time without notice.

The Company has granted the Underwriters the Over-Allotment Option exercisable for a period of 30 days
from the date of the Closing to purchase up to an additional 1,704,546 Common Shares (being equal to 15% of
the Common Shares sold at Closing) at the Offering Price solely to cover any over-allotments and for market
stabilization purposes. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full. the total price to the public will be
$143,750,013, the Underwriters’ fee will be $8,623,001 and the net proceeds to the Company will be
$135,125,012. This prospectus also qualifics the distribution of the Over-Allotment Option and the Common
Shares that are issued pursuant to the excrcise of the Over-Allotment Option.

Pursuant to policy statements of the relevant sceuritics commissions, the Underwriters may not, throughout
the period of distribution under the prospectus, bid for or purchase Common Sharcs. The foregoing restriction
is subject to certain exceptions, as long as the bid or purchase is not engaged in for the purpose of creating actual
or apparent active trading in or raising the price of such sccuritics. These exceptions include a bid or purchase
permitted under the by-laws and rules of the TSX relating to market stabilization and passive market-making
activities and a bid or purchase made on behalf of a client where the client’s order was not solicited during the
peried of distribution. In connection with this Offering, the Underwriters may, subject to the foregoing and
applicable law, over-allot or effect transactions that are intended to stabilize or maintain the market price of the
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Common Shares at levels other than those which might otherwise prevail on the open market. Such transactions,
if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

Closing of the Offering is expected to take place on February 2, 2007, or on such later date as may be
agrecd upon by the Company, Universal, TGF and the Underwriters, but not later than February 28, 2007.
Subscriptions for Common Shares will be recetved subject to rejection or allotment, in whole or in part, and the
right is rescrved to close the subscription books at any time without notice. Definitive certificates representing
the Common Shares will be available for delivery at Closing.

The Company has agreed with the Underwriters that it shall not, withoul National Bank Financial Inc.’s
prior written consent, such consent nol to be unreasonably withheld, authorize, issue or sell Common Shares,
other than Common Shares issued pursuant to the Offering and the Acquisitions or Common Shares issued
pursuant to the Option Plan or the RSU Plan, or agree 1o do so or publicly announce any intention to do so, at
any time prior to 180 days after the Closing Date.

It is a condition of Closing that each of the Existing Shareholders shall have delivered to the Underwriters
an undertaking to the effect that, without the prior written consent of National Bank Financial Inc., such consent
not to be unreasonably withheld, other than pursuvant to securities issued in connection with the Offering, the
distribution of Common Shares by an Existing Shareholder to another member of the Existing Shareholder
Group, or the issuance of securities in relation to employee or executive compensation arrangements, during the
period commencing on the date of the Underwriting Agreement and ending on the dale which is 180 days
following the Closing Date, each of the Existing Shareholders will not, directly or indirectly: (i} issue, offer, sell,
contract to scll, exchange or otherwise dispose of any Common Shares; or (it) enter into any put, call, swap or
other arrangement that transfers to another, in wholc or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership
of the Common Shares; whether any such transaction described above is settled by delivery of Common Shares
or other sccuritics of the Company or its subsidiaries, or any securities convertible or exercisable into or
cxchangeable for any Common Shares, or publicly announce any intention to effect any of the foregoing.

The Common Shares offercd hereby have not been and will not be regisiered under the U.S. Securities Act
or the securitics laws of any stales in the United States and, subject to certain exemptions, may not be offered or
sold or otherwise disposcd of within the United States. The Underwriting Agreement permits the Underwriters
to re-offer and resell the Common Shares in the United States to persons who arc qualified institutional buyers
in the United States in accordance with Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act. The Common Shares will be
restricted securitics within the meaning of Rule 144{a)(3} under the U.S. Securities Act. In addition, until
4() days after the commencement of this Offering, any offer or sale of the Common Shares offered hereby within
the United States by any dealer {whether or not participating in this Offering) may violate the registration
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with
Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act.

An officer of National Bank Financial Inc. (“NBF") is a shareholder of TGF and will hold TGF Amalco
Shares at Closing. In addition, two officers of GMP Securities L. (“GMP”) have an interest in a company
{“Holdco™) that is a sharcholder of TGFE which company will hold TGF Amalco Shares at Closing. At the
Closing Time, assuming no excrcise of the Over-Allotment Option the NBF officer will receive from the
Company through a scrics of transactions 255,178 Common Shares and Holdco will receive 75,716 Common
Shares and approximately $290,000 in cash (rcpresenting in cach case less than 1% of the issued and outstanding
Common Shares) in exchange for their respective TGF Amalco Shares. See “Funding, Acquisitions and Related
Transactions”. All Common Shares received by the NBF officer and Holdco will be subject to the same escrow
provisions under the Escrow Agrecment as the Common Shares received by all other TGF Non-Management
Shareholders, Sec “Escrow of Securities”. NBF has no interest, financial or otherwise, in the TGF Amalco
Shares to be held by the NBF officer at Closing. GMP has no interest, financial or otherwise, in the TGF
Amalco Shares to be held by Holdco at Closing.

The decision te distribute the Common Shares offered hereby and the determination of the terms of the
Otfering were made through negotiations between the Company, the Promoters and the Underwriters. As a
consequence of the Offering, NBF and GMP will cach receive its share of the underwriting fec payable to the
Underwriters.
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RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the nisks described below before making an investment decision. The risks
described below are not the only ones facing the Company and holders of the Common Shares. Additional risks
not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business vperations,

Our business, financial condition, revenues or profitability could be materially adversely affected by any of
these risks. The trading price of the Common Shares could decline due to any of these risks, and you may lose all
or part of your investment.

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors,
including the risks faced by us described below and clsewhere in this prospectus. Sce “Forward-Looking
Statements.”

Risks Related to our Retail Electricity and Natural Gas Business
Availability of Supply; Dependence on Sempra; Restrictive Covenants with Sempra

Universal's business model is based on contracting for supply of patural gas and Electricity Swap
agreements to fix margins. There is a risk that Gas Suppliers and/or Electricity Swap counterparties (such as
Sempra) could not deliver due to business failure or supply shortage or that Universal couid not identify
alternatives to Sempra.

All of Universal’s and Universal U.8. s natural gas supply contracts and Electricity Swap contracts are
currently with Sempra. Should Sempra experience financial difficulties or be otherwise unable to perform its
obligations under the Existing Commodity Agrecements or the New Commodity Agreements, the ability of
Universal and Universal U.S. to meet their obligations to their customers and, therefore, their ability to earn
margins on clectricity and natural gas sales, could be adversely affected.

The terms of the Existing Commodity Agreements and the New Commodity Agreements may make it more
difficult for Universal to operate because it must comply with certain financial, organizational, operational and
other restrictive covenants. Among other things, the New Commodity Agreements will restrict Universal's ability
to undertake the following activities, subject to the approval of Sempra: (i} deal with other energy suppliers;
(ii) (A) during the first two years following the Closing Date, pay dividends or make other distributions to the
Company, as its sole sharchelder, and thereafter, (B) pay dividends or make other distributions with a current
market value that exceeds 75% of the “free cash” earned by Universal during such year and otherwise in
compliance with the terms of the New Commodity Agreements; (iil) invest in other businesses or entities;
(iv) enter new markets and expand its business; (v) enter into cerlain commercial transactions; (vi) incur
indebtedness or grant security on its assets; and (vii) sell assets.

In addition, the New Commodity Agreements will prescribe certain conditions and events that enable
Sempra to terminate the New Commodity Agreements, including the following: (i) a breach of the agreement by
Universal; (ii) a change in control of Universal or certain aftiliates; (iii) contributions by Universal to, or
investments by Universal in, certain affihates above prescribed amounts; (iv) Sempra not being permitted to
appoint a director to the board of directors of Universal. Upon the occurrence of such a termination event,
Sempra may suspend its performance under natural gas purchase and sale transactions and Electricity Swaps
then outstanding, or liquidate and terminate the natural gas purchase and sale transactions and Electricity Swaps
then outstanding and accelerate the payment of any amounts due.

See “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of Universal™.

Electricity and Natural Gas Supply: Hedging, Balancing and Market Risk

Subject to certain limited exceptions, it is Universal’s gencral policy to match the estimated electricity and
natural gas requircments of ils customers by purchasing, in the case of natural gas, the offsetting volumes of
natural gas from Sempra at fixed prices and, in the case of electricity, entering into offsetting Electricity Swaps
with Sempra, in cach casc in advance of obtaining customers. Historically and currently, energy supplics have
becn available at prices that permit Universal to establish a positive Operational Margin. To the extent that
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supplies of electricity and natural gas are not available at acceptable prices in the future, Universal’s ability to
maintain positive Operational Margins may be adversely affected. There is no assurance that Universal will be
able to sustain positive Opcerational Margins.

Depending on several factors, including weather, Universal’s customers may use more or less electricity and
natural gas than the volume purchased by Universal for delivery to them. Although Universal is able to invoice
its customers for batancing charges when the amount of encrgy used by its customers is greater than or less than
the amount of cncrgy that Universal has estimated its customers would use, it is Universal’s intention to
implement a practice in curly 2007 not to invoice its residential electricity customers in Ontario for balancing
charges that arc greater than or less than 10% of the aggregate amount of the commedity portion of the
customer’s electricity bill on an annual basis. Any excess balancing charges (or credits) will be carried lorward
and applied to a customer’s electricity bill in subsequent years. Therefore, Universal will bear the cost of any
aggregate balancing charges in cxcess of this 0% threshold at the end of the contract term. Furthermore,
Universal does not invoice its Ontario residential or small commercial natural gas customers for balancing
charges. Universal must bear any such balancing costs. The application of Universal’s balancing procedures can
in certain circumstances expose Universal to market risk. Market risk is the potential {oss that may be incurred
as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or commodity, such as electricity or
natural gas. Universal's balancing procedures, customer attrition and other factors may result in the need for
Universal to purchase or sell over time shortfall or excess volumes of natural gas at spot market prices, which
have recently been subject to significant fluctuations. This could result in the reduction or climination of
Universal’s Operational Margin on the sale of electricity or natural gas and could result in a loss. In addition,
Universal is generally required by natural gas LDCs to rectify imbalances in natural gas pools at regular
intervals. At certain of these intervals the pools must be balanced within stipulated parameters. If imbalances are
not within the stipulated parameters at the requisite times, Universal may be required to pay certain penalties,
which in some cases can be significant. Therefore, the inability or failure of Universal to manage and monitor
these hedging, balancing and market risks could have a material adverse affect on its operations and cash flows,

Volatility of Commodity Prices — Enforcement

A risk to Universal's business modet is a sudden and significant drop in the market price of electricity or
natural gas that causes customers to attempt to cancel their Energy Contracts. Universal's practice is to enforce
the early termination provisions of its Encrgy Contracts in such cases. However, the enforcement of the early
termination provisions in Universal’s Encrgy Contracts through legal action may be time consuming and
expensive given the number of customers that Universal has. Furthermore, during the process of enforcing such
Energy Contracts, which could take a substantial period of time, Universal would still be liable to pay Sempra
for the electricity and natural gas which it has purchased on behalf of customers who have purported to cancel
their Energy Contracts. In addition, in such a situation Universal may be forced to sell its excess natural gas at
spot prices or terminate Electricity Swaps at prevailing market spot prices, which could have a material adverse
impact on Universal’s cash flow.

Availability of Credit

The scasonality of customer consumption creates working capital requirements necessitating the use of
Universal's available credit. In addition, Universal and Universal U.S. are required to post collateral in
connection with energy supply contracts, licence obligations and obligations owed to certain LDCs and are
limited in their ability to provide security under contracts with Sempra. Cash flow could be impacted by the
ability of Universal to fund such requirements or to provide other satisfactory collateral for such obligations.
The most significant assets of Universal consists of its Energy Contracts, which may not be suitable as security
for some creditors, Gas Suppliers or Electricity Swap counterparties. Universal’s business may be adversely
affected if it is unable to meet its collatera! posting requirements in the future.

Legislative and Regulatory Environment

Universal currently operates in the highly regulated clectricity and natural gas retail sales industry in the
Province of Ontario and in the State of Michigan, and intends to expand its operations into the highly regulated
clectricity and natural gas retail sales industry in the Province of British Columbia and potentially other
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U.S. states, including New York. Universal must comply with the legislation and regulations in these jurisdictions
in order to maintain its licenced status and to continue its operations. There is potential for changes to this
legislation and these regulatory measures that may, favourably or unfavourably, impact Universal's business
model. Universal depends on a large group of Independant Contractors to expand its customer base. The
composition of that group varies from month to month. As part of doing business as a door to door marketing
company, Universal regularly receives complaints from consumers. The failure to successfully resolve complaints
could result in sanctions from regulatory and legal authorities such as a loss of a licence, which would have a
material adverse effect on Universal. Similarly, changes to consumer protection legislation in those provinces
and states where Universal markets to non-commercial customers may, favourably or unfavourably, impact
Universal’s business model. There can be no assurance that future decisions of the OEB, the MPSC, the BCUC,
the NYPSC or other regulatory bodies having junisdiction over Universal's business activities, or rules enacted by
them, or new legislation or regulations or changes to existing legislation or regulations, including any change in
regulatory policy, rules, legislation or regulations which would impact Universal’s ability to renew Energy
Contracts on the expiration of their term, will not adversely affect the operations or cash flow of Universal.

Energy Trading Inherent Risks

Energy trading subjects Universal to inherent risks associated with future contractual commitments,
including market and operational risks, counterparty credit risk, product location differences, market liquidity
and volatility. The failure or inability of Universal to monitor and address the encrgy trading inherent risks could
have a material adverse effect on its operations and cash flow.

Management Information System

Universal operates in a high volume business with an cxtensive array of data interchanges and markel
requircments. Universal is highly dependent on its management information system to track, monitor and
correct or otherwise verify a high volume of data to ensure that reported financial results are accurate.
Management also relies on its management information system to provide its Independent Contractors with
up-to-the minute marketing and compensation information and to clectronically record cach customer
telephone interaction, all of which management belicves contributes to Universal's ability to capture a significant
portion of the dircet purchase market in any given month. Universal's information system also helps
management forecast new customer enrolments and their cnergy requirements, which helps ensure that
Universal is able to match all of its new customers’ cstimated average cnergy requirements without exposing
Universal to the “spot” market. Any failure of the management information system or the failure of Universal to
maintain and upgrade its management information system could have a material adverse effect on the
operations and cash flow of Universal.

Dependence on LDCs and Customer Credit Risk

In all jurisdictions in which Universal operates, the LDCs currently perform billing and collection services.
However, there is no assurance that the LDCs who provide these services will continue to do so in the future. If
the LDCs cease to perform these services, Universal would have to seek a third party billing provider or develop
internal systems to perform these functions. If a significant number of customers were to default on their
payments, it could have a material adverse affect on the opcrations and cash flow of Universal. Similarly, if a
customer’s Energy Contract is terminated and the customer owes carly termination fees as a result, Universal
may have to pursuc such fees through internal or contracted collection processes. There can be no assurance
that the practices or policics of LDCs in the future will not limit the growth or profitability of Universal, which
would limit future growth of Universal's cash flow.

Competition

A number of Universal’s primary compelitors in its existing markcts, particularly Centrica plc, have been
operaling for a much longer period of time than Universal, have 1 much larger market capitalization than
Universal, and have considerably more customers than Universal. These competilors may therefore have a
greater ability to access credit, withstand market changes and compete for customers.



It is possible that new entrants may enter the market as Encrgy Retailers and compete directly for the
customer base that Universal targets, slowing the growth of or reducing Universal's market share. New
competitors may be better capitalized than Universal. If the LDCs are permitted by changes in the current
regulatory framework to sell natural gas at prices other than WACOG and sell electricity at prices other than
their cost, their existing customer bases could provide them with a significant competitive advantage. This may
limit the number of customers available for Energy Retailers, including Universal.

Independent Contractors

The continued growth of Universal is reliant on the services of between 700 and 900 Independent
Contractors, the core of whom gencrate a large percentage of Universal’s new customers. The cost of atiracting
or retaining Independent Contractors who are effective in completing sales may increase as the growth in
customer penetration rates in mature markets stabilizes. In addition, there can be no assurance that competitive
conditions will allow these Independent Contractors to sign up new customers at the rate at which new
customers have been signed up in the past. Although commission expenses are only incurred in connection with
ncw flowing Encrgy Contracts which are secured by its Independent Contractors, tack of success in these
marketing programs would limit future growth of the cash flow of Universal.

Electricity Contract Renewals and Attrition Rates

As al November 30, 2006, Universal held long term Electricity Contracts with customers reflecting
approximately 135,026 clectricity RCEs, of which 0.1% renew in the year ending September 30, 2010, 76.5%
renew in the year ending September 30, 2011 and 23.4% renew beyond September 30, 2011. Since the vast
majority of the Eleciricity Contracts owned by Universal are for five year terms, Universal has had no Electricity
Contract renewals to date. Although Universal has experienced Electricity Contract attrition rates of less than
13.0% per year, there can be no assurance that this rate of annual attrition will not increase in the future or that
Universal will be able to renew its existing Electricity Contracts at the expiration of their terms. Changes in
customer behaviour, government regulation or increased competition may affect (potentially adversely) attrition
and rencwal rates in the future and these changes could adversely impact the future cash flow of Universal.

Gas Contract Renewals and Artrition Rates

As al November 30, 2006, Universal had long term Gas Contracts reflecting approximately 91,974 natural
gas RCEs, of which 1.2% renew in the year ending September 30, 2010, 60.3% rcnew in the year ending
September 30, 20111 and 38.5% renew beyond September 30, 2011, Since the vast majority of the Gas Contracts
owned by Universal arc for five year terms, Universal has had no Gas Contract renewals to date. Although
Universal has experienced Gas Contract attrition rates of less than 109 per year, there can be no assurance that
this rate of annual attrition will not increase in the future or that Universal will be able to renew its cxisting Gas
Contracts at the cxpiration of their terms. Changes in customer behaviour, government regulation or increased
competition may affect (potentially adversely) attrition and renewal rates in the future and these changes could
adversely impact the future cash flow of Universal.

Commodity Alternatives

To the extent that electricity and natural gas enjoy a price advantage over other forms of energy, such price
advantage may be transitory and consumers may switch to the use of another form of energy. The recent
volatility in electricity and natural gas prices could result in these other sources of energy providing more
significant competition to Universal.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Net income from Universal U.S.s operations in Michigan is denominated in U.S. dollars, such that
fluctuations of the currency exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar may have an impact
on the Canadian dollar amount of net income realized from the U.S. operations. If Universal expands its
U.S. operations, Universal’s exposure to fluctuations of the currency exchange rate between the Canadian dollar
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and the U.S. dollar, and the resultant impact on the Canadian dollar amount of net income realized from
Universal’s U.S. operations, will be increased.

Dependence on Personnel

The success of Universal to date has been largely dependent on the skills and cxpertise of its management
personnel. The continued suceess of Universal will be dependent upon its ability to retain the services of such
personnel and recruit and retain other key employees for its business. Any loss of the services of such individuals
could huave a material adverse affect on the business and operations of Universal. Currently, neither the
Company nor Universal carries “key man” insurance that would compensate it for a loss of any of its senior
executives.

Universal must hire qualified managers and other personnel and retain qualified Independent Contractors.
Competition for managers, employees and Independent Contractors is strong, and Universal may not be able to
attract and maintain qualified personnel and Independent Contractors. If Universal is unable to hire and
maintain productive and competent personnel and Independent Contractors, Universal’s expansion strategy may
be adverscly affecied, the amount of clectricity and natural gas that Universal sclls may decrease and Universal
may not be able to cxecute its business strategy.

Limited Operating History

Universal was incorporated in November 2004 and commenced operations in February 2005. Accordingly,
Universal has a limited operating history from which investors can evaluate its business and prospects.
Moreover, since Universal’s inception it has incurred operating losses. During the period from November 25,
2004 (inception) through September 30}, 2006, Universal incurred after tax operating losses of approximately
$60.1 million, which includes approximately $73.9 million of uarealized swap losses. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Managements Discussion and
Analysis — Universal — Results of Operations — Year Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Period
November 25, 2004 to September 30, 2005 — Other Operating Expenses/Gains”.

Universal’s prospects must be considered in light of the risks and uncertainties encountered by an carly-
stage company and in rapidly evolving markets, such as the retail electricity and natural gas markets. Some of
these risks relate to Universal’s potential inability to: effectively manage its business and operations; recruit and
rctain key personncel; successfully maintain a low-cost structurc as it expands the scale of its business; manage
rapid growth in personnel and operations; develop new products that complement its existing business; and
successfully address the other risks it faces, as described throughout this prospectus.

If Universal can not successfully address these risks, its business, future results of operations and financial
condition may be materially adversely affected, and Universal may continue to incur operating losses in
the future.

Risks Related to our Ethanol Business
Inaccurate Assumptions in Business Plan

Many of the assumptions that management has used when formulating TGF’s business plan arc based on
documents or agreements that arc not yet final or even negotiated, and proposals or plans that have not yet been
implemented, including assumptions as to the expected prices TGF will have to pay for raw materials such as
wheat and natural gas, and the expected prices TGF will receive upon the sale of cthanol and dried distillers
grains. Definitive versions of such agreements, documents, plans or proposals may contain terms or conditions
that vary significantly from management’s assumptions and may not materialize, or if they do materialize, may
not prove to be profitable. TGF’s actual results or actual business or other conditions may differ materially from
those presently contemplated.

Dependence on Contractor

TGF is depending on its Contractor to design, engineer and construct its Belle Plaine Facility. If the
Belle Plaine Facility is not built or docs not operate as TGF expects, TGF’s right to rely on the Contractor to
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remedy any deficiencies or defects will be limited by the terms of the EPC Contract. If the Contractor is unable
to complete the design and construction of the Belle Plaine Facility or otherwise provide TGF with services or
mieet any of its material obligations to TGF for any reason, TGF's business would be adversely affected and TGF
might be required to seek additional capital or discontinue development of the Belle Plaine Facility.

Defective Material, Workmanship or Process Engineering

Although the EPC Contract sets out certain remedies that TGF can pursuc if the Belle Plaine Facility does
not meet the stated performance criteria, any defects in material or workmanship may cause substantial delay in
the commencement of operation of the Belle Plaine Facility. 1f defects are discovered after operation, or if the
Belle Plaine Facility fails to meet the performance crileria, it could cause substantial delay in the
commencement of operation of the Belle Plaine Facility and may have a material adverse impact on TGF’s
financial performance and could harm TGF’s business. Such delays would negatively impact TGF's cash flow
and impair its ability to satisfy any outstanding debt obligations.

Construction or Operational Delays

While TGF has no knowledge of any events or circumstances that could hinder its schedule for the
completion of the regulatory, design and engineering and construction phases of the Belle Plaine Facility, there
is a risk that the project may experience delays, interruption of operations or increased costs due te many
factors, including, without limitation: weather and scasonal factors affecting construction projects gencrally;
delays in obtaining, or conditions imposed by, regulatory approvals; design errors; non-performance by third
party contractors; increases in materials or labour costs; construction performance falling below expected levels
of output or efficiency; events of force majcure that relieve the Contractor from its obligations under the
EPC Contract; breakdown or failure of equipment or processes; contractor or operator errors; labour disputes,
disruptions or declines in productivity; inability to attract sutficicnt numbers of qualificd workers; changes in
project scope; violation of permit requirements; disruption in the supply of energy or other inputs; and major
incidents and/or catastrophic events such as fires, explosions, ecarthquakes or storms. Any such delays,
micruption of operations or increased costs could be materially adverse to TGFE

The EPC Contract has broad force majeure provisions. The EPC Contract provides that if the Contractor is
delayed because of one or more of the events contemplated by the force majeure provisions, the time permitted
for completing the Belle Plaine Facility will be extended and the Contract Price will be increased accordingly.

Changes in interest rates or changes in political administrations at the federal, provincial or local level that
result in policy changes toward ethanol could also cause construction and operation delays. If it takes longer Lo
obtain necessary permits or build the Belle Plaine Facility than TGF anticipates, TGF could be forced to seek
additional sources of capital and its ability to sell ethanol products would be delayed, which would harm TGF’s
business and make it more difficult to serve any outstanding debt obligations.

Condition of Construction Site

If TGF or the Contractor encounter conccaled, unknown or unexpected conditions at the site of the Belle
Plaine Facility, an adjustment in the EPC Contract’s Contract Price and time for performance (if the conditions
affect costs und performance time) may be required. In any event, conceated, unknown or unexpected conditions
would increase the cost of the Belle Plaine Fucility to TGFE Concealed, unknown or uncxpected conditions might
include concecaled physical conditions that materially differ from the conditions contemplated in the proposed
project plans, or any unknown or uncxpected conditions that differ materially from the conditions ordinarily
encounterced in similar work. Aithough the sitc where the Belle Plaine Facility is being constructed has been
inspected, concealed, unknown or unexpected conditions arc often very difficult to detect.

Dependence on Belle Plaine Facility

TGF currently has, and until the Belle Plaine Facility commences operations will have, no operating
revenue. All of TGF’s operating revenues will be derived from the sale of ethanol and the related co-products
that it will produce at the Belle Plaine Facility, unless and until such time as TGF builds or acquires other
ethanol plants or related businesses, if ever. TGF’s operations may be subject to significant interruption if the
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Belle Plaine Facility experiences a major accident or is damaged by severe weather or other natural disasters. In
addition, TGF's operations may be subject to labour disruptions and unscheduled down time, or other
operational hazards inherent in TGF's industry, such as equipment failures, fires, explosions, abnormal
pressures, blowouts, pipeline ruptures, transportation accidents and natural disasters. Some of these operational
hazards may cause personal injury or loss of life, severe damage to or destruction of property and equipment or
environmental damage, and may result in suspension of operations and 10 the imposition of civil or criminal
penalties. TGF's insurance may not be adequate to fully cover the potential operational hazards described above
and TGF may not be able to renew this insurance on commercially reasonable terms, or at alk.

Moreover, the Belle Plaine Fucility may not operate as planned or expected. The Belle Plaine Fucility is
being designed to have a production capacity of [50 million litres of ethanol annually and management expects
that within 12 to 18 months of commissioning the Belle Plaine Facility, TGF will be able to optimize operations
with the result that production should reach approximately 165 million litres of ethanol annually. However, the
operation of the Belle Plaine Facility will be subject to various uncertainties. In the event that the Belle Plaine
Facility does not produce ethanol and distillers grains at the levels TGF expects, TGF’s business, results of
operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

Reliance on Intellectual Property Rights and Proprietary Technology

The success and ability of TGF to successfully complete the Belle Plaine Facility and to be economically
viable will depend to a significant extent on the intellectual property and proprietary technology of Delta-T. The
Belle Plaine Facility will rely on proprictary and confidential technology of Delta-T for which certain rights have
been provided to TGF pursuant 1o the Licence Agreement. TGF and Delta-T currently rely on intellectual
property rights and other contractual or proprietary rights, including (without limitation) copyright, trade-mark
laws, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures, contractual provisions and licences, to protect the proprictary
technology. Delta-T or TGF may have to engage in Jitigation in order to protect their proprictary technology or
other intellectual property rights, or to determine the validity or scope of the proprictary rights of others. This
type of litigation can be time-consuming and cxpensive, regardless of whether or not TGF or Delta-T is
successful. To the knowledge of TGE, Delta-T currently has no patents or patent applications and protects its
technology as a trade secret. Furthermore, others may develop technologies that are similar or superior to the
technology of Delta-T or disclosure of Delta T’s technology may occur. Despite the cfforts of TGF or Delta-T,
the intellectual property rights, particularly the proprictary technology, of TGF or Delia-T may be circumvented,
misappropriated, disclosed, infringed or required to be licensed to others. [t cannot be assured that any steps
TGF or Delta-T may take to protect their intellectual property rights and other rights to such proprictary
technology that are central to TGF’s operations will prevent misappropriation or the termination of licences
from D¢lta-T. Delta-T has the right to use or licence others to use the proprictary technology and accordingly
may conduct, or may license the proprietary technology to a third party to conduct, an cthanol production
business similar to that of TGF

Risk of Third Party Claims for Infringement

A third party may claim that the use of the Delta-T proprictary technology has infringed such third party’s
rights or may challenge the right of Delta T to its intellectual property. In such event, Deha-T and/or TGF will
undertake a review to determine what, if any, action should be taken with respect to such claim. Any claim,
whether or not with merit, could be time consuming to evaluate, result in costly litigation, cause delays in the
operations of TGF or require Delta-T or TGF 10 cnter into licensing arrangements that may require the
payment of a licence fee or royalties to the owner of the intellectual property. Such royalty or licensing
arrangements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable 10 TGE

Cost Overruns

Although the EPC Contract to design, engincer, procure, construct and commission the Belle Plaine
Facility contemplates a lump sum arrangement, construction and other cost overruns can occur. Cost overruns in
connection with the Beite Plaine Facility are possible due to change orders approved by TGF, delays in
completion of the Belle Plaine Facility, delays caused by TGF, and various other factors, including natural
disasters, destruction of the Belle Plaine Facility by fires or other hazards and the inability to obtain materials or
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labour or other factors. Cost overruns could cause substantial delay in the commencement of operation of the
Belle Plaine Facility, may have a material adverse impact on TGF's financial performance and could harm
TGF'’s business. H cost overruns occur, TGF could be required to borrow additional debt capital to cover such
cost overruns. There are no assurances that such debt capital would be available, or if available, would be on
terms favourable or acceptable to TGE

Limited Operating History

TGF was incorporated in April 2006 and has not engaged in any revenue producing activities to date. TGF
is currently constructing its first ¢thanol plant. Accordingly, TGF has a limited operating history and has not yet
hired all of the members of its management team, with the result that it may be difficult for investors to evaluate
its business and prospects. Moreover, TGF has not recognized operating income since inception.

Because TGF is not presently in the ethanol production business, unlike its competitors, TGF is not
benefiting from sales of ethanol. TGF's inability to capture profits based on the current high price levels may
provide its competitors, who arc presently producing cthanol, with greater relative advantages resulting from
greater capital resources available to these competitors.

TGF's prospects must be considered in light of the risks and uncertaintics encountered by an carly-stage
company and in rapidly evolving markets, such as the ethanol market, where supply and demand may change
significantly in a short amount of time.

Some of these risks relate to TGEF's potential inability to: successfully build the Belle Plaine Facility;
cffectively manage TGF's business and operations; recruit and retain key personnel; successfully establish and
maintain a fow-cost structure at the Belle Plaine Facility, and thereafter maintain a low-cost structure as TGF
cxpands the scale of its business: manage rapid growth in personnel and operations; and successfully address the
other risks TGF faces, as described throughout this prospectus.

If TGF cannot successfully address these risks, TGF’s business, future results of operations and financial
condition may be materiallv adversely affected, and TGF may incur operating losses in the future,

Dependence on Conunodity Prices

Except as described under “Business of TGF — Hedging”, TGF does not currently have long-term
contracts for the purchase of wheat and natural gas, TGF’s principal inputs, or for the sale of ethanol, TGF’s
principal product, or distillers grains. Although Universal is currently negotiating contracts for certain inputs,
the quantity, term, pricing and other material provisions of these contracts have not yet been finalized. There is
no assurance that the pricing under such contracts (if any}, will match the pricing assumed in TGF’s business
plan. Thercfore, TGF’s results of operations, financial position and business outlook will be substantially
dependent on commaodity prices, especially prices for wheat, natural gas, ethanol and distillers grains. Prices for
these commodities are generally subject to significant volatility and uncertainty. As a result, TGF's future results
may fluctuate subsiantially, and TGF may experience periods of declining prices for TGF’s products and
increasing costs for TGF's raw materials, which could result in operating losses. TGF may attempt 10 offset a
portion of the effects of such fluctuations by entering into forward contracts to supply ethanol or to purchase
wheat, natural gas or other items or by engaging in other hedging transactions, however, the amount and
duration of these hedging and other risk mitigation activities may vary substantially over time. In addition, these
activities involve substantial costs and substantial risks and may be ineffective to mitigate these fluctuations.

Spread between Ethanol and Wheat Price

TGF’s gross margins will depend principally on the spread between ethanol and feed wheat prices. For
information respecting the volatility of ethanol prices from January 1, 1990 to November 1, 2006, see “Overview
of the Ethanol Industry — Ethanol Pricing”. For information respecting the volatility of wheat prices during the
period from August 1, 1993 to November 1, 2006, see “Overview of the Ethanol Industry — Supply of Wheat”.
In recent periods, the spread between ethanol and wheat prices has been at a high level, driven in large part by
high oil prices and historically low wheat prices. The spread between the price of a litre of cthane! and the price
of the amount of wheat required to produce a litre of ethanol may not remain at recent high levels and
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fluctuations will continue toe occur. Any reduction in the spread between ethanol and wheal prices, whether as a
result of an increase in wheat prices or a reduction in ethanol prices, could have a material adverse cffect on
TGF’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

Sensitivity to Wheat Prices and Supply

Wheal is the principal raw material TGF will use to produce ethanol and distillers grains. As a result,
changes in the price of wheat can significantly affect TGF's business. Because ethanol competes with fuels that
are not wheat-based, TGF will gencrally be unable to pass along increased wheat costs to TGF’s customers, and
accordingly, rising wheat prices will tend 10 produce lower profit margins. At certain levels, wheat prices would
make cthanol uncconomical to use in fuel markets. The price of wheat is influenced by local and international
weather conditions {including droughts) and other factors affecting crop yields, farmer planting decisions and
general economic, market and regulatory factors, including government policies and subsidies with respect to
agriculture and international trade, and global and local supply and demand. The significance and relative affect
of these factors on the price of wheat is difficult to predict. Any event that tends to negatively affect the supply
of wheat, such as adverse weather or crop disease, could increase wheat prices and potentially harm TGF's
business. The price of wheat has fluctuated significantly in the past and may fluctuate significantly in the future.
For information respecting the volatility of wheat prices during the period from August 1, 1993 to November 1,
2006, see “Overview of the Ethanol Industry — Supply of Wheat”.

In addition, increasing domestic cthanol capacity could boost demand for wheat and result in increased
wheat prices. Management estimates that in 2005 the Canadian ethanol industry consumed approximately
125,000 metric tonnes of wheat, which represented approximately 0.5% of the 26 mitlion metric tonnes of the
200472005 domestic wheat crop. This percentage is expected to increase as additional ethanol production
capacity comes online. At a more local level, the price TGF pays for wheat could also increase if another ethanol
production facility were built in the saume general vicinity or if TGF expands production at the Belle Plaine
Facility.

TGF may also have difficulty from time to time in purchasing wheat on ¢conomic terms due to supply
shortages. Any supply shortage could require TGF to suspend operations until wheat became available on
economic terms. Suspension of operations could have a material adverse effect on TGF’s business, results of
operations and [inancial condition.

Sensitivity to Natural Gas Prices and Supply

TGF will rely upon third-parties for TGF’s supply of natura! gas, which is consumed in the manufacture of
cthanol. The prices for and availability of natural gas are subject Lo volatile market conditions. These market
conditions are affected by factors beyond TGF’s control such as weather conditions (including hurricanes),
overall economic conditions and foreign and domestic governmental regulation and relations. Significant
disruptions in the supply of natural gas could impair TGF’s ability to manufacture ethanol for TGF'’s customers,
Further, increases in natural gas prices could have a material adverse effect on TGF’s business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Sensitivity to Gasoline Prices and Demand

Ethanol is marketed both as a fuel additive to reduce vehicle emissions from gasoline and as an octane
cnhancer to improve the octane rating of gasoline with which it is blended. As a result, cthanol prices are
influenced by the supply and demand for gasoline (which is itself influenced by the supply and demand for crude
oil}, and TGF'’s business, future results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely
affected if gasoline (or crude oil) demand or price decreases.

Sensitivity of Distillers Grain Prices 1o the Price of Other Commodity Products
'y ¥

Distillers grains compete with other protein-based animal feed products. The price of distillers grains may
decrease when the price of competing feed products decrease. The prices of competing animal feed products are
based in part on the prices of the commodities from which they are derived. Downward pressure on commodity
prices, such as soybeans, will generally causc the price of competing animal feed products to decline, resulting in
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downward pressure on the price of distillers grains. Because the price of distillers grains is not tied to production
costs, decreases in the price of distillers grains will result in TGF generating less revenue and lower
profit margins.

Seasonal Fluctuations

Subsequent to the construction of TGF's Belle Plaine Facility and the commencement of cthanol
production, TGF anticipates that its operating results will be increasingly intluenced by scusonal fluctuations in
the price of its primary operating inputs, wheat and natural gas, and the price of its primary product, ethanol. In
recent years, the spot price of wheat tended to rise during the spring planting scason in May and June and
tended to decrcase during the fall harvest in October and November. The price for natural gas is highly weather
dependent and is influenced by the summer hurricane season and the winter heating season. In addition, TGF
anticipates that its ethanol prices will be substantially correlated with the price of unleaded gasoline (which is
itself substantially correlated with the price of crude oil). which tends to rise during each of the summer and
winter. TGF will seek to mitigate the cffects of these seasonal fluctuations by adopting an active hedging
program. Sec “Busincss of TGF — Hedging”. As a result of seasonal fluctuations, TGF belicves that
comparisons of operating measures between consecutive quarters may not be as meaningful as compatrisons
between longer reporting periods.

Hedging Transactions and Other Risk Management Strategies

In an attempt to offsct some of the effects of the volatility of cthanol, wheat and natural gas prices, TGF
intends (Lo the extent possible) to hedge against changes in prices of key inputs (such as wheat and natural gas)
and key outputs (such as ethanol and distillers grains). TGF will scek to hedge its primary commaodity risks
directly through a combination of futures contracts, derivatives {including options) and fixed price contracts.
TGF may also enter into hedging transactions in respect of commodities whose prices are correlated with TGF's
key inputs and outputs. For example, TGF may hedge against changes in crude oil prices because of the positive
correlation between the price of crude oil and the price of gasoline and the positive correlation between the
price of gasoline and the price of ethanol. The impact of these activities depends upon, among other things, the
prices involved and TGF’s ability 10 sell sufficient products to use all of the wheat and natural gas for which TGF
may have futures contracts. Hedging arrangements also expose TGF to the risk of financial loss in situations
where the other party to the hedging contract defaults on its contract or, in the case of exchange-traded
contracts, where there is a change in the cxpected differential between the underlying price in the hedging
agreement and the actual prices paid or received by TGE Hedging activities can themselves result in losses when
a position is purchased in a declining market or a position is sold in a rising market. A hedge position is often
settled in the same time frame as the physical commodity is cither purchased (wheat and natural gas) or sold
{ethanol}. TGF may expericnce hedging losses in the future. TGF may also vary the amount of hedging or other
price mitigation strategies TGF undertakes, and TGF may choose not to engage in hedging transactions at all.
As a result, TGF’s business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected by
increases in the price of wheat or natural gas or decreases in the price of ethanol.

Reliance on Third Party Service Providers

TGF may depend on third parties for some or all of its wheat handling scrvices relating to both its feedstock
supply and the marketing of its distillers grains outputs, including wheat purchases, wheat hedging and wheat
transportation. If TGF retains wheat handlers and they are not able to complete the wheat handling services or
default on their agreement to provide TGF with wheat handling services, TGF would be materially adversely
affected.

If third parties do not perform under TGF’s existing or [uture contractual arrangements, it may be forced to
buy wheat at undesirable or uncconomic rates, or it may not have access to wheat at all. Additionally, TGF may
have difficulty selling its distillers grains if third parties with whom TGF contracts in the future do not perform.
These conditions may cause TGF’s operating results (o suffer.

TGF’s operating results may also suffer if third parties with whom TGF contracts in the future do not
perform their obligations under ethanol marketing agreements. If third parties do not perform under ethanol
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marketing agreements (if any), TGF may be forced to sell its ethanol at undesirable or economic rates, or TGF
may not be able scll its ethanol at all. These conditions may cause TGF's operating results to suffer.

Dependence on Federal and Provincial Legislation and Regulation

Various laws, regulations and programs of the United States federal government and certain provincial and
state governments have led to increased use of ethanol in gasoline. In addition, various proposed federal and
provincial laws, regulations and programs arc expected by management to lead to a further increasc in the use of
ethanol in gasoline in Canada. For example, certain existing and proposed laws, regulations and programs
provide (or if implemented will provide) cconomic incentives to ethanol producers and users. Further, tariffs
apply to the import of ethanol from non-NAFTA countrics. These existing and proposed laws, regulations and
programs are constantly changing. In both the U.S. and Canada legislators and environmental regulators could
adopt or modify cxisting or proposed laws, regulations or programs that could adversely affect the use of
ethanol. There can be no assurance that existing laws, regulations or programs will continue in the future, or that
proposed laws, regulations or programs will be adopted or implemented as currently anticipated or at all. In
addition, certain jurisdictional governments may oppose the use of ethanol because those jurisdictions might
have to acquire cthanol from other jurisdictions, which could increase gasoline prices in those jurisdictions.

Uncertainty Regarding the Long Term Use of Ethanol

Although many trade groups, academics and governmental agencies have supporied ethanol as a fuel
additive that promotes a cleaner environment, others have criticized cthanol production as consuming
considerably more encrgy and emitting more greenhouse gases than other biofuels. Other studies have suggested
that wheat-based cthanol is less efficient than ethanol produced from other sources. If these views gain
acceptance, support for existing and/or proposed measures promoting use and domestic production of wheat-
based ethanol could decline, leading to the reduction or repeal of existing measurcs or the amendment or
abandonment of proposed measures.

Excess Supply

According to the RFA, U.S. production of ethanol has increased by approximately 179% over the last ten
years. Ethanol production in Canada has been more limited than in the U.S. See “Overview of the Ethanol
Indusiry — Supply and Demand for Ethanol in North America — Supply”. There is a significant amount of
capacily being added to the North American cthanol industry, According to the RFA, as of December 6, 2006,
therc were 109 ethanol plants operating in the United States (which are predominantly corn based) capable of
producing approximately 20 billion litres of ethano! per year. In addition, according to the RFA, as of
December 6, 2006, an additional 53 plants were under construction and an additional seven plants were under
expansion which, if constructed and expanded as proposed, could produce approximately 16 billion additional
litres of ethanol per year. Management estimates that as of November 2006, industry capacity in Canada was
approximately 555 million litres per year, with approximately 400 million additionatl litres per year of capacity
under construction (including the Belle Plaine Facility). In addition, an existing producer recently announced the
construction of an additional 4({) million litres of capacity. This capacity is being added to address anticipated
increases in demand. However, demand for ethanol may not increase as quickly as expected or to a level that
exceeds supply, or at all. If the cthanol industry has excess capacity, it could have a material adverse effect on
TGF’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

Excess ethanol production capacity also may result from decreases in the demand for ethanol or increased
imported supply, which could result from a number of factors, including regulatory developments and reduced
gasoline consumption in Canada and the U.S. Reduced gasoline consumption could occur as a result of
increased prices for gasoline or crude oil, which could cause businesses and consumers to reduce driving or
acquire vehicles with more favourable gasoline mileage, or as a result of technological advances, such as the
commercialization of engines utilizing hydrogen fuel-cells, which could supplant gasolinc-powered engines.
There are a number of governmental initiatives designed to reduce gasoline consumption, including tax credits
for hybrid vehicles and consumer cducation programs. There is some evidence that reduced gasoline
consumption has occurred in the recent past as gasoline prices have increased in Canada and the U.S.



In addition, because ethanol production produces distillers grains as a co-product, increased ethanol
production will also lead 1o increased supplies of distillers grains. An increase in the supply of distillers grains,
without corresponding increases in demand, could lead to lower prices.

Competition

Competition in the ethanol industry is intense. TGF faces formidable compeltition in cvery aspect of its
business from established producers of cthanol and from other companies that are secking to develop large-
scale ethanol plants and alliances. If TGF sells ethanol in the United States, it will compete with Archer Daniels
Midland Company. which is the single largest producer in the ethanol industry, as well as other large producers
such as VeraSun Energy Corp., Hawkeye Holdings Inc., Aventine Renewable Energy Holdings Inc. and
Cargill, Inc. As of October 2006, the top ten producers in the U.S. accounted for approximately 44% of the
cthanol production capacity in the U.S. according to the RFA. As of September 2006, the top three producers in
Canada accounted for approximately 9% of the cthanol production capacity in Canada. A number of TGF’s
compelitors are divisions of substantially larger enterprises and have substantially greater financial resources
than TGF does. In addition, most of TGF's competitors have been operating ethanol plants and participating in
the ethanol industry for a considerable period of time. These competitors will therefore possess strong industry
experience and have established relationships with the primary buyers of ethanol, all of which will provide TGF's
competitors with a competitive advantage.

TGF expects competition 1o increase as the ethanol industry becomes more widely known and demand for
cthanol increases. Most new cthanol plants in development across Canada and the US. are independently
owned. In addition, various investors could heavily invest in ethanol production facilities and oversupply ethanol.
resulting in higher raw material costs and lower ethanol price levels that could materially adversely affect TGF's
business, results of operations and financial condition,

TGF may also face competition from international ethanol suppliers in the future. Currently, international
suppliers produce ethanol primarily from sugar cane and have cost structures that may be substantially lower
than TGF’s cost structure, However, ethanol imported into Canada from non-NAFTA countries (such as Brazil)
is currently subject to a duty of $0.0492 per litre. If this duty were to be reduced or eliminated, international
suppliers of ethanol might be able to sell ethanol at more competitive prices than TGE In addition, there are no
duties on the import of ethanol into Canada from NAFTA countries, such as the U.S.

Any increase in domestic or foreign competition could cause TGF to reduce its prices and take other steps
to compete effectively, which could materially adversely affect TGF's business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Expansion Strategy

TGF plans to grow its business by investing in new or existing ethanol plants. The development,
construction and cxpansion of ethanol plants is subject to a number of cisks, any of which could prevent TGF
from commencing operations at a particular plant as expected or at all, including zoning and permitting matters,
adversc weather, defects in materials and workmanship, labour and material shortages, transportation
constraints, construction change orders, site changes, labour issues and other unforeseen difficulties, In addition,
during the expansion of an existing facility, TGF may be forced to suspend or curtail its operations at such
{acility, which would decrease TGF’s ethanol production and reduce its revenues.

TGF would need additional financing to implement such an expansion strategy, and it may not have access
to the funding required for the expansion of its business or such funding may not be available to TGF on
acceptable terms. TGF may finance the expansion of its business with additional indebtedness. TGF could face
financial risks associated with incurring additional indebtedness, such as reducing TGF’s liquidity and access to
financial markets and increasing the amount of cash flow required to service such indebiedness. TGF faces
additional risks associated with financing its expansion strategy due to the significant limitations imposed on
TGF’s ability to incur or service additional debt or grant security interests on its assels contained in its existing
debt financing agreements.
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Accordingly, TGF may not be able to implement its expansion strategy as ptanned or at all. TGF may not
find additional appropriate sites for new facilities, and it may not be able to obtain requisite government
approvals, or finance, construct, develop or operate these new or expanded facilities successfully.

Future Acquisitions

As part of TGF's business strategy, it may consider acquisitions of other businesses, building sites.
production facilitics, storage or distribution facilities and selected infrastructure. There is no assurance,
however, that TGF will determine to pursue any of these opportunities or that if it determines to pursue them
that it will be successful.

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, any of which could harm TGF's business, including: difficulties in
integrating the operations, technologies, products, existing contracts, accounting processes and personnel of the
target and realizing the anticipated synergies of the combined businesses; difficulties in supporting and
transitioning customers, if any, of the target company or assets; diversion of financial and management resources
from cxisting opcrations; the price TGF pays or other resources that TGF devotes may exceed the value TGF
realizes, or the value it could have realized if it had allocated the purchase price or other resources to another
opportunity; risks of entering new markets or areas in which TGF has limited or no experience or are outside its
core competencies; potential loss of key employees, customers and strategic alliances from cither TGF’s current
business or the business of the target; assumption of unanticipated problems or latent liabilitics, such as
problems with the quality of the products of the target; and inability 1o generate sufficient revenuc to offset
acquisition costs.

TGF may also pursue acquisitions through joint ventures or partnerships. Partnerships and joint ventures
typically involve restrictions on actions that the partnership or joint venture may take without the approval of the
partners. These types of provisions may limit TGF’s ability to manage a partnership or joint venture in a manner
that is in TGF’s best interest but is oppused by TGF's other partner or partners.

Future acquisitions could result in the incurrence of additional debt and related interest cxpense, as well as
unforcseen liabilities, all of which could have a material adverse effect on TGF’s business, results of operations
and financial condition. The failure to successfully evaluate and execute acquisitions or otherwise adequatcly
address the risks associated with acquisitions could have a material adverse effect on TGF's business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Environmental, Health and Safety Laws, Regulations and Liabilities

TGF is or will become subject to various federal, provincial and local environmental laws and regulations,
including those relating to the discharge of materials into the air, water and ground, the generation, storage,
handling, use, transportation and disposal of hazardous matcrials, and the hecalth and safety of TGF’s
employees. These laws and regulations require TGF to obtain and comply with numerous environmental permits
to construct and operatc its Belle Plaine Facility. These laws, regulations and permits can often require
expensive pollution control equipment or operational changes to limit actual or potential impacts on the
environment. A violation of these laws, regulations or permit conditions can result in substantial fines, natural
resource damages, criminal sanctions, permil revocations and/or facility shutdowns.

In addition, to construct and operate the Belle Plaine Facility, TGF had to obtain and will need to comply
with a number of permit requirements. As a condition to granting necessary permits in the future, regulators
could make demands that increase TGF's costs of construction and operations. Permit conditions could also
restrict or limit the extent of TGF’s operations. TGF cannot assure investors that it will be able to obtain and
comply with all necessary permits to construct the Belle Plaine Facility. Failure to obtain and comply with all
applicable permits and licences could halt construction and could subject TGF to future claims.

Environmental issucs, such as contamination and compliance with applicable cnvironmental standards
could arise at any time during the construction and operation of the Belle Plaine Facility. If this occurs, it could
require TGF to spend significant resources to remedy the issues and may delay or prevent construction or
operation of the Belle Plaine Facility. This could significantly increase the cost of this project.
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There is a risk of liability for the investigation and cleanup of environmental contamination at each of the
properties that TGF will own or operate. If hazardous substances have been or are disposed of or released at
sites that undergo investigation and/or remediation by regulatory agencies, TGF may be responsible under
environmental laws for all or part of the costs of investigation andfor remediation, and for damages to natural
resources. TGF may also be subject to related claims by private parties, including TGF's emplovees and property
owners or residents near the Belte Plaine Facility, alleging property damage and personal injury due to exposure
10 hazardous or other matertals at or from its Belle Plaine Facility. Additionally, employees, property owners or
residents near the Belle Plaine Facility could object Lo the air emissions or water discharges from the Belle
Plaine Facility. Ethanol production has been known to produce an unpleasant odour. Environmental and public
nuisance claims or toxic tort claims could be brought against TGF as a result of this odour or TGF’s other
releases to the air or water. Sume of these matters may require TGF to expend significant resources for
investigation, cleanup, installation of control technologies or other compliance-related items, or other costs.

In addition, new laws, new interpretations of existing laws, increased governmental enforcement of
environmental laws or other developments could require TGF to make additional significant expenditures.
Continued government and public emphasis on environmental issues may result in increased future investments
for environmental controls at the Belle Plaine Facility. For example, federal and state envirenmental authorities
have recently been investigating alleged excess volatile organic compounds and other air emissions from certain
U.S. ethanol plants, which could also occur in Canada. Present and future environmental laws and regulations
(and interpretations thereof) applicable to TGF's operations, more vigorous enforcement policies and discovery
of currently unknown conditions may require substantial capital and other expenditures that could have a
material adverse effect on TGF's business, results of operations and financial condition. For example, TGF had
to submit its project proposal for screening by Saskatchewan Environment — Environmental Assessment
Branch under The Environmental Assessment Act (Saskatchewan) in order to carry out the construction and
operation of the Belle Plaine Facility and TGF will need to comply with all applicable regulatory requirements
during the operation of the Belle Plaine Facility, including, without limitation, The Clean Air Act
(Saskatchewan), The Environmental Management and Protection Act, 2002 (Saskatchewan), The Occupational
Health and Safety Acr, 1993 (Saskatchewan) and The Dangerous Goods Transportation Act {Saskatchewan). In
addition to costs for achieving and maintaining compliance with these laws, more stringent standards may also
limit our operating flexibility.

The hazards and risks associated with producing and transporting TGF's products (such as fires, natural
disasters, cxplosions, and abnormal pressurcs and blowouts) may also result in personal injury claims by third-
parties or damage to property owned by TGF or by third-parties. As protection against operating hazards, TGF
intends to maintain insurance coverage against some, but not all, potential losses. However, TGF could sustain
losses for uninsurable or uninsured events, or in amounts in excess of existing insurance coverage. Events that
result in significant personal injury to third-partics or damage to property owned by TGF or third-parties or
other losses that are not fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on TGF's business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Disruptions to Infrastructure, or in the Supply of Fuel or Natural Gas

TGF’s business depends on the continuing availability of rail, road, storage and distribution infrastructure.
Any disruptions in this infrastructure network, whether caused by rail car shortages, earthquakes, storms, other
natural disasters or human error or malfeasance, could have a material adverse cffect on TGF's business. TGF
will rely upon third-parties to maintain the rail lines from the Belle Plaine Facility to the national rail network,
and any failure on their part to provide rail cars or maintain the lines could impede TGF's delivery of products,
impose additional costs on TGF and could have a material adverse effect on TGF’s business, results of
operations and financial condition,

TGF's business also depends on the continuing availability of raw materials, including fuel and natural gas,
The production of ethanol, from the planting of wheat 10 the distribution of c¢thanol to refiners, is highly energy-
intensive. Significant amounts of fuel and natural gas are required for the growing, fertilizing and harvesting of
wheat, as well as for the fermentation, distillation and transportation of ethanol and the drying of distillers
grains. A serious disruption in supplies of fuel or natural gas, or significant increases in the prices of fuel or
natural gas, could significantly reduce the availability of raw materials at the Belle Plaine Facility, increase
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TGF's production costs and could have a material adverse effect on TGF's business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Dependence on Personnel

The success of TGF to date has been largely dependent on the skills and expertisc of its President and the
consultants it has retained. The continued success of TGF will be dependent upon its ability to retain the
services of its President und its ability to recruit and retain other key employees for its business. Although TGF
is currently in the process of recruiting other key employeces required to manage and operate the Belle Plaine
Facility, there can be no guarantee that TGF will be able to retain such employees. Any loss of the scrvices of
TGF’s President or consulting personne! could have a material adverse affect on the business and operations of
TGFE Currently, ncither the Company nor TGF carries “key man” insurance that would compensate it for a loss
of its President.

TGF must hire qualified managers, engineers, operations and other personnel, which can be challenging in
a rural community. Competition for both managers and plant employces in the cthanol industry is intense, and
TGF may not be able to attract and maintain qualified personnel. In addition, unemployment rates in western
Canada (where the Belle Plaine Facility will be located) are currently very low, which is increasing the
compeltition for qualified employees generally. If TGF is unable to hire and retain productive and competent
personnel TGF may not be able to efficiently operate the Belle Plaine Facility and exccute its business strategy.

Technological Advances

TGF expects that technological advances in the processes and procedures for processing ethanol will
continue to occur. It is possible rthat those advances coutd make the processes and procedures that TGF intends
to utilize at the Belle Plaine Facility less efficient or obsolete, or cause the ethanol TGF intends to produce to be
of a lesser quality. These advances could also allow TGF’s competitors to produce ethanol at a lower cost than
TGE If TGF is unable to adopt or incorporate technological advances, TGF’s ethanol production methods and
processes could be less efficient than those of its competitors, which could cause the Belle Plaine Facility to
become less competitive.

Ethanol production methods are also constantly advancing. A current trend in ethanol production research
is to develop an efficient method of producing ethanol from cellulose-based biomass such as agricultural waste,
forest residue and municipal solid waste. This trend is driven by the fact that cellulose-based biomass is gencrally
cheaper than wheat and corn, and producing ethanol from cellulose-based biomass would create opportunities
to produce ethanol in arcas that are unable to grow wheat or corn. Another trend in ethanol production research
is to produce ethanol through a chemical precess rather than a fermentation process, thereby significantly
increasing the ethanol yield per pound of feedstock. Although current technology does not allow these
production methods to be competitive, new technologies may develop that would allow these methods to
become viable means of ethanol production in the future. If TGF is unable to adopt or incorporate these
advances into its operations, TGF’s cost of producing ethanol could be significantly higher than those of its
competitors, which could make the Belle Plaine Facility less competitive.

In addition, alternative fucls, additives and oxygenates arc continually under development. Alternative fuel
additives that can replace ethanol may be developed, which may decrease the demand for ethanol. It is also
possible that technological advances in engine and exhaust system design and performance could reduce the use
of oxygenates, which would lower the demand for cthanol, in which case TGF's business, results of operations
and financial condition may be materially adverscly affected.

Leverage and Restrictive Covenants

As of December 20, 2006, TGF’s total debt was $nil. In order to complete the Belle Plaine Facility, TGF
intends 1o issue the $40 million aggregate principal amount of TGF Debentures and draw on the $50 million
TGF Credit Facility. In addition, TGF may need additional debt financing to operate the Belle Plaine Facility
following construction. However, TGF may not be able to obtain additional debt financing on acceptable terms
or al all.
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The use of debt financing makes it more difficult for TGF to operate because it must make principal and
interest payments on the indebtedness and abide by covenants contained in its debt financing agreements. The
leve) of TGF's debt may have important implications on TGF's operations, including, among other things:
limiting TGF's ability to obtain additional debt financing; making TGF vulnerable to increases in prevailing
interest rates; requiring TGF to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash flow from operations to interest and
principal payments in respect of its indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of cash flow for working
capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate expenditures; placing TGF at a compelitive
disadvantage because it may be substantially more leveraged than some of its competitors; subjecting all or
substantially all of TGF’s assets to liens, which means that there may be no assets left for the Company as TGF's
sole shareholder in the event of a liquidation; limiting TGF’s ability to adjust to changing market conditions,
which could make it more vulnerable to a downturn in the general economic conditions of its business; and
limiting TGF’s ability to make business and operational decisions regarding its business and its subsidiaries,
including, among other things, limiting TGF’s ability to pay dividends to the Company, make capital
improvements, sell or purchase assets or engage in transactions TGF deems to be appropriate and in its
best interest,

The terms of TGF's existing debt financing agreements contain. and any future debt financing agrcement
TGF cnters into may contain, financial, maintenance, organizational, operational and other restrictive
covenants. TGF's ability to make payments on and refinance its indebtedness will depend on its ability to
generate cash from its future operations. TGF’s ability to gencrate cash from future operations is subject, in
large part, to general economic, competitive, legisiative and regulatory factors and other factors that are beyond
TGF's control. If TGF is unable to comply with applicable restrictive covenants or service its debt, TGF may lose
control of its business and be forced to reduce or delay planned capital expenditures, sell assets, restructure its
indebtedness or submit to foreclosure proceedings, all of which could result in a material adverse effect upon
TGF's business, results of operations and financial condition. TGF’s future debt arrangements may also include
subordinated debt, which may contain even more restrictions and be on less favourable terms than TGF’s
existing senior debt and subordinated debt. To secure subordinated debt, TGF may have to give the lender
warrants, put rights, conversion rights, the right to take control of TGF’s business in the event of a default or
other rights and benefits as the lender may require.

TGF may secure its debt financing directly or through wholly-owned subsidiary entitics. Regardless of the
structure, TGF's debt financing arrangements will contain various covenants and agreements and may contain
cross-acceleration and cross-default provisions. Under these provisions, a default or acceleration of one debt
agrecment will result in the default and acceleration of TGF's other debt agreements (regardless of whether
TGF is in compliance with the terms of such other debt agreements), providing the lenders under such other
debt agreements the right to accelerate the obligations due under such other debt agreements. Accordingly, a
default, whether by TGF or any of its subsidiaries, could result in all of TGF’s outstanding debt becoming
immediately due and payable. The application of cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions means that
TGF’s compliance, and its subsidiaries’ compliance, with applicable debt covenants and agreements will be
interdependent and one default (including a default by one of TGF’s subsidiaries) could have a material adverse
effect on TGF's business, results of operations and financial condition, For a description of TGF’s existing debt
arrangements, see “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of TGF”.

Debt Service and Variations in Interest Rates

The TGF Credit Facility will be used to finance a portion of the capital costs of the Belle Plaine Facitity.
Variations in interest rates could result in significant changes in the amount required 1o be applied to debt
service and would affect the financial results of operations of TGE If TGF is unable to meet its debt service
obligations, the lenders may be able to realize on the assets of TGF,

Foreign Exchange Risk

TGF may sell some or all of its ethanol and distillers grains into the U.S. market. Net income from sales
into the U.S. market may be denominated in United States dollars, such that fluctuations of the currency
cxchange rate between the Canadian dollar and the United States dollar may have an impact on the Canadian
dollar amount of net income realized from U.S. sales.
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General Risks Relating to the Offering
Compliance with Financial Reporting and Other Reguirements; Risks Associated with Internal Controls

As a result of this Offering, the Company will become subject to reporting and other obligations under
applicable Canadian securities laws and TSX rules, including Multilateral Instrument 52-109 — Certification of
Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (M1 52-109). MI 52-109 will soon be amended to require
annual management assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.
Effective internal controls, including financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures, are necessary
for the Company to provide rehable financial reports, to effectively reduce the risk of fraud and to operate
successfully as a public company. These reporting and other obligations will place significant demands on the
Company’s management, administrative, operational and accounting resources. The Company does not have
and will not have an internal audit function. The Company anticipates that it will need to upgrade its systems,
implement additional financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures and hire additional
accounting and finance staff. If the Company is unable to accomplish these objectives in a timely and effective
fashion, the Company's ability to comply with its financial reporting requirements and other rules that apply to
reporting issuers could be impaired. Moreover, any failure 1o maintain effective internal controls, including a
failurc to implement new or improved contrals in response 1o identified weaknesses in its system of internal
controls, could cause the Company to fail to meet its reporting obligations or result in material misstatements in
its financial statements. If the Company cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, its reputation
and operaling results could be matcrially harmed which could also cause investors to lose confidence in its
reported financial information, which could result in a lower trading price of its Common Shares.

Universal’s independent auditors advised Universal, in connection with their audit of its fiscal 2006
consolidated financial statements, that they had identified material weaknesses in Universal's system of internal
controls relating to Universal’s accounting for Electricity Swaps. As a result, audit adjustments were required to
record Electricity Swaps on a marked-to-market basis in Universal’s financial statements. Also in 2006, TGF’s
independent auditors advised TGF, in connection with their audit of its fiscal 2006 consolidated financial
statements, that they had identified material weaknesses in TGF's system of internal controls relating to TGF's
accounting for capitalization of property, plant and equipment, deferred finance charges and share capital. As a
result, certain audit adjustments were required to TGF’s financial statements.

Management of Universal and TGF are taking rcmedial measures to address the internal control
deficicncies described abave. The process of designing and implementing an effective system of internal controls
is a continuous effort that requires management to anticipate and react to changes in the business and the
economic and regulatory environments. As part of its requirement to design, implement and test internal
controls, the Company may discover additional weaknesses in its system of internal controls,

Availability of Future Financing

Management cxpects that Universal’s principal source of funds following the Offering will be cash
generated from its operating activitics. Management expects that TGF's principal sources of funds following the
Offering will be the cash raised from its recent share offerings, the issuance of TGF Debentures and borrowing
capacity under the TGF Credit Facility. Management expects that the Company’s principal source of funds
following the Offering {on a consoliduted basis) will be existing working capital, the cash to be retained by the
Company for working capital purposes out of the gross proceeds of the Offering, borrowing capacity under the
TGF Credit Facility and proceeds from the issuance of the TGF Debentures. Management believes that funds
from these sources will provide each of the Company, Universal and TGF with sufficient liquidity and capital
resources to meet their respective current and future financial obligations at existing business levels. Despite
management's expectations, however, one or more of the Company, Universal or TGF may require additional
equity or debt financing to meet its financial requirements. There can be no assurance that this financing will be
available when required or available on commercially favourable terms or on terms that are otherwise
satisfactory to the Company, in which event the financial condition of the Company may be materially adversely
affected.
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Conflicts of Interest

Certain of the directors and officers serve as directors and/or officers of other public companies which may
be involved in the industries in which the Company participates and therefore it is possible that a conflict may
arise between their dutics as a director or officer of the Company and their duties as a director and/or officer of
such other companices. In accordance with the CBCA, directors who have a material interest in any person who
is a party to a material contract or a proposed material contract with the Company are required, subject to
certain exceptions, to disclosc that interest and abstain from voting on any resolution to approve that contract.
In addition, the directors are required to act honestly and in good fuith with a view to the best interests of the
Company. Sec “Exccutive Compensation — Conflicts of Interest” and “Interest of Management and Others in
Material Transactions”.

Income Tax Matters

The Purchased Securities will be transferred to the Company on a fully or partially tax-deferred basis. The
cost to the Company of the Purchased Securitics will be less than fair market value, such that the Company may
realize taxable income on the future disposition of the Purchasced Seccurities.

Dependence on Subsidiaries

The Company’s ability to pay dividends (if any) and, should it obtain debt financing in the future, meet its
debt obligations, will be dependent on cash flows from its subsidiaries {initiaily Universal and TGF Amalco) and,
in the short term. its ability to raise capital from external sources. Cash flows from its subsidiaries will be
dependent, in the long term, on the ability of its subsidiaries to generate operating cash flows in excess of their
own capital expenditures. In addition, the subsidiaries are separate and distinct [egal entities that could be
precluded from making such distributions under certain circumstances, including as a result of legislation or
regulation or in times of financial distress. See “'Dividend Policy”.

Operating Costs

The operating costs of TGF's and Universal’s businesses, which have the potential to vary considerably, are
in part subject to TGF’s and Universal’s ability to negotiate acceptable commercial arrangements with third
parties such as for utilities and other services. TGF's and/or Universal's earnings may be reduced if significant
increases in operating costs are incurred.

Potential Unknown Liabilities

In connection with the Acquisitions, there may be unknown liabilities assumed by the Company, as well as
taxation and environmental issues, for which the Company may not be indemnified pursuant to the indemnities
provided under the Acquisition Agreements. In particular, to the extent that either Universal or TGF has failed
to comply with or otherwise violated applicable {aws, including environmental or health and safety laws, the
Company may be legally and financially responsible for these violations. The discovery of any material Habilities
cauld have a material adverse affect on the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Certain of the Existing Shareholders holding 38% of the Purchased Sccuritics will provide certain
representations and warranties to the Company under the Acquisition Agreements with respect to TGE
Universal and this prospectus. Other Existing Sharcholders’ representations will be more limited in nature,
relating primarily to the ownership of the Purchased Securities owned by them. Each of the Existing
Sharcholders will agree to indemnify the Company for breaches of representations and warranties, although the
total maximum liability of each Existing Shareholder under the Acquisition Agreements in respect of an untrue
representation or warranty will be limited, without duplication, to the aggregate net after tax proceeds received
by such Existing Sharcholder from the sale of its Purchased Securities (including any Common Shares received
by such Existing Sharcholder, but in such case recourse will be limited to the period of time that such Common
Shares remain in escrow pursuant to the Escrow Agreement). Further, there can be no assurance that all or any
of the Existing Sharcholders will have sufficient assets and financial resources to satisfy any indemnification
obligations that might arise, with the result that these indemnities may have a nominal value. See “Funding,
Acquisitions and Related Transactions — Acquisition Agreements”.
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Absence of Operating History as a Public Company

To operate effectively, the Company will be required (o continue to implement changes in certain aspects of
its business, improve and expand ils management information systems and develop, manage and train
management level and other employees to comply with ongoing public company requirements. Failure to take
such actions, or delay in the implementation thereof, could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial
condition, liquidity and results of operations.

Future Sales of Common Shares by the Existing Shareholders

Upon the Closing, the Existing Shareholders will collectively hold approximately 69% of the outstanding
Common Shares (64% if the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full), If one or more of the Existing
Shareholders sells a substantial number of its Common Shares in the public market, the market price of the
Common Shares could fall. In addition, the perception among the public that such sales may occur could also
result in a reduction in the market price of the Common Shares.

Dilution and Future Sales of Common Shares

The Company may issue additional Common Shares in the future, which may dilute a sharcholder’s
holdings in the Company. The Company's articles permit the issuance of an unlimited number of Common
Shares, an unlimited number of first preferred shares, issuable in series, and an unlimited number of second
preferred shares, issuable in series, and sharcholders will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such
further issuances. The directors of the Company have the discretion to determine the provisions attaching to any
series of first preferred shares and second preferred shares and the price and the terms of issue of further
issuances of Common Shares. Also, additional Common Shares will be issued by the Company on the exercise of
options to acquire Common Shares under the Company’s Option Plan and upon the vesting of RSUs granted
under the Company’s RSU Plan.

Limited Ability to Recover From the Existing Shareholders for Breaches of Acquisition Agreements

As described under “Funding, Acquisitions and Related Transactions — Acquisition Agrecments”, Existing
Shareholders holding only 38% of the Purchased Securities will provide representations, warranties and related
indemnities regarding Universal and TGF, the disclosure in this prospectus and certain other matters.
Representations of the other Existing Sharcholders will be limited to themsclves and title to the Purchased
Securities held by them. The liability of cach of the Existing Shareholders under the Acquisition Agreements is
limited to the amount of cash proceeds received by them pursuant to such agrecments. Foilowing the completion
of the Acquisitions, one or more of the Existing Shareholders may have sold a large portion of its assets and may
distribute all or a substantial portion of the proceeds that it receives from such sale to third parties, such as
securityholders (in the case of an Existing Shareholder that is not a natural person). In the event that the
Company suffers any loss as a result of a breach of the representations and warranties or any other term of the
Acquisition Agreements by one or more of the Existing Shareholders, the ability of the Company to recover the
amount of its loss will be limited. In addition, investors in the Company will not have a direct statutory right of
action against the Existing Shareholders for a misrepresentation in this prospectus.

Unpredictability and Volatility of Common Share Price

There is currently no public market through which the Common Shares can be sold and there can be no
assurance that a significant public market will develop or be sustained after this Offering. The Offering Price for
the Common Shares has been determined by negotiation among the Company, the Promoters and the
Underwriters and may not be indicative of the market price for the Common Shares after this Offering. If an
active public market for the Common Shares does not develop, the liquidity of your investment in the Common
Shares may be limited, the market price could be subject to significant fluctuations and the price per share may
decline below the Offering Price.

The market price of the Common Shares could fluctuate significantly as a result of many factors, including
the following: cconomic and stock market conditions generally, and specifically as they may impact participants
in the retail natural gas industry, the retail electricity industry and the ethanol industry; the Company’s earnings
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and results of operations and other developments affecting the Company’s businesses; sales of Common Shares
into the market by one or more Existing Sharcholders andfor insiders; changes in financial estimates and
recommendations by sceurities analysis following the Common Shares; carnings and other announcements by,
and changes in market evaluations of, partictpants in the retail natural gas industry, the retail electricity industry
and the ethanol industry; changes in business or regulatory conditions affecting participants in the retail natural
gas industry, the retail electricity industry and the ethanol industry; trading volume of the Common Shares;
additions or departures of key personnel; and competitive pricing pressures in the retail natural gas industry, the
retail electricity industry and the ethanol industry,

in addition, the financial markets have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have
particularly affected the market prices of cquity securities of companics and that have often been unrelated to
the operating performance of such companics. Accordingly, the market price of the Common Shares may
decline even if the Company's operating results or prospects have not changed.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
The only material contracts which the Company or a subsidiary of the Company has entered into in the past

two years, or will be entering into prior to the Closing of this Offering, other than contracts entered into in the
ordinary course of business, are as follows:

{a) the Amended Electricity Swap Agrecment referred to under “Principal Agreements — Principal
Agreements of Universal — Amendcd Electricity Swap Agreement™;

(b) the Amended Gas Purchase Agreccment referred 10 under “Principal Agreements — Principal
Agreements of Universal — Amended Gas Purchase Agreement™;

{c) the Universal U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement referred to under “Principal Agreements — Principal
Agreements of Universal — Universal U.S. Gas Purchase Agreement”;

{d) the EPC Contract referred to under “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of TGF —
EPC Contract™;

{e) thc Licence Agreement referred to under “Principal Agrecments — Principal Agreements of TGF —
Licence Agreement’™

{f} the letter agreement providing for the TGF Credit Facility referred to under “Principal Agreements —
Principal Agreements of TGF — TGF Credit Facility;

{g) the TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement referred to under “Principal Agreements — Principal
Agreements of TGF — TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement”;

(h) the Escrow Agrcement referred to under “Escrow of Sccurities™;

(i) the Acquisition Agreements referred 1o under “Funding, Acquisitions and Related Transactions —
Acquisition Agreements’; and

(j) the Underwriting Agreement referred to under “Plan of Distribution”.
Copies of these contracts {(when executed) may be inspected at the Company’s offices at Suite 1700,
25 Sheppard Avenue West, Toronto, Ontarioc M2N 656, during normal business hours during the period of

distribution of the Common Shares offered hereunder, or at any time after Closing on the SEDAR website at
www.sedar.com.

PROMOTERS

Gary Drummond, the Exccutive Chairman and a director of the Company, and Mark Silver, the President,
Electricity and Gas Marketing and a director of the Company, have taken the initiative in founding and
organizing the Company and may thercfore be considered to be promoters of the Company for the purposes of
applicable securities legislation. Sce “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations — Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Universal — Transactions with Related Parties”,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Management’s
Discussion and Analysis — TGF — Transactions with Related Parties”. “Funding, Acquisitions and Related
Transactions — Acquisition Agreements”, “Principal Agreements — Principal Agreements of Universal —
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Services Agreement and Termination Agreement”, “Retained Interest”, “Use of Proceeds”, “Directors and
Officers”, “Executive Compensaiton”, “Incentive Plans™, “Principal Holders of Common Shares™ and “Interest
of Management and Others in Material Transactions™.

Mr. Drummond resides outside of Canada. Although Mr. Drummond has appointed MacLean Keith,
Barristers & Solicitors as his agent for scrvice of process in Ontario it may not be possible for investors to collect
from Mr. Drummond judgments obtained in courts in Canada predicated on the civil liability provisions of
securitics legislation.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

There are no legal proceedings material to the Company, Universal or TGF to which the Company,
Universal or TGF or any of their respective subsidiaries is a party, or of which any of their respective property is
the subject matter, nor are any such proceedings known to the Company to be contemplated.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters related to the Common Shares being offered hereby are being passed upon on behalf
of the Company by Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP, and on behalf of the Underwriters by Osler, Hoskin &
Harcourt LLP.

INTEREST OF EXPERTS

None of Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP, Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP or LECG has received or will
receive a direct or indirect interest in the property of the Company or of any associate or affiliate thereof, None
of Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP, Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP or LECG beneficially owns, directly or
indirectly, any sccurities of the Company or of any associate or affiliate thercof. In addition, none of the
aforementioned persons or companics, nor any partner, associate, director, officer or employee of any of the
aforementioned persons or companies is, or is expected to be, elected, appointed or employed as a director,
officer or crmployee of the Company or of any associate or affiliate of the Company.

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The auditors of the Company are KPMG LLP, Toronto, Ontario. The transfer agent and registrar for the
Common Shares is Computershare Investor Scrvices Inc. at its principal offices located in Toronto, Ontario.

PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHTS

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces and territories of Canada provides purchasers with the right
to withdraw from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after
receipt, or deemed receipt, of a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces and territories,
securities legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies of rescission or, in some jurisdictions, damages
where the prospectus and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser,
provided that such remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit
prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory. Purchasers should refer to any
applicable provisions of the securities legislation of their province or territory for the particulars of these rights
or consult with a legal advisor.
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AUDITORS’ CONSENT

The Board of Directors of Universal Encrgy Group Lid.

We have read the Universal Energy Group Lid. (the “Company”) prospectus dated January 26, 2007
rclating to the sale and issue of common shares offered of the Company. We have complicd with Canadian
generally accepted standards for an auditor’s involvement with offering documents.

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned prospectus of our report to the Directors of the Company on
the balance sheet of the Company as at November 1, 2006, Our report is dated November 13, 2006, except as to
note 3 which is as of January 26, 2007.

Toronto, Canada (Signed) KPMG LLP
January 26, 2007 Chartlered Accountants



AUDITORS’ CONSENT

The Board of Directors of Universal Energy Group Litd.

We have read the Universal Energy Group Ltd. (the “Company™) prospectus dated January 26, 2007
relating to the sale and issue of common shares offered of the Company. We have complied with Canadian
generally accepted standards for an auditor’s involvement with offering documents.

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned prospectus of our report to the Directors of Universal
Energy Corporation (“*Universal”) on the consolidated balance sheets of Universal as at September 30, 2006 and
2005 and the consolidated statements of operations, deficit and cash flows for the year ended September 3(,
2006 and the period from the date of incorporation November 25, 2004 to September 30, 2005. Our report is
dated November 13, 2006, except as to note 15 which is as of January 26, 2007.

Toronto, Canada (Signedy) KPMG LLP
January 26, 2007 Chartered Accountants



AUDITORSY CONSENT

The Board of Directors of Universal Energy Group Ltd.

We have read the Universal Energy Group Ltd. (the “Company™} prospectus dated January 26, 2007
relating to the sale and issuc of common shares offered of the Company. We have complied with Canadian
generally accepted standards for an auditor’s involvement with offering documents.

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned prospectus of our report to the Directors of Terra Grain
Fuels Holdings Inc. (" TGF™) on the consolidated balance sheet of TGF as at September 30, 2006 and the
consolidated statements of earnings and retained earnings and cash flows for the period from the date of
incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006. Our report is dated November 13, 2006, except as to
notes 10{b), (c), (d) and (e), which are as of January 26, 2007.

Regina, Canada (Signed) KPMG LLP
January 26, 2007 Chartered Accountants



AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS

We have audiled the balance sheet of Universal Energy Group Lid. as at November 1, 2006. This financial
statement is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Lhis
financial statement based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statement is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis. evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statcment. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation.

[n our opinion, this financial statement presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at November 1, 2006 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG LLP (Chartered Accountants)

Toronte, Canada,
November 13, 2006, except as to note 3,
which is as of January 26, 2007



UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUP LTD.
BALANCE SHEET
As ot November 1, 2006

ASSETS

Share Capital

Subsequent eVents . . ..

Approved on behalf of the Board:

(Signed) Gary J, DRUMMOND (Signed) MARK L. SILVER
Director Dircctor

See accompanying notes to financial siatements.
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UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
November 1, 2006

Organization

Universal Energy Group Ltd. (“UEGL’) was incorporated on November |, 2006 under the Canada ™

Business Corporations Act. UEGL was formed to participate il the retail electricity and natural gas
industries and the ethanol industry.

Share capital

UEGLUs authorized share capital is an unlimited number of Common Shares, and an unlimited number of
First Preferrcd Shares, issuable in series, and an unlimited number of Second Prefcrred Shares, issuable
in scries.

Subsequent events

On January 26, 2007, UEGL filed a prospectus relating to the initial public offering of its common shares.
On the closing date of this initial public offering, UEGL will purchase all of the issued and outstanding
shares of Universal Energy Corporation (“Universal™) and of Terra Grain Fuels Holdings Inc. (“TGF"),
refated corporations, following the amalgamation of TGF with its subsidiary, Terra Grain Fuels Inc. The

business combination will be accounted for as a reverse take over of UEGL by Universal.and-an-acquisition
of TGE by Universal.

In connection with the closing of the initial public offering, UEGL will establish an option plan, which is
intended to aid in attracting, retaining and motivating the officers, directors, employees and other eligible
service providers of UEGL and its subsidiarics. In addition, UEGL will implement a restricted share unit
plan as a discretionary incentive compensation plan to provide officers, directors, employees and other
eligible service providers of UEGL and any subsidiary thereof who provide services to UEGL with the
opportunity to acquire common shares of UEGL through an award of restricted share units.



COMPILATION REPORT

To the Directors of
Universal Energy Group Ltd.

We have read the accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet of Universal Energy

Group Ltd. (the “Company”) as at September 30, 2006 and the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended September 30, 2006, and have performed the following procedures:

L.

L

Compared the figurcs in the column in the uvnaudited pro forma consolidated balance shect captioned
“Universal Energy Group” to the audited balance sheet of the Company as at November 1, 2006, and found
them to be in agreement.

Compared the figures in the column in the unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet captioned
“Universal” to the audited balance sheet of Universal Energy Corporation (Universal™) as at
September 30, 2006, and compared the figures in the column in the unauvdited pro forma conselidated
statement of operations captioned “Universal” to the audited income statement of Universal for the year
ended September 30, 2006, and found them to be in agreement.

Compared the figures in the column in the unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet captioned
“TGF” to the audited balance sheet of Terra Grain Fuels Holdings Inc. (“TGF™) as at September 30, 2006,
and compared the figures in the column in the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations
captioned “TGF” to the audited income statement of TGF for the period from incorporation on April 25,
2006 to September 30, 2006, and found them to be in agreement.

Made enquiries of certain officers of the Company who have responsibility for financial and accounting
maltters about:

(a) the basis for determination of the unaudited pro forma adjustments; and

(b} whether the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements comply as to form in all material
respects with requirements of the various sccurities commissions and similar regulatory authorities
in Canada.

The officers:
{4} described 1o us the basis for determination of the unaundited pro forma adjustments; and

(b) stated that the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements comply as to form in all material
respects with the requirements of the various securities commissions and similar regulatory authorities
in Canada.

Read the notes to the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements, and found them to be
consistent with the basis described to us for determination of the unaudited pro forma adjustments.

Recalculated the application of the unaudited pro forma adjustments 1o the aggregate of the amounts in the
columns in the unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet captioned “Universal Energy Group”,
“Universal” and “TGF”’ and found the amounts in the column in the unaudited pro forma consolidated
balance sheet captioned “Universal Energy Group Pro Forma Consolidated” to be arithmetically correct.

Recalculated the application of the unaudited pro forma adjustments to the aggregate of the amounts in the
columns in the wnaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations captioned “Universal” and
“TGF” and found the amounts in the column in the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of
operations captioned “Universal Energy Group Pro Forma Consolidated” to be arithmetically correct.

A pro forma financial statement is based on management assumptions and adjustments which are
inherently subjective. The foregoing procedures are substantially less than either an audit or a review, the
objective of which is the expression of assurance with respect Lo management’s assumptions, the unaudited
pro forma adjustments, and the application of the adjustments to the historical financial information.
Accordingly, we express no such assurance. The foregoing procedures would not necessarily reveal matters
of significance to the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements, and we therefore make no
representation about the sufficiency of the procedures for the purposes of a reader of such statements.

Toronto, Cunada {Signed) KPMG LLP
January 26, 2007 Chartered Accountants
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ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash
Accounts receivable
Gas delivered in excess of

consumption . .. ... ...

Utility holdback

Investment tax credit

receivable . . ... ... ...

Current portion of future
taxcs

Property, plant and
equipment

Deferred finance charges . . . .

Future tax
Goodwill

LIABILITEIES
Current Liabilities

UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUP LTD.
PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

{Unaudited — See Compilation Report)
As at September 30, 2006

Accounts payable and accrued

liabilitics

Commodity trade financing . . —

Deferred gas revenues

Current portion of unrealized
loss on swap contracts . .

Warrants . . ... ... ... ..

Future tax
Unrealized loss on swap
contracts

SHAREHOLDERS'

EQUITY/(DEFICIENCY)

Share Capital
Cumulative Translation

Adjustment . . . .. ... ..
Deficit . . . . ... ........

U

Universal Terra Grain
Universal Energy Fuels Holdings Ine. Universal

Energy Group  (*Universal™) (“TGEF™) Encrgy Group

November 1,  Sceptember 30, September 30, Pro Forma Pro Forma

2006 2006 2006 Adjustments Note 3 Consolidated
.. $1 § 2,974,924 £29,963,645 $ 36,155,654 (a) to (h) § 69,094,224
— 17,351,498 189,635 — 17,541,153
7,649,476 —_ - 7,649,476

— 1,262,551 — — 1,262,551
- 492 283 — 492,283
— 5,555,693 — — 5,555,693
l 34,794,142 30,645,583 36,155,654 101,595,380
— 1,518,824 6,928,086 — 8.446,915
— — 1.925,046 (1,925,046) (h) 0
— 25,917,625 -_ 3,500,000 (c) 29,417,625
— — — _ W726738  (h) 70,726,738
$_l $ 62,230,596 339,498,715 $108,457,346 $ 210,186,658
.. §— $ 6,734,363 § 2,742,695 — $ 9477058
5,779,353 — (5,779,353)  4(a) 0
— 10,931,434 — — 10,931,434
L 12,050,535 — — 12,050,535
— 35,495,685 2,742,695 (5,779,353) 32,459,027
— — 831,500 (831.500)  (e) 0

— —_ 382,711 — 382,711
— 61,831,804 — — 61,831,804
— 97,327,489 3,956,906 (6.610,853) 94,673,542
1 25,001,000 35,537,848 176,122,159 (a) to (h) 236,661,008
— (1,091) — — (1,091)
-— (60,096,802) 3,961 {61,053,960) (121,146,801}
1 (35,096,893) 35,541,809 115,068,199 115,513,116
$1 $ 62,230,596 $39,498,715 $108,457,346 $ 210,186,658

See accompanying notes to pro forma consolidated financial statements.
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REVENUE

Gas...........
Electricity ... ...

COST OF SALES

UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUP LTD.
PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

(Unnudited — See Compilation Report)
Year ended September 30, 2006

58,292,123 — —

Gas. .. ... e e 11,791,782 — —

Electricity . .. ........ ... ....... 24,052,777 — —
35,844,559 — —_

GROSS MARGIN ... .. ... ... ...... 22,447,564 — —

EXPENSES

Customer acquisition costs . . ... ... .. 16,838,441 —_ —_—

General and administrative . . ... .. ... 8,183,731 328,603 91,903 {a)

Amortization . .. ... . ... ... 235,519 24,009 —
25,257,691 352,612 (91,903)

Loss before other income/{expense) . . . (2,810,127) (352,612) 91,903

OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE}

Loss on swap contracts. . . .......... (88,141,459) — —

Interest inCoOMIC . ... .ot e e — 358,676 —_
(88,141,459) 358,676 —

Income/(loss) before income taxes . . .. (90,951,586) 6,064 91,903

Future tax recovery ............... (31,250,246) 2,103 32,166 (a)

NET INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE

YEAR/PERIOD ... . . ... ........ $(59.701,340) $ 3,961 $ 59,737

See accompanying notes to pro forma consolidated financial statements.
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Universal Terra Grain
Energy Fuels Holdings Inc.
{(“Universal™) (“TGF™) Universal
Year ended Period April 25 to Encrgy Group
September 34, September 30, Pro Forma Pro Forma
2006 2006 Adjustments  Note J Consolidated
................ $ 14,182,708 8 — $  — $ 14,182,708
................ 44,109,415 — 44 119,415

58,292,123

11,791,782
24,052,777

35,844,559

22,447,564

16,838,441
8,420,431
259,528

25.518,400

(3.070,836)

(88,141,459)
358,676

(87,782,783)

(90.853,619)

(31.215,977)

$(59.637.642)



UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUF LTD.
NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended September 30, 2006
{(Unaudited — See Compilation Report)

The Company

The Company was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act as “Universal Energy
Group Ltd.” on November 1, 2006 and, other than as described in this prospectus, has not carried on any
business 1o date. The Company was formed (o participate in the retail electricity and natural gas industrics
and the cthanol industry.

Basis of presentation and proposed transactions

The accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet and unaudited pro forma consolidated
statement of operations of the Company (collectively the “pro forma consolidated financial statements”)
have been preparcd by management of Universal Energy Group Ltd. using the accounting principles
disclosed in the financial statements of each of Universal Energy Corporation (“Universal’) and Terra
Grain Fuels Holdings Inc. (“TGF”) (collectively the “Existing Operating Companies™).

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements may not be indicative of the financial position
and results of operations that would have occurred if the transactions had taken place on the dates
indicated or of the financial position or operating results which may be obtained in the future. The
unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements are not a forecast or projection of future results.
The actual financial position and results of operations of the Company for any period following the closing
of the transactions contemplated by this prospectus will likely vary from the amounts set forth in the
unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements and such variation may be material.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited
balance sheet of the Company as at November 1, 2006, the audited consolidated financial statements of
Universal as at September 30, 2006 and the audited consolidated financial statements of TGF as at
September 30, 2006.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet of the Company as at September 30, 2006 has been
prepared from information derived from the financial statements listed above and the adjustments and
assumptions outlined below. The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations of the
Company for the ycar cnded September 30, 2006 has been prepared from the financial statements
listed above.

The Company has filed a prospectus for an initial public offering of its common shares (the “Offering™). On
the Closing Date, the Company will use a portion of the proceeds of the Offering to acquire all of the issued
and outstanding securities of Universal and TGFE The remaining proceeds of the Offering will be used by
the Company to pay the expenses of the Offering and for general carporate purposes.

As the transaction will result in the existing sharehalders of Universal acquiring the largest holdings of the
outstanding shares of the Company, the transaction will be accounted for as an acquisition of TGF by
Universal using the purchase method and as an acquisition of the Company by Universal using reverse
takeover accounting.

The following is a summary of the principal transactions that will take place in connection with completion
of the Offering:

(a) The Amalgamation of TGF and Terra Grain Fuels Inc, (*“TGF Opco™) to form TGF Amalco will occur.

(b} TGF Amalco will amend its articles to create the TGF New Amalco Shares.
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2.

UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended September 30, 2006
(Unaudited — See Compilation Report)

Basis of presentation and proposed transactions (Continued)

(c) Sempra Energy Trading Corp. (“Sempra”™) will subscribe for 1,109,831 TGF Amalco Shares at a price
of $5.00 per share for an aggregate subscription price of $5,549,155.

(d) The purchasers under the TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement will exercise their TGF Warrants to
acquire 983,111 TGF Amalco Shares at an exercise price of $4.50 per share and 126,720 TGF Amalco
Shares at an exercise price of $5.00 per share, {or an aggregate exercise price of $3,057,600,

(e} TGF Amalco will effect a reorganization of its capital such that the TGF Amalco Shares will be
exchanged for TGF New Amalco Shares and $31,450,000 principal amount of TGF Amalco Notes.

(fy The Company will purchasc all of the issued and outstanding TGF New Amalco Shares and
TGF Amalco Notes from the TGF Existing Securityholders. As consideration for the acquisition of the
TGF New Amalco Shares and TGF Amalco Notes, the Company will pay 1o the TGF Existing
Securityholders an aggregate of $31,450,000 in cash and will issue to the TGF Existing Securityholders
an aggregate of 8,469,091 Common Shares.

(g} The Company will purchase all of the issued and outstanding Universal Shares from the Universal
Existing Shareholders. As consideration for the acquisition of the Universal Shares, the Company will
pay to the Universal Existing Shareholders an aggregate of $61,050,000 in cash and will issue to the
Universal Existing Shareholders an aggregate of 16,439,999 Common Shares.

(h) The Company will grant to the underwriters of the Offering an over-allotment option (the “Over-
Allotment Option”) to purchase up to 1,704,546 Common Shares for an aggregate of $18,750,006. If
the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the aggregate consideration payable to the TGF
Existing Securityholders for their TGF New Amalco Shares and TGF Notes will be $37,825,602 in cash
and 7,889,545 Common Shares and the aggregate consideration payable to the Universal Existing
Shareholders for their Universal Shares will be $73,425,004 in cash and 15,314,999 Common Shares.

Unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet of the Company

The following transactions were completed subsequent to September 30, 2006 and have been adjusted for
as if they occurred on September 30, 2006:

(a) The issuance of 1,285,000 TGF Shares for total proceeds of $6,425,000,
(b) The issuance of 430,649 TGF Shares for total procceds of $2,403,245,

The following assumptions and adjustments have been made to reflect the proposed Closing transactions
described in Note 2 as if the transactions had occurred on September 30, 2006:

{c) Rcceipt of proceeds from the Offering in the amount of $125,000,007 and payment by the Company,
directly or indirectly, of the underwriters’ fee and other costs of the Offering estimated at $10,000,000.
A future tax benefit in connection with the cxpenses of the Offering estimated at $3,500,000 has
been recorded.

(d) The issuance to Sempra of 1,109,831 TGF Amalco Shares for total procecds of $5,549,155 on Closing
of the Offering.

(e) The issuance to the purchasers under the TGF Debenture Purchase Agreement of 983,111 TGF
Amalco Shares at an exercise price of $4.50 per share and 126,720 TGF Amalco Shares at an excrcise
price of $5.00 per share, for an aggregate exercise price of $5.057,600.
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3.

UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUP LTD.

NOTES TG PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended September 30, 2006
{(Unaudited — See Compilation Report}

Unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet of the Company {Continued)

(f) The purchase of all of the issucd and outstanding TGF New Amalco Shares and TGF Amalco Notes

@

for cash of $31,450.000 and 8,469,091 common shares of the Company ai $11.00 per share. Total
aggregale consideration paid for the TGF New Amalco Shares and TGF Amalco Notes amounts to
$124,610,001.

The purchase of all of the issued and outstanding Universal Shares for cash of $61,050,000 and
16,439,999 commeon shares of the Company at $11.00 per share. Total aggregate consideration paid for
the Universat Shares amounts to $241,889,989,

The acquisition of Universal by the Company effectively represents a combining of the Universal and
TGF businesses concurrent with the reverse takcover of the Company. The combining of Universal,
TGF and the Company reflect:

(i) The acquisition of TGF by Universal recorded at the exchange amount of $124,610,001 is the

estimated fair value of the consideration to be given to acquire the TGF New Amalco Shares and
TGF Amalco Notes. The purchase price less the cash portion thereof has been added to the
capital stock of Universal. The preliminary allocation of the excess of fair value over net book
valuc has been attributed 1o goodwill as follows:

$
Net assets acquired:
Net working capital . ... ... ... . e 46,955,177
Property, plant and equipment .. ... . .. 6,928,086
Goodwill .« . 70,726,738
124,610,001
Consideration:
Cash .. 31,450,000
Issuance of 8,469,091 common shares at $11.00 pershare . . ... ... ... .. 93,160,001
124,610,001

No amortization expensc related to property, plant and equipment was recorded as TGF Amalco
is still in the start-up phase of its operations with the ethanol plant still under construction. The
allocation of the purchase price to the assets and liabilities of TGF Amalco will be finalized after
the acquisition has been completed and accordingly may change.

(i} The net equity of the Company is clfectively being exchanged for cquity issued by Universal and

accordingly represents an increase to Universal's share capital.

(iii) The payment to the Universal Existing Shareholders of $61,050,000 has been recorded as a

deemed distribution and charged directly 1o the deficit.

(h) The pro forma financial statements assume that the Over-Allotment Option o purchase up 1o

1,704,546 common shares for aggregate procceds of $18,750,006 has not been exercised. On closing,
23,204,544 Common Shares will be issued 1o the Existing Sharcholders. An additional
1,704,546 Common Shares will be issucd to the Existing Sharcholders thirty days after closing.
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UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUP LTD.

NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended September 30, 2006
(Unaudited — See Compilation Report)

Unaudited pre forma consolidated statement of operations

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of opcrations of the Company has been prepared
assuming that the Company was in operation during the year cnded September 30, 2006 and as if the
proposed transactions described in note 2 had occurred on October 1, 2005, The unaudited pro forma
consolidated statement of operations of the Company reflects the following assumptions and adjustments to

the income and expenses of the Company:

(a) The reduction in interest cxpense of $91,903 for the year ended September 30, 2006 to reflect the

climination of the commodity financing facility no longer required by the Company.

Unaudited pro forma statement of share capital as at September 30, 2006

Number of

Shares $

Authorized:
Uniimited number of Common Shares
Unlimited number of First Preferred Shares, issuable in series
Unlimited number of Second Preferred Shares, issuable in series
Issued:
The Company’s share capital at November 1, 2006 . ........ .. ... ..... 1 ]
Reduction of the Company’s share capital to book value. ... ... 0.0 L. — (1
Acquisition of TGF Amalco’s common shares and notes for shares of the

Company . . ... 8,469,091 93,160,001
Acquisition of Universal's shares for shares of the Company . . ......... .. 16,439,999 25,001,000
Shares issued to the public, lessissue costs . . ... ... ... ... ... .. ... 11,363,637 118,500,007

36,272,728 236,661,008

Commitments

(a) The Company’s commitments for premises under Iease obligations for each of the next five years are

as follows:

Year

200 e e
L S
A
2
L
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Amount

$ 746,388
750,422
765,243
765,243
766,067

$3,793,363



6.

UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended September 30, 2006
{Unaudited — See Compilation Report)

Commitments (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The Company’s commitments under long-term natural gas contracts with Sempra for each of the next
five years are as follows:

ﬁ Amount
2007 e e e e e $ 81.861.561
2008 . e 81,457,350
2000 . e 79,466,534
2000 e 65,948,002
20 e e 36,279,511
$345,012,958

The above commitments have been entered into to meet delivery requirements for currently enrolled
and flowing natural gas customers under long-term natural gas supply contracts.

The Company is also committed under long-term contracts with customers to supply electricity and
natural gas. These contracts have various expiry dates and renewal options.

TGF completed negotiations to enter into an EPC Construction Contract with an effective date of
September 29, 2006, with EllisDen/VCM in Joint Venture and EllisDon Corporation for a sum of
$129,800.000 to perform and complete all design, engineering, procurement, construction and
commissioning work in connection with the development of the Belle Plaine Facility.

TGF has entered into a licence agreement with Delta-T Corporation for the right to use in perpetuity
Delta-T Corporation’s technology for the purpose of construction, operation, enhancement and
optimization of the Belle Plaine Facility for a fec of approximately $2.9 million.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS

We have audited the consolidated balance shects of Universal Encrgy Corporation as al September 30, 2006
and 2005 and the consolidated statements of deficit, operations and cash tlows for the year ended September 30,
2006 and for the period from date of incorporation, November 25, 2004 1o September 30, 2005. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements bascd on our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at September 30, 2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year ended September 30, 2006 and for the period from date of incorporation, November 25, 2004 to
September 30, 2005 in accordance with Canadian gencrally accepted accounting principles,

Toronto, Canada
November 13, 2006, cxcept as to note |3
which is as of January 26, 2007
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UNIVERSAL ENERGY CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET -
As ot September 30

2006 2005
‘ ASSETS
| Current Assets
| Cash . ... Note 5§ 2974924 $1,701,634
| Accounts receivable L. L e Note 9 17,351,498 437,880
‘ Gus delivered in excess of consumption ... ... ... . L 7,649,476 172,902
| Utility holdback .. ........ ... ... . ... . i Note 6 1,262,551 —
Current portion of future taxes ... ... ... ... .. ... ... Note 10 5,555,693 —
34,794,142 2,312,416
Future taxes . ... .. .. . ... Note 10 25,917,625 222 484
| Property, plant and equipment . . . ... ... . ... .. ... ... ... .. Note 7 1,518,829 315,764
‘ $ 62,230,596  $2,850,664
| LIABILITIES
‘ Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . ... .. ............ ... Note 9 § 6,734363 §$ 261,782
Commodity trade financing . .. ... . ... ... .. ... .. .. . ... Note 9 5.779,353 —
Advances from shareholders .. ... .. ... o Note 9 — 2842941
Deferred gas revenues. ... ... 10,931,434 140,403
Current portion of unrealized loss on swap contracts .. .. .. ... .. Note 12 12,050,535 —
Unrealized loss on swap contracts . . .. ... .................... Note 12 61,831,804 —

97,327,489 3,245,126

35,495,685 3,245,126
|

Share capital . . ... ... .. Note 8 25,001,000 1,000
| Cumulative translation adjustment . .. .. ... .. ... ... ... . ... . (1,091) —
‘ Deficit . . . ... (60,096,802)  (395,462)
| (35.096,893)  (394,462)

Commitments ... ... ... ... e Note 11

Subsequent events . ... e Note 15

$ 62.230,596  £2 850,664

Approved on behalf of the Board:

{Signed) GARY J. DRUMMOND {Signed) MARK L. SILVER
Dircctor Dircctor

See accompunying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNIVERSAL ENERGY CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF DEFICIT

From the Date of

Incorporation,

Yeur Ended November 25, 2004 to

September 30, 2006 September 30, 2005
Deficit, beginning of year/period . ........ .. ... .. .. ... .. L. 5 (395,462) $ —
Net loss for the year/period . . .. .. ... .. . o o (59,701,340) (3Y5,462)
DEFICIT, END OF YEAR/PERIOD . . .. ... . ... ... . ... ....... $(60,096.802) $(395,462)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNIVERSAL ENERGY CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

REVENUE
GiS o
Electricity . .. ... ..

COST OF SALES
Gas e e
Elcctricity . . ... ... ... .

GROSS MARGIN . ... ... ...

EXPENSES
Customer acquisition costs . .. ... .o e
General and administrative .. .. ... ... ... L
Amortization of property, plant and equipment . . .. .. ..

Loss before other income/(expense) . ... ........ .. ... ..

OTHER INCOME/{EXPENSE)
Gain on sale of gas supply contracts. . ... .............

Loss on swap contracts .. ......................... Note 12
Loss before income taxes .. ... ... ... ...
Future tax recovery . . . ... ... .. ... Note 10

NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD . . ... .. ... .. .. ..

Yeur Ended
September 39, 2006

From the Date ol
Incorporation,
November 25, 2004 to
September 30, 2605

$ 14,182,708 $ 50,741
44,109,415 —
58,292,123 50,741
11,791,782 57,508
24,052,777 —
35,844,559 57,508
22,447,564 (6,767)
16,838,441 974,535

8,183,731 1,396,911
235,519 36,476
25,257,691 2,407,922
(2,810,127) (2,414,689)
— 1.796.743
(88,141.459) —
(88,141,459) 1,796,743
(90,951,586) (617.946)
(31,250,246) (222,484)
$(59,701.340) $ (395.462)

See uccompanying notes ro consolidated financial statements.

F-19



UNIVERSAL ENERGY CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

From the Date of
Incorporation,
Year Ended November 25, 2004 to
September 30, 2006 September 30, 2005

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Netloss for the vear/period . ... ... ... . ... .. ... ... ..., $(59,701,340) $ (395,462)
Adjustments Lo reconcile net loss Lo cash used in operating
activitics:
AMOTIZAliON © . . L. e e e e 235519 36,476
Increase in accounts receivable . ... ... . ... o L {16,913,618) (437.830)
Increase in gas dclivered in excess of consumption. ... ... ... .. (7,476,574) (172,902)
Increase in deferred gas revenues . ... oL L. L 10,791,031 140,403
[ncrease in utility holdback . .. .. ... ... . oo o (1,262,551) —
Increase in future taxes .. .......... ... ... ... (31,250,834) (222.434)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities .. ... ... ... 0,476,890 261,782
Increase in commodity trade financing . ....... ... ... .. ... 5,779.353 —
Unrealized loss on swap contracts . ... ... .. ... ., .. ....., 73,882,339 —
Cash used in operating activities . . .. ... ... .. ...... . ... ...... (19,439,785) (790,067)
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment . ... .............. (1,438,584) (352,240)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of common shares ... ... ... .. ... L oL — 1,000
Issuance of Class Cshares . ... .. ... . . . .. .. . .. .. . ..... 22,157,059 —
Advances from shareholders .. .. ... . L — 2,842,941
Cash provided by financing activities . . ... ... .. ... ... .. ... 22,157.059 2,843,941
Unrealized loss on foreign exchange translation . . . ... ... ... ... . (3,400) —
NET INCREASEIN CASH .. ... ... ... ... .. .. ... ... ... 1,273,280 1,701,634
CASH, BEGINNING OF PERIOD . . . . .. ... .. ....... ... ..... 1,701,634 —
CASH,END OF PERIOD . .. . ... . ... . ... . . ... ., § 2974924 $1,701,634
Supplemental information — interest paid .. . .. ... ... ... L., 91,903 —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial starements.
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UNIVERSAL ENERGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
October 1, 2005 to September 30, 2006

Organization

Universal Energy Corporation {“Universal”) is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario and
is licensed by the Ontario Energy Board as an clectricity and natural gas marketer. Its wholly owned
subsidiary, Universal Gas & Electric Corporation (“UGE"), is incorporated pursuant to the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. UGE is licensed as an alicrnative gas supplier by the Michigan
Public Service Commission.

Operations

Universal sells price protected electricity and fixed price natural gas contracts to Ontario residential, small
1o mid-sized commercial and small industrial customers. Through its subsidiary, UGE, Universal sells fixed
price natural gas contracts to small to mid-sized commercial customers in Michigan.

Universal's customers reduce or eliminate their exposure to price volatility for electricity and natural gas by
fixing their commodity cost under fixed price contracts for a period of up to five years. Universal’s general
practice is to match the estimated commodity requirements of its customers by purchasing offsetting
notional or physical volumes of electricity and natural gas at fixed prices for the term of its related customer
CoNtracts.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(2) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles, and include the accounts of Universal and its wholly owned subsidiary.

(b) Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statcments and accompanying notes. Actual results
could differ from thosc estimates. In particular, valuation technigues such as those used in the
preparation of fair values are significantly affected by the assumptions used and the amount and timing
of estimates. The aggregate fair value amounts represent point in time estimates only and should not
be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement of the supply contracts.

(¢} Gas delivered in excess of consumption/Deferred gas revenues and Unbilled revenues/Gas under
delivered

Natural gas is delivered 1o local distribution companies (“LIDCs™) in equal monthly amounts. Natuoral
gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is stated as an asset at the lower of cost
and nct realizable value. Collections from LIDCs in advance of customer consumption of natural gas
result in a liability shown as deferred gas revenues.

Unbilled revenues result in an asset when customers consume more natural gas than has been
delivered to LDCs and is slated at realizable value. Natural gas under delivered represents Universal’s
obligation to the LIDCs with respect to natural gas consumed by customers in cxcess of that delivered to
the LLDCs, Natural pas under-delivered is valued at the average cost of natural gas purchases made
during the period in which the under-delivery occurs.

Due to the scasonality of operations. during the winter months, customers consume more natural gas
than the amount of natural gas that Universal delivers to the LDCs, resulting in the recognition of
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

(e)

unbilled revenues/gas under-delivered. However, in the summer months, customers consume less
natural gas than Universal delivers to the LDCs, resulting in the recognition of natural gas delivered in
excess of consumption/deferred gas revenues.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is
provided for over the estimated uscful lives of the assets, as follows:

Asset Basis Rate

Computer hardware . .. ... ... .. .. ... .. .. ... ..., Declining balance 30%
Furniture and fixtures . ......... ... ... ... .. ... Declining balance 20%
Officcequipment . .. ... ... L e Declining balance 20%
Leasehold improvements .. ... .. ... L L. Straight line Term of lease
Computer software . .. .. ... ... ... ... ... . Straight line 5 years

In the year of acquisition, amortization is taken at onc-half of the above rates.

The property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of
assets (o be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an assel to estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an
assel exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of would be separately
presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less costs
to sell, and are no longer depreciated. The asset and liabilities of a group classified as held for sale
would be presented separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the balance sheet.

Derivative instruments
Electricity

Universal has cnicred into contracts with customers to provide clectricity at fixed prices (“customer
clectricity contracts”). The customer electricity contracts expose Universal to changes in market prices
of clectricity and consumption levels as Universal is obligated to the electricity LDC at the floating rate
for electricity paid by the LDC. To reduce its exposure (o changes in commodity prices arising from the
acquisition of electricity at floating or indexed rates, Universal uses electricity derivative financial
contracts (“clectricity derivative contracts™). These electricity derivative contracts are fixed-for-floating
swaps whercby Universal agrees with a counterparty to cash scttle the difference between the floating
or indexed price and the fixed price on a notional quantity of electricity for a specified time frame. The
cash flow from these contracts is expected to be effective in offsctting Universal’s electricity price
exposure and serves to fix Universal's acquisition cost of electricity to be delivered under the fixed
price customer contracts.

These electricity derivative contracts have been accounted for in the financial statements in accordance
with Emerging Issue Committee 128 — Accounting for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging
Derivative Financial Instruments. Realized and unrealized changes in the fair value of the electricity
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()

(g)

(h)

(D

m

swaps, generally referred o as marked to market gains/(losses), have been recognized as other
income/expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Gas

Universal has entered into contracts with customers to provide natural gas at fixed prices (*customer
gas contracts”). The customer natural gas contracts expose Universal to changes in market prices of
natural gas and consumption levels. To reduce its exposure to changes in commodity prices, Universal
purchases matching quantitics of natural gas at fixed prices for equivalent terms to offsct its delivery
requircments under its customer contracts.

These contracts are not considered derivative financial instruments.

Revenue recognition

Universal delivers electricity and/or natural gas to end-use customers who have entered into long-term
fixed price or price protected contracts. Universal recognizes revenue when the delivered electricity
and/or natural gas is consumed by the end-user customer.

Customer acquisition costs

Universal incurs commissions and other direct selling expenses to acquire customers. Commissions are
charged to income in the period in which the customer is acquired. Other direct selling expenses are
charged to income as incurred.

Income taxes

Universal uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the assel and
liability method, future tax asscts and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial stalement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future tax asscts and liabilities are measured using enacted or
substantively cnacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The cffect on future tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the year of crnactment or substantive
enactment of such tax rates.

Foreign currency translation

Universal’s currency of measurement in its consolidated financial statements is the Canadian dollar. Its
U.S. subsidiary is considered a self-sustaining foreign operation. Assets and liabilities are translated
into the reporting currency at the exchange rate in effect at the batance sheet date. Revenue and
expense items are translated into the reporting currency at the average rates of exchange in effect for
the period. Gains or losses on translation of UGE are deferred and reported as a separale component
of cquity.

Recent accounting pronouncements

On January 27, 2005, the CICA issued three new accounting standards: Handbook Section 1330,
“Comprehensive Income”, Handbook Section 3835, “Financial Instruments — Recognition and
Meuasurement”, and Handbook Section 3865, “Hedges™. These standards will be effective for fiscal
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veurs beginning on or afler Qctober 1, 2006. The impact of implementing these new stundards on
Universul's consolidated financial stutements is not yet determinable and is dependent on the
outstanding positions and related fair values at the time of transition.

Other comprehensive income

As a result of adopting these standards, a new category, Other Comprehensive Income, will be added
10 sharcholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheet. Major components for this category will
include unrealized gains and losses on financial assets classified as available-for-sale, unrcalized foreign
currency translation amounts, net of hedging, arising from sclf-sustaining foreign operations and
changes in the fair value of the effective portion of cash flow hedging instruments.

Financial instruments — recognition and measurement

Under the new standard, all financial instruments will be classified as one of the following:
held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, held-for-trading or available-for-sale. Financial assets and
liabilities held-for-trading will be measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in net income.
Financial asscts held-to maturity, loans and receivables and financial liabilities other than those
held-for-trading, will be measured at amortized cost. Available-for-sale instruments will be measured at
fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income. The standard
also permits designation of any financial instrument as held-for-trading upon initial recognition.

Hedges

This new standard specifies the criterta under which hedge accounting can be applied and how hedge
accounting can be executed for each of the permitted hedging strategies: fair value hedges, cash flow
hedges and hedges of a forcign currency exposurc of a net investment in a sclf-sustaining forcign
operation. In a [air value hedging relationship, the carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted by
gains or losses attributable to the hedged risk and recognized in net income. This change in fair value
of the hedged item, 1o the extent that the hedging relationship is effective, is offset by changes in the
fair valuc of the derivative. In a cash flow hedging relationship, the effective portion of the change in
the fair value of the hedging derivative will be recognized in other comprehensive income. The
ineffective portion will be recognized in net income. The amounts recognized in other comprehensive
income will be reclassified to net income in the periods in which net income is affected by the
vartability in the cash flows of the hedged item. In hedging a foreign currency exposure of a net
investment in a self-sustaining foreign operation, foreign exchange gains and losses on the hedging
instruments will be recognized in other comprehensive income.

Seascnality of operations

Universul’s operations are seasonal. Natural gas consumption by customers is typically highest in October
through March and lowest in April through September. Electricity consumption is typically highest in
January through March and July through September and is lowest in April through June and Ociober
through December. The seasonality of natural gas customers’ consumption does not create any variability in
cash flows as Universal purchases for delivery to the utilitics a pre-determined fixed amount of natural gas
per month and receives payment for the delivered amount irrespective of actual customer consumption.
Natural gas pools arc rebalanced annually. The seasonality of customers’ clectricity consumption creates
variability in monthly cash flow as electricity is consumed upon delivery and payments received from LDCs
are based on consumption,
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Cash
Included in cash is restricted cash of:

(i) $27,112 representing rebate monies received from LDCs in Ontario as provided by the Independent
Electricity System Operator. Universal is obligated to disburse the mwonies to eligible end-use
customers in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements; and

(iiy $127,737 representing moenies contained in a blocked account in accordance with Universal's electricity
and natural gas agreements with Sempra Energy Trading Corp. (“Sempra”} {See Note 9{a)).

Utility holdback

Universal’'s monthly remittance from the Michigan utilities is the lesser of 110% of the utilities’ Gas Cost
Recovery factor (“GCR™) (essentially the uiilities’ regulated price for natural gas) and Universal’s
contracted selling price to its customers. In the event that Universal’s contracted selling price is greater than
110% of the GCR a holdback account for the differential will be maintatned for Universal by the utility.
Universal will receive a refund of the amount accumulated in the holdback account, without interest, to the
end of the most recently completed program year.

Property, plant and equipment

Accumulated Net
2006 Cost Amortization Book Value
Computer hardware . ... .. ... ... ... ... ... . . . ... .. § 455037 5105202 § 349835
Computer software . ... ... ....... ... ... ... . . . ... 150,000 15.000 135,000
Furniture and fixwres . . .. ... ... ... . ... . ... ... 676,396 97.933 578.463
Office equipment . .. .. .. ... ... ... ... 273,624 30,283 243,341
Leasehold improvements . . ... ... .. ... ... . . 235,767 23,577 212,190

$1,790,824  $271,995  $1,518,829

Accumulated Nel
2005 Cost Amortization  Book Value
Computer hardware . ... ... ... ... $154,474 $19,680 $134,794
Furniture and fixeures . .. .. ... .. . e 180,376 15320 165,056
Office cquipment . ........ ... . . .. 17,390 1,476 15,914

$352,240 $36,4760 $315,764

Share capital

Universal’s authorized share capital is an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of
Class A, Class B and Class C shares.
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Share capital (Continued)

The issued share capital of Universal is as follows:

2006 2005
Issued $ Issued $
Common shares . ... ... . ... 100,000 % 1,000 100,000  $1,000
Class Cvoling shares ... .. ... ... .. s 25,000,000 $25,000,000 — —
$25,001,000 $1,000

Class C shares arc redeemable at the option of Universal and are entitled to a non-cumulative dividend at
the rate of 6% per annum. No dividends have been declared or paid on the shares since issuance. Class C
shares are also subject to the shareholders™ agreement dated July 14, 2005, as amended, and are subject to
restrictions on transfers, redemption and retraction (see Note 9(g)).

Related party transactions and balances

During the year Universal entered into various transactions with related parties as follows:

(@) Sempra

Universal has entered into the following agreements with Sempra, a significant shareholder of
the company:

(i)

(ii)

Commodity trade financing

Sempra provides commadity trade financing to Universal. The commodity trade financing includes
a facility of $5,000,000 for amounts deemed due for payment, which bears interest at LIBOR plus
2%. Interest paid during the year amounted to $91,903 (2005 — §Nil). Included in the amount
outstanding at Scptember 30}, 2006 of $5,779,353 is the amount due for payment under the facility
of $2,515,452 (2005 — $Nil).

Gas ])lU'Ch(TSG agreement

Universal entered into the Gas Purchase Agreement with Sempra on July 14, 2005, Pursuant to
the Gas Purchase Agreement, Universal engaged Sempra to act as Universal’s exclusive supplier
of natural gas, subject 1o certain limited circumstances.

Universal’s obligations to Sempra under the Gas Purchase Agreement are secured by the grant of
a first priority security interest on substantially aill of Universal’s current and future assets,
including all cash and cash equivalents, all accounts receivable and all deposit accounts. In
addition, all payments received by Universal from its customers and the LDCs are paid to a
specified lockbox or by wire transfer to specified blocked Universal accounts under the control of
Sempra, from which amounts are first paid to Sempra in satisfaction of payments due to Sempra
under the Gas Purchase Agreement, and all excess amounts are then paid to Universal.

If Sempra defaults in its obligations to deliver natural gas to Universal, or if Universal defaults in
its obligation to accept delivery of natural gas, subject to force majeure, the Gas Purchase
Agreement contains provisions requiring the payment of various amounts by the non-performing
party to the performing party.
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Related party transactions and balances (Continued)

(b)

(c}

(d)

(e)

(f)

During the ycar, Universal made natural gas purchases under the agreement totaling $18,893,613
(2005 — $230.852). Included in accounts payable at September 30, 2006 is $2,140,667 (2005 —
$184.882).

(iif) Electricity swap agreement

Universal entered into the Electricity Swap Agreement with Sempra on July 14, 2005, Pursuant to
the Electricity Swap Agreemeni, Universal engaged Sempra (o act as Universal's exclusive
supplicr of Elcctricity Swaps.

Universal’s obligations to Sempra under the Electricity Swap Agreement are secured by the grant
of a first priority security interest on substantially all of Universal's current and future assets,
including all cash and cash equivalents, all accounts receivable and all deposit accounts. In
addition, all payments received by Universal from its customers and the LDCs are paid to a
specified lockbox or by wire transfer to specified blocked Universal accounts under the control of
Sempra, from which amounts are first paid to Sempra in satisfaction of payments due to Sempra
under the Electricity Swap Agreement, and all excess amounts are then paid to Universal.

Upon the occurrence of @ Contract Termination Event, the non-defaulting party has the right to
immediately, for so long as the Contract Termination Event is continuing: (a) suspend its
performance under Electricity Swaps then outstanding; or (b) liquidate and terminate the
Electricity Swaps then outstanding and accelerate the payment of any amounts due, Upon any
such liquidation and termination, the non-defaulting party must calculate a net settlement amount
in accordance with the formula contained in the Electricity Swap Agreement. The party with the
net settlement amount payment obligation must pay such amount to the other party within one
business day of receipt from the non-defaulting party of notice of such calculation,

During the year, Universal made eclectricily swap payments under the agreement totaling
$17,886,958 (2005 — Nil).

During the year, Universal paid $71,404 (2005 — $399,714) to UEC Marketing Ltd. controlled by
certain shareholder-distributors to offset branch opening and operating costs. Universal has loaned
monies to UEC Marketing Ltd. which are included in accounts receivable at September 30, 2006 for an
amount owing of $279,919 (2005 — $184,919). This amount was repaid subsequent to year-end.

Duaring the year, Universal paid $258,000 (2005 — Nil) for direct mail markceting services to Market
Connections Inc. in which certain sharcholders hold an equity interest, Included in accounts payable at
September 30, 2006 is an amount owing of $10,326 (2005 — Nil).

During the year, Universal paid $5,047,000 (2005 — $466,000) to shareholder-distributors for
commissions and marketing fees which are included in customer acquisition costs.

During the year Universal leased office space under a sub-lease arrangement with a company
controlled by a shareholder of Universal and made payments for rent totaling $139,109 (2005 —
$34,760).

During the year, Universal purchased computer software from a company coatrolied by an officer of
Universal. Included in accounts payable at September 30, 2006 is an amount owing of $150,000
(2005 — Nil).
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(g) During fiscal 2005 shareholders advanced non-interest bearing loans 10 Universal. These loans were
converted into Class C shares during fiscal 2006.

These transactions were conducted by Universal in the normal course of business on terms and rates similar
1o transactions negotiated with arm’s length parties.

10. Income taxes
The future tax recovery comprises:

(a) Summary of the major components of the future tax recovery:

2006 2005
Loss before income taxes « ..o v $(90,951,586) $(617,946)
Tax at SIAMLOTY FALES . . . . . . . . o e 32,833,523 223,202
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible for income purposes . . . .. (5.501) (718)
Reduction in future taxes resulting from reduction in wax rates . .. ... .. (1,577.776) —
Future tax 1ecovery . .. ... e $ 31,250,246 § 222,484
{b) Tax rate reconciliation:
2006 2003
Tax at statutory rates . . ... e e 36.10% 36.12%
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible for income tax purposes . ..., .. .. {0.01)Y%(0.12)%
Effect on opening future tax of reduction in income tax rates . . ... ... ... . ... (1.73Y —
Average effective income tax. ... ... L 34.36% 36.00%
(c) Components of Universal's future taxces are as follows:
2006 2005
Unrealized loss on swap contracts ... ... ... ... .. $25441,580 % —
Non-capital loss carry-forwards .. .. ... ... ... L 6,031,738 222,484
Future taxes — current and long-term .. .. ... ... ... L L $31,473,318 $222.484

As at September 30, 2006, Universal has Canadian operating loss carry-forwards of $16,077,392
available to reduce future years’ taxable income, which expire as follows:

_\"_L:Lr Amount

721 $ 633272

2 . 15,444,120
$16,077,392

UGE is subject to tax on its taxable income at a rate of 35% (2005 — 35%). At September 3{, 2006,
UGE had $1,704,597 (US$ 1,526,596) in combined operating loss carty-forwards [or tax purposes,
which will expire by 2026.
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Commitments
{a) Universal's commitments for premisces under lease obligations for cach of the next five years ure
as follows:
E Amount
2T 3 734,618
7 737,582
200 e 752,403
2000 i 752.403
2O e 755,367
33,732,373
{b) Universal’s commitments under long-term natural gas contracts with Sempra for cach of the next five
years arc as follows:
Year Amount
2T $ 81,861,561
2 81,457,350
2000 L e 79,466,534
2 65,948,002
2L 36,279,511
$345,012,958
The above commitments have been entered into 1o meet delivery requirements for currently enrolled
and flowing natural gas customers under long-term natural gas supply contracts.
(c) Universal is also committed under long-term contracts with customers to supply electricity and natural

gas. These contracts have various expiry dates and renewal options.

12. Financial instruments

(a)

Fair value

Universal has a variety of electricity supply contracts that are considered derivative financial
instruments. The fair value of derivative financial tnstruments is the estimated amount that Universal
would pay or receive to dispose of these supply contracts in the market. Universal has estimated the
value of these contracts using a discounted cash {low method which employs market forward curves.
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13.

(b)

(©)

(d)

At September 30, 2006, Universal had electricity fixed-for-floating swap contracts in Ontario which it
has committed with the following terms:

Notional volumes . ... ... .. .. . 2.0 1o 40.0 MW/h
Total remaining notional volume .. .. ... . ... ... 5,037,593 MWh
Maturity dates .. ... . e October 31, 2006 to December 31, 2011
Fixed price per MWh (indollars) . . . ............... $63.85 to $86.69
Fairvalue . ... ... . $73,882,339 unfavorable
Remaining Notional value . .. ........ .. ... ....... $377,780.000
2006 2005
Current portion of unrcalized loss on swap contracts . . ... ......... $12,050,535 § —
Unrealized loss on swap contracts . . ... ....................... 61,831,804 —
Total unrealized loss on swap contracts .. ... ... ... $73,882,339 § —

The carrying value of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. and
commodity trade financing approximate their fair values due to their short-term liquidity.

Customer credit risk

In Ontario and Michigan, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts
owing from Universal’s customers. Therefore, Universal receives the collection of customer account
balances directly from the LDCs. Management belicves that the risk ol the LDCs failing 1o deliver
payment to Universal is minimal.

Supplier risk

Universal purchases its natural gas delivered to its customers through long-term contracts entered into
with its exclusive supplier, Sempra. It also enters into Electricity Swaps with Sempra to swap its floating
rate payments to the LDC for a fixed rate. Universal has an exposure to supplier and counterparty risk
as the ability to continue to deliver natural gas and fulfill its obligations to the LDC for electricity
delivery to its customers is reliant upon the ongoing operations of Sempra and its abibity to fulfill its
contractual ebligations. Based on Sempra’s credit rating, management believes that the risk of Sempra
being unable to deliver the contracted amounts of natural gas and fulfill the financial obligations under
the Electricity Swaps is minimal.

Foreign currency risk

Universal has an exposure to forcign currency cxchange rates, as a result of its investment in its
U.S. operations.

Reportable business segments

Universal operates in two reportable geographic segments, Canada and the United States. The Canadian
operations include electricity and natural gas and the United States operations include natural gas.
Universal evaluates segment performance based on gross margin.
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Reportable business segments (Continued)

The following table presents Universal's results from continuing operations by geographic scgment for the
current fiscal yeur. No comparative information is provided for the prior fiscal year as Universal did not
commence operations in the United States until March 2006.

2006 Canada United States Consolidated
REVENUE
GlS . o e e $ 10,707,555 § 3,475,153 S 14,182,708
Electricity ... ... . . 44,109,415 — 44,109,415

54,816,970 3,475,153 58,292,123

COST OF SALES

Gus . .o 9,386,729 2,405,053 11,791,782
Electricity . ... ... .. ... 24,052,777 — 24,052,777
33,439,506 2,405,053 35,844,559
GROSSMARGIN .. ... ... ... ... . 21,377.464 1,070,100 22,447,564
EXPENSES
Customer acquisition costs . .. ...... ... .. ... ... 14,400,558 2,437,883 16,838,441
General and administrative . ... ... ... ... .. ... ... 7.845 891 337,840 8,183,731
Amortization of property, plant and equipment ... ... .. 235,519 — 235,519

22,481,968 2,775,723 25,257,691

Loss on swap contracts . ... .. ... ... ... . ... . ... ... (88,141,459) —  (88.141.45%)
Loss before income taxes . ... ... ... L L (89,245,963)  (1.705,623) (90,951,586)
Future tax recovery . ....... ... .. ... o (30,653,420) {396,826) (31,230,246)
NETLOSSFORTHEYEAR .. ... ... ... ....... .... $(58,592,543) $(1,108,797) $(59,701,340)
Property, plant and equipment . . ... ... ... oL 1,518,829 - 1,518,829
Total assets . . ... $ 51,288,062 $10,942.534 § 62,230,596

Collection services agreements

Universal has entered into collection services agreements with various electricity and natural gas LDCs.
Under these agreements, Universal has the right to scttle on a net basis with the LDCs by offsctting
amounts payable to the LDCs with amounts receivable from the LDCs.

Subsequent events

On January 26, 2007, Universal Energy Group Ltd. (“UEGL™), a corporation related to Universal, filed a
prospectus relating to the initial public offering of its common shares. On the closing date of this initial
public offering, UEGL will purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of Universal and of Terra
Grain Fuels Holdings Inc. {*TGF"), a related corporation, following the amalgamation of TGF with its
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15, Subsequent events (Continued)

subsidiary, Terra Grain Fuels Inc. The business combmation will be accounted for as a reverse takeover of
UEGL by Universal and an acquisition of TGF by Universal.

In connection with the closing of the initial public offering, the Gas Purchase Agreement and the Electricity
Swap Agreement will each be amended and restated. The amended and restated agreements will terminate
on June 30, 2010. Among other things, the amended and restated agreements will contain: margin
requirements that commence two years following the closing date of the initial public offering; restrictions
on the payment of dividends; and restrictions on the making of investments.

Also in connection with the closing of the initial public offering, (i) UGE and Sempra will enter into an
agreement pursuant to which Sempra will supply natural gas to UGE in connection with UGE’s gas
marketing business in Michigan (which will be on terms substantially the same as the amended and restated
Gas Purchase Agreement between Universal and Sempra), and (i} Universal will assign to UGE all of
Universal's gas transactions under the Gas Purchase Agreement relating to UGE’s gas marketing business
in Michigan.

In connection with the clasing of the initial public offering, UEGL will establish an option plan, which is
intended to aid in attracting, retaining and motivating the officers, directors, employees and other eligible
service providers of UEGL und its subsidiaries. In addition, UEGL will implement a restricted share unit
plan as a discretionary incentive compensation plan to provide officers, directors, employees and other
eligible service providers of UEGL and any subsidiary thereof who provide services to UEGL with the
opportunity to acquire common shares of UEGL through an award of restricted share units.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS

We have audited the consolidaled balance sheet of Terra Grain Fuels Holdings Inc. as al September 30),
2006 and the consolidated statements of earnings and retained carnings and cash flows for the peried from
incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
stalements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.

[n our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at September 30, 2006 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006 in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles.

Chartercd Accountants

Regina, Canada
November 13, 2006, except as to notes 10(b). (¢}, (d) and (¢}
which are as of Januvary 26, 2007
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TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
September 30, 2006

2006
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash (tote 2) . . .. . $29.963,645

GST recoverable . . . .. e 156,091

D poSItS . . 33,564

Investment tax credit receivable (note 4(¢)) .. .. ... .. 492,283

30,645,583
Property, plant and equipment (note 3) ... . e 6,928,086
Deferred finance charges . . .. e 1,925,046
$39,498,715
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . ... ... .. o o $ 2,742,695
Warrants (note 5(C)) . . . . oo 831,500
Future tax liability (note 4(b)} . .. ... e 382,711
Shareholders’ equity:

Share capital (NOLC B) .. ... e e 35,537,848

Retained earnings . . . . .. .. .. L 3,961

35,541,809
Commiiments (notes 5 and ¥)
Subsequent events {note 10})
$39.498715

On behalf of the Board:

{Signed) GARY J. DRUMMOND {Signed) TiM J. LAFRANCE
Director Director

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS AND RETAINED EARNINGS
For the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006

2006
Expenses:
General and administrative . . . ... $328,603
Amortization of equipment . . ... L L 12,459
Amortization of deferred finance charges . . ... ... .. L 11,550
352,612
Less: Interest iNCOME . . .. . . .. e e 358,076
Earnings before incone taxes . . ... . e 6,064
Income taxes (note 4):
FUIUIE L . 2,103
Net earnings and retained earnings, end of period . ... ... ... . ... i L 3,961

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006

Cash provided by (used in):

Operations:
Net carnings

Items not involving cash:
Amortization of equipment .. .. ..
Amortization of deferred finance charges
Future income taxes

Change in non-cash operating working capital:
D POSIS . . L o e
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . ... ... ... .. o oo oL

Financing:
Issue of common shares, net of share issuance costs
Deferred finance charges

Investing:
Additions to property, plant and equipment

Increase in cash and cash, end of period

Supplemental cash flow information:
Non-cash investing activities:
Property, plant and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Property, plant and equipment included in GST recoverable . .................. ...
Property, plant and equipment included n investment tax credit receivable

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2006

$ 3961

12,459
11,550
2,103

(33,564)
75,849

72,358

35,525,000
(711,640)

34,813,360

(4,922,073)

329,963,645

3 2,606,840

156,091
492,283




TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006

Terra Grain Fuels Holdings Inc. (“TGF™) is a development stage enterprise incorporated under the Canada
Business Corporations Act on April 25, 2006. Its primary activity is the construction of an ethanol production
facility (the “Belle Plaine Facility”) located in the Rural Municipality of Pense No. 160, near Belle Plaine,
Saskatchewan, approximately 45 km west of Regina. The Belle Plaine Facility’s planned capacity is
approximately 150 million litres of ethanol annually along with dried distillers grains.

Subscquent to September 30, 2006, TGF completed negotiations to enter into an EPC Construction
Contract (the “Contract™) with an cffective date of September 29, 2006, with Ellis Don/VCM in Joint Venture
(the “Contractor”} for a sum of $129,800,000 (the “Contract Price”) to perform and complete all design,
engineering, procurement, construction and commissioning work in connection with the development of the
Belle Plaine Facility. The contract price includces a cash allowance for certain manufacturer's transportation costs
and ficid fabricated tanks. These costs have been estimated in the Contract Price,

Except as expressly set out in the Contract, any and all expenses incurred by the Contractor related to the
construction of the Belle Plaine Facility in excess of the Contract Price are the responsibility of the Contraclor.
Additionally, the Contractor has guarantecd to TGF that the Belle Plaine Facility will be designed and
constructed by the Contractor to meet or exceed certain performance guarantees set out in the Contract. TGF is
obligated to pay the Contract Price in lump sum instalments as certain milestones in the construction schedule
are achieved.

1. Significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of presentation:

TGF has adopted the Canadian Accounting Standard for Enterprises in the Development Stage. All
direct costs reclating to the development of the Belle Plaine Facility to date are considered
pre-operating and are capitalized, including the cost of consulting for the design and engincering for
the Belle Plaine Facility, except for administrative costs that are not directly related to development
activitics. When commercial production begins, these capitalized costs will be amortized based on the
estimated life of the Belle Plaine Facility.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are not intended to reftect their future value. In
particular, the future value of the property, plant and equipment of the Belle Plaine Facility depends
on the start-up of commercial production, the ability of TGF to obtain financing and the future
profitability of the Belle Plaine Facility. Accordingly, property, plant and equipment are assessed in
cach reporting period to determine if there are cvents or circumstances that would indicate it is
unlikely such costs will be recovered in the future. If there are cosis that are considered unlikely 1o be
recovered, they arc charged to earnings.

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of TGF and its subsidiary, Terra Grain
Fuels Inc.

{b) Property, plant and equipment:

Amortization on equipment is provided using the following methods and annual rates:

Asset Basis Term

Furniture and fixtures .. ... .. . ... Declining balance 209%
Computer . ... Declining balance 33%%
Leasehold improvements .. ... ... .. L o oL Straight-line 5 years
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TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to Scptember 30, 2006

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

ity

(2)

No amortization will be tauken on the Belle Plaine Facility under development until the commencement
of commercial production.

Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent asscts and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and cxpenses during the
vear. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Future income taxes:

Income taxes arc accounted for under the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.
Under the assct and liability method, future tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realized or the liability
settled. The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in
the year that substantive enactment or enactment occurs.

Deferred finance charges:

Deferred finance charges are costs incurred by TGF for arranging long-term debt financing and will be
amortized over the term of the related long-term debt.

Foreign currency translation:

Moneclary itcms denominated in [oreign currencies are translated to Canadian dolars at exchange rates
in effcct at the balance sheet dates and non-monetary items arc translated at rates of exchange in effect
when the assels were acquired or obligations incurred. Foreign exchange gains and losses are included
in income.

Recent accounting pronouncements:

On January 27, 2005, the CICA issucd three new accounting standards: Handbook Section 1530,
“Comprehensive  Income”, Handbook Section 3855, “Financial Instruments — Recognition and
Measurement”, and Handbook Scction 3865, “Hedges”. These standards will be effective for fiscal
years beginning on or after October |, 2006. The impuct of implementing these new standards on
TGF's consolidated financial statements is not yet determinable and is dependent on the outstanding
positions and related fair values at the time of transition.

Other comprehensive income

As a result of adopting these standards, a new category, Other Comprehensive Income, will be added
to sharcholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheet. Major components for this category will
include unrealized gains and losses on financial assets classificd as available-for-sale, unrealized foreign
currency translation amounts, net of hedging, arising from sclf-sustaining foreign operations and
changes in the fair value of the effective portion of cash flow hedging instruments.

Financial instruments — recognition and measurement

Under the new standard, all financial instruments will be classified as one of the following:
held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, held-for-trading or available-for-sale. Financial assets and
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TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

liabilities held-for-trading will be measured ut fair value with gains and losscs recognized in net income.
Financial assets held-to-maturity, loans and receivables and financial liabilities other than those
held-for-trading, will be measured at amortized cost. Available-for-sale instruments witl be measured at
fair value with unrealized gains and losses recogmized in other comprehensive income. The standard
also permits designation of any financial instrument as held-for-trading upon initial recognition.

Hedges

This new standard specifics criteria under which hedge accounting can be appiied and how hedge
accounting can be executed for cach of the permitted hedging strategies: fair value hedges, cash flow
hedges and hedges of a foreign currency cxposure of a net investment in a self-sustaining foreign
operation. In a fair value hedging relationship, the carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted by
gains or losses attributable to the hedged risk and recognized in net income. This change in fair value
of the hedged item, to the extent that the hedging relationship is effective, is offset by changes in the
fair value of the derivative. In a cash flow hedging relationship, the effective portion of the change in
the fair value of the hedging derivative will be recognized in other comprehensive income. The
ineffective portion will be recognized in net income. The amounts recognized in other comprehensive
income will be reclassified to net income in the periods in which net income is affected by the
variability in the cash flows of the hedged item. In hedging a foreign currency exposure of a net
investment in a self-sustaining foreign operation, foreign exchange gains and losses on the hedging
instruments will be recognized in other comprehensive income.

Cash

Included in cash is restricted cash of $5,000,000 as provided for in the credit facility disclosed in note 5{a).

This amount is to be held for cost overruns related to construction of the Belle Plaine Facility and debt

servicing shortfalls. Upon issuance of a certificate of substantial performance by TGF and the Contractor
related to the Belle Plaine Facility, the restriction will be reduced to $3,000,000 for debt servicing
requirements.

Property, plant and equipment

2006
Accumulated Net Baok

Cast Amortization Value
Land .. $ 288,000 % — § 288,000
Furniture and fixtures . . .. .. .. . 58,053 5,805 52,248
CompuLer. . .. e 18,581 3,097 15,484
Leaschold improvements . ... .. ... .. L ... 35,573 3,557 32,016

400,207 12,459 387,748
Belle Plaine Facility under development .. .. ............... 6,540,338 — 6,540,338

$6,940,545 § 12,459  $6,928.086
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TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006

Income tax expense

{a) The provision for income tax cxpense differs from the amount computed by applying the combined
expected federal and provincial income tax rates of 32.12%. The reasons for the differences are
as follows:

2006
Tax cxpense based on reported income at StULOIY TAIES . . ..o i vttt 31,947
Increase in taxes resulting from:
Effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes . ... ... oL _ 156
INCOmMe TaX EXPENSE . . ..ot e $2,103

(b} The tax cffects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the future tax assets and
liabilities are as follows:

2006
Future tax assets:
Property, plant and equipment. .. ... oo $ 9,000
Share issuance and financing costs ... ... ... L L 13,781
Non-capital loss carry-forwards . ... ... ... . . .. . 4,168
26,949
Future tax liabilities:
Deferred finance charges. ... .o L e 409,660
Net future tax lability . . ... ... ... .. $382,711

(c) TGF's qualified capital expenditures for building and machinery and equipment used primarily for the
purpose of manufacturing or processing goods for sale or lease carn Saskatchewan investment tax
credits (“ITC’s™) equal to 7% {5% after October 28, 2006) of the total capital cost of the qualifying
capital expenditures. The ITC’s are used to lower the current period Saskatchewan corporate income
tax lability and any excess is 1009 refundable 1o TGE

Credit facilities

TGF has arranged credit facilities to finance the construction of the Belle Plaine Facility. The terms of the
credit facilitics are as follows:

{a) TGF has entered into a term sheet for a credit facility of up to $50,000,000 with a syndicate of
Canadian lenders. The term of the facility is the construction period {up to 16 months) plus a term of
up to 5 years starting the carlier of i) the date on which a certificate of substantial performance is
issued by TGF and the Contractor or ii) 6 months from last drawdown (the "“Term Conversion Date™}.

Interest only will be charged on the loan during the construction period until the Term Conversion
Date. Blended monthly principal and interest payments will be made thereafter sufficient to amortize
the loan over 10 years. Interest rates are prime + 2% during the construction period and prime +1%
after construction. TGF has the right 10 convert to a fixed rate.
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TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006

Credit facilities {Continued)

(b)

(c)

Security for the credit facility includes a first priority security interest on all assets and undertakings of
TGF plus a general security interest on all other current and after acquired assets. The credit facility
also includes certain financial covenants related to working capital, debt to cquity, debt service
coverage and minimum sharcholders’ equity. among other things. No draws have been made to
September 30, 2006.

TGF has also eniered into a debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing
for the issue of up to $40,000,000 aggregate principal amount of debentures. The interest rate is 10.5%
per annum, compounded annually and payable quarterly. Interest is to be paid quarterly over the first
year and quarterly principal and interest payments made beginning on completion of the Belle Plaine
Facility {or August 25, 2008 if earlier) in the amount of $24.99 per $1,000 of principal advanced with a
lump sum payment of all outstanding amounts payable 60 months after the date of the initial advance.

Security for the credit facility includes a security interest in all of TGF’s present and after acquired
property, second in priority to the lenders in paragraph 5(a). The credit facility also includes certain
financial covenants related to working capital, debt service coverage and minimum shareholders’
equity, among other things.

No debentures were issued as of September 30, 2006.

On August 25, 2006, TGF entered into agreements granting 983,111 common share warrants to the
parties who have committed to purchase the debentures of TGF as described in note 5(b). Each
warrant entitles the holder to acquire a Class A common share at a price of $4.50 per share. The
common shares to be received pursuant to the exercise of the warrants provide the shareholder with
the right to require TGF 10 repurchase the shares at any time alter the matwrity of the subordinated
debt facilities. The price to be paid by TGF is the greater of the price paid to acquire the shares or the
fair market value of the shares at that time. Accordingly, the warrants have been reflected as a liability
and an increase 10 deferred finance charges. The warrants were valued using the Black Scholes option
pricing model, assuming a risk free interest rate of 4.08%, a dividend yield of (%, and expected
volatility of 0% and expected lives of the warrants of two years. The warrants are exercisable at any
time after the carlicst of August 25, 2008 or a change of control of TGE

The warrants also provide for the right to acquire additional common shares if additional equity is
issued by TGF beyond 8848000 shares, such that total warrants exercisable to purchase common
shares will, in the aggregate, equal 10% of the fully diluted equity of TGF. Any entitlement to
additional common shares that are granted in this manner are exercisable at $5.00 per share.
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TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006

Share capital

2006

Authorized:

Unlimited number of Class A common voting shares;

Unlimited number of Class B common non-voting shares;

Unlimited number of Class C redeemable preferred non-voting shares, non-cumulative;

Unlimited number of Class D redeemable, retractable, preferred non-voting shares,

non-cumulative

Issued:

7,113,000 Class A common shares for cash during the period ... ......... .. ... ... $35,565,000

Less: share [SSUANCE COSLS . . . . . . . . . e e e e (27,152)

$35,537.848

TGF has entered into irrevocable subscription agreements for the issuance of 1,285,000 Class A common
shares at a price of $5 per share. The subscriber may elect to subscribe for the shares at any time but in any
event no later than August 1, 2007,

Financial instruments

The carrying value of cash, GST recoverable, investment tax credit receivable, accounts pavabie and
accrued liabilities approximate their fair value due to the relatively short periods 1o maturity of these items.
Related party transactions

During the period, TGF had the following transactions with companies and entities related to certain
sharcholders:

General and administrative EXpenses . . ... .. oL § 39,000
Belle Plaine Facility under development ..o oo oL o oo 6,918,074
Financing fees and share issuance costs ... ... 297,000

[ncluded in accounts payable is the amount of $2,599.676 related to the above noled transactions.

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount of
consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

Commitments

TGF has entered into operating leasc arrangements for office space for a five year term expiring July 30,
2011. The annual pavments are as follows:

L $11,770
2008 e e 12,840
L 12,840
2000 e 12,840
2 U 10,700
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TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006

Commitments (Continued)

TGF has also entered into a contract for management services at a cost to TGF of $8.300 per month to
October 31, 2007. There are also bonuses totalling $50.000 which ure contingent on future performance.

Subsequent events

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Subsequent to September 30, 2006 TGF entered into a licence agreement with Delta-T Corporation
(“Delta-T™) for the right to use in perpetuity Delta-T’s technology for the purpose of construction,
operation, enhancement and optimization of the Belle Plaine Facility for a fee of approximately
$2.9 million.

Subsequent to September 30, 2006, TGF issucd 1,285,000 Class A common shares for gross proceeds of
$6,425,000 related to.the subscription agreements described in note 6. TGF also issued 480,649 Class A
commoan shares for gross proceeds of $2,403,245,

Subsequent to September 30, 2006, TGF entered into a number of contracts with various growers (the
“Production Contracts™) to purchase wheat at fixed prices. The Production Contracts are for one or
two year periods and provide the grower with the option to extend the Production Contract for a
further one year term vpon proper written notice. Total commitments under these production contracts
to January 26, 2007 are:

Contract Term Bushels Contracted  Contract Price
One year (expiring Aug/2008) . ... ... ... o 93,480 $3.54/bushel
Two year (expiring Aug/2009) ... o oL 1,401,200 $3.68/bushel

The Production Contracts also provide the growers with a cash advance option whereby Conexus
Credit Union (*Conexus™} will make cash advances to the grower. On direction by the grower, TGF
will repay the cash advances to Conexus upon delivery of wheat to TGF by the grower. Should the
grower fail to deliver the wheat as specified in the Production Contract, TGF has guaranteed the
payment of any outstanding cash advances plus imterest to Conexus. To January 26, 2007, total cash
advances under these Production Contracts are $1,151,850.

On Deccember 5, 2006. TGF entered into a Grain Supply Agreement (the “Agreement”) with
Saskatchewan Wheat Pool Inc. for assistance in the procurement and delivery of grain. The Agreement
provides that TGF will pay a fee for grain sourced under the Agreement. The Agreement is for a one
year term commencing on August 1, 2007 and provides for automalic one year rencwal periods unless
cither parly gives proper writien notice to terminate the Agreement.

On January 26, 2007, Universal Energy Group Ltd. (“UEGL"), a corporation related to TGF, filed a
prospectus relating to the initial public offering of its common shares. On the closing date of this initial
public offering TGF will issue an additional 1,109.831 Class A common shares for gross proceeds of
$5,549,155. The additional equity raised by TGF will result in the warrants being exercisable to acquire
an additional 126,720 Class A common shares (see note 5(¢)). Subsequently, the 983,111 warrants will
be exercised to acquire 1,109,831 Class A common shares for gross proceeds of $5,057,600. At the
closing of this initial public offering, UEGL will purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of
TGF and of Universal Energy Corporation (“Universal”), a related corporation. The business
combination will be accounted for as a reverse takeover of UEGL by Universal and an acquisition of
TGF by Universal.
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TERRA GRAIN FUELS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the period from incorporation on April 25, 2006 to September 30, 2006

10. Subsequent events (Continued)

In connection with the closing of the initial public offering. UEGL will establish an option plan, which
1s intended to aid in attracting, retaining and motivating the officers, directors, employees and other
eligible service providers of UEGL and its subsidiaries. In addition, UEGL will implement a restricted
sharc unit plan as a discretionary incentive compensation plan to provide officers, dircctors, employees
and other eligible scrvice providers of UEGL and any subsidiary thereol who provide services to
UEGL with the opportunity to acquire common shares of UEGL through an award of restricted
sharc units.
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REPORT OF LECG CANADA, LTD.

December 20, 2006

Universal Energy Corporation
25 Sheppard Avenue West
Suite 1605

Toronto, Ontario

M2N 656

Attention: Mr. Nino Silvestri, Chief Operating Officer
Dear Sirs:

Re: Initial Public Offering of Universal Energy Group Ltd.
Universal Energy Corporation (**Universal”) requested our independent and objective opinions as to:
(a) the accuracy of Universal's residential customer equivalent (“RCE”) data as at November 30, 2006;

(b} the operational margin to be carned in calendar year 2007 and 2008 from Universal’s existing Encrgy
Contracts as at November 30, 2006;

both to be disclosed in the preliminary prospectus and the final prospectus relating 1o the initial public offering
(the “Offering”) of Universal Energy Group Ltd. (“UEGL”).

We understand that references to LECG, our services and our opinions will be included in the preliminary
prospectus and final prospectus to be provided to prospective investors and filed with the applicable regulatory
authorities and that a copy of our opinion will be included in the preliminary prospectus and the final
prospectus.

The terminology used hercin, unless otherwise defined, has the mcaning set out in the preliminary
prospectus and final prospectus. The operational margin has been determined without consideration of attrition
in the November 30, 2006 customer basc over the 2007 and 2008 period, and based on the assumptions that as at
November 30, 2006 any excess of contracted supply over estimated customer demand will be absorbed by new
customers to be acquired by Universal and any deficiency of supply will be purchased in the spot market. The
opcrational margin is derived from the twelve month volume demand for the Energy Contracts based on historic
data provided directly and indirectly from the LDC's. Actual demand over 2007 and 2008 may vary from historic
levels due to changes in consumption patterns, weather, etc., and therefore the actual operational margin for
2007 and 2008 may vary from that sct out herein.

SCOPE OF REVIEW
In the conduct of this assignment, we have reviewed:
(a) the preliminary prospectus rclated to the Offering of UEGL;

(b) Universal's calculations of the historic RCE data, and the operational margin accruing {rom the
existing Energy Contracts, and the supporting and underlving documents related thereto; and,

(¢) industry information, including data used for the purpose of calculating RCE.

In addition, we have had discussions with representatives of Universal and Sempra Energy Trading Corp.
(“Sempra”) with respect to the calculations of RCE and operational margin, the supporting and underlying
documents related thereto and the systems that gencrate the underlying data.

In coming to the opinions set out herein, we have considered the Universal business model and its
information system, the processes for the purchase of energy supply (through Sempra) and the enroliment of
customers (inchuding the integrated capture of data from third party sources, including EIS, SPi Group Inc,
Sempra and the LDC’s), and Universal’s risk management strategies and tools. In addition, we have tested the
mathematical accuracy of the underlying reports prepared by Universal, agreed data used to a sample of
customer und energy supply contracts, confirmed the reasonableness of certain conversion factors, and gencrally



tested the conclusions with respect to the operational margin against the financial accounting records
of Universal.

CONCLUSION
Based on the scope of our review and subject to the restrictions set out herein, in our opinion:

{a) the RCE data as at November 30, 2006 presented in the preliminary prospectus under the heading
Customer Base and Growth is accurate; and,

{b) the operational margins to be earned in calendar year 2007 and 2008 from Universal’s existing Energy
Contracts as at November 30, 2006 are as follows (3000°s and Michigan gas U.S. dollar operational
margin converted to Canadian dollars at the November 30, 2006 exchange rate of $1.1415):

2007 2008
Ontario Electricily . . .. ... $25.479  $26,752
Ontario Gas . .. ... e 9,008 9,510
Michigan Gas . . ... ... . 9,039 8,582
Botal . . $43,526 $44,844

LECG CANADA

LECG Canada is an independent expert consulting firm specializing in the provision of business valuation,
damages quantification, financial analysis, forensic investigation and economic consulting services. {ts principals
have provided valuation and other opinions and related advice throughout Canada in connection with
companies in numerous industries, including energy retail companies, have authored and co-authored
authoritative texts in the areas of business valuation and damages quantification, lectured extensively throughout
Canada and have appeared as expert witness on financial and value related matters before courts, arbitrations,
panels and tribunals,

Mr. Robert Low was the individual primarily responsible for the preparation of this letter. Mr. Low is a
graduate of the University of Manitoba, and a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and
the Canadian Institute of Chartered Business Valvaltors.

INDEPENDENCE
The fee payable to LECG related to the delivery of this opinion letter is not contingent on our conclusions

or the completion of the Offering. Our fees are bascd on time expended at hourly rates, plus disbursements
related to our engagement and taxes.

LECG has not previously provided assurance or other consulting services to Universal or its sharcholders.
There are no understandings or agreements between LECG and Universal or its shareholders or any of the
persons or entities involved in the Offering with respect to future business dealings.

None of the principals of LECG have in the past or currently own, directly or indirectly, shares of Universal,
hold any interest directly or indirectly in any of the entities involved in the Offering or have any financial interest
whatsoever in the outcome of the Olfering.

RESTRICTIONS

This letter is not to be reproduced or used for any purpose other than that stated herein without our prior
written permission in each specific instance, which permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. We will not
assume any responsibility or liability for losses occasioned by any party as a result of the circulation, publication,
reproduction or use of this report, contrary to the provisions of this paragraph.

We reserve the right (but will be under no obligation) to review all calculations referred to in this report
and, if considered necessary by us, to revise our opinion in light of any new facts, trends or changing conditions
existing at any datc prior to or at the date hereof, which become upparent to us subsequent to the date of
this letter.

Yours very truly,

(Signed) LECG Canada, Ltd.
LECG Canada, Ltd.
Per: Robert Low, CA., CB.V.



CERTIFICATES OF THE COMPANY AND THE PROMOTERS

Date: January 26, 2007

The foregoing constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered
by this prospectus as required by Part 9 of the Securities Act (British Columbia), by Part 9 of the Secuerities Act
{Alberta), by Part XI of The Securities Act, 1988 (Saskatchewan), by Part VII of The Securities Act (Manitoba), by
Part XV of the Securities Act (Ontario), by Part 6 of the Securities Act (New Brunswick), by Scction 63 of the
Securitics Act (Nova Scotia), by Part IT of the Securities Act (Prince Edward Island), by Part XIV of the Securities
Act (Newfoundlund and Labrador), by Part 3 of the Securities Act (Yukon), by Section 27 of the Securities Act
{Northwest Territories) and by Section 27 of the Securities Act (Nunavut) and by the respective regulations
thereunder, and does not contain any misrepresentation likely to affect the value or the market price of the
sccuritics to be distributed within the meaning of the Securities Act (Québec) and the regulations thereunder.

By: (Signed) MARK L. SILVER By: (Signed) STEPHEN PLUMMER
President, Electricity and Gas Marketing Chief Financial Officer
(in the capacity of Chicf Executive Officer
for the purpose of this prospectus)

On behalf of the Board of Directors

By: (Signed) GARY J. DRUMMOND By: (Signed) Tim J. LAFRANCE
Director Director
Promoters
(Signed) GARY J. DRUMMOND (Signed) MARK L. SILVER

C-1



CERTIFICATE OF THE UNDERWRITERS

Date: January 26, 2007

To the best of our knowledge, information and belicf, the foregoing constitutes full, true and plain
disclosurc of all material facts relating to the securities offered by this prospectus as required by Part 9 of the
Securities Act (British Columbia), by Part 9 of the Securities Act (Alberta), by Part X1 of The Securities Act, 1988
(Saskatchewan), by Part VII of The Securities Act (Manitoba), by Part XV of the Securities Act {Ontario), by
Part & of the Securities Act (New Brunswick), by Scetion 64 of the Securities Act (Nova Scotia), by Part 11 of the
Securiries Act (Prince Edward Island), by Part XIV of The Securities Aer (Newfoundland and Labrador), by Part 3
of the Securities Act (Yukon). by Section 27 of the Securities Act (Northwest Territories) and by Section 27 of the
Securities Act (Nunavut) and by the respective regulations thereunder, and to our knowledge, does not contain
any misrcpresentation that is likely to affect the value or the market price of the securities to be distributed
within the meaning of the Securities Aer (Québec) and the regulations thereunder,

NATIONAL BANK FINANCIAL INC.

By: (Signed) TobD DALGLISH

CIBC WORLD MARKETS INC.

By: (Signed) KEVIN W, DALTON

GMP SECURITIES L.P.

By: (Signcd) LORNE SUGARMAN

HSBC SECURITIES (CANADA) INC.

By: (Signed) JAY K. LEWIS
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